Apollo Global Management LLC Form 424B3 January 20, 2012 <u>Table of Contents</u>

Filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3)

Registration No. 333-150141

**PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT** 

(To Prospectus dated March 29, 2011)

# **Apollo Global Management, LLC**

Class A Shares

Representing Class A Limited Liability Company Interests

This is Supplement No. 1 to Apollo Global Management, LLC s prospectus dated March 29, 2011. The prospectus relates solely to the resale of up to an aggregate of 35,624,540 Class A shares, representing Class A limited liability company interests of Apollo Global Management, LLC, by the selling shareholders identified in the prospectus. The Class A shares have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, on registration statement bearing File No. 333-150141.

The selling shareholders may offer the shares from time to time as they may determine through public or private transactions or through other means described in the section entitled Plan of Distribution at prevailing market prices, at prices different than prevailing market prices or at privately negotiated prices.

We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of these Class A shares by the selling shareholders. The selling shareholders will pay any brokerage commissions and/or similar charges incurred for the sale of these Class A shares.

#### **Recent Developments**

We have attached to this prospectus supplement the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Apollo Global Management, LLC for the quarterly periods ended September 30, 2011, June 30, 2011 and March 31, 2011. The attached information updates and supplements, and should be read together with, Apollo Global Management, LLC s prospectus dated March 29, 2011, as supplemented from time to time.

Investing in our Class A shares involves risks. You should read the section entitled Risk Factors beginning on page 29 of the prospectus for a discussion of certain risk factors that you should consider before investing in our Class A shares.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus supplement is January 20, 2012.

## **UNITED STATES**

## **SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION**

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

# Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

## x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011

OR

# " TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File Number: 001-35107

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

20-8880053 (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

9 West 57th Street, 43rd Floor

New York, New York 10019

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

#### (212) 515-3200

#### (Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (\$232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerate filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

 Large accelerated filer
 ...
 Accelerated filer
 ...

 Non-accelerated filer
 x (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)
 Smaller reporting company
 ...

 Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).
 Yes
 ...
 No x

As of November 8, 2011 there were 123,041,890 Class A shares and 1 Class B share outstanding.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	6
	Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition (Unaudited) as of September 30, 2011 and December 31,	
	2010 Condensed Consultated Statements of Occurations (Unsultated) for the Three and Nice Months Field d	6
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited) for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 and 2010	7
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Unaudited) for the Three and Nine Months Ended	/
	September 30, 2011 and 2010	8
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders Equity (Unaudited) for the Nine Months Ended	
	September 30, 2011 and 2010	9
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 and	
		10
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	12
ITEM 2.	MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF	
	<u>OPERATIONS</u>	67
ITEM 3.	<b>QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK</b>	135
ITEM 4.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	137
PART II	OTHER INFORMATION	
		120
ITEM 1.	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	138
ITEM 1A.	<u>RISK FACTORS</u>	138
ITEM 2.	UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS	138
ITEM 3.	DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES	138
ITEM 4.	(REMOVED AND RESERVED)	138
ITEM 5.	OTHER INFORMATION	138
ITEM 6.	EXHIBITS	139
<u>SIGNATU</u>	RES	143

-2-

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

This quarterly report may contain forward looking statements that are within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements include, but are not limited to, discussions related to Apollo s expectations regarding the performance of its business, its liquidity and capital resources and the other non-historical statements in the discussion and analysis. These forward-looking statements are based on management s beliefs, as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available to, management. When used in this quarterly report, the words believe, anticipate, estimate, expect, intend and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. Although management believes that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that these expectations will prove to have been correct. These statements are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including risks relating to our dependence on certain key personnel, our ability to raise new private equity, capital markets or real estate funds, market conditions, generally; our ability to manage our growth, fund performance, changes in our regulatory environment and tax status, the variability of our revenues, net income and cash flow, our use of leverage to finance our businesses and investments by our funds and litigation risks, among others. We believe these factors include but are not limited to those described under the section entitled Risk Factors. In the Company s prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) pursuant to Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act of 1933 on March 30, 2011, as such factors may be updated from time to time in our periodic filings with the SEC, which are accessible on the SEC s website at www.sec.gov. These factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements that are included in this release and in other filings. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as required by applicable law.

-3-

In this quarterly report, references to Apollo, we, us, our and the Company refer collectively to Apollo Global Management, LLC and its subsidiaries, including the Apollo Operating Group and all of its subsidiaries.

Apollo funds and our funds refer to the funds, alternative asset companies and other entities that are managed by the Apollo Operating Group. Apollo Operating Group refers to:

- (i) the limited partnerships through which our Managing Partners currently operate our businesses and;
- (ii) one or more limited partnerships formed for the purpose of, among other activities, holding certain of our gains or losses on our principal investments in the funds, which we refer to as our principal investments

Assets Under Management, or AUM, refers to the investments we manage or with respect to which we have control, including capital we have the right to call from our investors pursuant to their capital commitments to various funds. Our AUM equals the sum of:

- the fair value of our private equity investments plus the capital that we are entitled to call from our investors pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments plus non-recallable capital to the extent a fund is within the commitment period in which management fees are calculated based on total commitments to the fund;
- (ii) the net asset value, or NAV, of our capital markets funds, other than certain senior credit funds, which are structured as collateralized loan obligations (such as Artus, which we measure by using the mark-to-market value of the aggregate principal amount of the underlying collateralized loan obligations), plus used or available leverage and/or capital commitments;
- (iii) the gross asset values of our real estate entities and the structured portfolio vehicle investments included within the funds we manage, which includes the leverage used by such structured portfolio vehicles;
- (iv) the incremental value associated with the reinsurance investments of the funds we manage; and
- (v) the fair value of any other investments that we manage plus unused credit facilities, including capital commitments for investments that may require pre-qualification before investment plus any other capital commitments available for investment that are not otherwise included in the clauses above.

Fee-generating AUM consists of assets that we manage and on which we earn management fees or monitoring fees pursuant to management agreements on a basis that varies among the Apollo funds. Management fees are normally based on net asset value, gross assets, adjusted cost of all unrealized portfolio investments, capital commitments, adjusted assets, stockholders equity, invested capital or capital contributions, e defined in the applicable management agreement. Monitoring fees for AUM purposes are based on the total value of certain structured portfolio vehicle investments, which normally include leverage, less any portion of such total value that is already considered in fee-generating AUM.

Non-fee generating AUM consists of assets that do not produce management fees or monitoring fees. These assets generally consist of the following: (a) fair value above invested capital for those funds that earn management fees based on invested capital, (b) net asset values related to general partner and co-investment ownership, (c) unused credit facilities, (d) available commitments on those funds that generate management fees on invested capital, (e) structured portfolio vehicle investments that do not generate monitoring fees and (f) the difference between gross assets and net asset value for those funds that earn management fees based on net asset value. We use non-fee generating AUM combined with fee generating AUM as a performance measurement of our investment activities, as well as to monitor fund size in relation to professional resource and infrastructure needs. Non-fee generating AUM includes assets on which we could earn carried interest income.

Our AUM measure includes Assets Under Management for which we charge either no or nominal fees. Our definition of AUM is not based on any definition of Assets Under Management contained in our operating agreement or in any of our Apollo fund management agreements.

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010
Assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 808,259	\$ 382,269
Cash and cash equivalents held at Consolidated Funds	46	
Restricted cash	8,305	6,563
Investments	1,764,034	1,920,553
Assets of consolidated variable interest entities:		
Cash and cash equivalents	32,344	87,556
Investments, at fair value	1,114,602	1,342,611
Other assets	15,710	36,754
Carried interest receivable	634,700	1,867,073
Due from affiliates	174,111	144,363
Fixed assets, net	54,343	44,696
Deferred tax assets	592,366	571,325
Other assets	29,738	35,141
Goodwill	48,894	48,894
Intangible assets, net	53,319	64,574
Total Assets	\$ 5,330,771	\$ 6,552,372
Liabilities and Shareholders Equity		
Liabilities:		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$ 24,524	\$ 31,706
Accrued compensation and benefits	96,481	54,057
Deferred revenue	257,665	251,475
Due to affiliates	594.491	517,645
Profit sharing payable	284,527	678,125
Debt	738.623	751,525
Liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities:		
Debt, at fair value	1,136,926	1,127,180
Other liabilities	20,860	33,545
Other liabilities	23,051	25,695
Total Liabilities	3,177,148	3,470,953
Commitments and Contingencies (see note 12)		

#### **Commitments and Contingencies (see note 12)**

Shareholders Equity:

Apollo Global Management, LLC shareholders equity:		
Class A shares, no par value, unlimited shares authorized, 122,990,227 shares and 97,921,232 shares issued		
and outstanding at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively		
Class B shares, no par value, unlimited shares authorized, 1 share issued and outstanding at September 30,		
2011 and December 31, 2010		
Additional paid-in-capital	2,847,054	2,078,890
Accumulated deficit	(2,434,557)	(1,937,818)

## Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

Appropriated partners capital	(2,838)	11,359
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(832)	(1,529)
Total Apollo Global Management, LLC shareholders equity	408,827	150,902
Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	1,443,782	1,888,224
Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	301,014	1,042,293
Total Shareholders Equity	2,153,623	3,081,419
Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity	\$ 5,330,771	\$ 6,552,372

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

-6-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

		Three Mon Septeml 2011				Nine Mont Septeml 2011			
Revenues:		2011		2010		2011		2010	
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$	16,837	\$	19,505	\$	59,809	\$	57,418	
Management fees from affiliates	-	122,666	-	106,720	Ŧ	362,003	Ŧ	316,636	
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates		(1,619,083)		332,426		(896,174)		387,471	
Total Revenues		(1,479,580)		458,651		(474,362)		761,525	
Expenses:									
Compensation and benefits:									
Equity-based compensation		288,208		281,914		859,173		835,520	
Salary, bonus and benefits		68,433		60,446		204,788		180,505	
Profit sharing expense		(563,255)		119,357		(275,437)		125,307	
Incentive fee compensation		(3,876)		2,136		2,689		11,395	
Total Compensation and Benefits		(210,490)		463,853		791,213		1,152,727	
Interest expense		9,790		7,340		30,999		27,664	
Professional fees		6,965		9,661		37,318		32,065	
General, administrative and other		16,566		14,186		55,675		45,689	
Placement fees		1,991		(793)		3,105		3,748	
Occupancy		10,391		5,882		25,542		16,690	
Depreciation and amortization		6,687		5,874		19,635		18,020	
Total Expenses		(158,100)		506,003		963,487		1,296,603	
Other (Loss) Income:									
Net (losses) gains from investment activities		(371,647)		101,210		(150,407)		201,926	
Net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated variable interest									
entities		(4,760)		32,910		(41)		32,645	
(Loss) income from equity method investments		(56,438)		27,480		(29,242)		33,648	
Interest income		670		359		1,540		1,021	
Other (loss) income, net		(10,135)		48,581		11,039		70,487	
Total Other (Loss) Income		(442,310)		210,540		(167,111)		339,727	
(Loss) income before income tax benefit (provision)		(1,763,790)		163,188		(1,604,960)		(195,351)	
Income tax benefit (provision)		19,847		(30,856)		7,477		(47,638)	
Net (Loss) Income		(1,743,943)		132,332		(1,597,483)		(242,989)	
Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests		1,277,017		(108,192)		1,117,724		131,323	
Net (Loss) Income Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$	(466,926)	\$	24,140	\$	(479,759)	\$	(111,666)	

## Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

Dividends Declared per Class A Share	\$	0.24	\$	0.07	\$	0.63	\$	0.14
Net (Loss) Income Per Class A Share: Net (Loss) Income Per Class A Share Basic and Diluted	\$	(3.86)	\$	0.23	\$	(4.33)	\$	(1.18)
Weighted Average Number of Class A Shares Basic and Diluted	122,	381,069	97,75′	7,567	11	3,941,869	96	,637,785

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	Three Mont Septemb 2011		Nine Montl Septeml 2011	
Net (Loss) Income	\$ (1,743,943)	\$ 132,332	\$ (1,597,483)	\$ (242,989)
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax:				
Net unrealized gain on interest rate swaps (net of taxes of \$260 and \$183 for Apollo Global Management, LLC for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and \$605 and \$1,204 for Apollo Global Management, LLC for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and \$0 for Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group for both the three months and				
nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010)	1,894	1,373	5,040	9,105
Net (loss) income on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investment)	(52)	107	(161)	230
Total Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax	1,842	1,480	4,879	9,335
Comprehensive (Loss) Income	(1,742,101)	133,812	(1,592,604)	(233,654)
Comprehensive Loss (Income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests	1,271,024	(106,114)	1,099,701	123,567
Comprehensive (Loss) Income Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$ (471,077)	\$ 27,698	\$ (492,903)	\$ (110,087)

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

-8-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

#### NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 AND 2010

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Apollo Global Management, LLC Shareholders

	11	pollo Olobal Mallag	ement, LLC bha	i choluci s					
	Class A Shares	Additional Class B Paid-In Shares Capital	Accumu- lated Deficit	Appro- priated Partners (Deficit) Capital	Accumu- lated Other Compre- hensive Loss	Apollo Global Manage- ment, LLC Total Share- holders (Deficit) Equity	Non- Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	Non- Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	Total Share- holders Equity
Balance at January 1, 2010	95,624,541	1 \$ 1,729,593	\$ (2,029,541)	\$	\$ (4,088)	\$ (304 036)	\$ 1,283,262	\$ 319,884	\$ 1,299,110
Transition adjustment	JJ,024,J41	1 φ1,727,575	$\phi(2,02),541)$	ψ	φ ( <b>4,000</b> )	\$ (304,030)	φ <b>1,203,202</b>	\$ 517,004	φ 1,2 <b>7</b> 7,110
relating to consolidation									
of variable interest entity							411,885		411,885
Capital increase related to									
equity-based									
compensation		279,255				279,255		552,322	831,577
Reclassification of									
equity-based		(2.107				(2, (27)			(2.105)
compensation		(3,497	)			(3,497)			(3,497)
Repurchase of Class A shares	(7,135	) (43	<b>`</b>			(43)			(43)
Purchase of AAA shares	(7,155)	) (43	)			(43)	(48,768)		(43)
Capital contributions							(40,700)		(40,700)
Cash distributions							(40,461)		(40,461)
Dividends		(15,997	)			(15,997)	(6,602)	(33,600)	(56,199)
Distributions related to									
deliveries of Class A									
shares for RSUs	2,303,826		(2,851)			(2,851)			(2,851)
Non-cash contributions			(1.0)			(1.0)	114		114
Non-cash distributions			(18)			(18)	(575)		(593)
Net transfers of AAA ownership interest to (from) Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated									
entities		(4,605	)			(4,605)	4,605		
Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs		6,099				6,099			6,099
Net (loss) income Net income on available-for-sale securities (from equity			(111,666)	(401)		(112,067)	240,865	(371,787)	(242,989)
method investment)					230	230			230
Net unrealized gain on interest rate swaps (net of taxes of \$1,204 and \$0 for					1,750	1,750		7,355	9,105

#### Apollo Global Management, LLC and Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, respectively)

\$ 11,359	<b>9 \$ (1,529) \$ 150,902 \$</b> 382,488 (356) 134,364	\$ <b>1,888,224</b> \$ <b>1,042,29</b> (127.09)	<b>3 \$ 3,081,419</b> 382,488
		(127 09)	382,488
		(127.09)	382,488
	(356) 134,364	(127.09)	
	(550) 151,501		5) 7,268
		(,,,,,,	.,
	332,038	525,910	857,948
		(311,352)	(311,352)
	(85,991)	(27,284) (151,20	0) (264,475)
	(9,392)		(9,392)
		(1,522)	(1,522)
	(6,524)	6,524	
	3,845		3,845
(14,197)	7) (493,956)	(110,808) (992,719	9) (1,597,483)
	(161) (161)		(161)
	1,214 1,214	3,820	5,040
		1,214 1,214	1,214 1,214 3,820

September 30, 2011 122,990,227 1 \$2,847,054 \$(2,434,557) \$ (2,838) \$ (832) \$408,827 \$1,443,782 \$ 301,014 \$2,153,623

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

-9-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	Nine Months I September		
	2011	2010	
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:	¢ (1.507.402)	¢ (242.000)	
Net loss	\$ (1,597,483)	\$ (242,989)	
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:	950 172	925 520	
Equity-based compensation Depreciation	859,173	835,520	
Amortization of intangible assets	8,380 11,255	8,660 9,360	
Amortization of hebt issuance costs	383	9,300	
Losses from investment in HFA and Other Investments	14,535	20	
Income from equity awards received for directors fees	(2,808)		
Loss (income) from equity method investments	29,242	(33,648)	
Waived management fees	(19,490)	(19,728)	
Non-cash compensation related to waived management fees	(19,490)	19,728	
Deferred taxes, net	(6,945)	38,321	
Loss on sale of assets	570	56,521	
Changes in assets and liabilities:	570		
Carried interest receivable	1,232,373	(245,727)	
Due from affiliates	(29,332)	16,699	
Other assets	(7,603)	(2,930)	
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(5,933)	(7,058)	
Accrued compensation and benefits	45,034	69,794	
Deferred revenue	3,532	(29,836)	
Due to affiliates	67,404	17,937	
Profit sharing payable	(393,598)	85,290	
Other liabilities	3,171	(6,137)	
Apollo Funds related:	-,	(0,000)	
Net realized losses (gains) from investment activities	12,581	(2,118)	
Net unrealized losses (gains) from investment activities	156,128	(220,035)	
Net realized gains on debt	(41,819)	(5,483)	
Net unrealized losses on debt	9,261	16,927	
Dividends from investment activities	28,000	55,470	
Cash transferred in from Metals Trading Fund	,	38,033	
Change in cash held at consolidated variable interest entities	55,212	(9,780)	
Purchases of investments	(991,189)	(393,237)	
Sales of investments	1,185,930	344,385	
Change in other assets	21,049	(117,956)	
Change in other liabilities	(12,685)	(1,841)	
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	653,818	217,649	
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:			
Purchases of fixed assets Business acquisition	(19,931)	(3,227) (1,354)	
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets	367	(1,554)	

## Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities	\$ (67,371)	\$ (30,150)
Change in restricted cash	(1,742)	241
Cash distributions from equity method investments	46,872	26,249
Cash contributions to equity method investments	(40,868)	(52,059)
Purchase of investments in HFA (see note 3)	(52,069)	

#### Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) (CONT D)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

		nths Ended nber 30, 2010
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:		
Issuance of Class A shares	\$ 383,990	\$
Repurchase of Class A shares		(43)
Issuance costs	(1,502)	
Principal repayments on debt	(1,832)	(1,148)
Distributions related to deliveries of Class A shares for RSUs	(16,980)	(2,851)
Distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	(10,431)	(40,461)
Contributions from Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities		15
Dividends paid	(76,550)	(14,140)
Dividends paid to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	(151,200)	(33,600)
Apollo Funds related:		
Issuance of debt	454,356	320,154
Principal repayment of term loans	(412,057)	(136,110)
Purchase of AAA shares		(48,768)
Dividends paid to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	(27,284)	(6,602)
Distributions paid to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated variable interest entities	(300,921)	
	(1/0 411)	26 446
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities	(160,411)	36,446
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents	426,036	223,945
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period	382,269	366,226
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	\$ 808,305	\$ 590,171
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:		
Interest paid	\$ 36,974	\$ 30,338
Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities	13,852	6,045
Income taxes paid	8,821	6,614
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing Activities:	0.47	100
Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets	967	120
Non-cash contributions on equity method investments	6,296	
Non-cash distributions on equity method investments	(703)	
Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan	(11,069)	
Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value	2,808	
Non-cash dividends from investing activities	1,522	
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities:		(10)
Non-cash distributions	(0.441)	(18)
Non-cash dividends	(9,441)	(1,857)
Non-cash distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	(1,522)	(575)
Non-cash contributions from Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group related to equity-based compensation	525,910	552,322
Non-cash contributions from Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	2.000	114
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes	3,826	7,355
Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs	3,845	6,099
Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares	134,364	
Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares on Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	(127,096)	4,605
Net transfers of AAA ownership interest to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	6,524	· · · · ·
Net transfers of AAA ownership interest from AGM	(6,524)	(4,605)

## Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps	1,819	2,954						
Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investment)	(161)	230						
Capital increases related to equity-based compensation	332,038	279,255						
Deferred tax asset related to interest rate swaps	(605)	(1,204)						
Tax benefits related to deliveries of Class A shares for RSUs	(7,588)							
Non-cash accrued compensation related to ARI RSUs and AMTG RSUs	848	600						
Non-cash accrued compensation related to AAA RDUs	377	3,342						
Reclassification of equity-based compensation		(3,497)						
Satisfaction of liability related to repayment on CIT loan	11,069							
Net Assets Transferred from Metals Trading Fund:								
Cash		38,033						
Other assets		443						
Net Assets Transferred from Consolidated Variable Interest Entity:								
Investments		1,102,114						
Other assets		28,789						
Debt		(706,027)						
Other liabilities		(12,991)						
San accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements								

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

-11-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### 1. ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Apollo Global Management, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries (the Company or Apollo ), is a global alternative investment manager whose predecessor was founded in 1990. Its primary business is to raise and invest private equity, capital markets and real estate funds as well as managed accounts, on behalf of pension and endowment funds, as well as other institutional and high net worth individual investors. For these investment management services, Apollo receives management fees generally related to the amount of Assets Under Management, transaction and advisory fees for the investments made and carried interest income related to the performance of the respective funds that it manages. Apollo has three primary business segments:

*Private equity* primarily invests in control equity and related debt instruments, convertible securities and distressed debt investments;

*Capital markets* primarily invests in non-control debt and non-control equity investments, including distressed debt securities; and

*Real estate* primarily invests in legacy commercial mortgage-backed securities, commercial first mortgage loans, mezzanine investments and other commercial real estate-related debt investments. Additionally, the Company sponsors real estate funds that focus on opportunistic investments in distressed debt and equity recapitalization transactions.

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) for interim financial information and instructions to Form 10-Q. The condensed consolidated financial statements and these notes are unaudited and exclude some of the disclosures required in annual financial statements. Management believes it has made all necessary adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring items) so that the condensed consolidated financial statements are presented fairly and that estimates made in preparing its condensed consolidated financial statements are reasonable and prudent. The operating results presented for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other interim period or for the entire year. The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries, the consolidated entities which are not considered to be variable interest entities but in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2010 included in the Company is prospectus dated March 29, 2011 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2011.

#### **Reorganization of the Company**

The Company was formed as a Delaware limited liability company on July 3, 2007 and completed a reorganization of its predecessor businesses on July 13, 2007 (the Reorganization ). The Company is managed and operated by its manager, AGM Management, LLC, which in turn is wholly owned and controlled by Leon Black, Joshua Harris and Marc Rowan (the Managing Partners ).

As of September 30, 2011, the Company owned, through three intermediate holding companies that include APO Corp., a Delaware corporation that is a domestic corporation for U.S. Federal income tax purposes, APO Asset Co., LLC (APO Asset), a Delaware limited liability company that is a disregarded entity for U.S. Federal income tax purposes, and APO (FC), LLC (APO (FC)), an Anguilla limited liability company that is treated as a corporation for U.S Federal income tax purposes (collectively, the Intermediate Holding Companies), 33.9% of the economic

interests of, and operated and controlled all of the businesses and affairs of, the Apollo Operating Group as general partners.

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

AP Professional Holdings, L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership (Holdings), is the entity through which the Managing Partners and the Company s other partners (and their related parties) who indirectly own (through Holdings) Apollo Operating Group units (the Contributing Partners) hold Apollo Operating Group units (AOG Units) that represent 66.1% of the economic interests in the Apollo Operating Group as of September 30, 2011. The Company consolidates the financial results of the Apollo Operating Group and its consolidated subsidiaries. Holdings ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group is reflected as a Non-Controlling Interest in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

Apollo also entered into an exchange agreement with Holdings that allows the partners in Holdings, subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the partnership agreements of the Apollo Operating Group, to exchange their AOG Units for the Company s Class A shares on a one-for-one basis up to four times each year, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications. A limited partner must exchange one partnership unit in each of the ten Apollo Operating Group partnerships to effect an exchange for one Class A share.

*Initial Public Offering* On April 4, 2011, the Company completed the initial public offering (IPO) of its Class A shares, representing limited liability company interests of the Company. AGM received net proceeds from the initial public offering of approximately \$382.5 million, which was used to acquire additional AOG Units. As a result, Holdings ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 70.7% to 66.5% and the Company s ownership interest increased from 29.3% to 33.5%. As such, the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid for the Apollo Operating Group level ownership interest and the book value on the date of the IPO is reflected in Additional Paid in Capital.

#### 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

*Principles of Consolidation* Apollo consolidates those entities it controls through a majority voting interest or through other means, including those funds in which the general partner is presumed to have control (e.g., AP Alternative Assets, L.P., a Guernsey limited partnership that generally invests alongside certain of the Company s private equity funds and directly in certain of its capital markets funds and in other transactions that the Company sponsors and manages (AAA )). Apollo also consolidates entities that are VIEs for which Apollo is the primary beneficiary. Under the amended consolidation rules, an enterprise is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it holds a controlling financial interest. A controlling financial interest is defined as (a) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity s business and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

Certain of the Company s subsidiaries hold equity interests in and/or receive fees qualifying as variable interests from the funds that the Company manages. The amended consolidation rules require an analysis to determine whether (a) an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE and (b) Apollo s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interests (e.g., carried interest and management fees), would give it a controlling financial interest. When the VIE has qualified for the deferral of the amended consolidation rules in accordance with U.S. GAAP, the analysis is based on previous consolidation rules, which require an analysis to determine whether (a) an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE and (b) Apollo s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through holding interests (e.g., carried interest and management fees), would be expected to absorb a majority of the variability of the entity.

Under both guidelines, the determination of whether an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE requires judgments which include determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a significant effect on the success of the entity, determining whether two or more parties equity interests should be aggregated, and determining whether the equity investors have proportionate voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to receive returns from an entity. Under both guidelines, Apollo determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes

-13-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

involved with a VIE and reconsiders that conclusion continuously. The consolidation analysis can generally be performed qualitatively. However, if it is not readily apparent whether Apollo is the primary beneficiary, a quantitative expected losses and expected residual returns calculation will be performed. Investments and redemptions (either by Apollo, affiliates of Apollo or third parties) or amendments to the governing documents of the respective Apollo fund may affect an entity s status as a VIE or the determination of the primary beneficiary.

Apollo assesses whether it is the primary beneficiary and will consolidate or deconsolidate the entity accordingly. Performance of that assessment requires the exercise of judgment. Where the variable interests have qualified for the deferral, judgments are made in estimating cash flows in evaluating which member within the equity group absorbs a majority of the expected profits or losses of the VIE. Where the variable interests have not qualified for the deferral, judgments are made in determining whether a member in the equity group has a controlling financial interest including power to direct activities that most significantly impact the VIE s economic performance and rights to receive benefits or obligations to absorb losses that are potentially significant to the VIE. Under both guidelines, judgment is made in evaluating the nature of the relationships and activities of the parties involved in determining which party within a related-party group is most closely associated with a VIE. The use of these judgments has a material impact to certain components of Apollo s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Assets and liability amounts of the consolidated VIEs are shown in separate sections within the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition.

Refer to additional disclosures regarding VIEs in note 4. Intercompany transactions and balances, if any, have been eliminated in the consolidation.

*Equity Method Investments* For investments in entities over which the Company exercises significant influence but which do not meet the requirements for consolidation, the Company uses the equity method of accounting, whereby the Company records its share of the underlying income or loss of such entities. Income (loss) from equity method investments is recognized as part of other income (loss) in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and income (loss) on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investments) is recognized as part of other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). The carrying amounts of equity method investments are reflected in investments in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. As the underlying entities that the Company manages and invests in are, for U.S. GAAP purposes, investment companies which reflect their investments at estimated fair value, the carrying value of the Company is equity method investments in such entities are at fair value.

*Non-Controlling Interest* For entities that are consolidated, but not 100% owned, a portion of the income or loss and corresponding equity is allocated to owners other than Apollo. The aggregate of the income or loss and corresponding equity that is not owned by the Company is included in Non-Controlling Interest in the condensed consolidated financial statements. The Non-Controlling Interest relating to Apollo Global Management, LLC primarily includes the 66.1% ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group held by the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners through their limited partner interests in Holdings and other ownership interests in consolidated entities, which primarily consist of the approximate 98% ownership interest held by limited partners in AAA as of September 30, 2011. Non-Controlling Interests also include limited partner interests of Apollo managed funds in certain consolidated VIEs.

The authoritative guidance for Non-Controlling Interests in the condensed consolidated financial statements requires reporting entities to present Non-Controlling Interest as equity and provides guidance on the accounting for transactions between an entity and Non-Controlling Interests. According to the guidance, (1) Non-Controlling Interests are presented as a separate component of shareholders equity on the Company s condensed consolidated statements of financial condition, (2) net income (loss) includes the net income (loss) attributed to the Non-Controlling Interest holders on the Company s condensed consolidated statements of operations, (3) the primary components of Non-Controlling Interest are separately presented in the Company s condensed consolidated statements of changes in shareholders equity to clearly distinguish the interests in the Apollo Operating Group and other ownership interests in the consolidated entities and (4) profits and losses are allocated to Non-Controlling Interests in proportion to their ownership interests regardless of their basis. -14-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Revenues* Revenues are reported in three separate categories that include (i) advisory and transaction fees from affiliates, which relate to the investments of the funds and may include individual monitoring agreements with the portfolio companies and debt investment vehicles of the private equity funds and capital markets funds; (ii) management fees from affiliates, which are based on committed capital, invested capital, net asset value, gross assets or as otherwise defined in the respective agreements; and (iii) carried interest income (loss) from affiliates, which is normally based on the performance of the funds subject to preferred return.

Advisory and Transaction Fees from Affiliates Advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, are recognized when the underlying services rendered are substantially completed in accordance with the terms of their transaction and advisory agreements. Additionally, during the normal course of business, the Company incurs certain costs related to private equity fund transactions that are not consummated (Broken Deal Costs).

As a result of providing advisory services to certain private equity and capital markets portfolio companies, Apollo is entitled to receive fees for transactions related to the acquisition and disposition of portfolio companies as well as ongoing monitoring of portfolio company operations. The amounts due from portfolio companies are included in Due from Affiliates, which is discussed further in note 11. Under the terms of the limited partnership agreements for certain funds, the management fee payable by the funds is subject to a reduction based on a certain percentage of such advisory and transaction fees, net of applicable broken deal costs (Management Fee Offset). Such amounts are presented as a reduction to Advisory and Transaction Fees from Affiliates in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

*Management Fees from Affiliates* Management fees for private equity funds, real estate funds and certain capital markets funds are recognized in the period during which the related services are performed in accordance with the contractual terms of the related agreement. Management fees for private equity funds and certain capital markets and real estate funds are based upon a percentage of the capital committed during the commitment period, and thereafter based on the remaining invested capital of unrealized investments. For most capital markets and real estate funds, management fees are recognized in the period during which the related services are performed and are based upon net asset value, gross assets or as otherwise defined in the respective agreements.

*Carried Interest Income from Affiliates* Apollo is entitled to an incentive return that can normally amount to as much as 20% of the total returns on funds capital, depending upon performance. Performance-based fees are assessed as a percentage of the investment performance of the funds. The carried interest income from affiliates for any period is based upon an assumed liquidation of the fund s net assets on the reporting date, and distribution of the net proceeds in accordance with the fund s income allocation provisions. Carried interest receivable is presented separately in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. The net carried interest income may be subject to reversal to the extent that the carried interest income recorded exceeds the amount due to the general partner based on a fund s cumulative investment returns. When applicable, the accrual for potential repayment of previously received carried interest income, which is a component of due to affiliates, represents all amounts previously distributed to the general partner that would need to be repaid to the Apollo funds if these funds were to be liquidated based on the current fair value of the underlying funds investments as of the reporting date. The actual general partner obligation, however, would not become payable or realized until the end of a fund s life.

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### Compensation and Benefits

The components of compensation and benefits have been expanded for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2010 to conform with the 2011 presentation.

*Equity-Based Compensation* Equity-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires that the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments generally be measured based on the grant date fair value of the award. Equity-based awards that do not require future service (i.e., vested awards) are expensed immediately. Equity-based employee awards that require future service are expensed over the relevant service period. The Company estimates forfeitures for equity-based awards that are not expected to vest. Equity based awards granted to non-employees for services provided to the affiliates are remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period and expensed over the relevant service period.

*Salaries, Bonus and Benefits* Salaries, bonus and benefits includes base salaries, discretionary and non-discretionary bonuses, severance and employee benefits. Bonuses are accrued over the service period.

From time to time, the Company may assign profits interests received in lieu of management fees to certain investment professionals. Such assignments of profits interests are treated as compensation and benefits when assigned.

The Company sponsors a 401(k) Savings Plan whereby U.S.-based employees are entitled to participate in the plan based upon satisfying certain eligibility requirements. The Company may provide discretionary contributions from time to time. No contributions relating to this plan were made by the Company for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

**Profit Sharing Expense** Profit sharing expense consists of a portion of carried interest earned in one or more funds allocated to employees and former employees. Profit sharing expense is recognized as the related carried interest income is recognized. Profit sharing expense can be reversed during periods when there is a decline in carried interest income that was previously recognized. Additionally, profit sharing expenses paid may be subject to clawback from employees, former employees and Contributing Partners.

In June 2011, the Company adopted a performance based bonus arrangement for certain Apollo partners and employees designed to more closely align compensation on an annual basis with the overall performance of the Company. This arrangement enables certain partners and employees to earn discretionary bonuses based on carried interest realizations earned by the Company in a given year which amounts are reflected as profit sharing expense in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

*Incentive Fee Compensation* Certain employees are entitled to receive a discretionary portion of incentive fee income from certain of our capital markets funds, based on performance for the year. Incentive fee compensation expense is recognized on accrual basis as the related carried interest income is earned. Incentive fee compensation expense may be subject to reversal during the interim period where there is a decline in the related carried interest income, however it is not subject to reversal once the carried interest income crystallizes.

#### Other Income (Loss)

*Net Gains (Losses) from Investment Activities* Net gains (losses) from investment activities include both realized gains and losses and the change in unrealized gains and losses in the Company s investment portfolio between the opening balance sheet date and the closing balance sheet date. Net unrealized gains (losses) are a result of changes in the fair value of investments that have not been realized as of the balance sheet date. The condensed consolidated financial statements include the net realized and unrealized gains (losses) of AAA and the investment in HFA Holdings Limited (HFA) (see note 3).

-16-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Net Gains from Investment Activities of Consolidated Variable Interest Entities* Changes in the fair value of the consolidated VIEs assets and liabilities and related interest, dividend and other income and expenses subsequent to consolidation are presented within net gains (losses) from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities and are attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

*Investments, at Fair Value* The Company follows U.S. GAAP attributable to fair value measurements, which among other things, requires enhanced disclosures about investments that are measured and reported at fair value. Investments, at fair value, represent investments of the consolidated funds, investments of the consolidated VIEs and certain financial instruments for which fair value option was elected and the unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value are reflected as net gains (losses) from investment activities of the consolidated variable interest entities, respectively, in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories:

*Level I* Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date. The type of investments included in Level I include listed equities and listed derivatives. As required by U.S. GAAP, the Company does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where the Company holds a large position and the sale of such position would likely deviate from the quoted price.

*Level II* Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation methodologies. Investments that are generally included in this category include corporate bonds and loans, less liquid and restricted equity securities and certain over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on observable inputs. These investments exhibit higher levels of liquid market observability as compared to Level III investments. The Company subjects broker quotes to various criteria in making the determination as to whether a particular investment would qualify for treatment as a Level II investment. These criteria include, but are not limited to, the number and quality of broker quotes, the standard deviation of obtained broker quotes, and the percentage deviation from independent pricing services.

*Level III* Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and includes situations where there is little observable market activity for the investment. The inputs into the determination of fair value may require significant management judgment or estimation. Investments that are included in this category generally include general and limited partnership interests in corporate private equity and real estate funds, mezzanine funds, funds of hedge funds, distressed debt and non-investment grade residual interests in securitizations and collateralized debt obligations where the fair value is based on observable inputs as well as unobservable inputs. When a security is valued based on broker quotes, the Company subjects those quotes to various criteria in making the determination as to whether a particular investment would qualify for treatment as a Level II or Level III investment. Some of the factors we consider include the number of broker quotes we obtain, the quality of the broker quotes, the standard deviations of the observed broker quotes and the corroboration of the broker quotes to independent pricing services.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the investment when the fair value is based on unobservable inputs.

In cases where an investment or financial instrument that is measured and reported at fair value is transferred into or out of Level III of the fair value hierarchy, the Company accounts for the transfer as of the end of the reporting period.

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Private Equity Investments* The value of liquid investments, where the primary market is an exchange (whether foreign or domestic) is determined using period end market prices. Such prices are generally based on the last sales price on the date of determination.

Valuation approaches used to estimate the fair value of investments that are less liquid include the income approach and the market approach. The income approach provides an indication of fair value based on the present value of cash flows that a business or security is expected to generate in the future. The most widely used methodology used in the income approach is a discounted cash flow method. Inherent in the discounted cash flow method are assumptions of expected results and a calculated discount rate. The market approach provides an indication of fair value based on a comparison of the subject company to comparable publicly traded companies and transactions in the industry. The market approach is driven more by current market conditions of actual trading levels of similar companies and actual transaction data of similar companies. Consideration may also be given to such factors as the Company s historical and projected financial data, valuations given to comparable companies, the size and scope of the Company s operations, the Company s strengths, weaknesses, expectations relating to the market s receptivity to an offering of the Company s securities, applicable restrictions on transfer, industry information and assumptions, general economic and market conditions and other factors deemed relevant. As part of management s process, the Company utilizes a valuation committee to review and approve the valuations. However, because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation, those estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the investments existed, and the differences could be material.

*Capital Markets Investments* The majority of the investments in Apollo s capital markets funds are valued using quoted market prices. Debt and equity securities that are not publicly traded or whose market prices are not readily available are valued at fair value utilizing recognized pricing services, market participants or other sources. The capital markets funds also enter into foreign currency exchange contracts, credit default swap contracts, and other derivative contracts, which may include options, caps, collars and floors. Foreign currency exchange contracts are marked-to-market by recognizing the difference between the contract exchange rate and the current market rate as unrealized appreciation or depreciation. If securities are held at the end of this period, the changes in value are recorded in income as unrealized. Realized gains or losses are recognized when contracts are settled. Credit default swap contracts are recognized at the termination of the contract based on the difference between the close-out price of the credit default contract and the original contract price.

Forward contracts are valued based on market rates obtained from counterparties or prices obtained from recognized financial data service providers. When determining fair value pricing when no market value exists, the value attributed to an investment is based on the enterprise value at the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Valuation approaches used to estimate the fair value of illiquid investments included in Apollo s capital markets funds also may use the income approach or market approach. The valuation approaches used consider, as applicable, market risks, credit risks, counterparty risks and foreign currency risks.

*Real Estate Investments* For Apollo s CMBS portfolio, the estimated fair value is determined by reference to market prices provided by certain dealers who make a market in these financial instruments. Broker quotes are only indicative of fair value and may not necessarily represent what the funds would receive in an actual trade for the applicable instrument. Additionally, the loans held-for-investment are stated at the principal amount outstanding, net of deferred loan fees and costs in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Loans that the funds plan to sell or liquidate in the near term will be treated as loans held-for-sale and will be held at the lower of cost or fair value. For Apollo s illiquid investments, valuations of non-marketable underlying investments are determined using methods that include, but are not limited to (i) discounted cash flow estimates or comparable analysis prepared internally, (ii) third party appraisals or valuations by qualified real estate appraisers, and (iii) contractual sales value of investments/properties subject to bona fide purchase contracts. Methods (i) and (ii) also incorporate consideration of the use of the income, cost, or sales comparison approaches of estimating property values. For portfolio or operating company investments, valuations may also incorporate the use of sales comparisons, valuing statistically meaningful samples, and the use of other techniques such as earnings multiples of similar companies due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of investments that do not have a readily available market value, the value of investments by certain of our real estate funds may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a readily available market value existed for such investments, and the differences could be material.

-18-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Fair Value of Financial Instruments* U.S. GAAP guidance requires the disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments. The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Except for the Company s debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement (as defined in note 8), Apollo s financial instruments are recorded at fair value or at amounts whose carrying value approximates fair value. See Investments, at Fair Value above. While Apollo s valuations of portfolio investments are based on assumptions that Apollo believes are reasonable under the circumstances, the actual realized gains or losses will depend on, among other factors, future operating results, the value of the assets and market conditions at the time of disposition, any related transaction costs and the timing and manner of sale, all of which may ultimately differ significantly from the assumptions on which the valuations were based. Other financial instruments carrying values generally approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of those instruments or variable interest rates related to the borrowings. As disclosed in note 8, the Company s long term debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement is believed to have an estimated fair value of approximately \$745.9 million based on a yield analysis using available market data of comparable securities with similar terms and remaining maturities. However, the carrying value that is recorded on the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition is the amount for which we expect to settle the long term debt obligation.

*Financial Instruments held by Consolidated VIEs* The consolidated VIEs hold investments that are traded over-the-counter. Investments in securities that are traded on a securities exchange or comparable over-the-counter quotation systems are valued based on the last reported sale price at that date. If no sales of such investments are reported on such date, and in the case of over-the-counter securities or other investments for which the last sale date is not available, valuations are based on independent market quotations obtained from market participants, recognized pricing services or other sources deemed relevant, and the prices are based on the average of the bid and ask prices, or at ascertainable prices at the close of business on such day. Market quotations are generally based on valuation pricing models or market transactions of similar securities adjusted for security-specific factors such as relative capital structure priority and interest and yield risks, among other factors.

The consolidated VIEs also have debt obligations that are recorded at fair value. The valuation approach used to estimate the fair values of debt obligations is the discounted cash flow method, which includes consideration of the cash flows of the debt obligation based on projected quarterly interest payments and quarterly amortization. Debt obligations are discounted based on the appropriate yield curve given the loan s respective maturity and credit rating. Management uses its discretion and judgment in considering and appraising relevant factors for determining the valuations of its debt obligations.

*Fair Value Option* Apollo has elected the fair value option for the assets and liabilities of the consolidated VIEs. Such election is irrevocable and is applied to financial instruments on an individual basis at initial recognition. Apollo has applied the fair value option for certain corporate loans, other investments and debt obligations held by these entities that otherwise would not have been carried at fair value. Refer to note 4 for further disclosure on financial instruments of the consolidated VIEs for which the fair value option has been elected.

*Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Share* U.S. GAAP requires use of the two-class method of computing earnings per share for all periods presented for each class of common stock and participating security as if all earnings for the period had been distributed. Under the two-class method, during periods of net income, the net income is first reduced for dividends declared on all classes of securities to arrive at undistributed earnings. During periods of net losses, the net loss is reduced for dividends declared on participating security has the right to participate in the earnings of the entity and an objectively determinable contractual obligation to share in net losses of the entity.

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

The remaining earnings are allocated to common Class A Shares and participating securities to the extent that each security shares in earnings as if all of the earnings for the period had been distributed. Each total is then divided by the applicable number of shares to arrive at basic earnings per share. For the diluted earnings, the denominator includes all outstanding common shares and all potential common shares assumed issued if they are dilutive. The numerator is adjusted for any changes in income or loss that would result from a hypothetical conversion of these potential common shares.

*Use of Estimates* The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Apollo s most significant estimates include goodwill, intangible assets, income taxes, carried interest income from affiliates, non-cash compensation and fair value of investments and debt in the consolidated and unconsolidated funds and VIEs. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In April 2011, the FASB amended existing guidance for agreements to transfer financial assets that both entitle and obligate the transferor to repurchase or redeem the financial assets before their maturity. The amendments remove from the assessment of effective control the criterion requiring the transferor to have the ability to repurchase or redeem the financial assets on substantially the agreed terms, even in the event of default by the transferee and the collateral maintenance implementation guidance related to that criterion. The guidance is effective for the first interim or annual period beginning on or after December 15, 2011 and is to be applied prospectively. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued an update which includes amendments that result in common fair value measurement and disclosure requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. Consequently, the amendments change the wording used to describe many of the requirements in U.S. GAAP for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements. Certain of the amendments could change how the fair value measurement guidance is applied including provisions related to highest and best use and valuation premise for nonfinancial assets, application to financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting positions in market risks or counterparty credit risk, premiums or discounts in fair value measurement, fair value of an instrument classified in a reporting entity s shareholders equity, and additional disclosure requirements about fair value measurements. The update is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011 for public entities to be applied prospectively. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this guidance will have on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued an update which includes amendments that eliminate the option to present components of other comprehensive income (OCI) as part of the statement of changes in stockholders equity and requires entities to report components of other comprehensive income in either (1) a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or (2) two separate but consecutive statements. In a single continuous statement, entities must include the components of net income, a total for net income, the components of OCI, a total for OCI, and a total for comprehensive income. Under the two separate but continuous statement would include components of other components of net income, consistent with the income statement format used today, and the second statement would include components of OCI. For public entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. For all entities, the amendments must be applied retrospectively for all periods presented and do not require any transition disclosures. The adoption of this guidance will not have an impact on the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements as the Company presents a separate statement of comprehensive income.

In September 2011, the FASB issued an update which amends the guidance related to testing goodwill for impairment. Under the revised guidance, entities testing goodwill for impairment have the option to perform a qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of the reporting unit (i.e., step 1 of the goodwill impairment

### Table of Contents

-20-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

test). If entities determine, on the basis of qualitative factors, that the fair value of the reporting unit is more likely than not to be less than the carrying amount, the two-step impairment test would be required. Otherwise, further testing would not be needed. The update does not amend the requirement to test goodwill for impairment between annual tests if events or circumstances warrant. The amendments are effective for all entities for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have an impact on the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **3. INVESTMENTS**

The following table represents Apollo s investments:

	September 30,	December 31,		
	2011	2010		
Investments, at fair value	\$ 1,510,401	\$ 1,637,091		
Other investments	253,633	283,462		
Total Investments	\$ 1,764,034	\$ 1,920,553		

#### **Investments at Fair Value**

Investments at fair value consist of financial instruments held by AAA, the investment in HFA, other investments held at fair value and investments of consolidated VIEs as discussed further in note 4. As of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the net assets of the consolidated funds and VIEs were \$1,474.6 million and \$1,951.6 million, respectively. The following investments, except the investment in HFA and other investments, are presented as a percentage of net assets of the consolidated funds and VIEs:

		September 30, 2011				December 31, 2010					
						% of					% of
						Net					Net
			Fair Value		1	Assets of	F	air Value	e		Assets of
					Co	onsolidateo Funds	1			(	Consolidated Funds
		Private	Capital			and	Private	Capital			and
Investments, at Fair Value	Affiliates	Equity	Markets	Total	Cost	VIEs	Equity	Markets	Total	Cost	VIEs
Investments, at fair value:											
AAA		\$ 1,472,129	\$	\$ 1,472,129	\$ 1,666,902	99.8%	\$ 1,637,091	\$ \$	5 1,637,091	\$ 1,695,992	83.9%
HFA			36,691	36,691	52,069	(1)					
Other		1,581		1,581	2,807	(1)					
Total		\$ 1,473,710	\$ 36,691	\$ 1,510,401	\$ 1,721,778	99.8%	\$ 1,637,091	\$	5 1,637,091	\$ 1,695,992	83.9%

(1) Investments were not held by a consolidated fund or consolidated VIEs.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

### Securities

At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the sole investment of AAA was its investment in AAA Investments, L.P. ( AAA Investments ). The following tables represent each investment of AAA Investments constituting more than five percent of the net assets of the consolidated funds and VIEs as of the aforementioned dates:

				% of Net
				Assets of
				Consolidated
				Funds and
	Instrument Type	Cost	Fair Value	VIEs
Apollo Life Re Ltd.	Equity	\$ 301,098	\$ 372,900	25.3%
Apollo Strategic Value Offshore Fund, Ltd.	Investment Fund	113,772	159,517	10.8
Momentive Performance Materials Holdings Inc.	Equity	76,007	151,232	10.3
Charter Communications, Inc.	Equity	44,602	107,319	7.3
Apollo Asia Opportunity Offshore Fund, Ltd.	Investment Fund	96,357	98,209	6.7
Rexnord Corporation	Equity	37,461	93,300	6.3
LeverageSource, L.P.	Equity	139,913	80,608	5.5

#### December 31, 2010

				% of Net
				Assets of
				Consolidated
	Instrument Type	Cost	Fair Value	Funds and VIEs
Apollo Life Re Ltd.	Equity	\$ 201,098	\$ 249,900	12.8%
Apollo Strategic Value Offshore Fund, Ltd.	Investment Fund	113,772	160,262	8.2
Momentive Performance Materials Holdings Inc.	Equity	76,007	137,992	7.1
Rexnord Corporation	Equity	37,461	133,700	6.9
LeverageSource, L.P.	Equity	140,743	115,677	5.9
Apollo Asia Opportunity Offshore Fund, Ltd.	Investment Fund	102,530	110,029	5.6
Caesars Entertainment Corporation	Equity	176,729	99,000	5.1

AAA Investments owns equity as a private equity co-investment in Caesars Entertainment Corporation (formerly known as Harrah s Entertainment, Inc.) and AAA Investments has an ownership interest in LeverageSource, L.P., which owns debt of Caesars Entertainment Corporation. At December 31, 2010, AAA Investments combined share of these debt and equity investments was greater than 5% of the net assets of the consolidated funds and VIEs and was valued at \$102.8 million. In addition to AAA Investments private equity co-investment in Momentive Performance Materials Holdings Inc. (Momentive ) noted above, AAA Investments has an ownership interest in the debt of Momentive. AAA Investments combined share of these debt and equity investments is greater than 5% of the net assets of consolidated funds and VIEs and \$138.8 million at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively. Furthermore, AAA Investments owns equity, as a private equity co-investment, and debt, through its investment in Autumnleaf, L.P. and Apollo Fund VI BC, L.P., in CEVA Logistics. AAA Investments combined share of these debt and equity investments was greater than 5% of the net assets of consolidated funds and VIEs and was valued at \$90.8 million and \$124.6 million as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010,

# respectively.

Apollo Strategic Value Offshore Fund, Ltd. (the Apollo Strategic Value Fund ) primarily invests in the securities of leveraged companies in North America and Europe through three core strategies: distressed investments, value-driven investments and special opportunities. In connection with the redemptions requested by AAA Investments of its investment in the Apollo Strategic Value Fund, the remainder of AAA Investments

-22-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

investment in the Apollo Strategic Value Fund, was converted into liquidating shares issued by the Apollo Strategic Value Fund. The liquidating shares are generally allocated a pro rata portion of each of Apollo Strategic Value Fund s existing investments and liabilities, and as those investments are sold, AAA Investments is allocated the proceeds from such disposition less its proportionate share of any expenses incurred by the Apollo Strategic Value Fund.

Apollo Asia Opportunity Offshore Fund, Ltd. ( Asia Opportunity Fund ) is an investment vehicle that seeks to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns across market cycles by capitalizing on investment opportunities created by the increasing demand for capital in the rapidly expanding Asian markets. In connection with a redemption requested by AAA Investments of its investment in Asia Opportunity Fund, a portion of AAA Investments investment was converted into liquidating shares issued by the Asia Opportunity Fund. The liquidating shares are generally allocated a pro rata portion of each of Asia Opportunity Fund s existing investments and liabilities, and as those investments are sold, AAA Investments is allocated the proceeds from such disposition less its proportionate share of any expenses incurred or reserves set by Asia Opportunity Fund. At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the liquidating shares of Asia Opportunity Fund had a fair value of \$37.1 million and \$45.0 million, respectively.

Apollo Life Re Ltd. is an Apollo-sponsored vehicle that owns the majority of the equity of Athene Holding Ltd., ( Athene ), the parent of Athene Life Re Ltd., a Bermuda-based reinsurance company focused on the life reinsurance sector, Liberty Life Insurance Company, a recently acquired Delaware-domiciled (formerly South Carolina domiciled) stock life insurance company focused on retail sales and reinsurance in the retirement services market, Investors Insurance Corporation, a recently acquired Delaware-domiciled stock life insurance company focused on the retirement services market and Athene Life Insurance Company, a recently organized Indiana-domiciled stock life insurance company focused on the institutional guaranteed investment contract ( GIC ) backed note and funding agreement markets.

### HFA

On March 7, 2011, the Company invested \$52.1 million (including expenses related to the purchase) in a convertible note with an aggregate principal amount of \$50.0 million and received 20,833,333 stock options issued by HFA, an Australian based specialist global funds management company providing absolute return fund products to investors.

The terms of the convertible note allow the Company to convert the note, in whole or in part, into common shares of HFA at an exchange rate equal to the principal plus accrued payment-in-kind interest (or PIK interest) divided by US\$0.98 at any time, and convey participation rights, on an as-converted basis, in any dividends declared in excess of \$6.0 million per annum, as well as seniority rights over HFA common equity holders. Unless previously converted, repurchased or cancelled, the note will be converted on the eighth anniversary of its issuance. Additionally, the note has a percentage coupon interest of 6% per annum, paid via principal capitalization (PIK interest) for the first four years, and thereafter either in cash or via principal capitalization at HFA s discretion. The PIK interest provides for the Company to receive additional common shares of HFA if the note is converted. The Company has elected the fair value option for the convertible note. The convertible note is valued using an as if-converted basis . The terms of the stock options allow for the Company to \$0.97 as of September 30, 2011) per stock option. The stock options became exercisable upon issuance and expire on the eighth anniversary of the issuance date. The stock options are accounted for as a derivative and are valued at their fair value under U.S. GAAP at each balance sheet date. As a result, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, the Company recorded an unrealized loss of approximately \$33.4 million and \$13.3 million, respectively, related to the convertible note and stock options within net (losses) gains from investment activities in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The Company has classified the instruments associated with the HFA investment as Level III investments.

-23-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

## NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

### Net (Losses) Gains from Investment Activities

Net (losses) gains from investment activities in the condensed consolidated statements of operations include net realized gains from sales of investments, and the change in net unrealized (losses) gains resulting from changes in fair value of the consolidated funds investments and realization of previously unrealized (losses) gains. Additionally net (losses) gains from investment activities include changes in the fair value of the investment in HFA and other investments held at fair value. The following tables present Apollo s net (losses) gains from investment activities for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010:

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2011			
	Private Equity Capital Markets Total			
Net unrealized losses due to changes in fair value	\$ (338,277) \$ (33,370) \$ (371,647)			
Net Losses from Investment Activities	\$ (338,277) \$ (33,370) \$ (371,647)			

		ee Months ptember 3	
	Private Equity	Capital Ma	rkets Total
Net unrealized gains due to changes in fair value	\$ 101,210	\$	\$ 101,210
Net Gains from Investment Activities	\$ 101,210	\$	\$ 101,210

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011			
	Private Equity Capital Markets Total			
Net unrealized losses due to changes in fair value	\$ (137,098) \$ (13,309) \$ (150,407)			
Net Losses from Investment Activities	\$ (137,098) \$ (13,309) \$ (150,407)			

			onths Endea ber 30, 2010	
	Private Equity	Capi	tal Markets	Total
Net unrealized gains (losses) due to changes in fair value	\$ 204,200	\$	(2,274)	\$ 201,926
Net Gains (Losses) from Investment Activities	\$ 204,200	\$	(2,274)	\$ 201,926

-24-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

### **Other Investments**

Other Investments primarily consist of equity method investments. Apollo s share of operating income (loss) generated by these investments is recorded within income (loss) from equity method investments in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Income (loss) from equity method investments for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following:

	For the Thr Ended Sept 2011		For the Nine Months Ended September 30 2011 2010		
Investments:					
Private Equity Funds:					
AAA Investments	\$ (185)	\$ 58	\$ (66)	\$ 122	
Apollo Investment Fund IV, L.P. ( Fund IV )	(1)	3	11	19	
Apollo Investment Fund V, L.P. ( Fund V )	(16)	4	1	29	
Apollo Investment Fund VI, L.P. ( Fund VI )	(996)	334	1,900	93	
Apollo Investment Fund VII, L.P. ( Fund VII )	(28,646)	15,577	(14,981)	18,280	
Apollo Natural Resources Partners, L.P. ( ANRP )	(101)		(101)		
Capital Markets Funds:					
Apollo Special Opportunities Managed Account, L.P. ( SOMA )	(1,024)	100	(882)	421	
Apollo Value Investment Fund, L.P. ( VIF )	(28)	2	(24)	15	
Apollo Strategic Value Fund, L.P. (SVF)	(21)	2	(18)	10	
Apollo Credit Liquidity Fund, L.P. ( ACLF )	(3,360)	2,467	(2,864)	1,379	
Apollo/Artus Investors 2007-I, L.P. ( Artus )	(535)	1,254	(166)	2,445	
Apollo Credit Opportunity Fund I, L.P. ( COF I )	(13,851)	7,506	(9,491)	5,376	
Apollo Credit Opportunity Fund II, L.P. ( COF II )	(3,574)	1,835	(2,636)	2,007	
Apollo European Principal Finance Fund, L.P. ( EPF )	(1,461)	(1,091)	1,402	869	
Apollo Investment Europe II, L.P. ( AIE II )	(1,558)	1,251	(148)	1,140	
Apollo Palmetto Strategic Partnership, L.P. ( Palmetto )	(962)	268	(441)	401	
Real Estate:					
Apollo Commercial Real Estate Finance, Inc. ( ARI )	212	164	524	284	
CPI Capital Partners NA Fund	4		85		
CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific Fund	18		32		
Other Equity Method Investments:					
VC Holdings, L.P. Series A (Vantium A)	(554)	(336)	(1,860)	(862)	
VC Holdings, L.P. Series C (Vantium C)	244	(1,910)	464	1,604	
VC Holdings, L.P. Series D ( Vantium D )	(43)	(8)	17	16	

Total (Loss) Income from Equity Method Investments

\$ (56,438) \$ 27,480 \$ (29,242) \$ 33,648

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

# (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Other investments as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 consisted of the following:

		Equity 1	Held as of	
	September 30,	% of	December 31,	% of
<b>T</b>	2011	Ownership	2010	Ownership
Investments:				
Private Equity Funds:	¢ 0.40	0.0579	¢ 0.20	0.0569
AAA Investments	\$ 849	0.057%	\$ 929	0.056%
Fund IV	27	0.006	48	0.005
Fund V	212	0.014	231	0.013
Fund VI	7,587	0.082	5,860	0.051
Fund VII	107,384	1.315	122,384	1.345
Apollo Natural Resources Partners, L.P	740	2.575		
Capital Markets Funds:				
Apollo Special Opportunities Managed Account, L.P.	4,964	0.523	5,863	0.537
Apollo Value Investment Fund, L.P.	129	0.081	152	0.085
Apollo Strategic Value Fund, L.P.	126	0.059	144	0.055
Apollo Credit Liquidity Fund, L.P.	12,319	2.467	18,736	2.450
Apollo/Artus Investors 2007-I, L.P.	5,721	6.156	7,143	6.156
Apollo Credit Opportunity Fund I, L.P.	29,551	2.039	41,793	1.949
Apollo Credit Opportunity Fund II, L.P	21,707	1.524	27,415	1.441
Apollo European Principal Finance Fund, L.P.	16,316	1.363	15,352	1.363
Apollo Investment Europe II, L.P.	8,005	2.072	8,154	2.045
Apollo Palmetto Strategic Partnership, L.P.	6,770	1.186	6,403	1.186
Apollo Senior Floating Rate Fund ( AFT )	100	0.034		
Apollo/JH Loan Portfolio, L.P.	100	0.196		
Apollo Residential Mortgage, Inc. ( AMTG <sup>4</sup> )	4,142(1)	1.850(1)		
Real Estate:				
Apollo Commercial Real Estate Finance, Inc. <sup>(4)</sup>	11,384 <sup>(2)</sup>	3.197 <sup>(2)</sup>	9,440 <sup>(3)</sup>	3.198 <sup>(3)</sup>
AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund	5,963	5.892		
CPI Capital Partners NA Fund	550	0.358		
CPI Capital Partners Europe Fund	5	0.001		
CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific Fund	224	0.032		
Other Equity Method Investments:	· · · ·			
Vantium A	359	42.989	2,219	12.240
Vantium C	7,321	2.077	10,135	2.166
Vantium D	1,078	6.345	1,061	6.345
	1,0,0	0.0.0	1,001	0.0.0
Total Other Investments	\$ 253,633		\$ 283,462	

(1) Amounts are as of July 22, 2011, the date of AMTG s initial public offering.

(2) Amounts are as of June 30, 2011.

- (3) Amounts are as of September 30, 2010.
- (4) Investment value includes the fair value of RSUs granted to the Company as of the grant date. These amounts are not considered in the percentage of ownership until the RSUs are vested, at which point the RSUs are converted to common stock and delivered to the Company.

As of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and September 30, 2010, no single equity method investee held by Apollo exceeded 20% of its total consolidated assets or income, respectively. As such, Apollo is not required to present summarized income statement information for any of its equity method investee.

-26-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

# (dollars in thousands, except share data)

### **Fair Value Measurements**

The following table summarizes the valuation of Apollo s investments in fair value hierarchy levels as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	I	Level I	I	evel II	Leve	el III	То	tals
	September 2011	<b>30</b> ecember 2010	September 2011	30ecember 31, 2010	September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010
Assets, at fair value:								
Investment in AAA Investment	s,							
L.P.	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 1,472,129	\$ 1,637,091	\$ 1,472,129	\$ 1,637,091
Investments in HFA and Other					38,272		38,272	
Total	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 1,510,401	\$ 1,637,091	\$ 1,510,401	\$ 1,637,091

	I	Level I	Le	vel II	L	evel III	Те	otals	
	September 3 2011	December 31, 2010	September 30, 2011	December 3 2010	1,September 3 2011	3 <b>D</b> ecember 3 2010	1, September 30, 2011	Decembe 2010	
Liabilities, at fair value:									
Interest rate swap agreements	\$	\$	\$ 4,893	\$ 11,53	1 \$	\$	\$ 4,893	\$ 11,	531
Total		\$	4,893	\$ 11,53	1 \$	\$	4,893	\$ 11,	531

There were no transfers between Level I, II or III during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 relating to assets and liabilities, at fair value, noted in the tables above.

The following table summarizes the changes in AAA Investments, which is measured at fair value and characterized as a Level III investment:

	For the Thi Ended Sep		For the Nir Ended Sep	
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 1,810,577	\$ 1,411,281	\$ 1,637,091	\$ 1,324,939
Purchases	125	32	432	375
Distributions	(1,522)	(38,479)	(29,522)	(55,470)
Change in unrealized (losses) gains, net	(337,051)	101,210	(135,872)	204,200
Balance, End of Period	\$ 1,472,129	\$ 1,474,044	\$ 1,472,129	\$ 1,474,044

The following table summarizes the changes in the investment in HFA and Other Investments, which are measured at fair value and characterized as Level III investments:

	For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2011	For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011		
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 72,498	\$		
Purchases	370	54,876		
Change in unrealized losses, net	(34,596)	(14,535)		
Expenses incurred		(2,069)		
Balance, End of Period	\$ 38,272	\$ 38,272		

The change in unrealized losses, net has been recorded within the caption Net (losses) gains from investment activities in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

-27-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table summarizes a look-through of the Company s Level III investments by valuation methodology of the underlying securities held by AAA Investments:

		Private Equity				
	September 3	0, 2011	December	er 31, 2010		
		% of Investment of AAA		% of Investment of AAA		
Approximate values based on net asset value of the underlying funds, which are based on the funds underlying investments that are valued using the following:						
Comparable company and industry multiples	\$ 744,400	42.5%	\$ 782,775	42.6%		
Discounted cash flow models	594,099	34.0	490,024	26.6		
Listed quotes	213,343	12.2	24,232	1.3		
Broker quotes	159,640	9.1	504,917	27.5		
Other net assets <sup>(1)</sup>	38,643	2.2	37,351	2.0		
Total Investments	1,750,125	100.0%	1,839,299	100.0%		
Other net liabilities <sup>(2)</sup>	(277,996)		(202,208)			
Total Net Assets	\$ 1,472,129		\$ 1,637,091			

- Balances include other assets and liabilities of certain funds in which AAA Investments has invested. Other assets and liabilities at the fund level primarily include cash and cash equivalents, broker receivables and payables and amounts due to and from affiliates. Carrying values approximate fair value for other assets and liabilities, and accordingly, extended valuation procedures are not required.
- (2) Balances include other assets, liabilities and general partner interests of AAA Investments and are primarily comprised of \$400.5 million and \$537.5 million in long-term debt offset by cash and cash equivalents at the September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 balance sheet dates, respectively. Carrying values approximate fair value for other assets and liabilities (except for debt), and, accordingly, extended valuation procedures are not required.

# 4. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Company consolidates entities that are VIEs for which the Company has been designated as the primary beneficiary. The purpose of such VIEs is to provide strategy-specific investment opportunities for investors in exchange for management and performance based fees. The investment strategies of the entities that the Company manages may vary by entity, however, the fundamental risks of such entities have similar characteristics, including loss of invested capital and the return of carried interest income previously distributed to the Company by certain private equity and capital markets entities. The nature of the Company s involvement with VIEs includes direct and indirect investments and fee arrangements. The Company does not provide performance guarantees and has no other financial obligations to provide funding to VIEs other than its own capital commitments.

### **Consolidated Variable Interest Entities**

In accordance with the methodology described in note 2, Apollo consolidated four VIEs under the amended consolidation guidance during 2010 and consolidated an additional VIE during the second quarter of 2011.

One of the consolidated VIEs was formed to purchase loans and bonds in a leveraged structure for the benefit of its limited partners, which included certain Apollo funds that contributed equity to the consolidated VIE. Through its role as general partner of this VIE, it was determined that Apollo had the characteristics of the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE s economic performance. Additionally, the Apollo funds have involvement with the VIE that have the characteristics of the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. As a group, the Company and its related parties have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest. Apollo determined that it is the party within the related party group that is most closely associated with the VIE and therefore should consolidate it.

-28-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Three of the consolidated VIEs including the VIE formed during the second quarter 2011 were formed for the sole purpose of issuing collateralized notes to investors, which include one Apollo fund. The assets of these VIEs are primarily comprised of senior secured loans and the liabilities are primarily comprised of debt. Through its role as collateral manager of these VIEs, it was determined that Apollo had the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of these VIEs. Additionally, Apollo determined that the potential fees that it could receive directly and indirectly from these VIEs represent rights to returns that could potentially be significant to such VIEs. As a result, Apollo determined that it is the primary beneficiary and therefore should consolidate the VIEs.

Additionally, one of the consolidated VIEs, which qualified as an asset-backed financing entity, was formed during the fourth quarter of 2010 and the Company determined that it was the primary beneficiary of such VIE. Based on a restructuring of this VIE which occurred later in the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company no longer possessed the power to direct the activities of such VIE resulting in deconsolidation of such VIE in the fourth quarter of 2010.

Apollo holds no equity interest in any of the consolidated VIEs described above. The assets of these consolidated VIEs are not available to creditors of the Company. In addition, the investors in these consolidated VIEs have no recourse to the assets of the Company. The Company has elected the fair value option for financial instruments held by its consolidated VIEs, which includes investments in loans and corporate bonds, as well as debt obligations held by such consolidated VIEs. Other assets include amounts due from brokers and interest receivables. Other liabilities include payables for securities purchased, which represent open trades within the consolidated VIEs and primarily relate to corporate loans that are expected to settle within the next sixty days.

### **Fair Value Measurements**

The following table summarizes the valuation of Apollo s consolidated VIEs in fair value hierarchy levels as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	Level I		Le	Level II		Leve	el III	Totals		
	September 2011	Becember 31 2010	, September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010		11 ber 30,	December 31, 2010	September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	
Investments, at fair	2011	2010	2011	2010	20	11	2010	2011	2010	
value <sup>(1)(2)</sup>	\$	\$	\$ 1,040,440	\$ 1,172,242	\$ 7	74,162	\$ 170,369	\$ 1,114,602	\$ 1,342,611	
	Level I		Le	Level II		Level III		Totals		
	Septembe 30, 2011	er December 31, 2010	September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	3	ember 0, 011	December 31, 2010	September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	
Liabilities, at fair value <sup>(3)</sup>		\$	\$	\$		36,926	\$ 1,127,180	\$ 1,136,926	\$ 1,127,180	

(1) During the first quarter of 2011, one of the consolidated VIEs sold all of its investments. At December 31, 2010, the cost and fair value of the investments of this VIE were \$719.5 million and \$684.1 million, respectively. The consolidated VIE had a net investment gain of \$16.0 million relating to the sale for the nine months ended September 30, 2011, which is reflected in the net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.

(2) During the second quarter of 2011, the Company consolidated an additional VIE which included investments and notes.

(3) At December 31, 2010, the cost and fair value of the term loans were \$453.9 million and \$408.7 million, respectively. The term loans were paid down in the first quarter of 2011, with payments totaling \$412.1 million, resulting in a realized gain of \$41.8 million. Combined with

net unrealized depreciation on the term loans of \$45.2 million, as such, the consolidated VIE had a net loss on term loans of \$3.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011, which is reflected in the net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.

Level III investments include corporate loan and corporate bond investments held by the consolidated VIEs, while the Level III liabilities consist of notes and loans, the valuations of which are discussed further in note 2. All Level II and III investments were valued using broker quotes. Transfers of investments out of Level III and into Level II or Level I, if any, are recorded as of the quarterly period in which the transfer occurred.

-29-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment s level within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the investment.

The following table summarizes the changes in investments of consolidated VIEs, which are measured at fair value and characterized as Level III investments:

		Months Ended 1ber 30,		Months Ended 1ber 30,
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 272,991	\$ 1,374,367	\$ 170,369	\$
Transition adjustment relating to consolidation of VIE on				
January 1, 2010				1,102,114
Purchases	85,764	21,622	571,279	392,862
Sale of investments	(18,135)	(261,413)	(98,724)	(344,385)
Net realized gains	111	1,932	1,945	2,118
Net unrealized (losses) gains	(9,443)	33,256	(6,753)	18,109
Elimination of equity investment attributable to consolidated				
VIEs		19		(1,035)
Transfers out of Level III	(274,795)		(673,776)	
Transfers into Level III	17,669		109,822	
Balance, End of Period	\$ 74,162	\$ 1,169,783	\$ 74,162	\$ 1,169,783
Changes in net unrealized (losses) gains included in Net (Losses) Gains from Investment Activities of consolidated VIEs related to investments still held at reporting date	\$ (2,337)	\$ 25,042	\$ (1,886)	\$ 12,601

Investments were transferred out of Level III into Level II and into Level III out of Level II, respectively, as a result of subjecting the broker quotes on these investments to various criteria which include the number and quality of broker quotes, the standard deviation of obtained broker quotes, and the percentage deviation from independent pricing services.

The following table summarizes the changes in liabilities of consolidated VIEs, which are measured at fair value and characterized as Level III liabilities:

		Months Ended Iber 30,	For the Nine M Septem	
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 1,174,568	\$ 1,006,548	\$ 1,127,180	\$
Transition adjustment relating to consolidation of VIE on				
January 1, 2010				706,027

Elimination of equity investments attributable to consolidated				
VIEs	1	19	5	(1,035)
Additions			454,356	320,154
Repayments		(118,871)	(412,057)	(136,110)
Net realized gains on debt		(3,804)	(41,819)	(5,483)
Net unrealized (gains) losses on debt	(37,643)	16,588	9,261	16,927
Balance, End of Period	\$ 1,136,926	\$ 900,480	\$ 1,136,926	\$ 900,480
Changes in net unrealized (gains) losses included in Net (Losses) Gains from Investment Activities of consolidated VIEs related to liabilities still held at reporting date	\$ (37,643)	\$ 4,399	\$ (35,966)	\$ 436

-30-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

### Net (Losses) Gains from Investment Activities of Consolidated Variable Interest Entities

The following table presents net (losses) gains from investment activities of the consolidated VIEs for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively:

	For the Three M Septem		For the Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2011	2010	2011	2010	
Net unrealized (losses) gains from investment activities	\$ (45,446)	\$ 33,256	\$ (20,256)	\$ 18,109	
Net realized gains (losses) from investment activities	38	1,932	(12,581)	2,118	
Net (losses) gains from investment activities	(45,408)	35,188	(32,837)	20,227	
Net unrealized gains (losses) from debt	37,643	(16,588)	(9,261)	(16,927)	
Net realized gains from debt		3,804	41,819	5,483	
Net gains (losses) from debt	37,643	(12,784)	32,558	(11,444)	
Interest and other income	14,831	15,435	39,779	38,864	
Other expenses	(11,826)	(4,929)	(39,541)	(15,002)	
Net (Losses) Gains from Investment Activities of Consolidated VIEs	\$ (4,760)	\$ 32,910	\$ (41)	\$ 32,645	

-31-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

### **Investments of Consolidated VIEs**

The following table presents a condensed summary of investments of the consolidated VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	Fair Value as of September 30, 2011	% of Net Assets of Consolidated Funds and VIEs	Fair Value as of December 31, 2010	% of Net Assets of Consolidated Funds and VIEs
Corporate Loans:				
North America				
Chemicals	\$ 24,218	1.6%	\$ 13,950	0.7%
Communications				
Intelsat Jackson term loan due February 1, 2014			105,659	5.4
Other	88,052	6.0	221,383	11.3
Communications	88,052	6.0	327,042	16.7
Consumer & Retail	151,729	10.3	114,931	5.9
Distribution & Transportation	8,393	0.6	7,794	0.4
Energy	35,240	2.4	25,026	1.3
Financial and Business Services	147,999	10.0	85,713	4.4
Healthcare	145,492	9.9	144,343	7.4
Manufacturing & Industrial	145,598	9.9	200,290	10.3
Media, Cable & Leisure	153,898	10.3	93,798	4.8
Metals & Mining	12,353	0.8	14,025	0.7
Packaging & Materials	30,231	2.1	21,066	1.1
Technology	99,660	6.8	34,862	1.8
Other	5,384	0.4	9,539	0.5
Total Corporate Loans North America (amortized cost \$1,082,073 and \$1,075,287)	1,048,247	71.1	1,092,379	56.0
Europe			,,,	
Chemicals	18,256	1.2	9,909	0.5
Consumer & Retail			75,007	3.8
Healthcare				
Alliance Boots seniors facility B1 due July 5, 2015			143,105	7.3
Other	14,853	1.0		
Healthcare	14,853	1.0	143,105	7.3
Manufacturing & Industrial	16,319	1.1	7,696	0.4
Media, Cable & Leisure	10,517	1.1	10,787	0.4
Technology	5,939	0.4	10,707	5.0
10011101055	5,757	U.T		

Total Corporate Loans Europe (amortized cost \$58,258 and \$284,760)	55,367	3.7	246,504	12.6
Total Corporate Loans (amortized cost \$1,140,331 and \$1,360,047)	1,103,614	74.8	1,338,883	68.6
Corporate Bonds:				
North America				0.1
Communications			1,564	0.1
Distribution & Transportation	4,721	0.3	4,160	0.2
Energy	770	0.1	3,640	0.2
Manufacturing & Industrial	770	0.1	2.550	0.0
Media, Cable & Leisure	6,242	0.4	3,550	0.2
Total Corporate Bonds North America (amortized cost \$12,472 and				
\$12,406)	11,733	0.8	12,914	0.7
Europe				
Media, Cable & Leisure	1,370	0.1	1,599	0.1
	-,- , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , -		-,-,,	
Tetal Compared Danda Emma (and the data the data the floor and the floor	1 270	0.1	1 500	0.1
Total Corporate Bonds Europe (amortized cost \$1,400 and \$1,519)	1,370	0.1	1,599	0.1
Total Corporate Bonds (amortized cost \$13,872 and \$13,925)	13,103	0.9	14,513	0.8
Elimination of equity investments attributable to consolidated VIEs	(2,115)	(0.1)	(10,785)	(0.6)
Total Investments, at fair value, of Consolidated VIEs (amortized cost				
\$1,154,203 and \$1,373,972)	\$ 1.114.602	75.6%	\$ 1.342.611	68.8%
+-,,,+-,,,,,,,,,-	÷ -,,002	. 51070	+ -,,011	501070

-32-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

# (dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Senior Secured Notes, Subordinated Note, Term Loans* Included within debt are amounts due to third-party institutions of the consolidated VIEs. The following table summarizes the principal provisions of the debt of the consolidated VIEs as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	Septe	As of mber 30, 2011	W/-:-b4-J	Decer	As of mber 31, 2010			
Description	Outstanding Principal Balance	Fair Value	Weighted Average ( Interest Rate	Outstanding Principal Balance	Fair Value	Weighted Average Interest Rate	Maturity Date	Interest Rate
Loans:	Dulunce	vulue	Itute	Dulunce	, and	Itute	Muturity Dute	interest nute
Term A Loan	\$	\$	%	\$ 146,502	\$ 142,601	0.91%	October 29, 2012	BBA 3 mo. LIBOR (USD) plus 0.5%
Term B Loan				145,390	111,655	0.91%	June 13, 2013	BBA 3 mo. LIBOR (GBP) plus 0.5%
Term C Loan				161,984	154,394	0.91%	October 29, 2013	BBA 3 mo. LIBOR (USD) plus 0.5%
	(1)	(1	)	453,876	408,650			
Notes(1)(2)(3)								
Senior								
secured notes	<b>21 5</b> 100	<b>21 5 1</b> 0 0		<b>21 5</b> 100				
A1	215,400	215,400	2.14%	215,400	215,400	2.02%	May 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 1.7%
Senior								
secured notes A2	11 100	10 424	2.72%	11 100	10,767	2.48%	May 20, 2020	DDA 2 mg LIDOD (LISD) mlug 2 250
A2 Senior	11,100	10,434	2.12%	11,100	10,707	2.48%	May 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 2.25%
secured notes								
B	24,700	22,118	2.78%	24,700	22,971	2.52%	May 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 2.30%
Subordinated	,,	,		,	,, , , ,			(
note	70,946	69,134		70,946	70,376	N/A	May 20, 2020	N/A (7)
							-	
	322,146	317,086		322,146	319,514			
	022,110	517,000		022,110	019,011			
Notes(1)(2)(4)								
Senior								
secured notes								
A1	262,000	256,760	2.05%	262,000	261,371	2.22%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 1.7%
Senior								
secured notes	20.500	10.475	0.050	20.500	10.050	2.050	N 1 00 0000	
A1 Senior	20,500	19,475	2.85%	20,500	19,959	3.05%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 2.5%
secured notes								
B	25,750	22,660	3.35%	25,750	24,426	3.58%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 3.0%
Senior	25,750	22,000	5.55%	25,750	24,420	5.56%	100veilidei 20, 2020	BBA 5 IIIO LIBOK (USD) plus 3.0%
secured notes								
C	14,000	11,238	4.35%	14,000	12,604	4.62%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 4.0%
Senior	10,000	7,586	6.35%	10,000	9,398	6.71%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 6.0%
secured notes	.,	.,		.,	.,			

D								
Subordinated note <sup>(5)</sup>	71,258	71,348		71,258	71,258	N/A	November 20, 2020	N/A <sup>(7)</sup>
	403,508	389,067		403,508	399,016			
Notes(1)(2)(6)								
Senior secured notes								
A Senior	274,500	269,696	1.67%				July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 1.24%
secured notes B	58,500	54,698	2.33%				July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 1.90%
Senior secured notes C	20.912	25.026	3.18%				July 18, 2022	DDA 2 mg LIDOD (LICD) alus 2.75%
Senior	29,812	25,936	3.18%				July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 2.75%
secured notes D	20,250	16,301	3.63%				July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 3.20%
Senior secured notes E	23,625	17,719	4.63%				July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 4.20%
Senior secured notes F	11,270	8,058	5.93%				July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 5.50%
Subordinated note	43,350	38,365	5.55 %				July 18, 2022	N/A <sup>(7)</sup>
	461,307	430,773						
Total notes and loans	\$ 1,186,961	\$ 1,136,926		\$ 1,179,530	\$ 1,127,180			

- (1) At December 31, 2010, the cost and fair value of the term loans were \$453.9 million and \$408.7 million, respectively. The term loans were paid down in the first quarter of 2011, with payments totaling \$412.1 million, resulting in a gain of \$41.8 million. Combined with net unrealized depreciation on the term loans of \$45.2 million, the consolidated VIE had a net loss on term loans of \$3.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011, which is reflected in the net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
- (2) Each class of notes will mature at par on the stated maturity, unless previously redeemed or repaid. Principal will not be payable on the notes except in certain limited circumstances. Interest on the notes is payable quarterly in arrears on the outstanding amount of the notes on scheduled payment dates. The subordinated note will be fully redeemed on the stated maturity unless previously redeemed. The subordinated note may be redeemed, in whole but not in part, on or after the redemption or repayment in full of principal and interest on the secured notes. No interest accrues or is payable on the subordinated note.
- (3) The notes are subject to two coverage tests. These tests are primarily used to determine whether principal and interest may be paid on the secured notes and distributions may be made on the subordinated notes. The Coverage Tests consist of the Overcollateralization Ratio Test and the Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each note. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test applicable to the indicated classes of secured notes will be satisfied as of any date on which such Coverage Test is applicable, if (1) the applicable Overcollateralization Ratio or Interest Coverage Ratio is at least equal to the applicable ratio or (2) the class or classes of secured notes is no longer outstanding. The applicable Interest Coverage Ratio for Class A Notes and B Notes is 110.0% and 105.0%, respectively. The applicable Overcollateralization Ratio for Class A Notes and B Notes is 137.5% and 126.4%, respectively.
- (4) The notes are subject to two coverage tests. These tests are primarily used to determine whether principal and interest may be paid on the secured notes and distributions may be made on the subordinated notes. The Coverage Tests consist of the Overcollateralization Ratio Test and the Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each note. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test applicable to the indicated classes of secured notes will be satisfied as of any date on which such Coverage Test is applicable, if (1) the applicable Overcollateralization Ratio or Interest Coverage Ratio is at least equal to the applicable ratio or (2) the class or classes of secured notes is no longer outstanding. The applicable Interest Coverage Ratio for Class A Notes, Class C Notes and Class D Notes is 110.0%, 105.0%, 102.0% and 101.0%, respectively. The applicable Overcollateralization Ratio for Class A Notes, Class B Notes, Class C Notes and Class D Notes is 135.59%, 124.76%, 120.13% and 117.39%, respectively.

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

- (5) The subordinated notes were issued to an affiliate of the Company. Amount is reduced by approximately \$2.1 million due to elimination of equity investment attributable to consolidated VIEs as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.
- (6) The notes are subject to two coverage tests. These tests are primarily used to determine whether principal and interest may be paid on the secured notes and distributions may be made on the subordinated notes or whether funds which would otherwise be used to pay interest on the Secured Notes other than the Class A Notes and the Class B Notes and to make distributions on the Subordinated Notes must instead be used to pay principal on one or more Classes of Secured Notes according to the priorities defined. The Coverage Tests consist of the Overcollateralization Ratio Test and the Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each specified Class or Classes of Secured Notes. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test applicable to the indicated classes of secured notes will be satisfied as of any date of determination on which such Coverage Test is applicable, if (1) the applicable Overcollateralization Ratio or Interest Coverage Ratio is at least equal to the applicable ratio or (2) the class or classes of secured notes is no longer outstanding. The applicable Interest Coverage Ratio for Class A and B Notes, Class C Notes and Class D Notes is 100.0% in respect of the first determination date and 120% thereafter, 110.0%, and 105.0%, respectively. The applicable Overcollateralization Ratio for Class A and B Notes, Class E Notes is 125.1%, 118.0%, 113.5% and 107.7%, respectively.
- (7) The subordinated notes do not have contractual interest rates but instead receive distributions from the excess cash flows of the VIEs.

The consolidated VIEs have elected the fair value option to value the term loans and notes payable. The general partner uses its discretion and judgment in considering and appraising relevant factors in determining valuation of these loans. As of September 30, 2011, the notes payable are classified as Level III liabilities. Because of the inherent uncertainty in the valuation of the term loans and notes payable, which are not publicly traded, estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been reported had a ready market for such investments existed.

The consolidated VIEs debt obligations contain various customary loan covenants as described above. As of the balance sheet date, the Company was not aware of any instances of noncompliance with any of these covenants.

### Variable Interest Entities Which are Not Consolidated

The Company holds variable interests in certain VIEs which are not consolidated, as it has been determined that Apollo is not the primary beneficiary.

The following tables present the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the VIEs for which Apollo has concluded that it holds a significant variable interest, but that it is not the primary beneficiary. In addition, the tables present the maximum exposure to loss relating to those VIEs.

		September 30, 2011				
	Total Assets	Total Liabilities	Apollo Exposure			
Private Equity	\$ 9,814,244	\$ (61,659)	\$	8,758		
Capital Markets	2,728,999	(557,064)		10,940		
Real Estate	2,252,563	(1,795,256)				
Total	\$ 14,795,806 <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ (2,413,979) <sup>(2)</sup>	\$	19,698(3)		

(1) Consists of \$296,728 in cash, \$14,046,259 in investments and \$452,819 in receivables.

- (2) Represents \$2,343,762 in debt and other payables, \$68,336 in securities sold, not purchased, and \$1,881 in capital withdrawals payable.
- (3) Apollo s exposure is limited to its direct and indirect investments in those entities in which Apollo holds a significant variable interest.

-34-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

		December 31, 2010			
	Total Assets	Total Liabilities	Apoll	o Exposure	
Private Equity	\$ 11,593,805	\$ (39,625)	\$	13,415	
Capital Markets	3,117,013	(824,957)		13,302	
Real Estate	1,569,147	(1,263,354)			
Total	\$ 16,279,965 <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ (2,127,936) <sup>(2)</sup>	\$	26,717 <sup>(3)</sup>	

(1) Consists of \$207,168 in cash, \$15,672,604 in investments and \$400,193 in receivables.

(2) Represents \$2,011,194 in debt and other payables, \$21,369 in securities sold, not purchased, and \$95,373 in capital withdrawals payable.
(3) Apollo s exposure is limited to its direct and indirect investments in those entities in which Apollo holds a significant variable interest. At September 30, 2011, AAA Investments, the sole investment of AAA, invested in certain of the Company s unconsolidated VIEs, including LeverageSource, L.P., AutumnLeaf, L.P., and Apollo ALS Holdings, L.P. At September 30, 2011, the aggregate amount of such investments was \$110.7 million. The Company s ownership interest in AAA was 2.45% at September 30, 2011.

At December 31, 2010, AAA Investments, the sole investment of AAA, invested in certain of the Company s unconsolidated VIEs, including LeverageSource, L.P., AutumnLeaf, L.P., Apollo ALS Holdings, L.P., and A.P. Charter Holdings, L.P. At December 31, 2010, the aggregate amount of such investments was \$251.5 million. The Company s ownership interest in AAA was 2.81% at December 31, 2010.

### 5. CARRIED INTEREST RECEIVABLE

The table below provides a roll-forward of the carried interest receivable balance for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	Private Equity	Capital Markets	Total
Carried interest receivable at January 1, 2011	\$ 1,578,135	\$ 288,938	\$ 1,867,073
Carried interest loss from change in fair value of			
funds <sup>(1)</sup>	(699,950)	(76,456)	(776,406)
Foreign exchange loss		(655)	(655)
Fund cash distributions to the Company	(330,473)	(124,839)	(455,312)
Carried Interest Receivable at September 30, 2011	\$ 547,712	\$ 86,988	\$ 634,700

(1) As of September 30, 2011, the Company recorded a general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$78.0 million, \$24.2 million and \$17.6 million relating to Fund VI, COF II and SOMA, respectively. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of a general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.

The timing of the payment of carried interest due to the general partner or investment manager varies depending on the terms of the applicable fund agreements. Generally, carried interest with respect to the private equity funds is payable and is distributed to the fund s general partner

upon realization of an investment if the fund s cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return. For most capital markets funds, carried interest is payable based on realizations after the end of the relevant fund s fiscal year or fiscal quarter, subject to high watermark provisions. There is currently no carried interest receivable associated with the Company s real estate segment.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

### 6. OTHER LIABILITIES

Other liabilities consist of the following:

	September 30, 2011	ember 31, 2010
Interest rate swap agreements	\$ 4,893	\$ 11,531
Deferred rent	12,960	10,318
Deferred taxes	2,269	2,424
Other	2,929	1,422
Total Other Liabilities	\$ 23,051	\$ 25,695

*Interest Rate Swap Agreements* The principal financial instruments used for cash flow hedging purposes are interest rate swaps. Apollo enters into interest rate swap agreements to manage its exposure to interest rate changes. The swaps effectively converted a portion of the Company s variable rate debt under the AMH Credit Agreement (discussed in note 8) to a fixed rate, without exchanging the notional principal amounts. Apollo entered into an interest rate swap agreement whereby Apollo receives floating rate payments in exchange for fixed rate payments of 5.175%, on the notional amount of \$167.0 million, effectively converting a portion of its floating rate borrowings to a fixed rate. The interest rate swap agreement expires in May 2012. Apollo has hedged only the risk related to changes in the benchmark interest rate (three month LIBOR). As of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company has recorded a liability of \$4.9 million and \$11.5 million, respectively, to recognize the fair value of this derivative.

The Company has determined that the valuation of the interest rate swaps fall within Level II of the fair value hierarchy. The Company estimates the fair value of its interest rate swaps using discounted cash flow models, which project future cash flows based on the instruments contractual terms using market-based expectations for interest rates. The Company also includes a credit risk adjustment to the cash flow discount rate to incorporate the impact of non-performance risk in the recognized measure of the fair value of the swaps. This adjustment is based on the counterparty s credit risk when the swaps are in a net asset position and on the Company s own credit risk when the swaps are in a net liability position.

### 7. INCOME TAXES

The Company is treated as a partnership for tax purposes and is therefore not subject to U.S. Federal income taxes; however, APO Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is subject to U.S. Federal corporate income taxes. In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject to New York City Unincorporated Business Tax ( NYC UBT ) attributable to the Company s operations apportioned to New York City and certain non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company are subject to income taxes in their local jurisdictions. APO Corp. is required to file a standalone Federal corporate tax return, as well as filing standalone corporate state and local tax returns in California, New York and New York City. The Company s provision for income taxes is accounted for under the provisions of U.S. GAAP.

The Company s benefit (provision) for income taxes totaled \$19.8 million and \$(30.9) million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively and \$7.5 million and \$(47.6) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The Company s effective tax rate was approximately 1.1% and 18.9% for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively and 0.5% and (24.4)% for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Based upon the Company s review of its federal, state, local and foreign income tax returns and tax filing positions, the Company determined that no unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax positions were required to be recorded. In addition, the Company does not believe that it has any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that it will be required to record significant amounts of unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

The Company files its tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which it operates. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by federal and certain state, local, and foreign tax authorities. As of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, Apollo and its predecessor entities U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income tax returns for the years 2008 through 2010 are open under the normal statute of limitations and therefore subject to examination.

### 8. DEBT

Debt consists of the following:

	September Outstanding	Annualized Weighted Average Interest	December Outstanding	Annualized Weighted Average Interest	
AMH Credit Agreement	<b>Balance</b> \$ 728,273	<b>Rate</b> 5.43% <sup>(1)</sup>	Balance \$ 728,273	<b>Rate</b> 3.78% <sup>(1)</sup>	
CIT secured loan agreement	10,350	3.39	23,252	3.50	
Total Debt	\$ 738,623	5.38%	\$ 751,525	3.77%	

### (1) Includes the effect of interest rate swaps.

*AMH Credit Agreement* On April 20, 2007, Apollo Management Holdings, L.P. (AMH), a subsidiary of the Company which is a Delaware limited partnership owned by APO Corp. and Holdings, entered into a \$1.0 billion seven year credit agreement (the AMH Credit Agreement). Interest payable under the AMH Credit Agreement may from time to time be based on Eurodollar (LIBOR) or Alternate Base Rate (ABR) as determined by the borrower. Through the use of interest rate swaps, AMH has irrevocably elected three-month LIBOR for \$433 million of the debt for three years from the closing date of the AMH Credit Agreement and \$167 million of the debt for five years from the closing date of the AMH Credit Agreement selated to the \$433 million notional amount were comprised of two components: a \$333 million portion and a \$100 million portion. The interest rate swap agreement related to the \$333 million portion expired in May 2010. The interest rate swap agreement related to the \$100 million portion expired in November 2010. The interest rate swap agreement related to the \$167 million notional amount expires in May 2012. The remaining amount of the debt is computed currently based on three-month LIBOR. The interest rate of the Eurodollar loan, which was amended as discussed below, is the daily Eurodollar rate plus the applicable margin rate (3.75% for loans with extended maturity, as discussed below, and 1.00% for loans without the extended maturity as of September 30, 2011 and 4.25% for loans with extended maturity and 1.50% for any day, will be the greatest of (a) the prime rate in effect on such day, (b) the Federal Funds Rate in effect on such day plus 0.5% and (c) the one-month Eurodollar Rate plus 1.00%, in each case plus the applicable margin. The AMH Credit Agreement originally had a maturity date of April 2014.

On December 20, 2010, Apollo amended the AMH Credit Agreement to extend the maturity date of \$995.0 million (including the \$90.9 million of fair value debt repurchased by the Company) of the term loans from April 20, 2014 to January 3, 2017 and modified certain other terms of the credit facility. Pursuant to this amendment, AMH was required to purchase from each lender that elected to extend the maturity date of its term loan a portion of such extended term loan equal to 20% thereof. In addition, AMH is required to repurchase at least \$50.0 million aggregate principal amount of term loans by December 31, 2014 and at least \$100.0 million aggregate principal amount of term loans (inclusive of the

previously purchased \$50.0 million) by December 31, 2015 at a price equal to par plus accrued interest. The sweep leverage ratio was also extended to end at the new loan term maturity date. The interest rate for the highest applicable margin for the loan portion extended changed to LIBOR plus 4.25% and ABR plus 3.25%. On December 20, 2010, an affiliate of AMH that is a guarantor under the AMH Credit Agreement repurchased approximately \$180.8 million of term loans in connection with the extension of the maturity date of such loans and thus the AMH loans (excluding the portions held by AMH affiliates) had a remaining balance of \$728.3 million. The Company determined that the amendments to the AMH Credit Agreement resulted in a debt extinguishment which did not result in any gain or loss.

-37-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

The interest rate on the \$723.3 million, net (\$995.0 million portion less amount repurchased) of the loan at September 30, 2011 was 4.05% and the interest rate on the remaining \$5.0 million portion of the loan at September 30, 2011 was 1.30%. The estimated fair value of the Company s long-term debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement is believed to be approximately \$745.9 million based on a yield analysis using available market data of comparable securities with similar terms and remaining maturities. The \$728.3 million carrying value of debt that is recorded on the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition at September 30, 2011 is the amount for which the Company expects to settle the AMH Credit Agreement.

As of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the AMH Credit Agreement is guaranteed by, and collateralized by, substantially all of the assets of Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IX, L.P. and AMH, as well as cash proceeds from the sale of assets or similar recovery events and any cash deposited pursuant to the excess cash flow covenant, which will be deposited as cash collateral to the extent necessary as set forth in the AMH Credit Agreement. As of September 30, 2011, the consolidated net assets (deficit) of Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IX, L.P. and AMH and its consolidated subsidiaries were \$51.3 million, \$43.0 million, \$47.4 million, \$44.8 million and \$(1,025.6) million, respectively. As of December 31, 2010, the consolidated net assets (deficit) of Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., and AMH were \$123.1 million, \$24.0 million, \$39.0 million, \$136.0 million and \$(1,126.6) million, respectively.

In accordance with the AMH Credit Agreement, Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IX, L.P. and AMH and their respective subsidiaries are subject to certain negative and affirmative covenants. Among other things, the AMH Credit Agreement includes an excess cash flow covenant and an asset sales covenant. The AMH Credit Agreement does not contain any financial maintenance covenants.

If AMH s debt to EBITDA ratio (the Leverage Ratio ) as of the end of any fiscal year exceeds the level set forth in the next sentence (the Excess Sweep Leverage Ratio ), AMH must deposit in the cash collateral account the lesser of (a) 100% of its Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the AMH Credit Agreement) and (b) the amount necessary to reduce the Leverage Ratio on a pro forma basis as of the end of such fiscal year to 0.25 to 1.00 below the Excess Sweep Leverage Ratio. The Excess Sweep Leverage Ratio will be: for 2011, 4.00 to 1.00; for 2012, 4.00 to 1.00; for 2013, 4.00 to 1.00; for 2014, 3.75 to 1.00; and for 2015 and thereafter, 3.50 to 1.00.

In addition, AMH must deposit the lesser of (a) 50% of any remaining Excess Cash Flow and (b) the amount required to reduce the Leverage Ratio on a pro forma basis at the end of each fiscal year to a level 0.25 to 1.00 below the Sweep Leverage Ratio (as defined in the next paragraph) for such fiscal year.

If AMH receives net cash proceeds from certain non-ordinary course asset sales, then such net cash proceeds shall be deposited in the cash collateral account to the extent necessary to reduce its Leverage Ratio on a pro forma basis as of the last day of the most recently completed fiscal quarter (after giving effect to such non-ordinary course asset sale and such deposit) to (the following specified levels for the specified years, the Sweep Leverage Ratio ) (i) for 2011, 2012 and 2013, a Leverage Ratio of 3.50 to 1.00, (ii) for 2014, a Leverage Ratio of 3.25 to 1.00, (iii) for 2015, a Leverage Ratio of 3.00 to 1.00 and (iv) for all other years, a Leverage Ratio of 3.00 to 1.00.

The AMH Credit Agreement contains customary events of default, including events of default arising from non-payment, material misrepresentations, breaches of covenants, cross default to material indebtedness, bankruptcy and changes in control of AMH. As of September 30, 2011, the Company was not aware of any instances of non-compliance with the AMH Credit Agreement.

*CIT Secured Loan Agreement* During the second quarter of 2008, the Company entered into four secured loan agreements totaling \$26.9 million with CIT Group/Equipment Financing Inc. ( CIT ) to finance the purchase of certain fixed assets. The loans bear interest at LIBOR plus 318 basis points per annum with interest and

-38-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

principal to be repaid monthly and a balloon payment of the remaining principal totaling \$9.4 million due at the end of the terms in April 2013. At September 30, 2011, the interest rate was 3.40%. On April 28, 2011, the Company sold its ownership interest in certain assets which served as collateral to the CIT secured loan agreement for \$11.3 million with \$11.1 million of the proceeds going to CIT directly. As a result of the sale and an additional payment made by the Company of \$1.1 million, the Company satisfied the loan associated with the related asset of \$12.2 million on April 28, 2011. As of September 30, 2011, the carrying value of the remaining CIT secured loan is \$10.4 million.

Apollo has determined that the carrying value of this debt approximates fair value as the loans are primarily variable rate in nature.

### 9. NET (LOSS) INCOME PER CLASS A SHARE

U.S. GAAP requires use of the two-class method of computing earnings per share for all periods presented for each class of common stock and participating security as if all earnings for the period had been distributed. Under the two-class method, during periods of net income, the net income is first reduced for dividends declared on all classes of securities to arrive at undistributed earnings. During periods of net losses, the net loss is reduced for dividends declared on participating securities only if the security has the right to participate in the earnings of the entity and an objectively determinable contractual obligation to share in net losses of the entity.

The remaining earnings are allocated to common Class A Shares and participating securities to the extent that each security shares in earnings as if all of the earnings for the period had been distributed. Each total is then divided by the applicable number of shares to arrive at basic earnings per share. For the diluted earnings, the denominator includes all outstanding common shares and all potential common shares assumed issued if they are dilutive. The numerator is adjusted for any changes in income or loss that would result from the assumed conversion of these potential common shares.

The table below presents basic and diluted net (loss) income per Class A share using the two-class method for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010:

		Basic and Diluted For the Three Months Ended September 30,				For the Nine Months Ended September 30,		
		2011	.1 50,	2010		2011		2010
Numerator:								
Net (loss) income attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC Dividends declared on Class A shares Dividend equivalents on participating securities Earnings allocable to participating securities <sup>(3)</sup>	\$	(466,926) (29,521) <sup>(1)</sup> (5,080)	\$	24,140 (6,854) <sup>(2)</sup> (1,439)	\$	(479,759) (72,947) <sup>(1)</sup> (13,044)	\$	(111,666) (13,598) <sup>(2)</sup> (2,399)
Net (Loss) Income Attributable to Class A Shareholders	\$	(501,527)	\$	15,847	\$	(565,750)	\$	(127,663)
Denominator:								
	1	22,381,069	97	7,757,567	1	13,941,869	9	6,637,785

Weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding

Net (loss) income per Class A share: Basic and Diluted <sup>(4)</sup>				
Distributable Earnings	\$ 0.24	\$ 0.07	\$ 0.64	\$ 0.14
Undistributed (loss) income	(4.10)	0.16	(4.97)	(1.32)
Net (Loss) Income per Class A Share	\$ (3.86)	\$ 0.23	\$ (4.33)	\$ (1.18)

(1) The Company declared a \$0.17 dividend on Class A shares on January 4, 2011, a \$0.22 dividend on Class A shares on May 12, 2011, and a \$0.24 dividend on Class A shares on August 9, 2011. As a result, there is an increase in net loss attributable to Class A shareholders presented during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011.

-39-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

- (2) The Company declared a \$0.07 dividend on Class A shares in May 27, 2010 and August 2, 2010. As a result, there is an increase in net loss attributable to Class A shareholders presented during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010.
- (3) No allocation of losses was made to the participating securities as the holders do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses of the Company with the Class A shareholders.
- (4) For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, unvested RSUs, AOG Units and the share options were determined to be anti-dilutive. Therefore, basic and diluted net loss per share is presented as identical for these periods.

On October 24, 2007, the Company commenced the granting of restricted share units (RSUs) that provide the right to receive, upon vesting, Class A shares of Apollo Global Management, LLC, pursuant to the 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. Certain RSU grants to Company employees during 2010 and 2011 provide the right to receive distribution equivalents on vested RSUs on an equal basis any time a distribution is declared. The Company refers to these RSU grants as Plan Grants. For certain Plan Grants made before 2010, distribution equivalents are paid in January of the calendar year next following the calendar year in which a distribution on Class A shares was declared. In addition, certain RSU grants to Company employees in 2010 and 2011 (the Company refers to these as Bonus Grants) provide that both vested and unvested RSUs participate in distribution equivalents on an equal basis with the Class A shareholders any time a distribution is declared. As of September 30, 2011, approximately 16.3 million vested RSUs and 6.4 million unvested RSUs were eligible for participation in distribution equivalents.

Any distribution equivalent paid to an employee will not be returned to the Company upon forfeiture of the award by the employee. Vested and unvested RSUs that are entitled to non-forfeitable distribution equivalents qualify as participating securities and are included in the Company s basic and diluted earnings per share computations using the two-class method. The holder of a RSU participating security would have a contractual obligation to share in the losses of the entity if the holder is obligated to fund the losses of the issuing entity or if the contractual principal or mandatory redemption amount of the participating security is reduced as a result of losses incurred by the issuing entity. Because the RSU participating securities do not have a mandatory redemption amount and the holders of the participating securities are not obligated to fund losses, neither the vested RSUs nor the unvested RSUs are subject to any contractual obligation to share in losses of the Company.

Holders of AOG Units are subject to the vesting requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the agreements with the respective holders, and may up to four times each year (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement) exchange their AOG Units for Class A shares on a one-for-one basis. A limited partner must exchange one partnership unit in each of the eight Apollo Operating Group partnerships to effect an exchange for one Class A share. If fully converted, the result would be an additional 240,000,000 Class A shares added to the diluted earnings per share calculation.

Apollo has one Class B share outstanding, which is held by Holdings. The voting power of the Class B share is reduced on a one vote per one AOG Unit basis in the event of an exchange of AOG Units for Class A shares, as discussed above. The Class B share has no net income (loss) per share as it does not participate in Apollo s earnings (losses) or distributions. The Class B share has no distribution or liquidation rights. The Class B share has voting rights on a pari passu basis with the Class A shares. The Class B share currently has a super voting power of 240,000,000 votes.

On March 12, 2010, the Company issued 0.7 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 28.6% from 28.5%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A share issuance, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 71.5% to 71.4%.

On July 9, 2010 and July 23, 2010, the Company issued a total of 1.6 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 29.0% from 28.6%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A share issuance, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 71.4% to 71.0%.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

On September 16, 2010, the Company repurchased 7,135 Class A shares from an employee who left the firm. This repurchase did not cause a material change to the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group.

On September 30, 2010, the Company issued 11,405 Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance did not cause a material change to the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group.

On January 8, 2011, the Company issued 2,287 Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance did not cause a material change to the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group.

On March 15, 2011, the Company issued 1.5 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 29.3% from 29.0%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A share issuance, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 71.0% to 70.7%.

On April 4, 2011, the Company issued 21.5 million Class A shares as part of the IPO for net proceeds of \$382.5 million. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 33.5% from 29.3%. As Holdings did not participate in this IPO, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 70.7% to 66.5%.

On April 7, 2011, the Company issued 0.75 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 33.7% from 33.5%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A share issuance, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 66.5% to 66.3%.

On July 11, 2011, the Company issued 0.1 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance did not cause a material change to the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group.

On August 15, 2011, the Company issued 1.2 million Class A shares, in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 33.9% from 33.7%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A issuance, its ownership in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 66.3% to 66.1%.

### **10. EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION**

### AOG Units

As a result of the service requirement, the fair value of the AOG Units of approximately \$5.6 billion is being charged to compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the five or six year service period, as applicable. For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$774.6 million and \$774.7 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively. For the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$258.2 million and \$258.0 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively. The estimated forfeiture rate was 3% for Contributing Partners and 0% for Managing Partners based on actual forfeitures as well as the Company s future forfeiture expectations. As of September 30, 2011, there was \$764.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested AOG Units that are expected to vest over the next two years.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table summarizes the activity of the AOG Units for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	Apollo Operating Group Units	Ğra	ted Average ant Date ir Value
Balance at January 1, 2011	66,742,906	\$	23.13
Granted			
Forfeited			
Vested at September 30, 2011	(33,112,272)		23.39
Balance at September 30, 2011	33,630,634	\$	22.88

Units Expected to Vest As of September 30, 2011, approximately 33,400,000 AOG Units are expected to vest over the next two years.

#### **RSUs**

On October 24, 2007, the Company commenced the granting of RSUs under the Company s 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. These grants are accounted for as a grant of equity awards in accordance with U.S. GAAP. All grants consider the public share price of the Company. The fair value of Plan Grants made in 2011 was approximately \$88.7 million, based on grant date fair value, and are discounted for transfer restrictions and lack of distributions until vested. For Bonus Grants, the valuation methods consider transfer restrictions and timing of distributions. The total fair value will be charged to compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which generally can be up to 24 quarters or annual vesting over three years. The actual forfeiture rate was 1.3% and 8.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and 0.4% and 1.8% for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$78.6 million and \$56.9 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively. For the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$27.8 million and \$21.7 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively.

### **Delivery of Class A Shares**

The delivery of RSUs does not cause a transfer of amounts in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders Equity to the Class A Shareholders. The delivery of Class A shares for vested RSUs causes the income allocated to the Non-Controlling Interests to shift to the Class A shareholders from the date of delivery forward. During the three months ended September 30, 2011, the Company delivered 1.3 million Class A shares in settlement of vested RSUs, which caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 33.9% from 33.7%. Upon conversion of the AOG Units, there will be a transfer of amounts from Non-Controlling Interests to the Company s equity.

The following table summarizes RSU activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	Weighted Average		
	Grant Date		Total Number
	Fair		of RSUs
Unvested	Value	Vested	Outstanding

Balance at January 1, 2011	23,442,916	\$ 10.25	15,642,921	39,085,837
Granted	5,467,855	16.22		5,467,855
Forfeited	(380,745)	11.07		(380,745)
Delivered		9.36	(4,623,933)	(4,623,933)
Vested at September 30, 2011	(5,298,969)	11.20	5,298,969	
Balance at September 30, 2011	23,231,057	\$ 11.43	16,317,957	39,549,014(1)

(1) Amount excludes RSUs which have vested and have been issued in the form of Class A shares.

# -42-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Units Expected to Vest As of September 30, 2011, approximately 21,800,000 RSUs are expected to vest.

#### **Share Options**

Under the Company s 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, 5,000,000 options were granted on December 2, 2010. These options shall vest and become exercisable with respect to 4/24 of the option shares on December 31, 2011 and the remainder in equal installments over each of the remaining 20 quarters with full vesting on December 31, 2016. In addition, 555,556 options were granted on January 22, 2011 and 25,000 options were granted on April 9, 2011. The options granted on January 22, 2011 shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the option shares on December 31, 2012. The options granted on April 9, 2011 shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the option shares on December 31, 2012. The options granted on April 9, 2011 shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the options shares on December 31, 2012. The options granted on April 9, 2011 shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the options shares on December 31, 2012. The options granted on April 9, 2011, shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the options shares on December 31, 2012. The options granted on April 9, 2011, shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the options shares on December 31, 2012. The options granted on April 9, 2011, shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the options shares on December 31, 2012. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, \$1.6 million and \$4.8 million of compensation expense was recognized as a result of these grants, respectively.

Apollo measures fair value of each option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for options awarded during 2011:

Assumptions:	<b>2011</b> <sup>(2)</sup>
Risk-free interest rate	2.79%
Weighted average expected dividend yield	2.25%
Expected volatility factor	$40.22\%^{(1)}$
Expected life in years	5.72
Fair Value of options per share	\$ 8.44

(1) The Company determined its expected volatility based on comparable companies using daily stock prices.

(2) Represents weighted average of 2011 grants.

The following table summarizes the share option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	Options Outstanding	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Aggregate Fair Value	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term
Balance at January 1, 2011	5,000,000	\$ 8.00	\$ 28,100	9.92
Granted	580,556	9.39	4,896	9.34
Exercised				
Forfeited				
Balance at September 30, 2011	5,580,556	\$ 8.14	\$ 32,996	9.19

Units Expected to Vest As of September 30, 2011, approximately 5,250,000 options are expected to vest.

The expected life of the options granted represents the period of time that options are expected to be outstanding and is based on the contractual term of the option. Unamortized compensation cost related to unvested share options at September 30, 2011 was \$27.9 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 4.8 years. None of the share options were vested or exercisable at September 30, 2011.

# AAA RDUs

Incentive units that provide the right to receive AAA restricted depository units ( RDUs ) following vesting are granted periodically to employees of Apollo. These grants are accounted for as equity awards in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The RDUs subject to incentive units granted to employees generally vest over three years. In contrast, the Company s Managing Partners and Contributing Partners have received distributions of fully

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

# NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

vested AAA RDUs. The fair value of the grants is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period (or upon grant in the case of fully vested AAA RDUs). The grant date fair value considers the public share price of AAA. Vested AAA RDUs can be converted into ordinary common units of AAA. During the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, the actual forfeiture rate was 0% and 1.4%, respectively. During the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, the actual forfeiture rate was 0% and 0%, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, the actual forfeiture rate was 0% and 0%, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, the actual forfeiture rate was 0% and 0%, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$0.4 million and \$3.3 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively. For the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$0.2 million and \$2.0 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company delivered 389,785 and 389,892 RDUs, respectively, to individuals who had vested in these units. The delivery in 2011 resulted in a reduction of the accrued compensation liability of \$3.8 million and the recognition of a net decrease of additional paid in capital of \$2.8 million. These amounts are presented in the condensed consolidated statement of changes in shareholders equity. There was a \$0.4 million liability for undelivered RDUs included in accrued compensation and benefits in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition as of September 30, 2011. The following table summarizes RDU activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	Unvested	Aver: Da	eighted age Grant ite Fair Value	Vested	Total Number of RDUs Outstanding
Balance at January 1, 2011	166,667	\$	7.20	389,785	556,452
Granted	82,107		10.50		82,107
Forfeited					
Delivered			10.54	(389,785)	(389,785)
Vested					
Balance at September 30, 2011	248,774	\$	8.29		248,774

Units Expected to Vest As of September 30, 2011, approximately 219,000 RDUs are expected to vest over the next three years.

The following table summarizes the activity of RDUs available for future grants:

	RDUs Available For Future Grants
Balance at January 1, 2011	1,979,031
Purchases	59,494
Granted	(82,107)
Forfeited	
Balance at September 30, 2011	1.956.418

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit Awards Apollo Commercial Real Estate Finance, Inc. ( ARI )

On April 1, 2011 and August 4, 2011, 5,000 and 152,750 ARI restricted stock units ( ARI RSUs ), respectively, were granted to certain of the Company s employees. On August 4, 2011, 156,000 ARI RSUs were granted to the Company. These awards generally vest over three years or twelve calendar quarters. The awards granted to the Company are accounted for as investments and deferred revenue in the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition. As these awards yeast, the deferred revenue is recognized as management fees. The investment is accounted for using the equity method of accounting for awards granted to the Company and as a deferred compensation asset for the awards granted to employees. Compensation expense will be recognized on a straight line-basis over the vesting period for the awards granted to the employees. The Company recorded an asset and a liability upon receiving the awards on behalf of the Company s employees. The awards granted to the Company s employees are remeasured each period to reflect the fair value of the asset and liability and any changes in these values are recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

-44-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

The fair value of the awards to employees is based on the grant date fair value, which utilizes the public share price of ARI, less discounts for certain restrictions. For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$1.5 million and \$1.2 million of management fees and \$0.8 million and \$0.6 million of compensation expense were recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations, respectively. For the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$0.8 million and \$0.5 million of management fees and \$0.4 million and \$0.2 million of compensation expense were recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations, respectively. For the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, \$0.8 million and \$0.5 million of management fees and \$0.4 million and \$0.2 million of compensation expense were recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations, respectively. The actual forfeiture rate for unvested ARI restricted stock awards and ARI RSUs was 0% and 0% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The following table summarizes activity for the ARI restricted stock awards and ARI RSUs that were granted to both the Company and certain of its employees for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	ARI Restricted Stock Unvested	ARI RSUs Unvested	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value	ARI RSUs Vested	Total Number of RSUs Outstanding
Balance at January 1, 2011	65,002	96,250	\$ 17.57	22,709	118,959
Granted to employees of the Company		157,750	14.88		157,750
Granted to the Company		156,000	14.85		156,000
Forfeited by employees of the Company					
Vested awards for employees of the Company		(39,167)	16.97	39,167	
Vested awards of the Company	(24,375)		18.48		
Balance at September 30, 2011	40,627	370,833	\$ 15.51	61,876	432,709

*Units Expected to Vest* As of September 30, 2011, approximately 358,000 and 40,627 shares of ARI RSUs and ARI restricted stock, respectively, are expected to vest.

### Restricted Stock Unit Awards Apollo Residential Mortgage, Inc. ( AMTG )

On July 27, 2011, 18,750 and 11,250 AMTG restricted stock units ( AMTG RSUs ) were granted to the Company and certain of the Company s employees, respectively. The fair value of the Company and employee awards granted was \$0.3 million and \$0.2 million, respectively. These awards generally vest over three years or twelve calendar quarters, with the first quarter vesting on October 1, 2011. The awards granted to the Company are accounted for as investments and deferred revenue in the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition. As these awards granted to the Company and as a deferred compensation asset for the awards granted to employees. Compensation expense will be recognized on a straight line-basis over the vesting period for the awards granted to the Company recorded an asset and a liability upon receiving the awards on behalf of the Company s employees. The awards granted to the Company s employees are remeasured each period to reflect the fair value of the asset and liability and any changes in these values are recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The fair value of the awards to employees is based on the grant date fair value, which utilizes the public share price of AMTG less discounts for certain restrictions. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million of management fees and \$0.0 million and \$0.0 million of compensation expense were recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations, respectively. The actual forfeiture rate for AMTG RSUs was 0% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively.

# Table of Contents

-45-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

# NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table summarizes activity for the AMTG RSUs that were granted to both the Company and certain of its employees for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	AMTG RSUs Unvested	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value	Vested	Total Number of RSUs Outstanding
Balance at January 1, 2011		\$		
Granted to employees of the Company	11,250	16.69		11,250
Granted to the Company	18,750	18.20		18,750
Forfeited by employees of the Company				
Vested awards of the Company				
Vested awards for Management Shares of the Company				
Balance at September 30, 2011	30,000	\$ 17.63		30,000

Units Expected to Vest As of September 30, 2011, approximately 29,000 AMTG RSUs are expected to vest.

#### **Equity-Based Compensation Allocation**

Equity-based compensation is allocated based on ownership interests. Therefore, the amortization of the AOG Units is allocated to Shareholders Equity attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC and the Non-Controlling Interests, which results in a difference in the amounts charged to equity-based compensation expense and the amounts credited to Shareholders Equity attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC in the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Below is a reconciliation of the equity-based compensation allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC for the three months ended September 30, 2011:

	Total Amount	Non-Controlling Interest % in Apollo Operating Group	Allocated to Non- Controlling Interest in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC
AOG Units	\$ 258,190	66.1%	\$ 170,994	\$ 87,196
RSUs and Share Options	29,451			29,451
ARI Restricted Stock Awards, ARI RSUs and AMTG				
RSUs	414	66.1	273	141
AAA RDUs	153	66.1	100	53

Total Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 288,208	171,367	116,841
Less ARI Restricted Stock Awards, ARI RSUs and AMTG RSUs		(373)	(194)
Capital Increase Related to Equity-Based Compensation		\$ 170,994	\$ 116,647

(1) Calculated based on average ownership percentage for the period considering Class A share issuances during the period.

# -46-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

# (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Below is a reconciliation of the equity-based compensation allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC for the three months ended September 30, 2010:

	Total Amount	Non- Controlling Interest % in Apollo Operating Group	Allocated to Non- Controlling Interest in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC
AOG Units	\$ 258,046	71.0%	\$ 183,356	\$ 74,690
RSUs	21,667			21,667
ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs	179	71.0%	126	53
AAA RDUs	2,022	71.0%	1,431	591
Total Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 281,914		184,913	97,001
Less AAA RDUs, ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs			(1,557)	(644)
Capital Increase Related to Equity-Based Compensation			\$ 183,356	\$ 96,357

(1) Calculated based on average ownership percentage for the period considering Class A share issuances during the period. Below is a reconciliation of the equity-based compensation allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	Total Amount	Non- Controlling Interest % in Apollo Operating Group	Allocated to Non- Controlling Interest in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC
AOG Units	\$774,572	66.1%	\$ 525,910	\$ 248,662
RSUs and Share Options	83,376			83,376
ARI Restricted Stock Awards, ARI RSUs and AMTG				
RSUs	848	66.1	561	287
AAA RDUs	377	66.1	249	128

Total Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 859,173	526,720	332,453
Less ARI Restricted Stock Awards, ARI RSUs and AMTG RSUs		(810)	(415)
Capital Increase Related to Equity-Based Compensa	tion	\$ 525,910	5 332,038

(1) Calculated based on average ownership percentage for the period considering Class A share issuances during the period.

# -47-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Below is a reconciliation of the equity-based compensation allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC for the nine months ended September 30, 2010:

	Total Amount	Non- Controlling Interest % in Apollo Operating Group	Allocated to Non- Controlling Interest in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC
AOG Units	\$774,718	71.0%	\$ 552,322	\$ 222,396
RSUs	56,859			56,859
ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs	600	71.0%	426	174
AAA RDUs	3,343	71.0%	2,374	969
Total Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 835,520		555,122	280,398
Less AAA RDUs, ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs			(2,800)	(1,143)
Capital Increase Related to Equity-Based Compensation			\$ 552,322	\$ 279,255

# Calculated based on average ownership percentage for the period considering Class A share issuances during the period. **11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND INTERESTS IN CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES**

The Company typically facilitates the initial payment of certain operating costs incurred by the funds that it manages as well as their affiliates. These costs are normally reimbursed by such funds and are included in due from affiliates.

Due from affiliates and due to affiliates are comprised of the following:

	As of tember 30, 2011	As of December 31, 2010		
Due from Affiliates:				
Due from private equity funds	\$ 25,933	\$	52,128	
Due from portfolio companies	57,804		42,933	
Management and advisory fees receivable from capital markets				
funds	25,359		19,095	

Edgar Filing: Apollo	<b>Global Management</b>	LLC - Form 424B3
5 5 1	5	

Due from capital markets funds	11,131	13,612
Due from Contributing Partners, employees and former employees	38,052	8,496
Due from real estate funds	14,519	5,887
Other	1,313	2,212
Total Due from Affiliates	\$ 174,111	\$ 144,363
Due to Affiliates:		
Due to Managing Partners and Contributing Partners in connection		
with the tax receivable agreement	\$ 451,606	\$ 491,402
Due to private equity funds	90,433	20,890
Due to capital markets funds	41,785	
Due to real estate funds	1,200	1,200
Other	9,467	4,153
Total Due to Affiliates	\$ 594,491	\$ 517,645

#### **Tax Receivable Agreement**

Subject to certain restrictions, each of the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners has the right to exchange their vested AOG Units for the Company s Class A shares. Certain Apollo Operating Group entities have made an election under Section 754 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, as amended, which will result in an adjustment to the tax basis of the assets owned by Apollo Operating Group at the time of the exchange. These

#### -48-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

exchanges will result in increases in tax deductions that will reduce the amount of tax that APO Corp. will otherwise be required to pay in the future. Additionally, the further acquisition of AOG Units from the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners also may result in increases in tax deductions and tax basis of assets that will further reduce the amount of tax that APO Corp. will otherwise be required to pay in the future.

APO Corp. entered into a tax receivable agreement (TRA) with the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners that provides for the payment to the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. Federal, state, local and foreign income taxes that APO Corp. would realize as a result of the increases in tax basis of assets that resulted from the Reorganization. If the Company does not make the required annual payment on a timely basis as outlined in the TRA agreement, interest is accrued on the balance until the payment date. These payments are expected to occur approximately over the next 20 years.

In April 2011, Apollo made a \$39.8 million cash payment against the tax receivable agreement to the Managing and Contributing Partners resulting from a realized tax benefit for the 2010 tax year. Included in the payment was \$29.0 thousand and \$3.0 thousand of interest paid to the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners, respectively. Additionally, the Company deferred 25% of the TRA payment intended to be paid to the Managing Partners on April 5, 2011. The deferred payment of \$12.1 million is expected to be paid in 2014.

#### **Special Allocation**

In December 2009, the AMH partnership agreement was amended to provide for special allocations of income to APO Corp. and a reduction of income allocated to Holdings for the 2009 and 2010 calendar years. In connection with the amendment of the AMH partnership agreement in April of 2010, the tax receivable agreement was revised to reflect the Managing Partners agreement to defer 25% of required payments pursuant to the tax receivable agreement that is attributable to the 2010 fiscal year for a period of four years. The amendment allows for a maximum allocation of income from Holdings of approximately \$22.1 million in 2009 and eliminates any income allocation to Holdings in 2010. There was no extension of the special allocation after December 31, 2010. Therefore as a result, the Company did not allocate any additional income from AMH to APO Corp. related to the special allocation beyond such date. The Company will continue to allocate income to APO Corp. based on the current economic sharing percentage.

#### Due from Contributing Partners, Employees and Former Employees

The Company has accrued approximately \$30.1 million in receivables from the Contributing Partners and certain employees and former employees for the potential return of carried interest income that would be due if the private equity funds were liquidated at the balance sheet date. Also see Due to Private Equity Funds, and Due to Capital Markets Funds.

#### Management Fee Waiver and Notional Investment Program

Apollo has forgone a portion of management fee revenue that it would have been entitled to receive in cash and instead received profits interests and assigned these profits interests to employees and partners. The amount of management fees waived and related compensation expense amounted to \$19.5 million and \$19.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and \$4.1 million and \$5.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### Distributions

The table below presents the determination, declaration, and payment of the amount of quarterly distributions which are at the sole discretion of the Company (in millions, except per share amounts):

Distributions Declaration	Cl	utions per ass A	Distributions	AGM In the					Fotal ributions from	Equiv	ibution alents on
Date		hare nount	Payment Date	-	ass A eholders		pollo ing Group		pollo ting Group		cipating urities
May 27, 2010	\$	0.07	June 15, 2010	\$	6.7	\$	16.8	\$	23.5	\$	1.0
August 2, 2010	\$	0.07	August 25, 2010	\$	6.9	\$	16.8	\$	23.7	\$	1.4
January 4, 2011	\$	0.17	January 14, 2011	\$	16.6	\$	40.8	\$	57.4	\$	3.3
May 12, 2011	\$	0.22	June 1, 2011	\$	26.8	\$	52.8	\$	79.6	\$	4.7
August 9, 2011	\$	0.24	August 29, 2011	\$	29.5	\$	57.6	\$	87.1	\$	5.1

#### Indemnity

Carried interest income from certain funds that the Company manages can be distributed to us on a current basis, but is subject to repayment by the subsidiary of the Apollo Operating Group that acts as general partner of the fund in the event that certain specified return thresholds are not ultimately achieved. The Managing Partners, Contributing Partners and certain other investment professionals have personally guaranteed, subject to certain limitations, the obligation of these subsidiaries in respect of this general partner obligation. Such guarantees are several and not joint and are limited to a particular Managing Partner s or Contributing Partner s distributions. An existing shareholders agreement includes clauses that indemnify each of the Company s Managing Partners and certain Contributing Partners against all amounts that they pay pursuant to any of these personal guarantees in favor of certain funds that the Company manages (including costs and expenses related to investigating the basis for or objecting to any claims made in respect of the guarantees) for all interests that the Company s Managing Partners and Contributing Partners have contributed or sold to the Apollo Operating Group.

Accordingly, in the event that the Company s Managing Partners, Contributing Partners and certain investment professionals are required to pay amounts in connection with a general partner obligation for the return of previously made distributions, we will be obligated to reimburse the Company s Managing Partners and certain Contributing Partners for the indemnifiable percentage of amounts that they are required to pay even though we did not receive the certain distribution to which that general partner obligation related. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, the Company recorded an indemnification expense of \$0.8 million.

#### **Due to Private Equity Funds**

On June 30, 2008, the Company entered into a credit agreement with Fund VI, pursuant to which Fund VI advanced \$18.9 million of carried interest income to the limited partners of Apollo Advisors VI, L.P., who are also employees of the Company. The loan obligation accrues interest at an annual fixed rate of 3.45% and terminates on the earlier of June 30, 2017 or the termination of Fund VI. At December 31, 2010, the total outstanding loan aggregated \$20.5 million, including accrued interest of \$1.6 million, which approximated fair value, of which approximately \$6.5 million was not subject to the indemnity discussed above and is a receivable from the Contributing Partners and certain employees. In March 2011, a right of offset for the indemnified portion of the loan obligation was established between the Company and Fund VI, therefore the loan was reduced in the amount of \$10.9 million, which is offset in carried interest receivable on the condensed consolidated

# Table of Contents

statement of financial condition. As of September 30, 2011, the total outstanding loan aggregated \$9.0 million, including accrued interest of \$0.9 million which approximated fair value, of which approximately \$6.4 million was not subject to the indemnity discussed above and is a receivable from the Contributing Partners and certain employees.

In addition, assuming Fund VI is liquidated on the balance sheet date, the Company has also accrued a liability to Fund VI of \$78.0 million, in connection with the potential general partner obligation to return carried interest income that was previously distributed from Fund VI. Of this amount, approximately \$22.9 million is receivable from Contributing Partners, employees and former employees.

-50-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### **Due to Capital Markets Funds**

Similar to the private equity funds, certain capital markets funds allocate carried interest income to the Company. Assuming COF II is liquidated on the balance sheet date, the Company has also accrued a liability to COF II of \$24.2 million, in connection with the potential general partner obligation to return carried interest income that was previously distributed from COF II. Of this amount, approximately \$7.2 million is receivable from Contributing Partners, employees and former employees. Additionally, assuming SOMA liquidated on the balance sheet date, the Company has accrued a liability to SOMA of \$17.6 million, in connection with the potential general partner obligation for carried interest income that was previously distributed from SOMA.

See Contingent Obligations section for further discussion of potential future maximum reversal of carried interest income.

#### **Broker Dealer**

During 2011, the Company formed Apollo Global Securities, LLC, which acts as a broker dealer. From time to time, this entity is involved in transactions with affiliates of Apollo whereby Apollo Global Securities, LLC will earn transaction and advisory fees.

#### Due to Strategic Investor/Strategic Relationship Agreement

On April 20, 2010, the Company announced that it entered into a new strategic relationship agreement with the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS). The strategic relationship agreement provides that Apollo will reduce management and other fees charged to CalPERS on funds it manages, or in the future will manage, solely for CalPERS by \$125 million over a five-year period or as close a period as required to provide CalPERS with that benefit. The agreement further provides that Apollo will not use a placement agent in connection with securing any future capital commitments from CalPERS.

### **Underwriting Fee Paid for ARI**

The Company incurred \$8.0 million in underwriting expenses for the benefit of ARI, which may be repaid to the Company if during any period of four consecutive calendar quarters during the sixteen full calendar quarters after the consummation of ARI s initial public offering on September 29, 2009, ARI s core earnings, as defined in the corresponding management agreement, for any such four-quarter period exceeds an 8% performance hurdle rate. During the second quarter of 2011, the core earnings had exceeded the hurdle rate and the Company recorded \$8.0 million of other income in the condensed consolidated statement of operations.

-51-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

### **Interests in Consolidated Entities**

These amounts relate to equity interests in Apollo s consolidated, but not wholly-owned, subsidiaries and funds.

Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests consists of the following:

		e Months Ended eptember 30,		nths Ended mber 30,
	2011	2010	2011	2010
		(in the	ousands)	
AAA <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 329,6	649 \$ (96,723)	\$ 134,347	\$ (194,619)
Consolidated VIEs <sup>(2)</sup>	4,7	(32,910)	41	(32,645)
Former employees <sup>(3)</sup>	(4,1	(49) (3,433)	(9,383)	(13,200)
Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	330,2	260 (133,066)	125,005	(240,464)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo				
Operating Group	946,7	24,874	992,719	371,787
Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests	\$ 1,277,0	)17 \$ (108,192)	\$ 1,117,724	\$ 131,323

- Reflects the Non-Controlling Interests in the net loss (income) of AAA and is calculated based on the Non-Controlling Interests ownership percentage in AAA, which was approximately 98% and 97% during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
- (2) Reflects the Non-Controlling Interests in the net loss (income) of the consolidated VIEs and includes \$4.6 million and \$14.2 million of losses recorded within appropriated partners deficit related to consolidated VIEs during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and \$3.2 million of gains and \$0.4 million of losses recorded within appropriated partners deficit related to consolidated VIEs during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.
- (3) Reflects the remaining interest held by certain former employees in the net income of our capital markets management companies.
- 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

*Financial Guarantees* Apollo has provided financial guarantees on behalf of certain employees for the benefit of unrelated third-party lenders, in connection with their capital commitment to certain funds managed by the Company. As of September 30, 2011, the maximum exposure relating to these financial guarantees approximated \$5.0 million. Apollo has historically not incurred any liabilities as a result of these agreements and does not expect to in the future. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

As the general partner of Apollo/Artus Investor 2007-I, L.P. ( Artus ), the Company may be obligated for certain losses in excess of those allocable to the limited partners to the extent that there is negative equity in that fund. As of September 30, 2011, the Company has no current obligations to Artus.

*Investment Commitments* As a limited partner, general partner and manager of the Apollo private equity funds, capital markets and real estate funds, Apollo has unfunded capital commitments as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 of \$147.0 million and \$140.6 million, respectively.

Apollo has an ongoing obligation to acquire additional common units of AAA in an amount equal to 25% of the aggregate after-tax cash distributions, if any, that are made to its affiliates pursuant to the carried interest distribution rights that are applicable to investments made through AAA Investments.

*Debt Covenants* Apollo s debt obligations contain various customary loan covenants. As of the balance sheet date, the Company was not aware of any instances of noncompliance with any of these covenants.

-52-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Litigation and Contingencies* The Company is from time to time, party to various legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, including claims and litigation, reviews, investigations and proceedings by governmental and self-regulatory agencies regarding the Company s business.

On July 16, 2008, Apollo was joined as a defendant in a pre-existing purported class action pending in Massachusetts federal court against, among other defendants, numerous private equity firms. The suit alleges that beginning in mid-2003, Apollo and the other private equity firm defendants violated the U.S. antitrust laws by forming bidding clubs or consortia that, among other things, rigged the bidding for control of various public corporations, restricted the supply of private equity financing, fixed the prices for target companies at artificially low levels and allocated amongst themselves an alleged market for private equity services in leveraged buyouts. The suit seeks class action certification, declaratory and injunctive relief, unspecified damages and attorneys fees. On August 27, 2008, Apollo and its co-defendants moved to dismiss plaintiffs complaint and on November 20, 2008, the Court granted the Company s motion. The Court also dismissed two other defendants, Permira and Merrill Lynch. In an order dated August 18, 2010, the Court granted in part and denied in part plaintiffs motion to expand the complaint and to obtain additional discovery. The Court ruled that plaintiffs could amend the complaint and obtain discovery in a second discovery phase limited to eight additional transactions. The Court gave the plaintiffs until September 17, 2010 to amend the complaint to include the additional eight transactions. On September 17, 2010, the plaintiffs filed a motion to amend the complaint by adding the additional eight transactions and adding Apollo as a defendant. On October 6, 2010, the Court granted plaintiffs motion to file the fourth amended complaint. Plaintiffs fourth amended complaint, filed on October 7, 2010, adds Apollo Global Management, LLC, as a defendant. On November 4, 2010, Apollo moved to dismiss, arguing that the claims against Apollo are time-barred and that the allegations against Apollo are insufficient to state an antitrust conspiracy claim. On February 17, 2011, the Court denied Apollo s motion to dismiss, ruling that Apollo should raise the statute of limitations issues on summary judgment after discovery is completed. Apollo filed its answer to the fourth amended complaint on March 21, 2011. On July 11, 2011, the plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to file a fifth amended complaint that adds ten additional transactions and expands the scope of the class seeking relief. On September 7, 2011, the Court denied the motion for leave to amend without prejudice and gave plaintiffs permission to take limited discovery on the ten additional transactions. The Court set April 17, 2012 as the deadline for completing all fact discovery. Currently, the Company does not believe that a loss from liability in this case is either probable or reasonably estimable. The Court granted Apollo s motion to dismiss plaintiffs initial complaint in 2008, ruling that Apollo was released from the only transaction in which it allegedly was involved. While plaintiffs have survived Apollo s motion to dismiss the fourth amended complaint, the Court stated in denying the motion that it will consider the statute of limitations (one of the bases for Apollo s motion to dismiss) at the summary judgment stage. Based on the applicable statute of limitations, among other reasons, Apollo believes that plaintiffs claims lack factual and legal merit. For these reasons, no estimate of possible loss, if any, can be made at this time.

Apollo believes that this action is without merit and intends to defend itself vigorously.

Various state attorneys general and federal and state agencies have initiated industry-wide investigations into the use of placement agents in connection with the solicitation of investments, particularly with respect to investments by public pension funds. Certain affiliates of Apollo have received subpoenas and other requests for information from various government regulatory agencies and investors in Apollo s funds, seeking information regarding the use of placement agents. CalPERS, one of Apollo s strategic investors, announced on October 14, 2009, that it had initiated a special review of placement agents and related issues. The Report of the CalPERS Special Review was issued on March 14, 2011. That report does not allege any wrongdoing on the part of Apollo or its affiliates. Apollo is continuing to cooperate with all such investigations and other reviews. In addition, on May 6, 2010, the California Attorney General filed a civil complaint against Alfred Villalobos and his company, Arvco Capital Research, LLC (a placement agent that Apollo has used) and Federico Buenrostro Jr., the former CEO of CalPERS, alleging conduct in violation of certain California laws in connection with CalPERS s purchase of securities in various funds managed by Apollo and another investment manager. Apollo is not a party to the civil lawsuit and the lawsuit does not allege any misconduct on the part of Apollo. Apollo believes that it has handled its use of placement agents in an appropriate manner.

-53-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Although the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be ascertained at this time, Apollo is of the opinion, after consultation with counsel, that the resolution of any such matters to which it is a party at this time will not have a material effect on its financial statements. Legal actions material to Apollo could, however, arise in the future.

*Commitments* Apollo leases office space and certain office equipment under various lease and sublease arrangements, which expire on various dates through 2022. As these leases expire, it can be expected that in the normal course of business, they will be renewed or replaced. Certain lease agreements contain renewal options, rent escalation provisions based on certain costs incurred by the landlord or other inducements provided by the landlord. Rent expense is accrued to recognize lease escalation provisions and inducements provided by the landlord, if any, on a straight-line basis over the lease term and renewal periods where applicable. Apollo has entered into various operating lease service agreements in respect of certain assets.

As of September 30, 2011, the approximate aggregate minimum future payments required for operating leases were as follows:

	Re	maining 2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Thereafter	Total
Aggregate minimum future payments	\$	7,667	\$ 29,870	\$ 29,317	\$ 29,047	\$ 21,332	\$ 114,204	\$231,437
Evenness related to non-concellable contractual abl	:4:	<b>.</b>				4 ¢11 ′	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	7.0

Expenses related to non-cancellable contractual obligations for premises, equipment, auto and other assets were \$11.3 million and \$7.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and \$28.8 million and \$21.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

*Other Long-term Obligations* These obligations relate to payments on management service agreements related to certain assets and payments with respect to certain consulting agreements entered into by Apollo Investment Consulting, LLC. A significant portion of these costs are reimbursable by funds or portfolio companies. As of September 30, 2011, fixed and determinable payments due in connection with these obligations are as follows:

	Remaining						
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Thereafter	Total
Other long-term obligations	\$ 5,543	\$ 8,492	\$ 630	\$	\$	\$	\$ 14,665

-54-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Contingent Obligations* Carried interest income in both private equity funds and certain capital markets funds is subject to reversal in the event of future losses to the extent of the cumulative carried interest recognized in income to date. If all of the existing investments became worthless, the amount of cumulative revenues that has been recognized by Apollo through September 30, 2011 and that would be reversed approximates \$1.0 billion. Management views the possibility of all of the investments becoming worthless as remote. Carried interest income is affected by changes in the fair values of the underlying investments in the funds that Apollo manages. Valuations, on an unrealized basis, can be significantly affected by a variety of external factors including, but not limited to, bond yields and industry trading multiples. Movements in these items can affect valuations quarter to quarter even if the underlying business fundamentals remain stable. The table below indicates the potential future reversal of carried interest income:

		As of	
	Septe	mber 30, 2011	
Fund VII	\$	351,096	
Fund V		264,906	
Fund IV		253,262	
COF I		72,547	
COF II		32,733	
EPF		24,261	
AIE II		21,169	
AAA		17,213	
SVF		3,956	
VIF		2,949	
FCI I		481	
Total	\$	1,044,573	

Additionally, at the end of the life of certain funds that the Company manages, there could be a payment due to a fund by the Company if the Company as general partner has received more carried interest income than was ultimately earned. The general partner obligation amount, if any, will depend on final realized values of investments at the end of the life of each fund. As discussed in note 11, the Company has recorded a general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$78.0 million, \$24.2 million and \$17.6 million relating to Fund VI, COF II and SOMA as of September 30, 2011, respectively.

Certain private equity and capital markets funds may not generate carried interest income as a result of unrealized and realized losses that are recognized in the current and prior reporting period. In certain cases, carried interest income will not be generated until additional unrealized and realized gains occur. Any appreciation would first cover the deductions for invested capital, unreturned organizational expenses, operating expenses, management fees and priority returns based on the terms of the respective fund agreements.

# **13. MARKET AND CREDIT RISK**

In the normal course of business, Apollo encounters market and credit risk concentrations. Market risk reflects changes in the value of investments due to changes in interest rates, credit spreads or other market factors. Credit risk includes the risk of default on Apollo s investments, where the counterparty is unable or unwilling to make required or expected payments.

The Company is subject to a concentration risk related to the investors in its funds. As of September 30, 2011, there were more than approximately 1,000 limited partner investors in Apollo s active private equity, capital markets and real estate funds, and no individual investor

# Table of Contents

accounted for more than 10% of the total committed capital to Apollo s active funds.

Apollo s derivative financial instruments contain credit risk to the extent that its counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of the agreements. Apollo seeks to minimize this risk by limiting its counterparties to highly rated major financial institutions with good credit ratings. Management does not expect any material losses as a result of default by other parties.

-55-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Substantially all amounts on deposit with major financial institutions that exceed insured limits are invested in interest-bearing accounts with U.S. money center banks.

Apollo is exposed to economic risk concentrations insofar as Apollo is dependent on the ability of the funds that it manages to compensate it for the services the management companies provide to these funds. Further, the incentive income component of this compensation is based on the ability of such funds to generate returns above certain specified thresholds.

Additionally, Apollo is exposed to interest rate risk. Apollo has debt obligations that have variable rates. Interest rate changes may therefore affect the amount of interest payments, future earnings and cash flows. At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, \$738.6 million and \$751.5 million of Apollo s debt balance (excluding debt of the consolidated VIEs) had a variable interest, respectively. However, as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, \$167.0 million of the debt had been effectively converted to a fixed rate using interest rate swaps as discussed in note 8.

#### **14. SEGMENT REPORTING**

Apollo conducts its management and incentive businesses primarily in the United States and substantially all of its revenues are generated domestically. These businesses are conducted through the following three reportable segments:

*Private equity* primarily invests in control equity and related debt instruments, convertible securities and distressed debt investments;

*Capital markets* primarily invests in non-control debt and non-control equity investments, including distressed debt instruments; and

*Real estate* primarily invests in legacy commercial mortgage-backed securities, commercial first mortgage loans, mezzanine investments and other commercial real estate-related debt investments. Additionally, the Company sponsors real estate funds that focus on opportunistic investments in distressed debt and equity recapitalization transactions.

These business segments are differentiated based on the varying investment strategies. The performance is measured by management on an unconsolidated basis because management makes operating decisions and assesses the performance of each of Apollo s business segments based on financial and operating metrics and data that exclude the effects of consolidation of any of the affiliated funds.

The Company s financial results vary, since carried interest, which generally constitutes a large portion of the income from the funds that Apollo manages, as well as the transaction and advisory fees that the Company receives, can vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. As a result, the Company emphasizes long-term financial growth and profitability to manage its business.

The following tables present the financial data for Apollo s reportable segments further separated between the management and incentive business as of September 30, 2011 and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, which management believes is useful to the reader. The Company s management business has fairly stable revenues and expenses except for transaction fees, while its incentive business is more volatile and can have significant fluctuations as it is affected by changes in the fair value of investments due to market performance of the Company s business. The financial results of the management entities, as reflected in the management business section of the segment tables that follow, generally include management fee revenues, advisory and transaction fees and expenses exclusive of

# Table of Contents

profit sharing expense. The

-56-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

financial results of the advisory entities, as reflected in the incentive business sections of the segment tables that follow, generally include carried interest income, investment income, profit sharing expense and incentive fee based compensation.

#### **Economic Net Income (Loss)**

Economic Net Income (ENI) is a key performance measure used by management in evaluating the performance of Apollo s private equity, capital markets and real estate segments, as management believes the amount of management fees, advisory and transaction fees and carried interest income are indicative of the Company s performance. Management also uses ENI in making key operating decisions such as the following:

Decisions related to the allocation of resources such as staffing decisions including hiring and locations for deployment of the new hires;

Decisions related to capital deployment such as providing capital to facilitate growth for the business and/or to facilitate expansion into new businesses; and

Decisions related to compensation expense, such as determining annual discretionary bonuses to its employees. As it relates to compensation, management seeks to align the interests of certain professionals and selected other individuals who have a profit sharing interest in the carried interest income earned in relation to the funds, with those of the investors in such funds and those of the Company s shareholders. To achieve that objective, a certain amount of compensation is based on the Company s performance and growth for the year.

ENI is a measure of profitability and has certain limitations in that it does not take into account certain items included under U.S. GAAP. ENI represents segment income (loss) attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC, which excludes the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the funds and VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements.

The following table presents the financial data for Apollo s reportable segments as of and for the three months ended September 30, 2011:

	As of and for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2011							
	Equ	vate uity nent	Μ	Capital larkets egment	Es	Real state gment		Total eportable egments
Revenues:								
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$	14,891	\$	1,831	\$	472	\$	17,194
Management fees from affiliates	(	65,173		47,250	1	0,596		123,019
Carried interest loss from affiliates	(1,3	58,616)	(	260,467)			(	1,619,083)
Total Revenues	(1,2)	78,552)	(	211,386)	1	1,068	(	1,478,870)

Expenses	(437,846)	(22,839)	13,792	(446,893)
Other (Loss) Income	(40,492)	(68,036)	42	(108,486)
Economic Net Loss	\$ (881,198)	\$ (256,583)	\$ (2,682)	\$ (1,140,463)
Total Assets	\$ 1,579,798	\$ 1,045,139	\$ 89,645	\$ 2,714,582

-57-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table reconciles the total segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended September 30, 2011:

	As of and Total Reportable Segments	d for the Three Months September 30, 2011 Consolidation Adjustments and Other	Ended Condensed Consolidated
Revenues	\$ (1,478,870)	\$ (710) <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ (1,479,580)
Expenses	(446,893)	288,793 (2)	(158,100)
Other loss	(108,486)	(333,824) <sup>(3)</sup>	(442,310)
Economic Net Loss	\$ (1,140,463) <sup>(4)</sup>	N/A	N/A
Total Assets	\$ 2,714,582	\$ 2,616,189 <sup>(5)</sup>	\$ 5,330,771

- (1) Represents advisory and management fees earned from a consolidated VIE which is eliminated in consolidation.
- (2) Represents the addition of expenses of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs and expenses related to equity-based compensation.
- (3) Results from the following:

	For the Three Months Ended September 30, 201	
Net losses from investment activities	\$	(337,051)
Net losses from investment activities of consolidated variable		
interest entities		(4,760)
Gain from equity method investments		7,987
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$	(333,824)

(4) The reconciliation of Economic Net Loss to Net Loss attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations consists of the following:

For the Three Months Ended

	Sept	ember 30, 2011
Economic Net Loss	\$	(1,140,463)
Income tax benefit		19,847
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated		
entities <sup>(6)</sup>		(4,149)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo		
Operating Group		946,757
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation <sup>(7)</sup>		(288,208)
Income from a consolidated VIE		(710)
Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$	(466,926)

- (5) Represents the addition of assets of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs.
- (6) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and the consolidated VIEs.
- (7) Includes impact of non-cash charges related to amortization of AOG Units of \$258.2 million, RSUs and share options of \$29.4 million (Plan Grants made in connection with the 2007 private placement of \$11.4 million, other Plan Grants made to new hires on a merit basis of \$6.3 million, Bonus Grants of \$9.9 million and share options of \$1.8 million), ARI Restricted Stock Awards, ARI RSUs and AMTG RSUs of \$0.4 million and AAA RDUs of \$0.2 million as discussed in note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following tables present additional financial data for Apollo s reportable segments for the three months ended September 30, 2011:

	Management	Private Equity Incentive	For the Three M September Total		Capital Markets Incentive	s Total
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 14,891	\$	\$ 14,891	\$ 1,831	\$	\$ 1,831
Management fees from affiliates	65,173		65,173	47,250		47,250
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates:						
Unrealized losses <sup>(1)</sup>		(1,399,141)	(1,399,141)		(284,120)	(284,120)
Realized gains		40,525	40,525	11,300	12,353	23,653
Total Revenues	80,064	(1,358,616)	(1,278,552)	60,381	(271,767)	(211,386)
Compensation and benefits	32,415	(497,161)	(464,746)	29,053	(69,970)	(40,917)
Other expenses	26,900		26,900	18,078		18,078
Total Expenses	59,315	(497,161)	(437,846)	47,131	(69,970)	(22,839)
Other Loss	(981)	(39,511)	(40,492)	(8,292)	(59,744)	(68,036)
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 19,768	\$ (900,966)	\$ (881,198)	\$ 4,958	\$ (261,541)	\$ (256,583)

(1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(77,984), \$(24,208), and \$(17,576) with respect to Fund VI, COF II and SOMA, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2011. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of a general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.

	For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Real Estate				
	Management	Incentive	Total		
Revenues:	-				
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 472	\$	\$ 472		
Management fees from affiliates	10,596		10,596		
Carried interest income from affiliates					
Total Revenues	11,068		11,068		

Compensation and benefits	6,965		6,965
Other expenses	6,827		6,827
Total Expenses	13,792		13,792
Other (Loss) Income	(192)	234	42
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (2,916)	\$ 234	\$ (2,682)

	For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2010				
	Private Equity Segment	Capital Markets Segment	Real Estate Segment	Total Reportable Segments	
Revenues:	-	-	-	-	
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 16,964	\$ 2,541	\$	\$ 19,505	
Management fees from affiliates	64,489	40,419	1,812	106,720	
Carried interest loss from affiliates	228,125	104,301		332,426	
Total Revenues	309,578	147,261	1,812	458,651	
Expenses	155,958	57,481	10,487	223,926	
Other Income	60,093	20,335	123	80,551	
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 213,713	\$ 110,115	\$ (8,552)	\$ 315,276	

-59-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table reconciles the total reportable segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended September 30, 2010:

	Fo	For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2010				
	Total	Consolidation				
	<b>Reportable</b> Segments	Adjustments and Other	Condensed Consolidated			
Revenues	\$ 458,651	\$	\$ 458,651			
Expenses	223,926	282,077 <sup>(1)</sup>	506,003			
Other income	80,551	129,989 <sup>(2)</sup>	210,540			
Economic Net Income	\$ 315,276 <sup>(3)</sup>	N/A	N/A			

(1) Represents the addition of expenses of AAA and expenses related to equity-based compensation.

(2) Results from the following:

	Thre	For the ee Months
		Ended 1ber 30, 2010
Net gains from investment activities	\$	101,210
Net gains from investment activities of consolidated variable		
interest entities		32,910
Loss from equity method investments		(3,926)
Interest income		18
Other loss		(223)
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$	129,989

(3) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income to Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations consists of the following:

	September 30, 2010	
Economic Net Income	\$	315,276
Income tax provision		(30,856)
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in		
consolidated entities <sup>(4)</sup>		(3,433)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo		
Operating Group		24,874
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation <sup>(5)</sup>		(281,914)
Net income of Commodities Trading Fund		193
Net Income Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$	24,140

- (4) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and the consolidated VIEs.
- (5) Includes impact of non-cash charges related to amortization of AOG Units of \$258.0 million, RSUs of \$21.7 million (Plan Grants made in connection with the 2007 private placement of \$11.9 million, other Plan Grants made to new hires on a merit basis of \$4.0 million and Bonus Grants of \$5.8 million), ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs of \$0.2 million and AAA RDUs of \$2.0 million as discussed in note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

-60-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

# (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following tables present additional financial data for Apollo s reportable segments for the three months ended September 30, 2010:

		For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2010				
	Management	Private Equity Incentive	Total	C Management	Capital Markets Incentive	Total
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 16,964	\$	\$ 16,964	\$ 2,541	\$	\$ 2,541
Management fees from affiliates	64,489		64,489	40,419		40,419
Carried interest income from affiliates:						
Unrealized gains		228,125	228,125		83,696	83,696
Realized gains				11,500	9,105	20,605
Total Revenues	81,453	228,125	309,578	54,460	92,801	147,261
Compensation and benefits	34,201	97,203	131,404	21,325	24,290	45,615
Other expenses	24,554		24,554	11,866		11,866
Total Expenses	58,755	97,203	155,958	33,191	24,290	57,481
Other Income	42,445	17,648	60,093	6,741	13,594	20,335
Economic Net Income	\$ 65,143	\$ 148,570	\$ 213,713	\$ 28,010	\$ 82,105	\$ 110,115

		For the Three Months Ended September 30, 2010 Real Estate			
	Management	Incentive	Total		
Revenues:					
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$	\$	\$		
Management fees from affiliates	1,812		1,812		
Carried interest income from affiliates					
Total Revenues	1,812		1,812		
Compensation and benefits	4,920		4,920		
Other expenses	5,567		5,567		
Total Expenses	10,487		10,487		

Other (Loss) Income	(41)	164	123
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (8,716)	\$ 164	\$ (8,552)

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table presents the financial data for Apollo s reportable segments as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

Revenues:	A Private Equity Segment	s of and for the Nin September Capital Markets Segment		d Total Reportable Segments
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 51,533	\$ 8,161	\$ 472	\$ 60,166
Management fees from affiliates	196,154	136,677	29,525	362,356
Carried interest loss from affiliates	(777,935)	(118,239)	- )	(896,174)
Total Revenues	(530,248)	26,599	29,997	(473,652)
		- )	- ,	
Expenses	(65,349)	123,619	44,242	102,512
Other (Loss) Income	(11,344)	(33,664)	10,483	(34,525)
Economic Net Loss	\$ (476,243)	\$ (130,684)	\$ (3,762)	\$ (610,689)
Total Assets	\$ 1,579,798	\$ 1,045,139	\$ 89,645	\$ 2,714,582

The following table reconciles the total reportable segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	As of an Total Reportable Segments	d for the Nine Months September 30, 2011 Consolidation Adjustments and Other	Ended Condensed Consolidated
Revenues	\$ (473,652)	\$ (710) <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ (474,362)
Expenses	102,512	860,975 (2)	963,487
Other loss	(34,525)	(132,586) <sup>(3)</sup>	(167,111)
Economic Net Loss	\$ (610,689) <sup>(4)</sup>	N/A	N/A
Total Assets	\$ 2,714,582	\$ 2,616,189 <sup>(5)</sup>	\$ 5,330,771

(1) Represents advisory and management fees earned from a consolidated VIE which is eliminated in consolidation.

(2) Represents the addition of expenses of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs and expenses related to equity-based compensation.

# (3) Results from the following:

	Nir	For the ne Months Ended nber 30, 2011
Net losses from investment activities	septer	(135,872)
Net losses from investment activities of consolidated VIEs		(41)
Gain from equity method investments		3,327
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$	(132,586)

-62-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

(4) The reconciliation of Economic Net Loss to Net Loss attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations consists of the following:

	For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011	
Economic Net Loss	\$	(610,689)
Income tax benefit		7,477
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities <sup>(6)</sup>		(9,383)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo		
Operating Group		992,719
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation <sup>(7)</sup>		(859,173)
Income from a consolidated VIE		(710)
Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$	(479,759)

- (5) Represents the addition of assets of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs.
- (6) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and the consolidated VIEs.
- (7) Includes impact of non-cash charges related to amortization of AOG Units of \$774.6 million, RSUs and share options of \$83.4 million (Plan Grants made in connection with the 2007 private placement of \$35.2 million, other Plan Grants made to new hires on a merit basis of \$19.5 million, Bonus Grants of \$23.7 million and share options of \$5.0 million), ARI Restricted Stock Awards, ARI RSUs and AMTG RSUs of \$0.8 million and AAA RDUs of \$0.4 million as discussed in note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.
  The following tables granted to far Angle, a report table grant tables grant tables and t

The following tables present additional financial data for Apollo s reportable segments for the nine months ended September 30, 2011:

		For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011				
	Management	Private Equity Incentive	Total	Management	Capital Markets Incentive	s Total
Revenues:	Management	incentive	I Otal	management	meenuve	Total
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 51,533	\$	\$ 51,533	\$ 8,161	\$	\$ 8,161
Management fees from affiliates	196,154		196,154	136,677		136,677
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates:						
Unrealized losses <sup>(1)</sup>		(1,108,408)	(1,108,408)		(189,208)	(189,208)
Realized gains		330,473	330,473	35,040	35,929	70,969
-						
Total Revenues	247,687	(777,935)	(530,248)	179,878	(153,279)	26,599
Compensation and benefits	98,011	(245,130)	(147,119)	82,177	(27,618)	54,559
Other expenses	81,770		81,770	69,060		69,060

#### Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3 179,781 (245,130) (65,349) 151,237 123,619 **Total Expenses** (27,618) Other Income (Loss) 7,824 (19,168) (11,344) (5,087) (28,577) (33,664) Economic Net Income (Loss) \$ 75,730 \$ (551,973) \$ (476,243) \$ 23,554 \$ (154,238) \$ (130,684)

(1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(77,984), \$(24,208), and \$(17,576) with respect to Fund VI, COF II and SOMA, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of a general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.

### -63-

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

# (dollars in thousands, except share data)

		e Nine Months E eptember 30, 201 Real Estate Incentive	
Revenues:	8		
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 472	\$	\$ 472
Management fees from affiliates	29,525		29,525
Carried interest income from affiliates			
Total Revenues	29,997		29,997
Compensation and benefits	24,600		24,600
Other expenses	19,642		19,642
Total Expenses	44,242		44,242
Other Income	9,842	641	10,483
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (4,403)	\$ 641	\$ (3,762)

	For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010			
	Private	Capital	Real	Total
	Equity Segment	Markets Segment	Estate Segment	Reportable Segments
Revenues:	-	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 49,063	\$ 8,355	\$	\$ 57,418
Management fees from affiliates	193,939	117,670	5,027	316,636
Carried interest income from affiliates	258,441	129,030		387,471
Total Revenues	501,443	255,055	5,027	761,525
Expenses	295,360	139,897	23,776	459,033
Other Income	96,356	16,120	317	112,793
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 302,439	\$ 131,278	\$ (18,432)	\$ 415,285

The following table reconciles the total reportable segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2010:

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

	Total	Consolidation	
	<b>Reportable</b> Segments	Adjustments and Other	Condensed Consolidated
Revenues	\$ 761,525	\$	\$ 761,525
Expenses	459,033	837,570 <sup>(1)</sup>	1,296,603
Other income	112,793	226,934 <sup>(2)</sup>	339,727
Economic Net Income	\$ 415,285 <sup>(3)</sup>	N/A	N/A

(1) Represents the addition of expenses of AAA and expenses related to equity-based compensation.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

(2) Results from the following:

	]	For the
	Nine Months Ended September 30, 201	
Net gains from investment activities	\$	201,926
Net gains from investment activities of consolidated variable		
interest entities		32,645
Loss from equity method investments		(7,434)
Interest income		20
Other loss		(223)
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$	226,934

(3) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income to Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations consists of the following:

	For the Nine Months	
	Septe	Ended mber 30, 2010
Economic Net Income	\$	415,285
Income tax provision		(47,638)
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities <sup>(4)</sup>		(13,200)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo		
Operating Group		371,787
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation <sup>(5)</sup>		(835,520)
Net losses of Commodities Trading Fund		(2,380)
Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$	(111,666)

(4) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and the consolidated VIEs.

(5) Includes impact of non-cash charges related to amortization of AOG Units of \$774.7 million, RSUs of \$56.9 million (Plan Grants made in connection with the 2007 private placement of \$36.8 million, other Plan Grants made to new hires on a merit basis of \$9.7 million and Bonus Grants of \$10.4 million), ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs of \$0.6 million and AAA RDUs of \$3.3 million as discussed in note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

The following tables present additional financial data for Apollo s reportable segments for the nine months ended September 30, 2010:

	For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010					
	Management	Private Equity Incentive	Total	C Management	apital Market Incentive	s Total
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 49,063	\$	\$ 49,063	\$ 8,355	\$	\$ 8,355
Management fees from affiliates	193,939		193,939	117,670		117,670
Carried interest income from affiliates:						
Unrealized gains		201,938	201,938		37,885	37,885
Realized gains		56,503	56,503	33,840	57,305	91,145
Total Revenues	243,002	258,441	501,443	159,865	95,190	255,055
Compensation and benefits	97,696	118,218	215,914	68,086	18,484	86,570
Other expenses	79,446		79,446	53,327		53,327
Total Expenses	177,142	118,218	295,360	121,413	18,484	139,897
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I		-, -	,	, -	- , -	
Other Income	69,621	26,735	96,356	2,057	14,063	16,120
Economic Net Income	\$ 135,481	\$ 166,958	\$ 302,439	\$ 40,509	\$ 90,769	\$ 131,278

-65-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

		For the Nine Months En September 30, 2010 Real Estate Management Incentive		
Revenues:				
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$	\$	\$	
Management fees from affiliates	5,027		5,027	
Carried interest income from affiliates				
Total Revenues	5,027		5,027	
Compensation and benefits	14,723		14,723	
Other expenses	9,053		9,053	
Total Expenses	23,776		23,776	
Other Income	33	284	317	
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (18,716)	\$ 284	\$ (18,432)	

The following table presents total assets for Apollo s reportable segments, and reconciles the segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2010:

		As of December 31, 2010				
	Private	Capital	Real	Total		
	Equity	Markets	Estate	Reportable	Consolidation	
	Segment	Segment	Segment	Segments	Adjustments	Consolidated
Total Assets	\$ 2,271,564	\$ 1,152,389	\$46,415	\$ 3,470,368	\$ 3,082,004 <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 6,552,372

(1) Represents the addition of assets of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs.

# **15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS**

On October 24, 2011, (the Closing Date ), Apollo completed its previously announced acquisition (the Acquisition ) of 100% of the membership interests of Gulf Stream Asset Management, LLC, (Gulf Stream) a manager of collateralized loan obligations. The Acquisition was consummated by Apollo for total consideration of approximately \$33.6 million.

The transaction broadens Apollo s existing traditional fixed income business and increases the Assets Under Management of Apollo s capital markets and senior loan businesses.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Acquisition will be accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method which requires that the consideration exchanged and net assets acquired be recorded at their respective fair values at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets acquired in the Acquisition consists primarily of certain management contracts providing economic rights to senior fees, subordinate fees, and

# Table of Contents

incentive fees to existing CLOs managed by Gulf Stream.

The Company is currently in the process of determining the purchase accounting impact of the Acquisition including the amounts recognized as of the Closing Date for each major class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

On November 3, 2011, the Company declared a cash distribution of \$0.20 per Class A share, which will be paid on December 2, 2011 to holders of record on November 25, 2011.

-66-

#### MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

#### OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of events may differ significantly from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including those included in the section entitled Risk Factors in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011. The highlights listed below have had significant effects on many items within our condensed consolidated financial statements and affect the comparison of the current period s activity with those of prior periods.

#### General

#### **Our Businesses**

Founded in 1990, Apollo is a leading global alternative investment manager. We are contrarian, value-oriented investors in private equity, credit-oriented capital markets and real estate with significant distressed expertise and a flexible mandate in the majority of our funds that enables our funds to invest opportunistically across a company s capital structure. We raise and invest funds and managed accounts on behalf of some of the world s most prominent pension and endowment funds as well as other institutional and individual investors. Apollo is led by our Managing Partners, Leon Black, Joshua Harris and Marc Rowan, who have worked together for more than 20 years and lead a team of 540 employees, including 188 investment professionals, as of September 30, 2011. This team possesses a broad range of transaction, financial, managerial and investment skills. We have offices in New York, Los Angeles, London, Frankfurt, Luxembourg, Singapore, Hong Kong and Mumbai.

Apollo conducts its management and incentive businesses primarily in the United States and substantially all of its revenues are generated domestically. These businesses are conducted through the following three reportable segments:

- (i) *Private equity* primarily invests in control equity and related debt instruments, convertible securities and distressed debt instruments;
- (ii) *Capital markets* primarily invests in non-control debt and non-control equity instruments, including distressed debt instruments; and
- (iii) *Real estate* primarily invests in legacy commercial mortgage-backed securities, commercial first mortgage loans, mezzanine investments and other commercial real estate-related debt investments. Additionally, the Company sponsors additional real estate funds that focus on opportunistic investments in distressed debt and equity recapitalization transactions.

These business segments are differentiated based on the varying investment strategies. The performance is measured by management on an unconsolidated basis because management makes operating decisions and assesses the performance of each of Apollo s business segments based on financial and operating metrics and data that exclude the effects of consolidation of any of the affiliated funds.

Our financial results vary since carried interest, which generally constitutes a large portion of the income we receive from the funds that we manage, as well as the transaction and advisory fees that we receive, can vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. As a result, we emphasize long-term financial growth and profitability to manage our business.

As of September 30, 2011, we had AUM of \$65.1 billion in our private equity, capital markets and real estate businesses. Our latest private equity fund, Fund VII, held a final closing in December 2008, raising a total of

-67-

\$14.7 billion. Fund VII began investing in January 2008 and has deployed \$9.5 billion of capital through September 30, 2011, generating gross and net internal rate of returns (IRR) of 23% and 15%, respectively, during this period. We have consistently produced attractive long-term investment returns in our private equity funds, generating a 39% gross IRR and a 25% net IRR on a compound annual basis from inception through September 30, 2011. A number of our capital markets funds have also performed well since their inception through September 30, 2011.

As of September 30, 2011, approximately 91% of our AUM was in funds with a contractual life at inception of seven years or more, and 11% of our AUM was in permanent capital vehicles with unlimited duration, as highlighted in the chart below:

### **Business Environment**

Global equity markets remained volatile during the third quarter of 2011. The debate over the United States debt ceiling and continued concerns over European sovereign debt resulted in considerable volatility and declines in financial markets around the world. The S&P 500 and Dow Jones Industrial Average were down approximately 14% and 12%, respectively, during the third quarter, while the VIX (a measure of market volatility) surged over 160% during the same period. The credit markets in which Apollo is most active also suffered losses, and financing activity in those markets slowed. During the volatile economic environment, which we believe began in the third quarter of 2007, we have been relying on our deep industry, credit and financial structuring experience, coupled with our strengths as value-oriented, distressed investors, to deploy a significant amount of new capital. As examples of this, from the beginning of the third quarter of 2007 and through September 30, 2011, we have deployed approximately \$26.2 billion of gross invested capital across our private equity and certain capital markets funds, focused on control distressed and buyout investments, leveraged loan portfolios and mezzanine, non-control distressed and non-performing loans. In addition, from the beginning of the fourth quarter of 2007 through September 30, 2011, the funds managed by Apollo have acquired approximately \$14.7 billion in face value of distressed debt at discounts to par value and purchased approximately \$36.5 billion in face value of leveraged senior loans at discounts to par value from financial institutions. Since we purchased these leveraged loan portfolios from highly motivated sellers, we were able to secure, in certain cases, attractive long-term, low cost financing.

In addition to deploying capital in new investments, we have been depending on our over 20 years of experience to enhance value in the current investment portfolio of the funds to which we serve as an investment manager. We have been relying on our restructuring and capital markets experience to work proactively with our funds portfolio company management teams to generate cost and working capital savings, reduce capital expenditures, and optimize capital structures through several means such as debt exchange offers and the purchase of portfolio company debt at discounts to par value. For example, as of September 30, 2011, Fund VI and its underlying portfolio companies purchased or retired approximately \$19.2 billion in face value of debt and captured approximately \$9.6 billion of discount to par value of debt in portfolio companies such as CEVA Logistics, Caesars Entertainment, Realogy and Momentive Performance Materials. In certain situations, such as CEVA Logistics, funds managed by Apollo are the largest owner of the total outstanding debt of the portfolio company. In addition to the attractive return profile associated with these portfolio company debt purchases, we believe that building positions as senior creditors within the existing portfolio companies is strategic to the existing equity ownership positions. Additionally, the portfolio companies of Fund VI have implemented approximately \$3.1 billion of cost savings programs on an aggregate basis from the date Fund VI invested in them through September 30, 2011, which we believe will positively impact their operating profitability.

-68-

Regardless of the market or economic environment at any given time, we rely on our contrarian, value-oriented approach to consistently invest capital on behalf of our investors throughout economic cycles by focusing on opportunities that we believe are often overlooked by other investors. We believe that our expertise in capital markets, focus on nine core industry sectors and investment experience allow us to respond quickly to changing environments. For example, in our private equity business, our private equity funds have had success investing in buyouts and credit opportunities during both expansionary and recessionary economic periods. During the recovery and expansionary periods of 1994 through 2000 and late 2003 through the first half of 2007, our private equity funds invested or committed to invest approximately \$13.7 billion primarily in traditional and corporate partner buyouts. During the recessionary periods of 1990 through 1993, 2001 through late 2003 and the current recessionary period, our private equity funds have invested \$23.0 billion, of which \$15.4 billion was in distressed buyouts and debt investments when the debt securities of quality companies traded at deep discounts to par value.

#### **Managing Business Performance**

We believe that the presentation of Economic Net Income (Loss) supplements a reader s understanding of the economic operating performance of each segment.

#### Economic Net Income (Loss)

ENI represents segment income (loss), excluding the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Apollo consolidated funds and consolidated VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements. Adjustments relating to income tax expense and Non-Controlling Interests are common in the calculation of supplemental measures of performance in our industry. We believe the exclusion of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation provides investors with a meaningful indication of our performance because these charges relate to the equity portion of our capital structure and not our core operating performance.

ENI is a key performance measure used for understanding the performance of our operations from period to period and although not every company in our industry defines these metrics in precisely the same way that we do, we believe that this metric, as we use it, facilitates comparisons with other companies in our industry. We use ENI to evaluate the performance of our private equity, capital markets and real estate segments as management believes the amount of management fees, advisory and transaction fees and carried interest income are indicative of the Company s performance. Management also uses ENI in making key operating decisions such as the following:

Decisions related to the allocation of resources such as staffing decisions including hiring and locations for deployment of the new hires. As the amount of fees, investment income, and ENI is indicative of the performance of the management companies and advisors within each segment, management can assess the need for additional resources and the location for deployment of the new hires based on the results of this measure. For example, a positive ENI could indicate the need for additional staff to manage the respective segment whereas a negative ENI could indicate the need to reduce staff assigned to manage the respective segment.

Decisions related to capital deployment such as providing capital to facilitate growth for our business and/or to facilitate expansion into new businesses. As the amount of fees, investment income, and ENI is indicative of the performance of the management companies and advisors within each segment, management can assess the availability and need to provide capital to facilitate growth or expansion into new businesses based on the results of this measure. For example, a negative ENI may indicate the lack of performance of a segment and thus indicate a need for additional capital to be deployed into the respective segment.

Decisions related to compensation expense, such as determining annual discretionary bonuses to our employees. As the amount of fees, investment income, and ENI is indicative of the performance of the management companies and advisors within each segment, management can better identify higher performing businesses and employees to allocate discretionary bonuses based on the results of this measure. As it relates to compensation, our philosophy has been and remains to better align the interests of certain professionals and selected other individuals who have a profit sharing interest in the carried interest income earned in relation to the funds we manage, with our own interests and with those of the investors in the funds. To achieve that objective, a significant amount of compensation paid is based on our performance and growth for the year. For example, a positive ENI could indicate a higher discretionary bonus for a team of investment professionals whereas a negative ENI could indicate the need to reduce bonuses based on poor performance.

ENI is a measure of profitability and has certain limitations in that it does not take into account certain items included under U.S. GAAP. The following items, which are significant to our business, are excluded when calculating ENI: (i) non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, although these costs are expected to be recurring components of our costs we may be able to incur lower cash compensation costs with the granting of equity based compensation; (ii) income tax expense, which represents a necessary element of our costs and our ability to generate revenue because ongoing revenue generation is expected to result in future income tax expense; and (iii) Non-Controlling Interests, which is expected to be a recurring item and represents the aggregate of the income or loss that is not owned by the Company. In light of the foregoing limitations, we do not rely solely on ENI as a performance measure and also consider our U.S. GAAP results.

We believe that ENI is helpful to an understanding of our business and that investors should review the same supplemental financial measure that management uses to analyze our segment performance. This measure supplements and should be considered in addition to and not in lieu of the results of operations discussed below in the Overview of Results of Operations that have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The following summarizes the adjustments to ENI that reconcile ENI to the net income (loss) attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP:

Inclusion of the impact of non-cash charges such as equity-based compensation to our Managing Partners, Contributing Partners and employees related to AOG Units, RSUs, Share Options, AAA RDUs, ARI RSUs, ARI Restricted Stock Awards and AMTG RSUs that vested during the period. Management assesses our performance based on management fees, advisory and transaction fees, and carried interest income generated by the business and excludes the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation because this non-cash charge is not viewed as part of our core operations.

Inclusion of the impact of income taxes as we do not take income taxes into consideration when evaluating the performance of our segments or when determining compensation for our employees. Additionally, income taxes at the segment level (which exclude APO Corp. s corporate taxes) are not meaningful, as the majority of the entities included in our segments operate as partnerships and therefore are only subject to New York City unincorporated business taxes and foreign taxes when applicable.

Carried interest income, management fees and other revenues from Apollo funds are reflected on an unconsolidated basis. As such, ENI excludes the Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated funds, which remain consolidated in our condensed consolidated financial statements. Management views the business as an alternative investment management firm and therefore assesses performance using the combined total of carried interest income and management fees from each of our funds.

ENI may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies and is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We use ENI as a measure of operating performance, not as a measure of liquidity. ENI should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for operating income, net income, operating cash flows, investing and financing activities, or other income or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The use of ENI without consideration of related U.S. GAAP measures is not adequate due to the adjustments described above. Management compensates for these limitations by using ENI as a supplemental measure to U.S. GAAP results, to provide a more complete understanding of our performance as management measures it. A reconciliation of ENI to our U.S. GAAP net income (loss) attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC can be found in the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

# **Operating Metrics**

We monitor certain operating metrics that are common to the alternative investment management industry. These operating metrics include Assets Under Management, private equity dollars invested and uncalled private equity commitments.

#### Assets Under Management

Assets Under Management, or AUM, refers to the investments we manage or with respect to which we have control. Our AUM equals the sum of:

- the fair value of our private equity investments plus the capital that we are entitled to call from our investors pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments plus non-recallable capital to the extent a fund is within the commitment period in which management fees are calculated based on total commitments to the fund;
- (ii) the net asset value, or NAV, of our capital markets funds, other than certain senior credit funds, which are structured as collateralized loan obligations (such as Artus, which we measure by using the mark-to-market value of the aggregate principal amount of the underlying collateralized loan obligations), plus used or available leverage and/or capital commitments;
- (iii) the gross asset values or net asset value of our real estate entities and the structured portfolio vehicle investments included within the funds we manage, which includes the leverage used by such structured portfolio companies;
- (iv) the incremental value associated with the reinsurance investments of the funds we manage; and
- (v) the fair value of any other investments that we manage plus unused credit facilities, including capital commitments for investments that may require pre-qualification before investment plus any other capital commitments available for investment that are not otherwise included in the clauses above.

Our AUM measure includes Assets Under Management for which we charge either no or nominal fees. Our definition of AUM is not based on any definition of Assets Under Management contained in our operating agreement or in any of our Apollo fund management agreements. We consider multiple factors for determining what should be included in our definition of AUM. Such factors include but are not limited to (1) our ability to influence the investment decisions for existing and available assets; (2) our ability to generate income from the underlying assets in our funds; and (3) the AUM measures that we believe are used by other investment managers. Given the differences in the investment strategies and structures among other alternative investment managers, our calculation of AUM may differ from the calculations employed by other investment managers and, as a result, this measure may not be directly comparable to similar measures presented by other investment managers.

AUM as of September 30, 2011 and 2010 and December 31, 2010 was as follows:

	As	Total Assets Under Ma As of September 30,			
	2011	<b>1 2010</b> (in millions)		2010	
AUM:					
Private equity	\$ 34,779	\$ 35,269	\$	38,799	
Capital markets	22,406	19,910		22,283	
Real estate	7,900	2,597		6,469	
Total	\$ 65,085	\$ 57,776	\$	67,551	

The following table presents total Assets Under Management amounts for our private equity segment by strategy:

	Total Assets Under Management				
	C 1 20			As of	
				December 31,	
	2011	<b>2010</b> (in millions)		2010	
Traditional Private Equity Funds	\$ 33,446	\$ 33,983	\$	37,341	
AAA	1,333	1,286		1,458	
Total	\$ 34,779	\$ 35,269	\$	38,799	

The following table presents total Assets Under Management amounts for our capital markets segment by strategy:

	<b>Total Assets Under Management</b>				
	As of September 30,			As of	
				ember 31,	
	2011	<b>2010</b> (in millions)		2010	
Distressed and Event-Driven Hedge Funds	\$ 2,055	\$ 2,544	\$	2,759	
Mezzanine Funds	3,909	4,338		4,503	
Senior Credit Funds	11,414	9,860		11,210	
Non-Performing Loan Fund	1,746	1,841		1,908	
Other <sup>(1)</sup>	3,282	1,327		1,903	
Total	\$ 22,406	\$ 19,910	\$	22,283	

(1) Includes strategic investment accounts.

The following table presents total Assets Under Management amounts for our real estate segment by strategy:

	Total 4	Total Assets Under Management				
	As of September 30,			As of mber 31,		
	2011	<b>2010</b> (in millions)		2010		
Fixed Income	\$ 3,908	\$ 2,597	\$	2,827		
Equity	3,992			3,642		
Total	\$ 7,900	\$ 2,597	\$	6,469		

-72-

The following tables summarize changes in total AUM and AUM for each of our segments for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Mont Septemb	oer 30,
	2011	2010 (in mi	<b>2011</b>	2010
Change in Total AUM:		(in in	inons)	
Beginning of Period	\$71,714	\$ 54,533	\$ 67,551	\$ 53,609
(Loss) income	(8,264)	3,117	(3,831)	3,740
Subscriptions <sup>(1)</sup>	2,345 <sup>(2)</sup>	143	4,163 <sup>(2)</sup>	896
Distributions/Redemptions <sup>(1)</sup>	$(827)^{(3)}$	(559)	$(4, 169)^{(3)}$	(2,682)
Change in leverage	117	542	1,371	2,213
End of Period	\$ 65,085	\$ 57,776	\$ 65,085	\$ 57,776
Change in Private Equity AUM:				
Beginning of Period	\$ 40,430	\$ 33,466	\$ 38,799	\$ 34,002
(Loss) income	(5,804)	1,927	(2,970)	2,856
Subscriptions	308		308	
Distributions/Redemptions	(314)	(218)	(2,523)	(1,548)
Change in leverage	159	94	1,165	(41)
End of Period	\$ 34,779	\$ 35,269	\$ 34,779	\$ 35,269
Change in Capital Markets AUM:				
Beginning of Period	\$ 23,684	\$ 18,964	\$ 22,283	\$ 19,112
(Loss) income	(2,348)	1,157	(1,132)	792
Subscriptions	2,237 <sup>(2)</sup>	38	3,381 <sup>(2)</sup>	432
Distributions/Redemptions	(1,175)	(330)	(2,001)	(940)
Change in leverage	8	81	(125)	514
End of Period	\$ 22,406	\$ 19,910	\$ 22,406	\$ 19,910
Change in Real Estate AUM:				
Beginning of Period	\$ 7,600	\$ 2,103	\$ 6,469	\$ 495
(Loss) income	(112)	33	271	92
Subscriptions	561	105	1,235	464
Distributions/Redemptions	(99)	(11)	(406)	(194)
Change in leverage	(50)	367	331	1,740
End of Period	\$ 7,900	\$ 2,597	\$ 7,900	\$ 2,597

(1) Consolidated amounts for total change in AUM reflect transfers among segments on a net basis. Such amounts are presented on a gross basis in the segment tables below.

- (2) Includes \$1,396 related to the acquisition of management agreements at Athene.
- (3) Distributions were \$(671) and \$(3,850) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively. Redemptions were \$(156) and \$(319) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively.

Private Equity

During the three months ended September 30, 2011, the AUM in our private equity segment decreased by \$5.7 billion, or 14.0%. This decrease was a result of \$5.8 billion of losses that was primarily attributable to unrealized losses in our private equity funds, including \$3.1 billion and

\$2.2 billion in Fund VI and Fund VII, respectively. Also contributing to the decrease was an additional \$0.3 billion in distributions/redemptions, primarily from Fund VI and VII. Offsetting these decreases was \$0.3 billion in subscriptions. See Segment Analysis, which includes a detailed discussion of the impact that significant changes in our AUM within our private equity, capital markets and real estate segments had on our revenues by segment.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, the AUM in our private equity segment decreased by \$4.0 billion, or 10.4%. This decrease was a result of \$3.0 billion of losses that were primarily attributable to unrealized losses in our private equity funds, including \$1.9 billion in Fund VI and \$1.2 billion in Fund VII. In addition, there were distributions of \$2.5 billion, including \$0.8 billion from Fund VII and \$0.7 billion each in Fund IV and Fund VI, respectively. Offsetting these decreases was \$1.2 billion in leverage, primarily from Fund VII with \$0.9 billion and subscriptions of \$0.3 billion.

During the three months ended September 30, 2010, the AUM in our private equity segment increased by \$1.8 billion, or 5.4%. This increase was primarily attributable to \$1.9 billion of improved investment valuations, primarily in Fund VI and Fund VII, offset by \$0.2 billion in distributions from Fund VI and Fund VII.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2010, the AUM in our private equity segment increased by \$1.3 billion, or 3.7%. This increase was primarily impacted by \$1.3 billion and \$1.1 billion of investment income for Fund VI and Fund VII, respectively. Offsetting this increase was primarily \$1.0 billion of distributions from Fund V. See Segment Analysis, which includes a detailed discussion of the impact that significant changes in our AUM within our private equity, capital markets and real estate segments had on our revenues by segment.

### Capital Markets

During the three months ended September 30, 2011, AUM in our capital markets segment decreased by \$1.3 billion, or 5.4%. This decrease was primarily attributable to \$2.3 billion in unrealized losses in our capital markets funds, primarily attributable to lower investment valuations, including \$0.8 billion in COF I, and \$0.3 billion each in COF II and AINV. The decrease was also due to \$1.2 billion in distributions and redemptions, primarily due to reallocation of capital to other Apollo funds. This decrease is offset by \$2.2 billion in subscriptions, primarily by the acquisition of management agreements for Athene and a new managed account.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, AUM in our capital markets segment decreased by \$0.1 billion, or 0.6%. This decrease was attributable to \$1.1 billion of losses that were primarily attributable to unrealized losses in our capital markets funds, including \$0.6 billion, \$0.3 billion and \$0.2 billion in COF I, COF II and AINV, respectively, and distributions and redemptions of \$2.0 billion, including \$0.3 billion and \$0.2 billion to EPF and COF II, respectively, and \$0.1 billion each for AINV, AIE I, CLF and COF I. These decreases were offset by \$3.4 billion of subscriptions, primarily the acquisition of management agreements for Athene and managed accounts.

During the three months ended September 30, 2010, the AUM in our capital markets segment increased by \$0.9 billion, or 5.0%. This increase was primarily attributable to \$1.2 billion of improved investment valuations, primarily in COF I and COF II of \$0.4 billion and \$0.2 billion, respectively, and \$0.3 billion of favorable foreign exchange translation in our euro denominated funds. These increases were offset by \$0.3 billion in distributions.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2010, AUM in our capital markets segment increased by \$0.8 billion, or 4.2%. This increase was primarily attributable to \$0.8 billion in improved valuations, primarily in COF I and COF II with \$0.3 billion and \$0.1 billion, respectively, \$0.5 billion in increased leverage primarily from COF I and COF II, and \$0.4 billion in additional subscriptions primarily in AINV. These increases were offset by \$0.9 billion in distributions.

# Real Estate

During the three months ended September 30, 2011, AUM in our real estate segment increased by \$0.3 billion, or 3.9%. This increase was primarily attributable to an additional \$0.6 billion in subscriptions, including \$0.2 billion in the AGRE CMBS Fund L.P. and 2011 A4 Fund, L.P. (the CMBS Funds ) and \$0.2 billion in managed accounts. Offsetting this increase was \$0.1 billion of losses that were primarily attributable to unrealized losses in our real estate funds and \$0.1 billion of distributions.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, AUM in our real estate segment increased by \$1.4 billion, or 22.1%. This increase was primarily attributable to an additional \$1.2 billion in subscriptions, including \$0.4 billion in the AGRE U.S Real Estate Fund L.P and \$0.4 billion in managed accounts. Also impacting this change was an increase in leverage of \$0.3 billion, primarily for the CMBS Funds. In addition, there was \$0.3 billion of income that was primarily attributable to improved unrealized gains in our real estate funds. These increases were offset by \$0.4 billion of distributions.

During the three months ended September 30, 2010, the AUM in our real estate segment increased by \$0.5 billion, or 23.5%. The increase was primarily the result of additional equity raised, along with additional leverage used by ARI for the acquisition of additional investments.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2010, AUM in our real estate segment increased by \$2.1 billion, or 424.6%, which was primarily the result of additional leverage of \$1.7 billion, primarily used by the AGRE CMBS Account for the acquisition of additional CMBS investments. In addition, there were \$0.5 billion of new subscriptions, primarily in one of the CMBS Funds.

### Assets Under Management Fee-Generating/Non-Fee Generating

Fee-generating AUM consists of assets that we manage and on which we earn management fees or monitoring fees pursuant to management agreements on a basis that varies among the Apollo funds. Management fees are normally based on net asset value, gross assets, adjusted cost of all unrealized portfolio investments, capital commitments, adjusted assets, stockholders equity, invested capital or capital contributions, e defined in the applicable management agreement. Monitoring fees for AUM purposes are based on the total value of certain structured portfolio vehicle investments, which normally include leverage, less any portion of such total value that is already considered in fee-generating AUM.

Non-fee generating AUM consists of assets that do not produce management fees or monitoring fees. These assets generally consist of the following: (a) fair value above invested capital for those funds that earn management fees based on invested capital, (b) net asset values related to general partner interests and co-investments, (c) unused credit facilities, (d) available commitments on those funds that generate management fees on invested capital, (e) structured portfolio vehicle investments that do not generate monitoring fees and (f) the difference between gross assets and net asset value for those funds that earn management fees based on net asset value. We use non-fee generating AUM combined with fee-generating AUM as a performance measurement of our investment activities, as well as to monitor fund size in relation to professional resource and infrastructure needs. Non-fee generating AUM includes assets on which we could earn carried interest income.

-75-

The table below displays fee-generating and non-fee-generating AUM by segment as of September 30, 2011 and 2010 and December 31, 2010. The changes in market conditions and additional funds raised have had significant impacts to our AUM:

		As of September 30,		
	2011	<b>2010</b> (in millions)		2010
AUM-Fee-Generating/Non-Fee-Generating:				
Private Equity	\$ 34,779	\$ 35,269	\$	38,799
Fee-generating	27,786	27,664		27,874
Non-fee-generating	6,993	7,605		10,925
Capital Markets	22,406	19,910		22,283
Fee-generating	18,507	15,930		16,484
Non-fee-generating	3,899	3,980		5,799
Real Estate	7,900	2,597		6,469
Fee-generating	3,358	558		2,679
Non-fee-generating	4,542	2,039		3,790
Total Assets Under Management	65,085	57,776		67,551
Fee-generating	49,651	44,152		47,037
Non-fee-generating	15,434	13,624		20,514

During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, our total fee-generating AUM increased as a result of increased capital commitments in both our capital markets and real estate segments. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the fee-generating AUM of our private equity funds decreased due to the dispositions of investments during the period, which resulted in lower invested capital. The fee-generating AUM of our capital markets funds increased due to increases in fair value of investments due to improved market conditions during 2010, which resulted in higher NAV, gross assets and adjusted assets. The fee-generating AUM of our real estate funds increased due to new subscriptions, the acquisition of Citi Property Investors (CPI Funds) and an increase in the fair value of investments.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2010, the fee-generating AUM of our private equity funds decreased due to the dispositions of investments during the period, which resulted in lower invested capital. The fee-generating AUM of our capital markets funds increased due to increases in the fair value of investments resulting from improved market conditions during 2010, which in turn resulted in higher NAV, gross assets and adjusted assets. The fee-generating AUM of our real estate funds increased due to new subscriptions and an increase in the fair value of investments.

When the fair value of an investment exceeds invested capital, we are normally entitled to carried interest income on the difference between the fair value once realized and invested capital after also considering certain expenses and preferred return amounts, as specified in the respective partnership agreements; however, we do not earn management fees on such excess. As a result of the growth in both the size and number of funds that we manage, we have experienced an increase in our management fees and advisory and transaction fees. To support this growth, we have also experienced an increase in operating expenses, resulting from hiring additional personnel, opening new offices to expand our geographical reach and incurring additional professional fees.

With respect to our private equity funds and certain of our capital markets and real estate funds, we charge management fees on the amount of committed or invested capital and we generally are entitled to carried interest on the realized gains on the investments that are disposed of. Certain funds may have current fair values below invested capital, however, the management fee would still be computed on the invested capital for such funds. With respect to ARI, we receive management fees on stockholders equity as defined in its management agreement. In addition, our fee-generating AUM reflects leverage vehicles that generate monitoring fees on value in excess of fund commitments. As of September 30, 2011, our total fee-generating AUM is comprised of approximately 85% of assets that earn management fees and the remaining balance of assets earn monitoring fees.

See The Historical Investment Performance of Our Funds Investment Record for additional discussion of our funds investment performance.

The Company s entire fee-generating AUM is subject to management or monitoring fees. The components of fee-generating AUM by segment as of September 30, 2011 and 2010 are presented below:

	As of September 30, 2011			
	Private Equity	Capital Markets	Real Estate	Total
		(in mill	ions)	
Fee-generating AUM based on capital commitments	\$ 14,589	\$ 2,501	\$ 281	\$17,371
Fee-generating AUM based on invested capital	8,516	2,898	1,845	13,259
Fee-generating AUM based on gross/adjusted assets	941	7,573	$1,005^{(4)}$	9,519
Fee-generating AUM based on leverage <sup>(1)</sup>	3,740	3,544		7,284
Fee-generating AUM based on NAV		1,991	227	2,218
Total Fee-Generating AUM	\$ 27,786 <sup>(2)</sup>	\$ 18,507 <sup>(3)</sup>	\$ 3,358	\$ 49,651

(1) Monitoring fees are normally based on the total value of certain special purpose vehicle investments, which includes leverage, less any portion of such total value that is already considered for fee-generating AUM. Monitoring fees are typically calculated using a 0.5% annual rate.

(2) The weighted average remaining life of the private equity funds excluding permanent capital vehicles at September 30, 2011 is 66 months.

(3) The fee-generating AUM for the capital markets funds has no concentration across the investment strategies.

(4) The fee-generating AUM for our real estate entities is based on an adjusted equity amount as specified by the respective management agreements.

	As of September 30, 2010				
	Private Equity	Capital Markets	Real Estate	Total	
Fee-generating AUM based on capital commitments	\$ 14,289	(in millio \$ 1,720	ons) \$	\$ 16,009	
Fee-generating AUM based on invested capital	8,815	3,195		12,010	
Fee-generating AUM based on gross/adjusted assets	972	5,138	558 <sup>(4)</sup>	6,668	
Fee-generating AUM based on leverage <sup>(1)</sup>	3,588	3,499		7,087	
Fee-generating AUM based on NAV		2,378		2,378	
Total Fee-Generating AUM	\$ 27,664 <sup>(2)</sup>	\$ 15,930 <sup>(3)</sup>	\$ 558	\$ 44,152	

(1) Monitoring fees are normally based on the total value of certain special purpose vehicle investments, which includes leverage, less any portion of such total value that is already considered for fee-generating AUM. Monitoring fees are typically calculated using a 0.5% annual rate.

(2) The weighted average remaining life of the private equity funds excluding permanent capital vehicles at September 30, 2010 is 79 months.

(3) The fee-generating AUM for the capital markets funds has no concentration across the investment strategies.

(4) The fee-generating AUM for our real estate entities is based on an adjusted equity amount as specified by the respective management agreements.

Private Equity Dollars Invested and Uncalled Private Equity Commitments

Private equity dollars invested represents the aggregate amount of capital invested by our private equity funds during a reporting period. Uncalled private equity commitments, by contrast, represent unfunded commitments by investors in our private equity funds to contribute capital to fund future investments or expenses incurred by the funds, fees and applicable expenses as of the reporting date. Private equity dollars invested and uncalled private equity commitments are indicative of the pace and magnitude of fund capital that is deployed or will be deployed, and which therefore could result in future revenues that include transaction fees and incentive income. Private equity dollars invested and uncalled private equity commitments can also give rise to future costs that are related to the hiring of additional resources to manage and account for the additional capital that is deployed or will be deployed. Management uses private equity dollars invested and uncalled private equity commitments since we believe the results measure our investment activities.

-77-

The following table summarizes the private equity dollars invested during the specified reporting periods:

	For the Three	Months Endeo	d For the Nine M	Ionths E	nded
	Septen	September 30,		ber 30,	
	2011	2010	2011	201	10
		(in	millions)		
Private equity dollars invested	\$ 757	\$ 1,266	\$ 2,124	\$ 3	,529
The following table summarizes the uncalled private equity commitments as	of September 30 20	)11 and Decei	mber 31 2010.		

following table summarizes the uncalled private equity commitments as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	1,
(in millions)	
Uncalled private equity commitments \$9,376 \$ 10,34	5

#### The Historical Investment Performance of Our Funds

Below we present information relating to the historical performance of our funds, including certain legacy Apollo funds that do not have a meaningful amount of unrealized investments, and in respect of which the general partner interest has not been contributed to us.

When considering the data presented below, you should note that the historical results of our funds are not indicative of the future results that you should expect from such funds, from any future funds we may raise or from your investment in our Class A shares. An investment in our Class A shares is not an investment in any of the Apollo funds, and the assets and revenues of our funds are not directly available to us. As a result of the deconsolidation of most of our funds, we will not be consolidating those funds in our financial statements for periods after either August 1, 2007 or November 30, 2007. The historical and potential future returns of the funds we manage are not directly linked to returns on our Class A shares. Therefore, you should not conclude that continued positive performance of the funds we manage will necessarily result in positive returns on an investment in our Class A shares. However, poor performance of the funds that we manage would cause a decline in our revenue from such funds, and would therefore have a negative effect on our performance and in all likelihood the value in our Class A shares. There can be no assurance that any Apollo fund will continue to achieve the same results in the future.

Moreover, the historical returns of our funds should not be considered indicative of the future results you should expect from such funds or from any future funds we may raise, in part because:

> market conditions during previous periods were significantly more favorable for generating positive performance, particularly in our private equity business, than the market conditions we have experienced for the last few years and may experience in the future;

our funds returns have benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that currently do not exist and may not repeat themselves, and there can be no assurance that our current or future funds will be able to avail themselves of profitable investment opportunities;

our private equity funds rates of return, which are calculated on the basis of net asset value of the funds investments, reflect unrealized gains, which may never be realized;

our funds returns have benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may not repeat themselves, including the availability of debt capital on attractive terms and the availability of distressed debt opportunities, and we may not be able to achieve the same returns or profitable investment opportunities or deploy capital as quickly;

the historical returns that we present are derived largely from the performance of our earlier private equity funds, whereas future fund returns will depend increasingly on the performance of our newer funds, which may have little or no realized investment track record;

Fund VI and Fund VII are several times larger than our previous private equity funds, and this additional capital may not be deployed as profitably as our prior funds;

the attractive returns of certain of our funds have been driven by the rapid return of invested capital, which has not occurred with respect to all of our funds and we believe is less likely to occur in the future;

our track record with respect to our capital markets and real estate funds is relatively short as compared to our private equity funds;

in recent years, there has been increased competition for private equity investment opportunities resulting from the increased amount of capital invested in private equity funds and periods of high liquidity in debt markets, which may result in lower returns for the funds; and

our newly established funds may generate lower returns during the period that they take to deploy their capital; consequently, we do not provide return information for any funds which have not been actively investing capital for at least 36 months prior to the valuation date as we believe this information is not meaningful.

Finally, our private equity IRRs have historically varied greatly from fund to fund. For example, Fund IV has generated a 12% gross IRR and a 9% net IRR since its inception through September 30, 2011, while Fund V has generated a 61% gross IRR and a 45% net IRR since its inception through September 30, 2011. Accordingly, the IRR going forward for any current or future fund may vary considerably from the historical IRR generated by any particular fund, or for our private equity funds as a whole. Future returns will also be affected by the applicable risks, including risks of the industries and businesses in which a particular fund invests. See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Businesses The historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our Class A shares in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011.

#### **Investment Record**

#### Private Equity

The following table summarizes the investment record for our private equity fund portfolios except for AAA. All amounts are as of September 30, 2011, unless otherwise noted:

							As	of	As	of
			Total				September	30, 2011	December	31, 2010
	Vintage	Committed	Invested			Total	Gross	Net	Gross	Net
	Year	Capital	Capital	Realized	Unrealized <sup>(1)</sup>	Value	IRR	IRR	IRR	IRR
Fund VII	2008	14,676	9,493	4,412	7,956	12,368	23%	15%	46%	32%
Fund VI	2006	10,136	11,704	4,391	9,098	13,489	5.4	4.7	13	10

Fund V	2001	3,742	5,192	11,153	1	1,539	12,692	61	45	62	45
Fund IV	1998	3,600	3,481	6,457		471	6,928	12	9	11	9
Fund III	1995	1,500	1,499	2,615		70	2,685	18	11	18	12
Fund I, II & MIA <sup>(2)</sup>	1990/92	2,220	3,773	7,924			7,924	47	37	47	37
Total		\$ 35,874	\$ 35,142	\$ 36,952	\$ 19	9,134	\$ 56,086	39%(3)	25%(3)	39%(3)	26%(3)

-79-

- (1) Figures include the market values, estimated fair value of certain unrealized investments and capital committed to investments. See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Businesses Many of our funds invest in relatively high-risk, illiquid assets and we may fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time or lose some or all of the principal amount we invest in these activities and Our funds may be forced to dispose of investments at a disadvantageous time, in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011 for a discussion of why our unrealized investments may ultimately be realized at valuations different than those provided here.
- (2) Fund I and Fund II were structured such that investments were made from either fund depending on which fund had available capital. We do not differentiate between Fund I and Fund II investments for purposes of performance figures because they are not meaningful on a separate basis and do not demonstrate the progression of returns over time.

(3) Total IRR is calculated based on total cash flows for all funds presented.

Capital Markets

The following table summarizes the investment record for certain funds with a defined maturity date, and internal rate of return since inception, or IRR, which is computed based on the actual dates of capital contributions, distributions and ending limited partners capital as of the specified date above. All amounts are as of September 30, 2011, unless otherwise noted:

						As of September 30, 2011		As of December 31, 2010				
	Year of Inception	Committed Capital	Total Invested Capital	<b>Realized</b> (in million	-	realized <sup>(1)</sup>	То	tal Value	Gross IRR	Net IRR	Gross IRR	Net IRR
FCI I <sup>(2)</sup>	2011	\$ 290.3	\$ 232.1	\$ 26.8	\$	238.1	\$	264.9	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
AIE II <sup>(3)</sup>	2008	276.5	609.0	524.3		243.8		768.1	19.3%	15.2%	27.5%	21.8%
COF I	2008	1,484.9	1,613.2	831.7		1,447.0		2,278.7	15.5	13.9	32.5	29.0
COF II	2008	1,583.0	2,191.4	1,034.4		1,397.2		2,431.6	7.0	6.0	17.4	14.9
ACLF	2007	984.0	1,448.5	736.0		657.0		1,393.0	6.7	5.7	12.1	11.2
Artus	2007	106.6	190.1	27.4		166.3		193.7	1.9	1.6	3.0	2.8
EPF <sup>(3)</sup>	2007	1,734.1	1,564.6	835.0		1,080.8		1,915.8	15.1	8.4	14.8	7.9
Totals		\$ 6,459.4	\$ 7,848.9	\$ 4,015.6	\$	5,230.2	\$	9,245.8				

(1) Figures include the market values, estimated fair value of certain unrealized investments and capital committed to investments. See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Businesses Many of our funds invest in relatively high-risk, illiquid assets and we may fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time or lose some or all of the principal amount we invest in these activities and Our funds may be forced to dispose of investments at a disadvantageous time, in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011 for a discussion of why our unrealized investments may ultimately be realized at valuations different than those provided here.

(2) Financial Credit Investment I, L.P. (FCI I) was formed during the first quarter of 2011. Apollo does not intend to disclose returns for funds that have not been investing for at least 24 months as we do not believe such return information is meaningful.

(3) Funds denominated in Euros and translated into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of 1.00 to \$1.34 as of September 30, 2011.

The following table summarizes the investment record for certain funds with no maturity date, except AIE I which is winding down. All amounts are as of September 30, 2011, unless otherwise noted:

	Year of Inception	Val Septe	et Asset lue as of ember 30, 2011 millions)	Since Inception to September 30, 2011	For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011	Net Return For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010	Since Inception to December 31, 2010	For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
AMTG <sup>(1)</sup>	2011		N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
AFT <sup>(2)</sup>	2011	\$	265.8	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
AAOF	2007		276.3	10.3%	(4.8)%	7.1%	15.8%	12.5%

SOMA <sup>(3)</sup>	2007	949.2	25.1	(11.1)	7.0	40.7	16.9
AIE I <sup>(4)</sup>	2006	49.8	(45.9)	3.5	24.9	(47.7)	32.4
AINV	2004	1,594.0	29.0	(8.7)	0.3	41.3	4.8
Value Funds <sup>(5)</sup>	2003/2006	794.4	48.2	(10.7)	5.3	65.9	12.2

- (1) In July 2011, AMTG completed its initial public offering and a concurrent private placement raising approximately \$203.0 million in net proceeds. Apollo does not intend to disclose returns for funds that have not been investing for at least 24 months as we do not believe such return information is meaningful. See www.apolloresidentialmortgage.com for most recent published information.
- (2) AFT was formed during the first quarter of 2011. Apollo does not intend to disclose returns for funds that have not been investing for at least 24 months as we do not believe such return information is meaningful.
- (3) SOMA returns for primary mandate, which follows similar strategies as the Value Funds and excludes SOMA s investments in other Apollo funds.
- (4) Fund denominated in Euros and translated into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of 1.00 to \$1.34 as of September 30, 2011.
- (5) Value Funds consists of SVF and VIF.

The Company also manages Palmetto, which has committed capital and current invested capital of \$1,518.0 million and \$494.2 million, respectively, as of September 30, 2011.

### Real Estate

The following table summarizes the investment record for our real estate funds. Each fund included in the table below did not begin investing the majority of its capital, or was not the manager for, at least 24 months prior to the valuation date of September 30, 2011. Due to the limited investment period for these funds, return information is not provided since we do not believe such information is meaningful. All amounts are as of September 30, 2011, unless otherwise noted:

	Year of Inception	Raised Capital <sup>(6)</sup>	Gross Assets	Current Net Asset Value
ARI	2009	\$ 353.7	\$ 909.7	\$ 336.0
CMBS Funds <sup>(1)</sup>	Various	718.4	2,195.3	448.3
AGRE Debt Fund I, LP <sup>(1)</sup>	2011	105.0	105.8	105.3
AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund, L.P <sup>(1)(2)</sup>	2011	384.9	43.3	10.6
CPI Capital Partners North America	2006	600.0	154.7	153.8
CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific <sup>(3)</sup>	2006	1,291.6	697.5	690.2
CPI Capital Partners Europe <sup>(4)</sup>	2006	1,556.0	425.2	424.3
CPI Other <sup>(5)</sup>	Various	4,859.1	N/A	1,307.6

- (1) Apollo does not intend to disclose returns for funds that have not been investing for at least 24 months as we do not believe such return information is meaningful.
- (2) AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund, L.P., a newly formed closed-end private investment fund that intends to make real estate-related investments principally located in the United States, held closings in January 2011 and June 2011 for a total of \$134.9 million in base capital commitments and \$250 million in additional commitments.
- (3) CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific fund is U.S. dollar denominated.
- (4) Funds denominated in Euros and translated into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of 1.00 to \$1.34 as of September 30, 2011.
- (5) CPI Other consists of funds or individual investments of which we are not the general partner or manager and only receive fees pursuant to either a sub-advisory agreement or an investment management and administrative agreement. CPI Other fund performance is a result of invested capital prior to Apollo s management of these funds. Gross assets and return data is therefore not considered meaningful as we perform primarily an administrative role.
- (6) Reflects initial gross raised capital and does not include distributions subsequent to capital raise.
- Note: As part of the CPI acquisition, the Company acquired general partner interests in fully invested funds. The net IRRs from the inception of the respective fund to September 30, 2011 were (12.4)%, 4.0% and (19.4)% for CPI Capital Partners North America, Asia Pacific and Europe, respectively. These net IRRs were primarily achieved during a period in which Apollo did not make the initial investment decisions and Apollo has only become the general partner or manager of these funds since completing the acquisition on November 12, 2010.

For a description of each fund s investments and overall investment strategy, please refer to Our Business Segments in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011.

Performance information for our funds is included throughout this discussion and analysis to facilitate an understanding of our results of operations for the periods presented. An investment in our Class A shares is not an investment in any of our funds. The performance information reflected in this discussion and analysis is not

-81-

indicative of the possible performance of our Class A shares and is also not necessarily indicative of the future results of any particular fund. There can be no assurance that our funds will continue to achieve, or that our future funds will achieve, comparable results.

The following table provides a summary of the cost and fair value of our funds investments by segment. The cost and fair values of our private equity investments represent the current invested capital and unrealized values, respectively, in Fund VII, Fund VI, Fund V and Fund IV:

	As of September 30, 2011 (in milli	As of December 31, 2010
Private Equity:	(	0113)
Cost	\$ 15,141	\$ 14,322
Fair Value	19,093	22,485
Capital Markets:		
Cost	10,272	10,226
Fair Value	10,004	11,476
Real Estate <sup>(1)</sup> :		
Cost	4,798 <sup>(2)</sup>	4,028 <sup>(3)</sup>
Fair Value	4,279 <sup>(2)</sup>	3,368 <sup>(3)</sup>

- (1) The cost and fair value of the real estate investments represent the cost and fair value, respectively, of the current unrealized invested capital for the ARI, CMBS Funds, AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund L.P., CPI Capital Partners NA, AGRE Debt Fund I L.P., CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific, and CPI Capital Partners Europe funds.
- (2) Includes CPI Funds with investment cost and fair value of \$1.6 billion and \$1.1 billion, respectively, as of September 30, 2011. Additionally, ARI includes loans at amortized cost.
- (3) All amounts as of September 30, 2010 and include CPI Funds investment cost of \$1.8 billion and fair value of \$1.1 billion. Additionally, ARI includes loans at amortized cost.

### Redemption

Our distressed and event-driven hedge funds and our Palmetto fund generally permit investors to withdraw capital through redemptions, although our Palmetto fund is not permitted to withdraw capital from our private equity funds, capital markets funds, real estate funds or other co-investments that do not permit investors to redeem capital. Under the terms of their respective partnership agreements, investors in such funds are required to provide advance written notice prior to redemption. The timing of the required notice ranges from 5 days to 90 days prior to the redemption date or in the case of certain offshore feeder funds, such number of days as directors of the fund may from time to time determine. To date, none of the Apollo funds have suspended redemption requests. However, in December 2008 and March 2009, respectively, SVF and AAOF notified their investors of their intention to satisfy redemption requests partially in cash and partially in-kind. In respect of the in-kind portion of redemption payments, investors may choose between an actual in-kind distribution of securities having a net asset value equal to the remaining redemption proceeds due and the conversion of a portion of their interests in SVF or AAOF, as applicable, into a new liquidating class of interests. As investments are sold or monetized, the net proceeds attributable to liquidating interests are not reinvested but instead are held in cash or cash equivalents for distribution to the holders of liquidating interests. In the case of SVF, an investor holding a liquidating interest has a limited ability to direct SVF to sell assets for its benefit. In the case of AAOF, holders of liquidating interests may choose between two classes, one of which provides the holder with the additional limited ability to direct AAOF to sell assets for its benefit. SVF is no longer distributing liquidating interests.

Our private equity funds and certain of our capital markets funds and real estate funds do not permit investors to withdraw capital through redemptions.

Significant redemption activity, if any, is discussed under the tables that summarize changes in total AUM and AUM for each of our segments. See Operating Metrics Assets Under Management for these tables.

### **Overview of Results of Operations**

### Revenues

*Advisory and Transaction Fees from Affiliates.* As a result of providing advisory services with respect to actual and potential private equity and capital markets investments, we are entitled to receive fees for transactions related to the acquisition and, in certain instances, disposition of portfolio companies as well as fees for ongoing monitoring of portfolio company operations and directors fees. We also receive an advisory fee for advisory services provided to a capital markets fund. In addition, monitoring fees are generated on certain special purpose vehicle investments. Under the terms of the limited partnership agreements for certain of our private equity and capital markets funds, the advisory and transaction fees earned are subject to a reduction of a percentage of such advisory and transaction fees (the Management Fee Offsets ).

The Management Fee Offsets are calculated for each fund as follows:

65%-68% for private equity funds gross advisory, transaction and other special fees;

65%-80% for certain capital markets funds gross advisory, transaction and other special fees; and

100% for certain other capital markets funds gross advisory, transaction and other special fees. These offsets are reflected as a decrease in advisory and transaction fees from affiliates on our condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Additionally, in the normal course of business, the management companies incur certain costs related to private equity funds (and certain capital markets funds) transactions that are not consummated, or broken deal costs. A portion of broken deal costs related to certain of our private equity funds, up to the total amount of advisory and transaction fees, are reimbursed by the unconsolidated funds (through reductions of the Management Fee Offsets described above), except for Fund VII and certain of our capital markets funds which initially bear all broken deal costs and these costs are factored into the Management Fee Offsets.

*Management Fees from Affiliates.* The significant growth of the assets we manage has had a positive effect on our revenues. Management fees are calculated based upon any of net asset value, gross assets, adjusted costs of all unrealized portfolio investments, capital commitments, invested capital, adjusted assets, capital contributions, or stockholders equity, each as defined in the applicable management agreement of the unconsolidated funds.

*Carried Interest Income from Affiliates.* The general partners of our funds, in general, are entitled to an incentive return that can amount to as much as 20% of the total returns on fund capital, depending upon performance of the underlying funds and subject to preferred returns and high water marks, as applicable. The carried interest income from affiliates is recognized in accordance with U.S. GAAP guidance applicable to accounting for arrangement fees based on a formula. In applying the U.S. GAAP guidance, the carried interest from affiliates for any period is based upon an assumed liquidation of the funds assets at the reporting date, and distribution of the net proceeds in accordance with the funds allocation provisions.

At September 30, 2011, approximately 41% of the fair value of our fund investments was determined using market based valuation methods (i.e., reliance on broker or listed exchange quotes) and the remaining 59% was determined primarily by comparable company and industry multiples or discounted cash flow models. For our private equity, capital markets and real estate segments, the percentage determined using market based valuation methods was 36%, 48% and 44%, respectively. See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Business Our private

equity funds performance, and our performance, may be adversely affected by the financial performance of our portfolio companies in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011, for discussion regarding certain industry-specific risks that could affect the fair value of our private equity funds portfolio company investments.

Carried interest income fee rates can be as much as 20% for our private equity funds. In our private equity funds, the Company does not earn carried interest income until the investors in the fund have achieved cumulative investment returns on invested capital (including management fees and expenses) in excess of an 8% hurdle rate. Additionally, certain of our capital markets funds have various carried interest rates and hurdle rates. Certain capital markets funds allocate carried interest to the general partner in a similar manner as the private equity funds. In our private equity, certain capital markets and certain real estate funds so long as the investors achieve their priority returns, there is a catch-up formula whereby the Company earns a priority return for a portion of the return until the Company s carried interest income equates to its incentive fee rate for that fund; thereafter, the Company participates in returns from the fund at the carried interest income rate. Carried interest income is subject to reversal to the extent that the carried interest income distributed exceeds the amount due to the general partner based on a fund s cumulative investment returns. The accrual for potential repayment of previously received carried interest income represents all amounts previously distributed to the general partner that would need to be repaid to the Apollo funds if these funds were to be liquidated based on the current fair value of the underlying funds investments as of the reporting date. The actual general partner obligation, however, would not become payable or realized until the end of a fund s life.

The table below presents an analysis of our (i) carried interest receivable and (ii) realized and unrealized carried interest (loss) income as of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011:

	As of						
	September 30, 2011		hree Months ember 30, 201			ine Months E mber 30, 201	
	Carried Interest Receivable	Unrealized Carried Interest (Loss) Income	Realized Carried Interest Income (Loss)	Total Carried Interest (Loss) Income (in millions)	Unrealized Carried Interest (Loss) Income	Realized Carried Interest Income (Loss)	Total Carried Interest (Loss) Income
Private Equity Funds:				(			
Fund VII	\$ 260.0	\$ (441.5)	\$ 23.0	\$ (418.5)	\$ (344.7)	\$ 112.6	\$ (232.1)
Fund VI		$(912.1)^{(2)}$	17.5	(894.6)	$(726.2)^{(2)}$	80.7	(645.5)
Fund V	143.0	(36.1)		(36.1)	(33.5)	24.9	(8.6)
Fund IV	127.5	(5.1)		(5.1)	(8.6)	112.3	103.7
AAA	17.2	(4.3)		(4.3)	4.6		4.6
Total Private Equity Funds	\$ 547.7	\$ (1,399.1)	\$ 40.5	\$ (1,358.6)	\$ (1,108.4)	\$ 330.5	\$ (777.9)
Capital Markets Funds:							
Distressed and Event-Driven Hedge Funds							
(Value Funds, SOMA, AAOF)	\$ 6.9	$(38.9)^{(2)}$	\$ 0.3	\$ (38.6)	$(27.2)^{(2)}$	\$ 1.8	\$ (25.4)
Mezzanine Funds (AIE II, AINV)	19.5	(9.8)	11.3	1.5	(5.5)	32.2	26.7
Non-Performing Loan Fund (EPF)	24.3	(19.2)	10.1	(19.2)	25.4		25.4
Senior Credit Funds (COF I/COF II, ACLF)	35.8	$(216.2)^{(2)}$	12.1	(204.1)	$(182.4)^{(2)}$	36.9	(145.5)
Other (FCI I)	0.5				0.5		0.5
Total Capital Markets Funds	\$ 87.0	\$ (284.1)	\$ 23.7	\$ (260.4)	\$ (189.2)	\$ 70.9	\$ (118.3)
Total	\$ 634.7 (1)	\$ (1,683.2)	\$ 64.2	\$ (1,619.0)	\$ (1,297.6)	\$ 401.4	\$ (896.2)

(1) There was a corresponding profit sharing payable of \$284.5 million that results in a net carried interest receivable amount of \$350.2 million as of September 30, 2011.

# Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

(2) See following table summarizing the fair value gains on investments and income needed to generate carried interest for funds and the related general partner obligation.

As of September 30, 2011, the general partners of Fund IV, Fund V, Fund VII, AAA, our Value Funds, AIE II, COF I, FCI I and EPF were accruing carried interest income because the fair value of the investments of certain investors in these funds is in excess of the investors cost basis and allocable share of expenses. The investment manager of AINV accrues carried interest as it is realized. Additionally, COF I, AIE II, FCI I and EPF were each above their hurdle rates of 8.0%, 7.5%, 7.0% and 8.0%, respectively, and generating carried interest income.

-84-

The general partners of certain of our distressed and event-driven hedge funds accrue carried interest when the fair value of investments exceeds the cost basis of the individual investors investments in the fund, including any allocable share of expenses incurred in connection with such investments. These high water marks are applied on an individual investor basis. All of our distressed and event-driven hedge funds have investors with various high water marks and are subject to market conditions and investment performance. As of September 30, 2011, approximately 23% of the limited partners capital in the Value Funds was generating carried interest income.

Carried interest income from our private equity funds and certain capital markets and real estate funds is subject to contingent repayment by the general partner in the event of future losses to the extent that the cumulative carried interest distributed from inception to date exceeds the amount computed as due to the general partner at the final distribution. These general partner obligations, if applicable, are disclosed by fund in the table below and are included in due to affiliates on the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. As of September 30, 2011, there were no such general partner obligations related to certain of our real estate funds. Carried interest receivables are reported on a separate line item within the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition.

The following table summarizes our carried interest income since the inception through September 30, 2011:

	Undistributed by Fund and Recognized	b	stributed by Fund and ecognized	Di by Rec	Total listributed and stributed Fund and cognized <sup>(1)</sup> (in millions)	P Obli Sept	eneral artner igation as of ember 30, 2011 <sup>(1)</sup>	I I Su P	Carried nterest ncome object to otential versal <sup>(2)</sup>
Private Equity Funds:									
Fund VII	\$ 260.0	\$	176.5	\$	436.5	\$		\$	351.1
Fund VI			124.7		124.7		78.0		
Fund V	143.0		1,277.6		1,420.6				264.9
Fund IV	127.5		500.1		627.6				253.3
AAA	17.2		6.2		23.4				17.2
Total Private Equity Funds	\$ 547.7	\$	2,085.1	\$	2,632.8	\$	78.0	\$	886.5
Capital Markets Funds:									
Distressed and Event-Driven Hedge Funds (Value Funds,									
SOMA, AAOF)	6.9		139.3		146.2		17.6		6.9
Mezzanine Funds (AIE II) <sup>(3)</sup>	8.3		12.9		21.2				21.2
Non-Performing Loan Fund (EPF)	24.3				24.3				24.3
Senior Credit Funds (COF I/COF II, ACLF)	35.8		93.6		129.4		24.2		105.2
Other (FCI I)	0.5				0.5				0.5
Total Capital Markets Funds	\$ 75.8	\$	245.8	\$	321.6	\$	41.8	\$	158.1
Total	\$ 623.5	\$	2,330.9	\$	2,954.4	\$	119.8	\$	1,044.6

#### **Carried Interest Income Since Inception**

(1) Amounts were computed based on the fair value of fund investments on September 30, 2011. As a result, carried interest income has been allocated to and recognized by the general partner. Based on the amount of carried interest income allocated, a portion is subject to potential reversal or has been reduced by the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income at September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of any such general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of the fund s investments based on contractual termination of the fund.

(2) Represents the amount of carried interest income that would be reversed if remaining fund investments became worthless on September 30, 2011. Amounts subject to potential reversal of carried interest income include amounts undistributed by a fund (i.e., the

Maximum

# Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

carried interest receivable), as well as a portion of the amounts that have been distributed by a fund, net of taxes not subject to a general partner obligation, except for Fund IV which is gross of taxes.

(3) Mezzanine Funds amounts exclude AINV as carried interest income from this fund is not subject to contingent repayment by the general partner and AIE I as this fund is winding down.

The following table summarizes the fair value gains on investments and income needed to generate carried interest for funds that are currently not generating carried interest income and have a general partner obligation based on the current fair value of the underlying funds investments as of September 30, 2011:

Fund	General Partner Obligation <sup>(1)</sup>	of Inv Asset	air Value estments/Net t Value as of nber 30, 2011 (in millions)	Inves Incor Carr	alue Gain on atments and ne to Cross ied Interest ie Threshold
Fund VI	\$ 78.0	\$	9,097.6 <sup>(2)</sup>	\$	1,593.9
COF II	24.2		1,424.5 <sup>(3)</sup>		104.1
SOMA	17.6		949.2 <sup>(3)</sup>		118.2
Total	\$ 119.8	\$	11,471.3	\$	1,816.2

- (1) Based upon a hypothetical liquidation of Fund VI, COF II, and SOMA as of September 30, 2011, Apollo has recorded a general partner obligation, which represents amounts due to these funds. The actual determination and any required payment of a general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of the fund s investments based on contractual termination of the fund.
- (2) Represents fair value of investments.
- (3) Represents net asset value.

#### Expenses

*Compensation and Benefits.* Our most significant expense is compensation and benefits expense. This consists of fixed salary, discretionary and non-discretionary bonuses, incentive fee compensation and profit sharing expense associated with the carried interest income earned from private equity funds and capital markets funds and recognition of compensation expense associated with the vesting of non-cash equity-based awards.

Our compensation arrangements with certain partners and employees contain a significant performance-based bonus component. Therefore, as our net revenues increase, our compensation costs also rise or can be lower when net revenues decrease. In addition, our compensation costs reflect the increased investment in people as we expand geographically and create new funds. All payments for services rendered by our Managing Partners prior to the Reorganization have been accounted for as partnership distributions rather than compensation and benefits expense. Refer to note 1 of the condensed consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the Reorganization. As a result, the condensed consolidated financial statements have not reflected compensation expense for services rendered by these individuals. Subsequent to the Reorganization, our Managing Partners are considered employees of Apollo. As such, payments for services made to these individuals, including the expense associated with Apollo Operating Group unit grants described below, have been recorded as compensation expense. The AOG Units were granted to the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners at the time of the Reorganization, as discussed in note 1 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

In addition, certain professionals and selected other individuals have a profit sharing interest in the carried interest earned in relation to our private equity and certain capital markets funds in order to better align their interests with our own and with those of the investors in these funds. Profit sharing expense is part of our compensation and benefits expense and is based upon a fixed percentage of private equity and capital markets carried interest income on a pre-tax and a pre-consolidated basis. Profit sharing expense can reverse during periods when there is a decline in carried interest income that was previously recognized. Profit sharing amounts are normally distributed to employees after the corresponding investment gains have been realized and generally before preferred returns achieved for the investors. Therefore, changes in our unrealized gains (losses) for investments have the same effect on our profit sharing expense. Profit sharing expense increases when unrealized gains increase. Realizations only impact profit sharing expense to the extent that the effects on investments have not been recognized previously. If losses on other investments within a fund are subsequently realized, the profit sharing amounts previously distributed are normally subject to a general partner obligation to return carried interest income previously distributed back to the funds. This general partner obligation due to the funds would be realized only

-86-

when the fund is liquidated, which generally occurs at the end of the fund s term. However, indemnification clauses also exist for pre-reorganization realized gains, which, although our Managing Partners and Contributing Partners would remain personally liable, may indemnify our Managing Partners and Contributing Partners for 17.5% to 100% of the previously distributed profits regardless of the fund s future performance. Refer to note 11 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for further discussion of indemnification.

Salary expense for services rendered by our Managing Partners is limited to \$100,000 per year for a five-year period that commenced in September 2007 and will likely increase subsequent to September 2012. Additionally, our Managing Partners can receive other forms of compensation. In connection with the Reorganization, the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners received AOG Units with a vesting period of five to six years and certain employees were granted RSUs that typically have a vesting period of six years. Managing partners, Contributing Partners and certain employees have also been granted AAA RDUs, or incentive units that provide the right to receive AAA RDUs, which both represent common units of AAA and generally vest over three years for employees and are fully-vested for Managing Partners and Contributing Partners on the grant date. In addition, ARI RSUs, ARI restricted stock and AMTG RSUs have been granted to the Company and certain employees in the real estate and capital markets segments and generally vest over three years. In addition, the Company granted share options to certain employees that generally vest and become exercisable in quarterly installments or annual installments depending on the contract terms over the next two to six years. Refer to note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for further discussion of AOG Units and other share-based compensation.

*Other Expenses.* The balance of our other expenses includes interest, litigation settlement, professional fees, placement fees, occupancy, depreciation and amortization and other general operating expenses. Interest expense consists primarily of interest related to the AMH credit facility which has a variable interest amount based on LIBOR and ABR interest rates as discussed in note 8 to our condensed consolidated financial statements. Placement fees are incurred in connection with our capital raising activities. Occupancy expense represents charges related to office leases and associated expenses, such as utilities and maintenance fees. Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets is normally calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, ranging from two to sixteen years, taking into consideration any residual value. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the expected term of the lease. Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the expected useful lives of the assets. Other general operating expenses normally include costs related to travel, information technology and administration.

#### Other Income (Loss)

*Net Gains (Losses) from Investment Activities.* The performance of the consolidated Apollo funds has impacted our net gains (losses) from investment activities include both realized gains and losses and the change in unrealized gains and losses in our investment portfolio between the opening balance sheet date and the closing balance sheet date. Net unrealized gains (losses) are a result of changes in the fair value of unrealized investments and reversal of unrealized gains (losses) due to dispositions of investments during the reporting period. Significant judgment and estimation goes into the assumptions that drive these models and the actual values realized with respect to investments could be materially different from values obtained based on the use of those models. The valuation methodologies applied impact the reported value of investment company holdings and their underlying portfolios in our condensed consolidated financial statements.

*Net Gains (Losses) from Investment Activities of Consolidated Variable Interest Entities.* Changes in the fair value of the consolidated VIEs assets and liabilities and related interest, dividend and other income and expenses subsequent to consolidation are presented within net gains (losses) from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities and are attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

*Interest Income.* The Company recognizes security transactions on the trade date. Interest income is recognized as earned on an accrual basis. Discounts and premiums on securities purchased are accreted or amortized over the life of the respective securities using the effective interest method.

*Other Income (Loss), Net.* Other income, net includes gains (losses) arising from the remeasurement of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and other miscellaneous income and expenses.

*Income Taxes* The Apollo Operating Group and its subsidiaries continue to generally operate in the U.S. as partnerships for U.S. Federal income tax purposes and generally as corporate entities in non-U.S. jurisdictions. Accordingly, these entities in some cases are subject to New York City unincorporated business tax, or in the case of non-U.S. entities, to non-U.S. corporate income taxes. In addition, APO Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is subject to U.S. Federal, state and local corporate income tax, and the Company s provision for income taxes is accounted for in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

As significant judgment is required in determining tax expense and in evaluating tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties, we recognize the tax benefits of uncertain tax positions only where the position is more likely than not to be sustained assuming examination by tax authorities. The tax benefit is measured as the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. If a tax position is not considered more likely than not to be sustained, then no benefits of the position are recognized. The Company s tax positions are reviewed and evaluated quarterly and determine whether or not we have uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recognition.

Deferred income taxes are provided for the effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability and its reported amount in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. These temporary differences result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years.

### Non-Controlling Interests

For entities that are consolidated, but not 100% owned, a portion of the income or loss and corresponding equity is allocated to owners other than Apollo. The aggregate of the income or loss and corresponding equity that is not owned by the Company is included in Non-Controlling Interest in the condensed consolidated financial statements. The Non-Controlling Interests relating to Apollo Global Management, LLC primarily include the 66.1% ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group held by the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners through their limited partner interests in Holdings, and other ownership interests in consolidated entities, which primarily consist of the approximate 98% and 97% ownership interest held by limited partners in AAA for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Non-Controlling Interests also include limited partner interests of Apollo managed funds in certain consolidated VIEs.

The authoritative guidance for Non-Controlling Interests in the condensed consolidated financial statements requires reporting entities to present Non-Controlling Interest as equity and provides guidance on the accounting for transactions between an entity and Non-Controlling Interests. According to the guidance, (1) Non-Controlling Interests are presented as a separate component of shareholders equity on the Company s condensed consolidated statements of financial condition, (2) net income (loss) includes the net income (loss) attributed to the Non-Controlling Interest holders on the Company s condensed consolidated statements of operations, (3) the primary components of Non-Controlling Interests are separately presented in the Company s condensed consolidated statements of changes in shareholders equity to clearly distinguish the interests in the Apollo Operating Group and other ownership interests in the consolidated entities and (4) profits and losses are allocated to Non-Controlling Interests in proportion to their ownership interests regardless of their basis.

On January 1, 2010, the Company adopted amended consolidation guidance issued by FASB on issues related to VIEs. The amended guidance significantly affects the overall consolidation analysis, changing the approach taken by companies in identifying which entities are VIEs and in determining which party is the primary beneficiary. The amended guidance requires continuous assessment of the reporting entity s involvement with such VIEs. The amended guidance also enhances the disclosure requirements for a reporting entity s involvement with VIEs, including presentation on the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition of assets and liabilities of consolidated VIEs that meet the separate presentation criteria and disclosure of assets and liabilities recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition and the maximum exposure to loss for those VIEs in which a reporting entity is determined to not be the primary beneficiary but in which it has a variable interest. The guidance provides a limited scope deferral for a reporting entity s interest in an entity that meets all of the following

conditions: (a) the entity has all the attributes of an investment company as defined under AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Investment Companies*, or does not have all the attributes of an investment company but is an entity for which it is acceptable based on industry practice to apply measurement principles that are consistent with the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Investment Companies*, (b) the reporting entity does not have explicit or implicit obligations to fund any losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the entity and (c) the entity is not a securitization entity, asset-backed financing entity or an entity that was formerly considered a qualifying special-purpose entity. The reporting entity is required to perform a consolidation analysis for entities that qualify for the deferral in accordance with previously issued guidance on variable interest entities. Apollo s involvement with the funds it manages is such that all three of the above conditions are met with the exception of certain vehicles which fail condition (c) above. As previously mentioned, the incremental impact of adopting the amended consolidation guidance has resulted in the consolidation of certain VIEs managed by the Company. Additional disclosures related to Apollo s involvement with VIEs are presented in note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **Investment Platform and Cost Trends**

In order to accommodate the increasing demands of our funds rapidly growing investment portfolios, we have expanded our investment platform, which is comprised primarily of our people, financial and operating systems and supporting infrastructure. Expansion of our investment platform required increases in headcount, consisting of newly hired professionals and support staff, as well as leases and associated improvements to new offices to accommodate the increasing number of employees, and related augmentation of systems and infrastructure. Our headcount increased from 485 employees as of December 31, 2010 to 540 employees as of September 30, 2011. As a result, our compensation and other personnel-related expenses have increased, as have our rent and other office-related expenses. As we continue to expand our global platform, we anticipate our headcount and related expenses will continue to increase.

Our future growth will depend in part, on our ability to maintain an operating platform and management system sufficient to address our growth and will require us to incur significant additional expenses and to commit additional senior management and operational resources. As a result, we face significant challenges:

maintaining adequate financial, regulatory and business controls;

implementing new or updated information and financial systems, processes and procedures; and

training, managing and hiring qualified professionals and appropriately sizing our work force and other components of our business on a timely and cost-effective basis.

We may not be able to manage our expanding operations effectively or be able to continue to grow, and any failure to do so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and control our expenses.

-89-

### **Results of Operations**

Below is a discussion of our condensed consolidated results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. For additional analysis of the factors that affected our results at the segment level, refer to Segment Analysis following the analysis of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.

	Three Mont Septemb 2011		Amount Change	Percentage Change	Nine Mont Septem 2011		Amount Change	Percentage Change
Revenues:								
Advisory and transaction fees from	<b>• • • • • • • • • •</b>		<b>•</b> • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	(10 )	÷			1.0.0
affiliates	\$ 16,837	\$ 19,505	\$ (2,668)	(13.7)%		\$ 57,418	\$ 2,391	4.2%
Management fees from affiliates	122,666	106,720	15,946	14.9	362,003	316,636	45,367	14.3
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates	(1,619,083)	332,426	(1,951,509)	NM	(896,174)	387,471	(1,283,645)	NM
Total Revenues	(1,479,580)	458,651	(1,938,231)	NM	(474,362)	761,525	(1,235,887)	NM
Expenses:								
Compensation and benefits:								
Equity-based compensation	288,208	281,914	6,294	2.2	859,173	835,520	23,653	2.8
Salary, bonus and benefits	68,433	60,446	7,987	13.2	204,788	180,505	24,283	13.5
Profit sharing expense	(563,255)	119,357	(682,612)	NM	(275,437)	125,307	(400,744)	NM
Incentive fee compensation	(3,876)	2,136	(6,012)	NM	2,689	11,395	(8,706)	(76.4)
Total Compensation and Benefits	(210,490)	463,853	(674,343)	NM	791,213	1,152,727	(361,514)	(31.4)
Interest expense	9,790	7,340	2,450	33.4	30,999	27.664	3,335	12.1
Professional fees	6,965	9,661	(2,696)	(27.9)	37,318	32,065	5,253	16.4
General, administrative and other	16,566	14,186	2,380	16.8	55,675	45,689	9,986	21.9
Placement fees	1,991	(793)	2,380	NM	3,105	3,748	(643)	(17.2)
Occupancy	10,391	5,882	4,509	76.7	25,542	16,690	8,852	53.0
Depreciation and amortization	6,687	5,874	813	13.8	19,635	18,020	1,615	9.0
Total Expenses	(158,100)	506,003	(664,103)	NM	963,487	1,296,603	(333,116)	(25.7)
Other (Loss) Income:								
Net (losses) gains from investment								
activities	(371,647)	101,210	(472,857)	NM	(150,407)	201,926	(352,333)	NM
Net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated variable		, ,				, ,		
interest entities	(4,760)	32,910	(37,670)	NM	(41)	32,645	(32,686)	NM
(Loss) income from equity method								
investments	(56,438)	27,480	(83,918)	NM	(29,242)	33,648	(62,890)	NM
Interest income	670	359	311	86.6	1,540	1,021	519	50.8
Other (loss) income, net	(10,135)	48,581	(58,716)	NM	11,039	70,487	(59,448)	(84.3)
Total Other (Loss) Income	(442,310)	210,540	(652,850)	NM	(167,111)	339,727	(506,838)	NM
(Loss) income before income tax								
benefit (provision)	(1,763,790)	163,188	(1,926,978)	NM	(1,604,960)	(195,351)	(1,409,609)	NM
Income tax benefit (provision)	19,847	(30,856)	50,703	NM	7,477	(47,638)	55,115	NM
Net (Loss) Income	(1,743,943)	132,332	(1,876,275)	NM	(1,597,483)	(242,989)	(1,354,494)	NM
Net loss (income) attributable to								
Non-Controlling Interests	1,277,017	(108,192)	1,385,209	NM	1,117,724	131,323	986,401	NM
	\$ (466,926)	\$ 24,140	\$ (491,066)	NM	\$ (479,759)	\$ (111,666)	\$ (368,093)	329.6%

Net (Loss) Income Attributable to	
Apollo Global Management, LLC	

NM denotes not meaningful. Changes from negative to positive amounts and positive to negative amounts are not considered meaningful. Increases or decreases from zero and changes greater than 500% are also not considered meaningful.

-90-

#### Revenues

Our revenues and other income include fixed components that result from measures of capital and asset valuations and variable components that result from realized and unrealized investment performance, as well as the value of successfully completed transactions.

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates, including directors fees and reimbursed broken deal costs, decreased by \$2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a decrease in the number of acquisitions and divestitures during the period by the private equity segment of \$2.1 million. During the three months ended September 30, 2011, gross and net advisory fees, including directors fees, were \$38.7 million and \$13.6 million, respectively, and gross and net transaction fees were \$6.2 million and \$4.1 million, respectively. During the three months ended September 30, 2010, gross and net advisory fees, including directors fees, were \$30.5 million and \$12.8 million, respectively, and gross and net transaction fees were \$21.1 million and \$6.7 million, respectively. The net transaction and advisory fees during the three months ended September 30, 2011 were further offset by \$0.9 million in broken deal costs, primarily relating to Fund VII. Advisory and transaction fees are reported net of Management Fee Offsets as calculated under the terms of the respective limited partnership agreements. See Overview of Results of Operations Revenues Advisory and Transaction Fees from Affiliates for a summary that addresses how the Management Fee Offsets are calculated for each fund.

Management fees from affiliates increased by \$15.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to an increase in management fees earned by our real estate and capital markets segments by \$8.8 million and \$6.8 million, respectively, as a result of corresponding increases in the net assets managed and fee-generating invested capital during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates changed by \$(1,951.5) million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. Carried interest income from affiliates is driven by investment gains and losses of unconsolidated funds. During the three months ended September 30, 2011, there was \$(1,683.2) million and \$64.1 million of unrealized carried interest loss and realized carried interest income, respectively, which resulted in total carried interest loss from affiliates of \$(1,619.1) million. During the three months ended September 30, 2010, there was \$311.8 million and \$20.6 million of unrealized and realized carried interest income, respectively, which resulted in total carried interest of \$332.4 million. The \$1,995.0 million decrease in unrealized carried interest income from affiliates of \$332.4 million. The \$1,995.0 million decrease in unrealized carried interest income was driven by significant declines in the fair value of portfolio investments held by certain of our private equity and capital markets funds which resulted in reversals of previously recognized carried interest income, primarily by Fund VI, Fund VII, COF I, COF II, ACLF, Fund V and SOMA which had decreased carried interest income of \$834.2 million, \$658.7 million, \$151.4 million, \$64.5 million, \$42.8 million, \$31.0 million and \$20.4 million, respectively. In addition, there was a reversal of previously recognized carried interest income due to general partner obligations to return carried interest income that was previously distributed on Fund VI, COF II and SOMA of \$78.0 million, \$24.2 million and \$17.6 million, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2011. The \$43.5 million increase in realized carried interest income was attributable to higher interest and dividend income distributions from portfolio investments held by certain of our private equity and capital markets funds, primarily by Fund VII and Fund VI of \$23.0 million and \$17.5 million, respectively, du

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates, including directors fees and reimbursed broken deal costs, increased by \$2.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This increase was primarily attributable to an increase in advisory services rendered by the private equity segment during the period of \$2.5 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, gross and net advisory fees, including directors fees, were \$109.1 million and \$42.0 million, respectively, and gross and net transaction fees were \$39.0 million and \$21.2 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30,

2010, gross and net advisory fees, including directors fees, were \$87.1 million and \$32.6 million, respectively, and gross and net transaction fees were \$82.9 million and \$24.8 million, respectively. The net transaction and advisory fees were further offset by \$3.4 million in broken deal costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2011, primarily relating to Fund VII. Advisory and transaction fees are reported net of Management Fee Offsets as calculated under the terms of the respective limited partnership agreements. Refer to Overview of Results of Operations Revenues for further discussion on Management Fee Offset.

Management fees from affiliates increased by \$45.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to an increase in management fees earned by our real estate and capital markets segments by \$24.5 million and \$19.0 million, respectively, as a result of corresponding increases in the net assets managed and fee-generating invested capital with respect to these segments during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates changed by \$(1,283.6) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. Carried interest income from affiliates is driven by investment gains and losses of unconsolidated funds. During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, there was \$(1,297.6) million and \$401.4 million of unrealized carried interest loss and realized carried interest income, respectively, which resulted in total carried interest loss from affiliates of \$(896.2) million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2010, there was \$239.8 million and \$147.7 million of unrealized and realized carried interest income, respectively, which resulted in total carried interest income from affiliates of \$387.5 million. The \$1,537.4 million decrease in unrealized carried interest income was driven by significant declines in the fair value of portfolio investments held by certain of our private equity and capital markets funds which resulted in reversals of previously recognized carried interest income, primarily by Fund VI, Fund VI, COF I, COF II, Fund V, ACLF and SOMA, which had decreased carried interest income of \$648.3 million, \$516.0 million, \$69.7 million, \$57.2 million, \$39.9 million, \$25.0 million and \$17.4 million, respectively, during the period. In addition, there was a reversal of previously recognized carried interest income due to general partner obligations to return carried interest income that was previously distributed on Fund VI, COF II and SOMA of \$78.0 million, \$24.2 million and \$17.6 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The \$253.7 million increase in realized carried interest income was attributable to increased dispositions along with higher interest and dividend income distributions from portfolio investments held by certain of our private equity and capital markets funds, primarily by Fund IV, Fund VI and Fund VII of \$112.3 million, \$80.6 million and \$73.9 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010

#### Expenses

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Compensation and benefits decreased by \$674.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a reversal of previously recognized profit sharing expense of \$682.6 million driven by the change in carried interest income earned from certain of our private equity and capital markets funds due to the significant decline in the fair value of their underlying portfolio investments during the period. In addition, incentive fee compensation decreased by \$6.0 million as a result of the unfavorable performance of certain of our capital markets funds during the period. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in salary, bonus and benefits of \$8.0 million driven by an increase in headcount and bonus accruals during the period, along with increased non-cash equity-based compensation expense of \$6.3 million primarily related to additional grants of RSUs subsequent to September 30, 2010.

Interest expense increased by \$2.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to higher interest expense incurred on the AMH credit facility due to the margin rate increase once the maturity date was extended during December 2010.

Professional fees decreased by \$2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to lower external accounting, tax, audit, legal and consulting fees incurred during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

General, administrative and other expenses increased by \$2.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased travel, information technology, recruiting and other expenses incurred associated with the launch of our new real estate funds and continued expansion of our global investment platform during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Placement fees increased by \$2.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. Placement fees are incurred in connection with the raising of capital for new and existing funds. The fees are normally payable to placement agents, who are third parties that assist in identifying potential investors, securing commitments to invest from such potential investors, preparing or revising offering marketing materials, developing strategies for attempting to secure investments by potential investors and/or providing feedback and insight regarding issues and concerns of potential investors. This change was primarily attributable to increased fundraising efforts during 2011 in connection with our private equity and capital markets funds resulting in higher placement fees incurred of \$1.5 million and \$1.3 million, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Occupancy expense increased by \$4.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to additional office space leased as a result of the increase in our headcount to support the expansion of our global investment platform during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Compensation and benefits decreased by \$361.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a reversal of previously recognized profit sharing expense of \$400.7 million driven by the change in carried interest income earned from certain of our private equity and capital markets funds due to the significant decline in the fair value of their underlying portfolio investments during the period. In addition, incentive fee compensation decreased by \$8.7 million as a result of the unfavorable performance of certain of our capital markets funds during the period. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in salary, bonus and benefits of \$24.3 million driven by an increase in headcount and bonus accruals during the period, along with increased non-cash equity-based compensation expense of \$23.7 million primarily related to additional grants of RSUs subsequent to September 30, 2010.

Interest expense increased by \$3.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to higher interest expense incurred on the AMH credit facility due to the margin rate increase once the maturity date was extended during December 2010.

Professional fees increased by \$5.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was attributable to higher external accounting, tax, audit, legal and consulting fees incurred during the period which was primarily associated with incremental costs incurred to register the Company s Class A shares during the nine months ended September 30, 2011.

General, administrative and other expenses increased by \$10.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased travel, information technology, recruiting and other expenses incurred associated with the launch of our new funds and continued expansion of our global investment platform during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Occupancy expense increased by \$8.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to additional office space leased as a result of the increase in our headcount to support the expansion of our global investment platform during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Other (Loss) Income

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Net (losses) gains from investment activities changed by \$(472.9) million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a \$(438.3) million change in net unrealized gains (losses) related to changes in the fair value of AAA Investments portfolio investments during the period. In addition, there was a \$33.4 million unrealized loss related to the change in the fair value of the investment in HFA during the three months ended September 30, 2011.

Net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated VIEs changed by \$(37.7) million during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a decrease in net realized and unrealized (losses) gains relating to the changes in the fair values of investments held by the consolidated VIEs of \$(80.6) million, along with higher expenses of \$6.9 million during the period. These decreases were partially offset by higher net unrealized and realized gains relating to debt held by the consolidated VIEs of \$50.4 million during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

(Loss) income from equity method investments changed by \$(83.9) million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily driven by changes in the fair values of certain Apollo funds in which the Company has a direct interest. Fund VII, COF I, ACLF and COF II had the most significant impact and together generated \$49.4 million of loss from equity method investments during the three months ended September 30, 2010 resulting in a net decrease of income from equity method investments totaling \$76.8 million. Refer to note 3 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for a complete summary of income (loss) from equity method investments by fund for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.

Other (loss) income, net decreased by \$58.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to \$40.0 million of insurance reimbursement received during the three months ended September 30, 2010 relating to the \$200.0 million litigation settlement incurred during 2008. During the three months ended September 30, 2011, approximately \$8.0 million of offering costs were incurred related to the launch of AMTG. The remaining change was primarily attributable to losses resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign denominated assets and liabilities of subsidiaries during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period in 2010.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Net (losses) gains from investment activities changed by \$(352.3) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a \$(340.1) million change in net unrealized gains (losses) related to changes in the fair value of AAA Investments portfolio investments during the period. In addition, there was a \$13.3 million unrealized loss related to the change in the fair value of the investment in HFA during the nine months ended September 30, 2011.

Net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated VIEs changed by \$(32.7) million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a decrease in net realized and unrealized (losses) gains relating to the changes in the fair values of investments held by the consolidated VIEs of \$(53.1) million, along with higher expenses of \$24.5 million during the period. These decreases were partially offset by higher net unrealized and realized gains relating to the debt held by the consolidated VIEs of \$44.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

-94-

(Loss) income from equity method investments changed by \$(62.9) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily driven by changes in the fair values of certain Apollo funds in which the Company has a direct interest. Fund VII, COF I, COF II and ACLF had the most significant impact and together generated \$30.0 million of loss from equity method investments during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to \$27.0 million of gain from equity method investments during the nine months ended September 30, 2010 resulting in a net decrease of income from equity method investments totaling \$57.0 million. Refer to note 3 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for a complete summary of income (loss) from equity method investments by fund for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010.

Other income, net decreased by \$59.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to \$67.5 million of insurance reimbursement received during the nine months ended September 30, 2010 relating to the \$200.0 million litigation settlement incurred during 2008. During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, approximately \$8.0 million of offering costs were reimbursed that were incurred during 2009 related to the launch of ARI, offset by approximately \$8.0 million of offering costs incurred related to the launch of AMTG during the third quarter of 2011. The remaining change was primarily attributable to gains resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign denominated assets and liabilities of subsidiaries during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period in 2010.

#### Income Tax Benefit (Provision)

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

The income tax benefit (provision) decreased by \$50.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. As discussed in note 1 to our condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company s income tax provision primarily relates to the earnings generated by APO Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Global Management, LLC that is subject to U.S. federal, state and local taxes. APO Corp. had (loss) income before taxes of \$(44.7) million and \$74.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, after adjusting for permanent tax differences. The \$119.3 million change in (loss) income before taxes resulted in decreased federal, state and local taxes of \$51.6 million utilizing a marginal corporate tax rate inclusive of the provision to return adjustment. The remaining change in the income tax provision of \$0.9 million during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010 was primarily affected by increases in the NYC UBT, as well as taxes on foreign subsidiaries.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

The income tax benefit (provision) decreased by \$55.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. As discussed in note 1 to our condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company s income tax provision primarily relates to the earnings generated by APO Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Global Management, LLC that is subject to U.S. federal, state and local taxes. APO Corp. had (loss) income before taxes of \$(18.0) million and \$104.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, after adjusting for permanent tax differences. The \$122.7 million change in (loss) income before taxes resulted in decreased federal, state and local taxes of \$54.1 million utilizing a marginal corporate tax rate inclusive of the provision to return adjustment. The remaining change in the income tax provision of \$1.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010 was primarily affected by decreases in the NYC UBT, as well as taxes on foreign subsidiaries.



#### Non-Controlling Interests

Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests consisted of the following:

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Month Septemb		
	2011 2010				2011	2010
AAA <sup>(1)</sup>	¢	329.649	(in thou \$ (96,723)	isand \$	134.347	\$ (194,619)
Consolidated VIEs <sup>(2)</sup>	φ	,		φ	- )	
		4,760	(32,910)		41	(32,645)
Former employees <sup>(3)</sup>		(4,149)	(3,433)		(9,383)	(13,200)
Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities		330,260	(133,066)		125,005	(240,464)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group		946,757	24,874		992,719	371,787
Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests	\$ 1	1,277,017	\$ (108,192)	\$ 3	1,117,724	\$ 131,323

(1) Reflects the Non-Controlling Interests in the net loss (income) of AAA and is calculated based on the Non-Controlling Interests ownership percentage in AAA, which was approximately 98% and 97% during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

- (2) Reflects the Non-Controlling Interests in the net loss (income) of the consolidated VIEs and includes \$4.6 million and \$14.2 million of losses recorded within appropriated partners deficit related to consolidated VIEs during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and \$3.2 million of gains and \$0.4 million of losses recorded within appropriated partners deficit related to consolidated VIEs during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.
- (3) Reflects the remaining interest held by certain former employees in the net income of our capital markets management companies.

-96-

*Initial Public Offering* On April 4, 2011, the Company completed the initial public offering (IPO) of its Class A shares, representing limited liability company interests of the Company. Apollo Global Management received net proceeds from the IPO of approximately \$382.5 million, which were used to acquire additional AOG Units. As a result, Holdings ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 70.7% to 66.5% and the Company s ownership interest increased from 29.3% to 33.5%. As such, the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid for the Apollo Operating Group level ownership interest and the book value on the date of the IPO is reflected in Additional Paid in Capital.

Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in the Apollo Operating Group consisted of the following:

	Three Mont Septemb		Nine Month Septemb	
	2011	<b>2010</b> (in thou	2011	2010
Net (loss) income	\$ (1,743,943)	\$ 132,332	\$ (1,597,483)	\$ (242,989)
Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	330,260	(133,066)	125,005	(240,464)
Net loss after Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated				
entities	(1,413,683)	(734)	(1,472,478)	(483,453)
Adjustments:		, í		
Income tax (benefit) provision <sup>(1)</sup>	(19,847)	30,856	(7,477)	47,638
NYC UBT and foreign tax provision <sup>(2)</sup>	(2,230)	(1,310)	(4,911)	(5,933)
Capital increase related to equity-based compensation	(22,797)		(22,797)	
Net loss in non-Apollo Operating Group entities	27,752	12,545	973	14,111
Total adjustments	(17,122)	42,091	(34,212)	55,816
Net (loss) income after adjustments	(1,430,805)	41,357	(1,506,690)	(427,637)
Approximate weighted average ownership percentage of Apollo Operating Group	66.3%	71.0%	67.9%	71.0%
Net loss attributable to Apollo Operating Group before other adjustments <sup>(3)</sup>	(946,757)	29,377	(992,719)	(305,496)
AMH special allocation <sup>(4)</sup>	(2.0,707)	(54,251)	(>>=,, =>)	(66,291)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	\$ (946,757)	\$ (24,874)	\$ (992,719)	\$ (371,787)

- (1) Reflects all taxes recorded in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. Of this amount, U.S. Federal, state, and local corporate income taxes attributable to APO Corp. are added back to income (loss) of the Apollo Operating Group before calculating Non-Controlling Interests as the income (loss) allocable to the Apollo Operating Group is not subject to such taxes.
- (2) Reflects NYC UBT and foreign taxes that are attributable to the Apollo Operating Group and its subsidiaries related to its operations in the U.S. as partnerships and in non-U.S. jurisdictions as corporations. As such, these amounts are considered in the income (loss) attributable to the Apollo Operating Group.
- (3) This amount is calculated by applying the weighted average ownership percentage range of approximately 66.3% and 67.9% during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively, and approximately 71.0% during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively, to the consolidated net income (loss) of the Apollo Operating Group before a corporate income tax provision and after allocations to the Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities.
- (4) These amounts represent special allocation of income to APO Corp. and reduction of income allocated to Holdings due to the amendment to the AMH partnership agreement as discussed in note 11 to our condensed consolidated financial statements. There was no extension of the special allocation after December 31, 2010. Therefore as a result, the Company did not allocate any additional income from AMH to APO Corp. related to the special allocation. However, the Company will continue to allocate income to APO Corp. based on the current

economic sharing percentage.

-97-

### Segment Analysis

Discussed below are our results of operations for each of our reportable segments. They represent the segment information available and utilized by our executive management, which consists of our Managing Partners, who operate collectively as our chief operating decision maker, to assess performance and to allocate resources. Management divides its operations into three reportable segments: private equity, capital markets and real estate. These segments were established based on the nature of investment activities in each fund, including the specific type of investment made, the frequency of trading, and the level of control over the investment. Segment results do not consider consolidation of funds, non-cash equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests.

In addition to providing the financial results of our three reportable business segments, we further evaluate our individual reportable segments based on what we refer to as our management and incentive businesses. Our management business is generally characterized by the predictability of its financial metrics, including revenues and expenses. This business includes management fee revenues, advisory and transaction revenues, carried interest income from certain of our mezzanine funds and expenses, each of which we believe are more stable in nature. The financial performance of our incentive business is partially dependent upon quarterly mark-to-market unrealized valuations in accordance with U.S. GAAP guidance applicable to fair value measurements. The incentive business includes carried interest income, income from equity method investments and profit sharing expense that are associated with our general partner interests in the Apollo funds, which is generally less predictable and more volatile in nature.

Our financial results vary, since carried interest, which generally constitutes a large portion of the income from the funds that we manage, as well as the transaction and advisory fees that we receive, can vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. As a result, we emphasize long-term financial growth and profitability to manage our business.

-98-

### Private Equity

The following tables set forth our segment statement of operations information and our supplemental performance measure, ENI, for our private equity segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. ENI represents segment income (loss), excluding the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Apollo funds and consolidated VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements. ENI is not a U.S. GAAP measure.

		Three Months En September 30, 20			ree Months En ptember 30, 20	
	Management	Incentive	Total (in thous	Management	Incentive	Total
Private Equity:			<b>X</b>			
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 14,891	\$	\$ 14,891	\$ 16,964	\$	\$ 16,964
Management fees from affiliates	65,173		65,173	64,489		64,489
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates:						
Unrealized (losses) gains <sup>(1)</sup>		(1,399,141)	(1,399,141)		228,125	228,125
Realized gains		40,525	40,525			
Total Revenues	80,064	(1,358,616)	(1,278,552)	81,453	228,125	309,578
Expenses:						
Compensation and benefits:						
Salary, bonus and benefits	32,415		32,415	34,201		34,201
Profit sharing expense		(497,161)	(497,161)		97,203	97,203
Total compensation and benefits <sup>(2)</sup>	32,415	(497,161)	(464,746)	34,201	97,203	131,404
Other expenses <sup>(3)</sup>	26,900		26,900	24,554		24,554
Total Expenses	59,315	(497,161)	(437,846)	58,755	97,203	155,958
Other (Loss) Income:						
Net losses from investment activities		(1,226)	(1,226)			
(Loss) income from equity method investments		(38,285)	(38,285)		17,648	17.648
Other (loss) income, $net^{(4)}$	(981)	(00,200)	(981)	42,445	17,010	42,445
Total Other (Loss) Income	(981)	(39,511)	(40,492)	42,445	17,648	60,093
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 19,768	\$ (900,966)	\$ (881,198)	\$65,143	\$ 148,570	\$ 213,713

(1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(77,984) for Fund VI for the three months ended September 30, 2011. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of a general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.

- (2) Excludes non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation.
- (3) Excludes expenses related to consolidated funds.
- (4) Excludes investment income and net gains (losses) from investment activities related to consolidated funds.

		Nine Months Ende September 30, 201			ne Months End ptember 30, 20	
	Management	Incentive	<b>Total</b> (in thousa	Management	Incentive	Total
Private Equity:						
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 51,533	\$	\$ 51,533	\$ 49,063	\$	\$ 49,063
Management fees from affiliates	196,154		196,154	193,939		193,939
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates:						
Unrealized (losses) gains <sup>(1)</sup>		(1,108,408)	(1,108,408)		201,938	201,938
Realized gains		330,473	330,473		56,503	56,503
Total Revenues	247,687	(777,935)	(530,248)	243,002	258,441	501,443
Expenses:						
Compensation and benefits:						
Salary, bonus and benefits	98,011		98,011	97,696		97,696
Profit sharing expense		(245,130)	(245,130)		118,218	118,218
Total compensation and benefits <sup>(2)</sup>	98,011	(245,130)	(147,119)	97,696	118,218	215,914
Other expenses <sup>(3)</sup>	81,770		81,770	79,446		79,446
Total Expenses	179,781	(245,130)	(65,349)	177,142	118,218	295,360
Other (Loss) Income:						
Net losses from investment activities		(1,226)	(1,226)			
(Loss) income from equity method investments		(17,942)	(17,942)		26,735	26,735
Other income, net <sup>(4)</sup>	7,824	(17,972)	7,824	69,621	20,755	69,621
Total Other Income (Loss)	7,824	(19,168)	(11,344)	69,621	26,735	96,356
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 75,730	\$ (551,973)	\$ (476,243)	\$ 135,481	\$ 166,958	\$ 302,439

(1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(77,984) for Fund VI for the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of any such general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.

(2) Excludes non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation.

(3) Excludes expenses related to consolidated funds.

(4) Excludes investment income and net gains (losses) from investment activities related to consolidated funds.

-100-

	Three Mont Septemb 2011		Amount Change	Percentage Change	Nine Mont Septeml 2011		Amount Change	Percentage Change
Private Equity:		` ´				, í		
Revenues:								
Advisory and transaction fees from								
affiliates	\$ 14,891	\$ 16,964	\$ (2,073)	(12.2)%	\$ 51,533	\$ 49,063	\$ 2,470	5.0%
Management fees from affiliates	65,173	64,489	684	1.1	196,154	193,939	2,215	1.1
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates:								
Unrealized (losses) gains <sup>(1)</sup>	(1,399,141)	228,125	(1,627,266)	NM	(1,108,408)	201,938	(1,310,346)	NM
Realized gains	40,525		40,525	NM	330,473	56,503	273,970	484.9
Total carried interest (loss) income from affiliates	(1,358,616)	228,125	(1,586,741)	NM	(777,935)	258,441	(1,036,376)	NM
Total Revenues	(1,278,552)	309,578	(1,588,130)	NM	(530,248)	501,443	(1,031,691)	NM
Expenses: Compensation and benefits: Salary, bonus and benefits	32,415	34,201	(1,786)	(5.2)	98,011	97.696	315	0.3
Profit sharing expense	(497,161)	97,203	(594,364)	NM	(245,130)	118,218	(363,348)	NM
	(1,1,1,1,1,1)	,,	(2) (20)		(,		(202,210)	
Total companyation and banafits	(464,746)	131,404	(596,150)	NM	(147,119)	215,914	(363,033)	NM
Total compensation and benefits Other expenses	26,900	24,554	2,346	9.6	(147,119) 81,770	79,446	2,324	2.9
Ouler expenses	20,900	24,334	2,340	9.0	01,770	79,440	2,324	2.7
Total Expenses	(437,846)	155,958	(593,804)	NM	(65,349)	295,360	(360,709)	NM
Other (Loss) Income:								
Net losses from investment activities	(1,226)		(1,226)	NM	(1,226)		(1,226)	NM
(Loss) income from equity method								
investments	(38,285)	17,648	(55,933)	NM	(17,942)	26,735	(44,677)	NM
Other (loss) income, net	(981)	42,445	(43,426)	NM	7,824	69,621	(61,797)	(88.8)
Total Other (Loss) Income	(40,492)	60,093	(100,585)	NM	(11,344)	96,356	(107,700)	NM
		¢ 012 712				¢ 202 420		
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (881,198)	\$ 213,713	\$ (1,094,911)	NM	\$ (476,243)	\$ 302,439	\$ (778,682)	NM

(1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(77,984) for Fund VI for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, respectively. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of any such general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.

Revenues

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates, including directors fees and reimbursed broken deal costs, decreased by \$2.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a decrease in the number of acquisitions and divestitures during the period, primarily by Fund VII. Gross advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, were \$37.1 million and \$43.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, a decrease of \$6.7 million or 15.3%. The transaction fees earned during 2011 primarily related to two portfolio investment transactions which together generated \$5.8 million and \$3.7 million of the gross and net transaction fees, respectively, as compared to transaction fees. The advisory fees earned during 2011 were primarily generated by advisory and monitoring arrangements with several portfolio investments including Athene Life Re Ltd., Berry Plastics Group, Caesars Entertainment, LeverageSource, and Realogy Corporation, which generated gross and net fees of

# Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

\$21.7 million and \$10.1 million, respectively. The advisory fees earned during 2010 were primarily generated by advisory and monitoring arrangements with several portfolio investments including Caesars Entertainment, LeverageSource and Realogy Corporation which generated gross and net fees of \$13.5 million and \$5.1 million, respectively. Advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, are reported net of Management Fee Offsets totaling \$22.2 million and \$26.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, a decrease of \$4.6 million or 17.2%.

Management fees from affiliates increased by \$0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased management fees earned from AAA Investments of \$0.6 million as a result of increased adjusted gross assets managed during the period. In addition, management fees of \$0.6 million were earned from an additional fund which began earning fees during the third quarter of 2011. These increases were partially offset by decreased management fees earned by Fund VI and Fund V of \$0.4 million and \$0.1 million, respectively, as a result of decreases in the values of fee-generating invested capital during the period.

-101-

Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates changed by \$(1,586.7) million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a decrease in net unrealized gains of \$1,627.3 million driven by significant declines in the fair values of the underlying portfolio investments held during the period which resulted in reversals of previously recognized carried interest income, primarily by Fund VI, Fund VI, Fund V, Fund IV and AAA of \$834.2 million, \$658.7 million, \$31.0 million, \$18.0 million and \$7.4 million, respectively. In addition, there was a reversal of previously recognized carried interest income due to general partner obligations to return carried interest income that was previously distributed on Fund VI of \$78.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2011. The remaining change relates to an increase in net realized gains of \$40.5 million resulting from higher interest and dividend income distributions from portfolio investments held, primarily by Fund VII and Fund VI of \$23.0 million and \$17.5 million, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

As noted above, Fund VI had the largest impact on our financial results during the quarter, accounting for \$912.1 million of the \$1.6 billion unrealized carried interest reversal. The combined fair value of Fund VI s investments was \$9.1 billion at the end of the quarter, which declined by 25% from the end of last June after adjusting for purchases and sales. The largest drivers of this decrease include the fund s equity and debt investments in CEVA Logistics, Momentive Performance Materials, Noranda Aluminum, Realogy Corporation and Rexnord.

Additionally, Fund VII had the second largest impact on Apollo s financial results during the third quarter, accounting for \$441.5 million of the \$1.6 billion unrealized carried interest reversal. The combined fair value of Fund VII s investments was \$8.0 billion at the end of the quarter, which declined by 21% from the end of last June after adjusting for purchases and sales. The largest drivers of this decrease include the fund s equity and debt investments in Lyondell and Charter as well as some of the fund s strategic debt investment vehicles. The fair value of the Fund VII investments on-hand was 27% above cost as of September 30, 2011, and since inception, Fund VII was still generating a 23% gross and 15% net annual IRR.

### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates, including directors fees and reimbursed broken deal costs, increased by \$2.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to an increase in advisory services rendered during the period, primarily with respect to AAA and managed accounts. Gross advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, were \$122.3 million and \$132.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, a decrease of \$10.2 million or 7.7%. The transaction fees earned during 2011 primarily related to six portfolio investment transactions which together generated \$34.2 million and \$17.4 million of the gross and net transaction fees, respectively, as compared to transaction fees earned during 2010 from four portfolio investment transactions which together generated \$58.4 million and \$20.1 million of the gross and net transaction fees. The advisory fees earned during 2011 were primarily generated by advisory and monitoring arrangements with several portfolio investments including Athene Life Re Ltd., Berry Plastics Group, Caesars Entertainment, CEVA Group plc, LeverageSource, Momentive Performance Materials and Realogy Corporation, which generated gross and net fees of \$61.3 million and \$27.8 million, respectively. The advisory fees earned during 2010 were primarily generated by advisory and monitoring arrangements with several portfolio investments including Caesars Entertainment, LeverageSource and Realogy Corporation which generated gross and net fees of \$41.8 million and \$15.7 million, respectively. Advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, are reported net of Management Fee Offsets totaling \$70.8 million and \$83.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, a decrease of \$12.6 million or 15.1%

Management fees from affiliates increased by \$2.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased management fees earned from AAA Investments of \$3.4 million as a result of increased adjusted gross assets managed during the period. In addition, Fund VI earned increased management fees of \$0.6 million as a result of increased values of fee-generating invested capital during the period. Furthermore, management fees of \$0.6 million were earned from an additional fund which began earning fees during the third quarter of 2011. These increases

-102-

were partially offset by decreased management fees earned by Fund V of \$1.7 million as a result of decreases in the values of fee-generating invested capital. In addition, during the third quarter of 2010, Fund IV started its winding down and no longer earns management fees which resulted in a decrease in management fees of \$0.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates changed by \$(1,036.4) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a decrease in net unrealized gains of \$1,310.3 million driven by significant declines in the fair values of the underlying portfolio investments held during the period which resulted in reversals of previously recognized carried interest income, primarily by Fund VI, Fund VI, Fund V, Fund IV and AAA of \$648.3 million, \$516.0 million, \$39.9 million, \$21.5 million and \$6.6 million, respectively. In addition, there was a reversal of previously recognized carried interest income due to general partner obligations to return previously distributed carried interest income on Fund VI of \$78.0 million, during the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The remaining change relates to an increase of realized carried interest income of \$274.0 million resulting from increased dispositions along with higher interest and dividend income distributions from portfolio investments held by certain of our private equity funds, primarily by Fund VI and Fund VII of \$112.3 million, \$80.6 million and \$73.9 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Expenses

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Compensation and benefits decreased by \$596.2 million for three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a \$594.4 million decrease in profit sharing expense which was driven by the change in carried interest income earned from our private equity funds during the period. In addition, salary, bonus and benefits expense decreased by \$1.8 million during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Other expenses increased by \$2.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased interest expense incurred of \$2.3 million primarily related to the AMH credit facility along with increased occupancy expense of \$1.9 million due to additional office space leased as a result of an increase in our headcount to support the expansion of our investment platform during the period. In addition, placement fees increased by \$1.5 million attributable to fundraising from an additional fund. These increases were partially offset by decreased professional fees of \$3.4 million due to lower external accounting, tax, audit, legal and consulting fees incurred during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Compensation and benefits decreased by \$363.0 million for nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a \$363.3 million decrease in profit sharing expense which was driven by the change in carried interest income earned from our private equity funds during the period. This decrease was partially offset by increased salary, bonus and benefits expense of \$0.3 million driven by an increase in headcount and bonus amounts during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Other expenses increased by \$2.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased occupancy expense of \$3.6 million due to additional office space leased as a result of an increase in our headcount to support the expansion of our investment platform during the period, along with increased interest expense incurred of \$3.1 million primarily related to the AMH credit facility. These increases were partially offset by decreased professional fees of \$3.0 million due to lower external accounting, tax, audit, legal and consulting fees incurred along with decreased general, administrative and other expenses of \$1.1 million due to lower travel, information technology, recruiting and other expenses incurred during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Other (Loss) Income

### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

(Loss) income from equity method investments changed by \$(55.9) million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily driven by decreases in the fair values of our private equity investments held, primarily relating to Apollo s ownership interest in Fund VII and AAA which resulted in decreased income from equity method investments of \$44.2 million and \$11.9 million, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Other (loss) income, net decreased by \$43.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to \$40.0 million of insurance reimbursement received during the three months ended September 30, 2010 relating to the \$200.0 million litigation settlement incurred during 2008. The remaining change was primarily attributable to gains (losses) resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign denominated assets and liabilities of subsidiaries during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

(Loss) income from equity method investments changed by \$(44.7) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily driven by decreases in the fair values of our private equity investments held, primarily relating to Apollo s ownership interest in Fund VII and AAA which resulted in decreased income from equity method investments of \$33.3 million and \$10.8 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Other income, net decreased by \$61.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to \$67.5 million of insurance reimbursement received during the nine months ended September 30, 2010 relating to the \$200.0 million litigation settlement incurred during 2008. The remaining change was primarily attributable to gains (losses) resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign denominated assets and liabilities of subsidiaries during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

-104-

#### Capital Markets

The following tables set forth segment statement of operations information and ENI, for our capital markets segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. ENI represents segment income (loss), excluding the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Apollo funds and consolidated VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements. ENI is not a U.S. GAAP measure.

	S	nree Months En eptember 30, 20	Three Months Ended September 30, 2010			
	Management	Incentive	Total (in thou	Management sands)	Incentive	Total
Capital Markets:			(in thou	sands)		
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 1,831	\$	\$ 1,831	\$ 2,541	\$	\$ 2,541
Management fees from affiliates	47,250		47,250	40,419		40,419
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates:						
Unrealized (losses) gains <sup>(1)</sup>		(284,120)	(284,120)		83,696	83,696
Realized gains	11,300	12,353	23,653	11,500	9,105	20,605
Total Revenues	60,381	(271,767)	(211,386)	54,460	92,801	147,261
Expenses:						
Compensation and benefits:						
Salary, bonus and benefits	29,053		29,053	21,325		21,325
Profit sharing expense		(66,094)	(66,094)		22,154	22,154
Incentive fee compensation		(3,876)	(3,876)		2,136	2,136
Total compensation and benefits <sup>(2)</sup>	29,053	(69,970)	(40,917)	21,325	24,290	45,615
Other expenses <sup>(3)</sup>	18,078	(0,,,,,,,,,)	18,078	11,866	,_ / *	11,866
				,		,
Total Expenses	47,131	(69,970)	(22,839)	33,191	24,290	57,481
Other (Loss) Income:						
Net losses from investment activities		(33,370)	(33,370)			
(Loss) income from equity method investments		(26,374)	(26,374)		13,594	13,594
Other (loss) income, net <sup>(4)</sup>	(8,292)		(8,292)	6,741		6,741
Total Other (Loss) Income	(8,292)	(59,744)	(68,036)	6,741	13,594	20,335
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 4,958	\$ (261,541)	\$ (256,583)	\$ 28,010	\$ 82,105	\$ 110,115

- (1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(24,208) and \$(17,576) for COF II and SOMA, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2011. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of any such general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.
- (2) Excludes non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation.
- (3) Excludes expenses related to consolidated funds.
- (4) Excludes investment income and net gains (losses) from investment activities related to consolidated funds and consolidated VIEs.

-105-

		ne Months End ptember 30, 20 Incentive			e Months En otember 30, 20 Incentive	
	Wanagement	Incentive	(in thou	0	Incentive	Total
Capital Markets:			(in the t	sands)		
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 8,161	\$	\$ 8,161	\$ 8,355	\$	\$ 8,355
Management fees from affiliates	136,677		136,677	117,670		117,670
Carried interest income (loss) from affiliates:						
Unrealized (losses) gains <sup>(1)</sup>		(189,208)	(189,208)		37,885	37,885
Realized gains	35,040	35,929	70,969	33,840	57,305	91,145
Total Revenues	179,878	(153,279)	26,599	159,865	95,190	255,055
Expenses:						
Compensation and benefits:						
Salary, bonus and benefits	82,177		82,177	68,086		68,086
Profit sharing expense		(30,307)	(30,307)		7,089	7,089
Incentive fee compensation		2,689	2,689		11,395	11,395
Total compensation and benefits <sup>(2)</sup>	82,177	(27,618)	54,559	68,086	18,484	86,570
Other expenses <sup>(3)</sup>	69,060	(27,010)	69,060	53,327	10,101	53,327
	.,		.,	,		
Total Expenses	151,237	(27,618)	123,619	121,413	18,484	139,897
Other (Loss) Income:						
Net losses from investment activities		(13,309)	(13,309)			
(Loss) income from equity method investments		(15,268)	(15,268)		14,063	14,063
Other (loss) income, net <sup>(4)</sup>	(5,087)		(5,087)	2,057	,	2,057
Total Other (Loss) Income	(5,087)	(28,577)	(33,664)	2,057	14,063	16,120
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 23,554	\$ (154,238)	\$ (130,684)	\$ 40,509	\$ 90,769	\$ 131,278

- (1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(24,208) and \$(17,576) for COF II and SOMA, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of any such general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.
- (2) Excludes non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation.
- (3) Excludes expenses related to consolidated funds.
- (4) Excludes investment income and net gains (losses) from investment activities related to consolidated funds and consolidated VIEs.

-106-

2011     2010     Change     Change     2011     2010     Change     Change       (in thousands)     (in thousands)     (in thousands)	(2.3)% 16.2
Revenues:	
Advisory and transaction fees from	
affiliates\$ 1,831\$ 2,541\$ (710)(27.9)%\$ 8,161\$ 8,355\$ (194)Management fees from affiliates47,25040,4196,83116.9136,677117,67019,007	10.2
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates:	
Unrealized (losses) gains <sup>(1)</sup> (284,120) 83,696 (367,816) NM (189,208) 37,885 (227,093)	NM
Realized gains         23,653         20,605         3,048         14.8         70,969         91,145         (20,176)	(22.1)
Total carried interest (loss) income from affiliates       (260,467)       104,301       (364,768)       NM       (118,239)       129,030       (247,269)	NM
Total Revenues (211,386) 147,261 (358,647) NM 26,599 255,055 (228,456)	(89.6)
Expenses:Compensation and benefits:Salary, bonus and benefits29,05321,3257,72836.282,17768,08614,091	20.7
Profit sharing expense $(66,094)$ 22,154 $(88,248)$ NM $(30,307)$ 7,089 $(37,396)$	NM
Incentive fee compensation (3,876) 2,136 (6,012) NM 2,689 11,395 (8,706)	(76.4)
Total compensation and benefits (40,917) 45,615 (86,532) NM 54,559 86,570 (32,011)	(37.0)
Other expenses         18,078         11,866         6,212         52.4         69,060         53,327         15,733	29.5
Total Expenses (22,839) 57,481 (80,320) NM 123,619 139,897 (16,278)	(11.6)
Other (Loss) Income:	
Net losses from investment activities         (33,370)         NM         (13,309)         (13,309)	NM
(Loss) income from equity method	
investments (26,374) 13,594 (39,968) NM (15,268) 14,063 (29,331)	NM
Other (loss) income, net (8,292) 6,741 (15,033) NM (5,087) 2,057 (7,144)	NM
Total Other (Loss) Income         (68,036)         20,335         (88,371)         NM         (33,664)         16,120         (49,784)	NM
Economic Net (Loss) Income \$ (256,583) \$ 110,115 \$ (366,698) NM \$ (130,684) \$ 131,278 \$ (261,962)	NM

(1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed interest income of \$(24,208) and \$(17,576) for COF II and SOMA, respectively, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of a general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.

Revenues

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates decreased by \$0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. Gross advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, were \$7.7 million and \$7.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, a decrease of \$0.1 million or 1.3%. The advisory fees earned during both periods were primarily generated by deal activity related to investments in LeverageSource, which resulted in gross and net fees of \$6.6 million and \$0.9 million, respectively, during 2011 and gross and net fees of \$5.8 million and \$1.3 million, respectively, during 2010. Advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, are reported net of Management Fee Offsets totaling \$5.9 million and \$5.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, an increase of \$0.6 million or 11.3%.

# Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

Management fees from affiliates increased by \$6.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased asset allocation fees earned from Athene of \$3.1 million during the period. These fees are partially offset by a corresponding expense categorized as sub-advisory fees and included within professional fees expense. In addition, management fees of \$1.1 million were earned from the closed end fund that Apollo manages, AFT, which began earning management fees during the first quarter of 2011. Also, an increase in gross adjusted assets managed by AINV during the period resulted in increased management fees earned of \$1.0 million. Furthermore, increased net assets managed by the remaining capital markets funds, including the Value Funds, collectively resulted in increased management fees of \$1.6 million during the period.

Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates changed by \$(364.8) million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a decrease in net unrealized gains of \$367.8 million driven by decreased net asset values, primarily

-107-

with respect to COF I, COF II, ACLF, SOMA and AIE II, resulting in decreased carried interest income of \$151.4 million, \$64.5 million, \$42.8 million, \$20.4 million and \$13.5 million, respectively, during the period. In addition, there was a reversal of previously recognized carried interest income due to general partner obligations that was previously distributed of \$24.2 million and \$17.6 million related to COF II and SOMA, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2011. The remaining change was attributable to an increase in net realized gains of \$3.0 million primarily from dividend and interest income from our portfolio investments held by certain of our capital markets funds, primarily by COF I of \$2.7 million, during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates increased by \$0.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. Gross advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, were \$25.7 million and \$37.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, a decrease of \$11.8 million or 31.5%. The transaction fees earned during 2011 related to two portfolio investment transactions which together generated gross and net fees of \$2.9 million, respectively. The advisory fees earned during both periods were primarily generated by deal activity related to investments in LeverageSource, which resulted in gross and net advisory fees of \$20.1 million and \$2.6 million, respectively, during 2011 and gross and net fees of \$19.1 million and \$4.2 million, respectively, during 2010. Advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees, are reported net of Management Fee Offsets totaling \$17.5 million and \$29.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, a decrease of \$11.6 million or 39.9%.

Management fees from affiliates increased by \$19.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased asset allocation fees earned from Athene of \$6.9 million during the period. These fees are partially offset by a corresponding expense categorized as sub-advisory fees and included within professional fees expense. In addition, an increase in gross adjusted assets managed by AINV, fee-generating invested capital in COF II, commitments in EPF and net assets managed by SOMA resulted in increased management fees earned of \$3.1 million, \$2.6 million, \$1.4 million and \$1.2 million, respectively, during the period. Also, management fees of \$2.3 million were earned from the closed end fund that Apollo manages, AFT, which began earning management fees during the first quarter of 2011. These increases were partially offset by decreased management fees earned by ACLF of \$1.4 million as a result of decreased values of fee-generating invested capital, and by AIE I of \$1.0 million as a result of decreased values of fee-generating invested capital, and by AIE I of \$1.0 million as a result of decreased values of \$3.9 million during the period.

Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates changed by \$(247.3) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to a decrease in net unrealized gains of \$227.1 million driven by decreased net asset values, primarily with respect to COF I, COF II, AIE II, ACLF and SOMA, resulting in decreased carried interest income of \$69.7 million, \$57.2 million, \$26.1 million, \$25.0 million and \$17.4 million, respectively, during the period. In addition, there was a reversal of previously recognized carried interest income due to general partner obligations to return carried interest income that was previously distributed of \$24.2 million and \$17.6 million related to COF II and SOMA, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The remaining change was attributable to a decrease in net realized gains of \$20.2 million resulting primarily from dividend and interest income portfolio investments held by certain of our capital markets, primarily by COF I and SOMA of \$31.3 million and \$5.0 million, respectively, partially offset by an increase from COF II of \$17.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Expenses

Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Compensation and benefits decreased by \$86.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to decreased profit

sharing expense of \$88.2 million driven by the change in carried interest income from certain of our capital markets funds during the period, primarily COF I, COF II and ACLF, due to significant declines in the fair values of their underlying portfolio investments during the period. In addition, incentive fee compensation expense decreased by \$6.0 million due to the unfavorable performance of certain of our capital markets funds during the period. These decreases were partially offset by increased salary bonus and benefits expense of \$7.7 million driven by an increase in headcount and bonuses during the period.

Other expenses increased by \$6.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased general, administrative and other expenses of \$2.0 million driven by higher travel, information technology, recruiting and other expenses, along with increased occupancy expense of \$1.3 million due to additional office space leased as a result of an increase in our headcount to support the expansion of our investment platform during the period. In addition, placement fees increased by \$1.3 million attributable to fundraising for our new capital markets funds along with increased interest expense incurred of \$1.2 million primarily related to the AMH credit facility during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Compensation and benefits decreased by \$32.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to decreased profit sharing expense of \$37.4 million driven by the change in carried interest income from certain of our capital markets funds during the period, primarily COF I, COF II and ACLF, due to significant declines in the fair values of their underlying portfolio investments during the period. In addition, incentive fee compensation expense decreased by \$8.7 million due to the unfavorable performance of certain of our capital markets funds during the period. These decreases were partially offset by increased salary bonus and benefits expense of \$14.1 million driven by an increase in headcount and bonuses during the period.

Other expenses increased by \$15.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased professional fees of \$8.2 million primarily driven by structuring fees associated with AFT totaling \$3.6 million along with higher external accounting, tax, audit, legal and consulting fees incurred during the period. In addition, general, administrative and other expenses increased by \$7.8 million due to higher travel, information technology, recruiting and other expenses incurred, along with increased occupancy expense of \$2.0 million due to additional office spaced leased as a result of an increase in our headcount to support the expansion of our investment platform during the period. These increases were partially offset by decreased placement fees of \$1.3 million due to decreased fundraising efforts during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Other (Loss) Income

# Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Net losses from investment activities were \$33.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011. This amount was related to an unrealized loss on the change in the fair value of the investment in HFA during the three months ended September 30, 2011.

(Loss) income from equity method investments changed by \$(40.0) million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was driven by decreases in the fair values of investments held by certain of our capital markets funds, primarily by COF I, ACLF and COF II, which resulted in a decrease of income from equity method investments of \$21.4 million, \$5.8 million and \$5.4 million, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Other (loss) income, net decreased by \$15.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. During the three months ended September 30, 2011, approximately \$8.0 million of offering costs were incurred related to the launch of AMTG. The remaining change

was primarily attributable to gains (losses) resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign denominated assets and liabilities of subsidiaries during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period in 2010.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Net losses from investment activities were \$13.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011. This amount was related to an unrealized loss on the change in the fair value of the investment in HFA during the nine months ended September 30, 2011.

(Loss) income from equity method investments changed by \$(29.3) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was driven by decreases in the fair values of investments held by certain of our capital markets funds, primarily COF I, COF II and ACLF, which resulted in a decrease of income from equity method investments of \$14.9 million, \$4.6 million and \$4.2 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Other (loss) income, net decreased by \$7.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, approximately \$8.0 million of offering costs were incurred related to the launch of AMTG. The remaining change was primarily attributable to gains (losses) resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign denominated assets and liabilities of subsidiaries during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period in 2010.

-110-

### Real Estate

The following tables set forth our segment statement of operations information and our supplemental performance measure, ENI, for our real estate segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. ENI represents segment income (loss), excluding the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Apollo funds and consolidated VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements. ENI is not a U.S. GAAP measure.

		ee Months I tember 30, Incentive	2011 Total		ee Months Ei tember 30, 2 Incentive	
Real Estate:				,		
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 472	\$	\$ 472	\$	\$	\$
Management fees from affiliates	10,596		10,596	1,812		1,812
Carried interest income from affiliates						
Total Revenues	11,068		11,068	1,812		1,812
Expenses:						
Compensation and benefits:						
Salary, bonus and benefits	6,965		6,965	4,920		4,920
Total compensation and benefits <sup>(1)</sup>	6,965		6,965	4,920		4,920
Other expenses	6,827		6,827	5,567		5,567
Total Expenses	13,792		13,792	10,487		10,487
-						
Other Income (Loss):						
Income from equity method investments		234	234		164	164
Other loss, net	(192)		(192)	(41)		(41)
Total Other (Loss) Income	(192)	234	42	(41)	164	123
	. ,			. /		
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (2,916)	\$ 234	\$ (2,682)	\$ (8,716)	\$ 164	\$ (8,552)

(1) Excludes non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation.

-111-

		e Mont ptember Incer	30, 20	11 Total		e Months En ptember 30, 20 Incentive	
Real Estate:							
Revenues:							
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 472	\$		\$ 472	\$	\$	\$
Management fees from affiliates	29,525			29,525	5,027		5,027
Carried interest income from affiliates							
Total Revenues	29,997			29,997	5,027		5,027
Expenses:							
Compensation and benefits:							
Salary, bonus and benefits	24,600			24,600	14,723		14,723
Total compensation and benefits <sup>(1)</sup>	24,600			24,600	14,723		14,723
Other expenses	19,642			19,642	9,053		9,053
				- /-	- ,		- ,
Total Expenses	44,242			44,242	23,776		23,776
Total Expenses	11,212			11,212	23,110		23,770
Other Income:							
Income from equity method investments			641	641		284	284
Other income, net	9.842		011	9,842	33	201	33
	2,012			-,,,,12			55
Total Other Income	9,842		641	10,483	33	284	317
	2,042		0+1	10,403	55	204	517
Economia Nat (Lass) Incomo	¢ (4.402)	\$	641	¢ (2.760)	¢ (19.716)	\$ 284	¢ (10 422)
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (4,403)	Э	041	\$ (3,762)	\$ (18,716)	ф 284	\$ (18,432)

# (1) Excludes non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation.

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Ni	D			
	<b>2011</b> (i	<b>2010</b> n thousands)	Amount Change	Percentage Change	2011	<b>2011 2010</b> (in thousands)		Percentage Change
Real Estate:								
Revenues:								
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 472	\$	\$ 472	NM	\$ 472	\$	\$ 472	NM
Management fees from affiliates	10,596	1,812	8,784	484.8%	29,525	5,027	24,498	487.3%
Carried interest income from affiliates				NM				NM
Total Revenues	11,068	1,812	9,256	NM	29,997	5,027	24,970	496.7
Expenses:								
Compensation and benefits:								
Salary, bonus and benefits	6,965	4,920	2,045	41.6	24,600	14,723	9,877	67.1
Total Compensation and Benefits	6,965	4,920	2,045	41.6	24,600	14,723	9,877	67.1
Other expenses	6,827	5,567	1,260	22.6	19,642	9,053	10,589	117.0
Total Expenses	13,792	10,487	3,305	31.5	44,242	23,776	20,466	86.1

# Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

Other Income (Loss):								
Income from equity method investments	234	164	70	42.7	641	284	357	125.7
Other (loss) income, net	(192)	(41)	(151)	368.3	9,842	33	9,809	NM
Total Other Income (Loss)	42	123	(81)	(65.9)	10,483	317	10,166	NM
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (2,682)	\$ (8,552)	\$ 5,870	(68.6)%	\$ (3,762)	\$ (18,432)	\$ 14,670	(79.6)%

#### Revenues

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates were \$0.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 which were earned by a new fund, AGRE Debt Fund I, L.P.

Management fees increased by \$8.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to \$6.9 million of fees earned from the management contracts associated with CPI Funds that were acquired during November 2010. CPI Capital Partners Europe, CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific and CPI Capital Partners North America earned fees of \$2.6 million, \$2.2 million and \$2.1 million, respectively, during the period. In addition, increased net assets managed by ARI, AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund, AGRE CMBS Fund, L.P. (AGRE CMBS) and AGRE Debt Fund I, L.P. resulted in increased management fees earned of \$0.8 million, \$0.4 million, and \$0.1 million, respectively, during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates were \$0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 which were earned by a new fund, AGRE Debt Fund I, L.P.

Management fees increased by \$24.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to \$20.8 million of fees earned from CPI Funds that were acquired during November 2010. CPI Capital Partners Europe, CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific and CPI Capital Partners North America earned fees of \$7.9 million, \$6.6 million, and \$6.3 million, respectively, during the period. In addition, increased net assets managed by ARI, AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund, AGRE CMBS and AGRE Debt Fund I, L.P. account resulted in increased management fees earned of \$1.6 million, \$1.0 million, \$1.0 million and \$0.1 million, respectively, during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Expenses

#### Three Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2010

Compensation and benefits increased by \$2.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was attributable to an increase in salary, bonus and benefits expense primarily driven by an increase in headcount as a result of the CPI Funds that were acquired during November 2010 and expansion of our real estate funds during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Other expenses increased by \$1.3 million during the three months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased occupancy expense of \$1.3 million due to additional office space leased as a result of an increase in our headcount to support the expansion of our real estate funds during the period. In addition, amortization and depreciation expense increased by \$1.0 million during the three months ended September 30, 2011 primarily as a result of the amortization of the management contracts associated with the CPI Funds that were acquired during November 2010.

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Compensation and benefits increased by \$9.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was attributable to an increase in salary, bonus and benefits expense primarily driven by an increase in headcount as a result of the CPI Funds that were acquired during November 2010 and expansion of our real estate funds during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

Other expenses increased by \$10.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to increased amortization and depreciation expense of \$3.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 primarily as a result of the amortization of the management contracts associated with the CPI Funds that were acquired during November 2010. In addition, general, administrative and other expenses increased by \$3.4 million driven by increased travel, information technology, recruiting and other expenses incurred associated with the launch of our new real estate funds during the period. Furthermore, occupancy expense increased by \$3.2 million due to additional office space leased as a result of an increase in our headcount to support the expansion of our real estate funds during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Other Income (Loss)

#### Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

Other (loss) income, net increased by \$9.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010. This change was primarily attributable to the reimbursement of approximately \$8.0 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 of offering costs incurred during 2009 related to the launch of ARI. The remaining change was primarily attributable to gains (losses) resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates of foreign denominated assets and liabilities of subsidiaries during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 as compared to the same period during 2010.

#### Summary Combined Segment Results for Management Business and Incentive Business

The following tables combine our reportable segments statements of operations information and supplemental performance measure, ENI, for our management and incentive businesses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. ENI represents segment income (loss), excluding the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Apollo funds and consolidated VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements. ENI is not a U.S. GAAP measure.

In addition to providing the financial results of our three reportable business segments, we evaluate our reportable segments based on what we refer to as our management and incentive businesses. Our management business is generally characterized by the predictability of its financial metrics, including revenues and expenses. This business includes management fee revenues, advisory and transaction fee revenues, carried interest income from certain of our mezzanine funds and expenses, each of which we believe are more stable in nature.

-114-

	Three Mor Septem 2011		Nine Mon Septen 2011 Isands)		
Management Business			,		
Revenues:					
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 17,194	\$ 19,505	\$ 60,166	\$ 57,418	
Management fees from affiliates	123,019	106,720	362,356	316,630	
Carried interest income from affiliates	11,300	11,500	35,040	33,84	
Total Revenues	151,513	137,725	457,562	407,894	
Expenses:					
Compensation and benefits <sup>(2)</sup>	68,433	60,446	204,788	180,50	
Interest expense	9,790	7,340	30,999	27,66	
Professional fees <sup>(3)</sup>	6,750	9,651	36,669	31,26	
General, administrative and other <sup>(4)</sup>	16,196	14,033	54,522	44,43	
Placement fees	1,991	(793)	3,105	3,74	
Occupancy	10,391	5,882	25,542	16,69	
Depreciation and amortization	6,687	5,874	19,635	18,02	
Total Expenses	120,238	102,433	375,260	322,33	
Other Income (Loss):					
Interest income	670	341	1,540	1,00	
Other (loss) income, net	(10,135)	48,804	11,039	70,71	
Total Other (Loss) Income	(9,465)	49,145	12,579	71,71	
Economic Net Income	\$ 21,810	\$ 84,437	\$ 94,881	\$ 157,27	

(1) Includes \$40.0 million and \$67.5 million of insurance proceeds related to a litigation settlement included in other income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.

(2) Excludes non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation.

(3) Excludes professional fees related to the consolidated funds.

(4) Excludes general and administrative expenses related to the consolidated funds.

The financial performance of our incentive business, which is dependent upon quarterly mark-to-market unrealized valuations in accordance with U.S. GAAP guidance applicable to fair value measurements, includes carried interest income, income from equity method investments, profit sharing expenses and incentive fee compensation that are associated with our general partner interests in the Apollo funds, which are generally less predictable and more volatile in nature.

-115-

	Three Mont Septemb 2011		Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 2010 (sands)		
Incentive Business			,		
Revenues:					
Carried interest (loss) income from affiliates:					
Unrealized (losses) gains <sup>(1)</sup>	\$(1,683,261)	\$ 311,821	\$ (1,297,616)	\$ 239,823	
Realized gains	52,878	9,105	366,402	113,808	
Total Revenues	(1,630,383)	320,926	(931,214)	353,631	
Expenses:					
Compensation and benefits:					
Profit sharing expense:					
Unrealized profit sharing expense <sup>(1)</sup>	(582,571)	116,677	(424,689)	85,206	
Realized profit sharing expense	19,316	2,680	149,252	40,101	
Total Profit Sharing Expense	(563,255)	119,357	(275,437)	125,307	
Incentive fee compensation	(3,876)	2,136	2,689	123,307	
incentive ree compensation	(3,870)	2,150	2,089	11,395	
Total Compensation and Benefits	(567,131)	121,493	(272,748)	136,702	
Other (Loss) Income:					
Net losses from investment activities <sup>(2)</sup>	(34,596)		(14,535)		
(Loss) income from equity method investments	(64,425)	31,406	(32,569)	41,082	
Total Other (Loss) Income	(99,021)	31,406	(47,104)	41,082	
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (1,162,273)	\$ 230,839	\$ (705,570)	\$ 258,011	

(1) Included in unrealized carried interest (loss) income from affiliates is reversal of previously realized carried interest income due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(77,984), \$(24,208), and \$(17,576) for Fund VI, COF II and SOMA, respectively, for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2011. Included in unrealized profit sharing expense is reversal of previously realized profit sharing expense for the amounts receivable from Contributing Partners and certain employees due to the general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$(22,920) and \$(7,177) for Fund VI and COF II, respectively, for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2011. The general partner obligation is recognized based upon a hypothetical liquidation of the funds net assets as of September 30, 2011. The actual determination and any required payment of any such general partner obligation would not take place until the final disposition of a fund s investments based on the contractual termination of the fund.

(2) Excludes investment income and net gains (losses) from investment activities related to consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs. *Summary* 

Below is the summary of our total reportable segments including management and incentive businesses and a reconciliation of ENI to Net Loss attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in our condensed consolidated statements of operations:

	Three Mont Septemb		Nine Mon Septem	
	2011	2010	2011	2010
		(in thou	sands)	
ies	\$ (1,478,870)	\$ 458,651	\$ (473,652)	\$ 761,525
enses	(446,893)	223,926	102,512	459,033

## Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

Other (loss) income	(108,486)	80,551	(34,525)	112,793
Economic Net (Loss) Income	(1,140,463)	315,276	(610,689)	415,285
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation	(288,208)	(281,914)	(859,173)	(835,520)
Income tax benefit (provision)	19,847	(30,856)	7,477	(47,638)
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated				
entities <sup>(1)</sup>	(4,149)	(3,433)	(9,383)	(13,200)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating				
Group	946,757	24,874	992,719	371,787
Income from a consolidated VIE	(710)		(710)	
Net income (loss) of Metals Trading Fund		193		(2,380)
Net (Loss) Income Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$ (466,926)	\$ 24,140	\$ (479,759)	\$ (111,666)

(1) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and consolidated VIEs as such amounts are not included within Net Loss attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC. Economic Net (Loss) Income is presented on a segment basis and excludes our consolidated funds and consolidated VIEs.

-116-

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

## Historical

Although we have managed our historical liquidity needs by looking at deconsolidated cash flows, our historical condensed consolidated statement of cash flows reflects the cash flows of Apollo, as well as those of our consolidated Apollo funds.

The primary cash flow activities of Apollo are:

Generating cash flow from operations;

Making investments in Apollo funds;

Meeting financing needs through credit agreements; and

Distributing cash flow to equity holders and Non-Controlling Interests. Primary cash flow activities of the consolidated Apollo funds are:

Raising capital from their investors, which have been reflected historically as Non-Controlling Interests of the consolidated subsidiaries in our financial statements;

Using capital to make investments;

Generating cash flow from operations through distributions, interest and the realization of investments; and

Distributing cash flow to investors.

While primarily met by cash flows generated through fee income and carried interest income received, working capital needs have also been met (to a limited extent) through borrowings as follows:

	Septembe	Annualized	Decembe	r 31, 2010 Annualized
	Outstanding Balance	Weighted Average Interest Rate	Outstanding Balance	Weighted Average Interest Rate
		(in thous	ands)	
AMH credit facility	\$ 728,273	5.43%(1)	\$ 728,273	3.78% <sup>(1)</sup>
CIT secured loan agreement	10,350	3.39	23,252	3.50
Total Debt	\$ 738,623	5.38%	\$ 751,525	3.77%

## Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

(1) Includes the effect of interest rate swaps.

We determine whether to make capital commitments to our private equity funds in excess of our minimum required amounts based on a variety of factors, including estimates regarding our liquidity resources over the estimated time period during which commitments will have to be funded, estimates regarding the amounts of capital that may be appropriate for other funds that we are in the process of raising or are considering raising, and our general working capital requirements.

-117-

We have made one or more distributions to our Managing Partners and Contributing Partners, representing all of the undistributed earnings generated by the businesses contributed to the Apollo Operating Group prior to the private offering transactions that occurred in 2007 pursuant to which the Company sold shares to certain initial purchasers and accredited investors in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Private Offering Transactions ). For this purpose, income attributable to carried interest on private equity funds related to either carry-generating transactions that closed prior to the Private Offering Transactions which closed in July 2007 or carry-generating transactions to which a definitive agreement was executed, but that did not close, prior to the Private Offering Transactions are treated as having been earned prior to the Private Offering Transactions.

On December 20, 2010, the Company repurchased approximately \$180.8 million of AMH debt in connection with the extension of the maturity date of such loans and had a remaining outstanding balance of \$728.3 million. The Company determined that debt modification resulted in debt extinguishment, which did not result in any gain or loss recognized in the condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### Cash Flows

Significant amounts from our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 are summarized and discussed within the table and corresponding commentary below:

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 Compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010

	Nine Mont Septeml	
	2011	2010
	(in thou	sands)
Operating Activities	\$ 653,818	\$ 217,649
Investing Activities	(67,371)	(30,150)
Financing Activities	(160,411)	36,446
-		
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$ 426,036	\$ 223,945

#### **Operating Activities**

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$653.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2011. During this period, there was \$1,597.5 million in net losses, to which \$859.2 million of equity-based compensation, a noncash expense, was added to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities. Additional adjustments to reconcile cash provided by operating activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 included \$1,185.9 million of sales of investments held by the consolidated VIEs, \$156.1 in net unrealized losses from investments held by the consolidated funds and VIEs, a \$67.4 million increase in due to affiliates and \$1,232.4 million decrease in carried interest receivable. The decrease in our carried interest receivable balance during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 was driven primarily by \$776.4 million of carried interest losses from the change in fair value of funds for which we act as general partner, along with fund cash distributions of \$455.3 million. These favorable cash adjustments were offset by \$991.2 million of purchases of investments held by the consolidated VIEs, \$393.6 million decrease in profit sharing payable and \$41.8 million of realized gains on debt of the consolidated VIEs.

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$217.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2010. During this period, there was a \$243.0 million net loss, to which \$835.5 million of equity-based compensation, a non-cash expense, was added to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities. Additional adjustments to reconcile cash provided by operating activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2010 included \$220.0 million of net unrealized gains from investment activities of consolidated funds and consolidated VIEs, \$393.2 million in net purchases of investments primarily by the consolidated VIEs and a \$118.0 million increase in other assets of the consolidated VIEs, which is primarily due to the increase in receivables from brokers relating to the sale of investments. Furthermore, there was a \$245.7 million increase in our carried interest receivables. The increase in our carried interest receivable balance during the nine months ended September 30, 2010 was driven by a \$389.7 million increase in the fair value of the funds for which we act as general partner and \$29.5 million in carried interest income due to affiliates, offset by fund cash distributions of \$173.5 million. These cash adjustments were offset by a \$85.3 million increase in our profit sharing payable, which was also primarily driven by increases in the fair value of the funds for which we act as general partner and \$344.4 million of sales of investments held by the consolidated VIEs.

-118-

The operating cash flow amounts from the Apollo funds and consolidated VIEs represent the significant variances between net income (loss) and cash flow from operations and were classified as operating activities pursuant to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, or AICPA, Audit and Accounting Guide, Investment Companies, or Investment Company Guide. The increasing capital needs reflect the growth of our business while the fund-related requirements vary based upon the specific investment activities being conducted at a point in time. These movements do not adversely affect our liquidity or earnings trends because we currently have sufficient cash reserves compared to planned expenditures.

#### Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was \$67.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011, which was primarily comprised of \$19.9 million in purchases of fixed assets, \$40.9 million of cash contributions to equity method investments and \$52.1 million of purchases of investment in HFA, offset by \$46.9 million of cash distributions from equity method investments. Cash contributions to equity method investments were primarily related to EPF, Fund VII and AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund. Cash distributions from equity method investments were primarily related to FUE, COF I, COF I, Artus, EPF and Vantium C.

Net cash used in investing activities was \$30.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, which was primarily comprised of \$52.1 million of cash contributions to equity method investments, \$1.4 million of cash paid for a business acquisition and \$3.2 million of fixed asset purchases, offset by \$26.2 million of cash distributions from equity method investments. Cash contributions to equity method investments were primarily related to Fund VII, Palmetto, COF I and EPF. Cash distributions from equity method investments were primarily related to Fund VII, ACLF and Vantium C.

## Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was \$160.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2011, which was primarily comprised of \$412.1 million in repayment of term loans by consolidated VIEs, \$300.9 million in distributions by consolidated VIEs, \$151.2 million of dividends paid to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, \$27.3 million of dividends paid to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated to employee tax withholding payments in connection with deliveries of Class A shares in settlement of RSUs. These adjustments were offset by \$384.0 million in proceeds from the issuance of Class A shares and \$454.4 million of debt issued by consolidated VIEs.

Net cash provided by financing activities was \$36.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, which was primarily comprised of \$320.2 million of debt issued by consolidated VIEs. This amount was offset by the repayment of term loans of \$136.1 million by consolidated VIEs and purchases of AAA units of \$48.8 million. In addition, there were \$40.5 million of distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in the consolidated entities and \$14.1 million and \$33.6 million of dividends paid to Class A shareholders and Non-Controlling Interests in the Apollo Operating Group, respectively.

-119-

#### Distributions

The table below presents the declaration, payment and determination of the amount of quarterly distributions which are at the sole discretion of the Company (in millions, except per share amounts):

	 butions Class A	Distributions Payment		butions to [ Class A	Non-C In Holde A	outions to ontrolling terest ers in the pollo erating	T Distr fi A	Cotal ibutions rom pollo erating	Equi	ibution valents on cipating
Distributions Declaration Date	Amount	Date	Shar	eholders	Ĝ	roup	Group		Securities	
May 27, 2010	\$ 0.07	June 15, 2010	\$	6.7	\$	16.8	\$	23.5	\$	1.0
August 2, 2010	\$ 0.07	August 25, 2010	\$	6.9	\$	16.8	\$	23.7	\$	1.4
January 4, 2011	\$ 0.17	January 14, 2011	\$	16.6	\$	40.8	\$	57.4	\$	3.3
May 12, 2011	\$ 0.22	June 1, 2011	\$	26.8	\$	52.8	\$	79.6	\$	4.7
August 9, 2011	\$ 0.24	August 29, 2011	\$	29.5	\$	57.6	\$	87.1	\$	5.1

Future Cash Flows

Our ability to execute our business strategy, particularly our ability to increase our AUM, depends on our ability to establish new funds and to raise additional investor capital within such funds. Our liquidity will depend on a number of factors, such as our ability to project our financial performance, which is highly dependent on our funds and our ability to manage our projected costs, fund performance, having access to credit facilities, being in compliance with existing credit agreements, as well as industry and market trends. Also during economic downturns the funds we manage might experience cash flow issues or liquidate entirely. In these situations we might be asked to reduce or eliminate the management fee and incentive fees we charge. As was the situation with AIE I, this could adversely impact our cash flow in the future.

For example, the investment performance of AIE I was adversely impacted due to market conditions in 2008 and early 2009, and on July 10, 2009, its shareholders subsequently approved a monetization plan. The primary objective of the monetization plan is to maximize shareholder recovery value by (i) opportunistically selling AIE I s assets over a three-year period from July 2009 to July 2012 (subject to a one-year extension with the consent of a majority of AIE I s shareholders) and (ii) reducing the overall costs of the fund. The Company waived management fees of \$12.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 and an additional \$2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 to limit the adverse impact that deteriorating market conditions were having on AIE I s performance. As a result of the monetization plan, we expect AIE I to have adequate cash flow to satisfy its obligations as they come due, Therefore, we do not anticipate any additional fee waivers for AIE I in the future. The Company continues to charge AIE I management fees at a reduced rate of 1.5% of the net assets of AIE I. Prior to the monetization plan, the management fees were based on 2.0% of the gross assets of AIE I. The Company has no future plans to waive additional management fees charged to AIE I or to lower the current management fee arrangement.

In addition, in April 2010 we announced a new strategic relationship agreement with CalPERS, whereby we agreed to reduce management fees and other fees charged to CalPERS on funds we manage, or in the future will manage, solely for CalPERS by \$125.0 million over a five-year period or as close a period as required to provide CalPERS with that benefit.

An increase in the fair value of our funds investments, by contrast, could favorably impact our liquidity through higher management fees where the management fees are calculated based on the net asset value, gross assets and adjusted assets. Additionally, higher carried interest income would generally result when investments appreciate over their cost basis which would not have an impact on the Company s cash flow.

The Company granted approximately 5.5 million RSUs to its employees during the nine months ended September 30, 2011. The average estimated fair value per share on the grant date was \$16.23 with a total fair value of the grant of \$88.7 million. This will impact the Company s compensation expense as these grants are amortized over their vesting term of three to six years. The Company has incurred and expects to incur annual compensation

expenses on all grants, net of forfeitures, of approximately \$106.5 million, \$101.7 million, \$69.8 million, \$19.3 million, \$10.1 million and \$7.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, and 2016, respectively. These grants will not have an impact on the Company s cash flow.

Although Apollo Global Management, LLC expects to pay distributions according to our distribution policy, we may not pay distributions according to our policy, or at all, if, among other things, we do not have the cash necessary to pay the intended distributions. To the extent we do not have cash on hand sufficient to pay distributions, we may have to borrow funds to pay distributions, or we may determine not to pay distributions. The declaration, payment and determination of the amount of our quarterly distributions is at the sole discretion of our manager.

Carried interest income from our funds can be distributed to us on a current basis, but is subject to repayment by the subsidiary of the Apollo Operating Group that acts as general partner of the fund in the event that certain specified return thresholds are not ultimately achieved. The Managing Partners, Contributing Partners and certain other investment professionals have personally guaranteed, to the extent of their ownership interest, subject to certain limitations, the obligations of these subsidiaries in respect of this general partner obligation. Such guarantees are several and not joint and are limited to a particular managing partner s or Contributing Partner s distributions. The shareholders agreement dated July 13, 2007, includes clauses that indemnify each of our Managing Partners and certain Contributing Partners against all amounts that they pay pursuant to any of these personal guarantees in favor of Fund IV, Fund V and Fund VI (including costs and expenses related to investigating the basis for or objecting to any claims made in respect of the guarantees) for all interests that our Managing Partners and Contributing Partners have contributed or sold to the Apollo Operating Group.

Accordingly, in the event that our Managing Partners, Contributing Partners and certain investment professionals are required to pay amounts in connection with a general partner obligation for the return of previously distributed carried interest income with respect to Fund IV, Fund V, Fund VI, Fund

On November 3, 2011, the Company declared a cash distribution of \$0.20 per Class A share, which will be paid on December 2, 2011 to holders of record on November 25, 2011.

In September 2011, one of the private equity funds we manage, Fund IV, entered into a sale agreement for one of its portfolio companies, Connections Education. Based on current estimates, this sale is expected to generate \$46 million of realized carried interest income net of related profit sharing payments to the Company in the quarter ending December 31, 2011.

Subsequent to September 2011, LyondellBasell Industries N.V., a portfolio company of various funds we manage, announced its intention to declare a special dividend of \$4.50 per share to be paid during the quarter ending December 31, 2011, subject to the completion of a debt tender and amendment. Collectively, the funds managed by Apollo own approximately 164.9 million shares of LyondellBasell Industries N.V.. If LyondellBasell Industries N.V. is successful with its debt tender and amendment process Apollo is expected to receive \$76 million realized carried interest income net of related profit sharing payments subject to escrow requirements relating to this special dividend.

The completion of these transactions are still subject to contingencies and some of these amounts are already reflected as unrealized carried interest receivable and profit sharing payable at September 30, 2011.

#### Distributions to Managing Partners and Contributing Partners

The three Managing Partners who became employees of Apollo Global Management, LLC on July 13, 2007, are each entitled to a \$100,000 base salary. Additionally, our Managing Partners can receive other forms of compensation. Any additional consideration will be paid to them in their proportional ownership interest in Holdings. Additionally, 85% of any tax savings APO Corp. recognizes as a result of the tax receivable agreement will be paid to any exchanging or selling Managing Partners.

It should be noted that subsequent to the Reorganization, the Contributing Partners retained ownership interests in subsidiaries of the Apollo Operating Group. Therefore, any distributions that flow up to management or general partner entities in which the Contributing Partners retained ownership interests are shared pro rata with the Contributing Partners who have a direct interest in such entities prior to flowing up to the Apollo Operating Group. These distributions are considered compensation expense post-Reorganization.

The Contributing Partners are entitled to receive the following:

Profit sharing private equity carried interest income, from direct ownership of advisory entities. Any changes in fair value of the underlying fund investments would result in changes to Apollo Global Management, LLC s profit sharing payable.

Net management fee income distributable cash determined by the general partner of each management company, from direct ownership of the management company entity. The Contributing Partners will continue to receive net management fee income payments based on the interests they retained in management companies directly. Such payments are treated as compensation expense post-Reorganization as described above.

Any additional consideration will be paid to them based on their proportional ownership interest in Holdings.

No base compensation is paid to the Contributing Partners from the Company, but they are entitled to a monthly draw.

Additionally, 85% of any tax savings APO Corp. recognizes as a result of the tax receivable agreement will be paid to any exchanging or selling Contributing Partner.

#### **Commitments**

Our management companies and general partners have committed that we, or our affiliates, will invest a certain percentage of capital into the funds we manage. While a small percentage of these amounts are funded by us, the majority of these amounts have historically been funded by our affiliates, including certain of our employees and certain Apollo funds. The table below presents the commitment and remaining commitment amounts of Apollo and its affiliates, the percentage of total fund commitments of Apollo and its affiliates, the commitment and remaining commitment amounts of Apollo only (excluding affiliates), and the percentage of total fund commitments of Apollo only (excluding affiliates) for each private equity fund, each capital markets fund and each real estate fund as of September 30, 2011 as follows (\$ in millions):

Fund	Âſ	ollo and filiates mitments	% of Total Fund Commitments	(Ēx Af	ollo Only ccluding filiates) mitments	Apollo Only (Excluding Affiliates) % of Total Fund Commitments	At Re	Apollo and Affiliates Remaining Commitments		pollo Only cluding ïliates) naining mitments
Private Equity: Fund VII	\$	467.2 <sup>(1)</sup>	3.18%	\$	190.3	1.30%	\$	243.6(1)	\$	99.8
Fund VI	ψ	246.3	2.43	ψ	6.1	0.06	ψ	245.0	ψ	0.6
Fund V		100.0	2.43		0.1	0.01		6.5		(2)
Fund IV		100.0	2.78		0.2	0.01		0.5		(2)
Fund III		100.6	6.71		0.2	0.01		15.5		
ANRP		157.5 <sup>(1)</sup>	51.22		7.5	2.44		139.6 <sup>(1)</sup>		6.7
Capital Markets:		107.0	51.22		1.5	2.11		157.0		0.7
EPF <sup>(7)</sup>		389.8 <sup>(3)</sup>	22.48		23.6	1.36		$134.0^{(4)}$		9.4
SOMA <sup>(8)</sup>		0000			2010	1.00		10.110		2
ACLF Co-Invest		(5)	(5)		(5)	(5)		(5)		(5)
COF I		477.6 <sup>(6)</sup>	32.16		29.7	2.00		$242.2^{(6)}$		4.2
COF II		70.5	4.45		23.4	1.48		1.8		0.6
ACLF		23.9	2.43		23.9	2.43		10.7		10.7
Palmetto		18.0	1.19		18.0	1.19		12.0		12.0
AIE II <sup>(7)</sup>		8.7	3.15		5.4	1.95		0.8		0.5

# Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

A-A European Senior Debt Fund, L.P.	50.0	100.00			30.0
FCI I	105.6	36.38			21.2
Apollo/JH Loan Portfolio	50.1	100.00	0.1	0.20	

Fund	Ă	pollo and Affiliates nmitments	% of Total Fund Commitments	(Èx Af	ollo Only ccluding filiates) mitments	Apollo Only (Excluding Affiliates) % of Total Fund Commitments	Apollo and Affiliates Remaining Commitments	Apollo Only (Excluding Affiliates) Remaining Commitments
Apollo Credit Senior Loan Fund		25.0	62.50					
Apollo/Palmetto Loan Portfolio, L.P.		300.0(1)	100.00				195.0(1)	
Apollo/Palmetto Short-Maturity Loan Portfolio, L.P.		100.0(1)	100.00				100.0(1)	
Real Estate:								
AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund		$108.0^{(1)}$	80.06		8.0	5.93	<b>96.7</b> <sup>(1)</sup>	2.0
CPI Capital Partners North America		7.5	1.25		2.0	0.33	1.8	0.5
CPI Capital Partners Europe		7.3	0.47				1.8	
CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific		6.9	0.53		0.5	0.04	0.9	
Total	\$	2,920.5		\$	339.2		\$ 1,281.2	\$ 147.0

- (1) As of September 30, 2011, Palmetto had commitments and remaining commitment amounts in Fund VII of \$110.0 million and \$56.1 million, respectively, ANRP of \$150.0 million and \$133.0 million, respectively, Apollo/Palmetto Loan Portfolio, L.P. of \$300.0 million and \$195.0 million, respectively, Apollo/Palmetto Short-Maturity Loan Portfolio, L.P. of \$100.0 million and \$100.0 million, respectively, and AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund, L.P. of \$100 million and \$94.7 million, respectively.
- (2) As of September 30, 2011, Apollo had an immaterial amount of remaining commitments in Fund IV and Fund V. Accordingly, presentation of such remaining commitments was not deemed meaningful for inclusion in the table above.
- (3) Of the total commitment amount in EPF, AAA, SOMA and Palmetto have approximately 77.0 million, 75.0 million and 106.0 million, respectively.
- (4) Of the total remaining commitment amount in EPF, AAA, SOMA and Palmetto have approximately 25.9 million, 25.3 million and 35.7 million, respectively.
- (5) As of September 30, 2011, the general partner of ACLF Co-Invest, a co-investment vehicle that invests alongside ACLF, had committed an immaterial amount to ACLF Co-Invest. Accordingly, presentation of such commitment was not deemed meaningful for inclusion in the table above.
- (6) As of September 30, 2011, SOMA had commitments and remaining commitment amounts in COF I of \$250.0 million and \$202.0 million, respectively.
- (7) Apollo s commitment in these funds is denominated in Euros and translated into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of 1.00 to \$1.34 as of September 30, 2011.
- (8) Apollo and affiliated investors must maintain an aggregate capital balance in an amount not less than 1% of total capital account balances of the partnership. As of September 30, 2011, Apollo and affiliates capital balances exceeded the 1% requirement and are not required to fund a capital commitment.

## Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

As a limited partner, the general partner and manager of the Apollo private equity, capital markets and real estate funds, Apollo has unfunded capital commitments at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 of \$147.0 million and \$140.6 million, respectively.

Apollo has an ongoing obligation to acquire additional common units of AAA in an amount equal to 25% of the aggregate after-tax cash distributions, if any, that are made to its affiliates pursuant to the carried interest distribution rights that are applicable to investments made through AAA Investments.

The AMH Credit Agreement, which provides for a variable-rate term loan, will have future impacts on our cash uses. Borrowings under the AMH Credit Agreement originally accrued interest at a rate of (i) LIBOR loans (LIBOR plus 1.25%), or (ii) base rate loans (base rate plus 0.50%). The loan originally matured in April 2014. Additionally, the Company has hedged \$167 million of the variable-rate loan with fixed rate swaps to minimize our interest rate risk as of September 30, 2011. On December 20, 2010, Apollo amended the AMH Credit Agreement to extend the maturity date of \$995 million of the term loans from April 20, 2014 to January 3, 2017 and modified certain other terms of the Credit Agreement. Pursuant to this amendment, AMH was required to purchase from each lender that elected to extend the maturity date of its term loan a portion of such extended term loans by December 31, 2014 and at least \$100 million aggregate principal amount of term loans (inclusive of the previously purchased \$50.0 million) by December 31, 2015 at a price equal to par plus accrued interest. The sweep leverage ratio (which is a figure that varies over time that is used to determine the applicable level of certain carve-outs to the negative covenants as well as to determine the level of AMH s cash collateralization requirements) was extended to end at the new extended maturity date. The interest rate for the highest applicable margin for the loan portion extended

-123-

changed to LIBOR plus 4.25% and base rate plus 3.25%. On December 20, 2010, an affiliate of AMH that is a guarantor under the AMH Credit Agreement repurchased approximately \$180.8 million of term loans in connection with the extension of the maturity date of such loans and thus the AMH loans (excluding the portions held by AMH affiliates) had a remaining outstanding balance of \$728.3 million. The Company determined that the amendments to the AMH Credit Agreement resulted in debt extinguishment which did not result in any gain or loss.

The interest rate on the \$723.3 million, net (\$995.0 million portion less amount repurchased) of the loan at September 30, 2011 was 4.05% and the interest rate on the remaining \$5.0 million portion of the loan at September 30, 2011 was 1.30%. The estimated fair value of the Company s long-term debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement is believed to be approximately \$745.9 million based on a yield analysis using available market data of comparable securities with similar terms and remaining maturities. The \$728.3 million carrying value of debt that is recorded on the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition at September 30, 2011 is the amount for which the Company expects to settle the AMH Credit Agreement.

On September 30, 2008, the Company entered into a credit agreement with Fund VI, pursuant to which Fund VI advanced \$18.9 million of carried interest income to the limited partners of Apollo Advisors VI, L.P., who are also employees of the Company. The loan obligation accrues interest at an annual fixed rate of 3.45% and terminates on the earlier of September 30, 2017 or the termination of Fund VI. At December 31, 2010, the total outstanding loan aggregated \$20.5 million, including accrued interest of \$1.6 million, which approximated fair value, of which approximately \$6.5 million was not subject to the indemnified portion of the loan obligation was established between the Company and Fund VI, therefore the loan was reduced in the amount of \$10.9 million, which is offset in carried interest receivable on the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition. As of September 30, 2011, the total outstanding loan aggregated \$9.0 million, including accrued \$6.4 million was not subject to the indemnity discussed above and is a receivable from the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition. As of September 30, 2011, the total outstanding loan aggregated \$9.0 million, including accrued interest of \$0.9 million which approximated fair value, of which approximately \$6.4 million was not subject to the indemnity discussed above and is a receivable from the Contributing Partners and certain employees.

In accordance with the Managing Partners Shareholders Agreement dated July 13, 2007, as amended, and the above credit agreement, we have indemnified the Managing Partners and certain Contributing Partners (at varying percentages) for any carried interest income distributed from Fund IV, Fund V and Fund VI that is subject to contingent repayment by the general partner. As of September 30, 2011, the Company has not recorded an obligation for any previously made distributions.

#### Potential Future Costs

We may make grants of RSUs or other stock-based awards to employees and independent directors that we appoint in the future.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies**

This Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based upon the condensed consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We also report segment information from our condensed consolidated statement of operations and include a supplemental performance measure, ENI, for our private equity, capital markets and real estate segments. ENI represents segment income (loss), excluding the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Apollo funds and consolidated VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements. ENI is not a U.S. GAAP measure.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that could affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from these estimates. A summary of our significant accounting policies is presented in note 2 of our condensed consolidated financial statements. The following is a summary of our accounting policies that are affected most by judgments, estimates and assumptions.

#### Consolidation

Apollo consolidates those entities it controls through a majority voting interest or through other means, including those funds for which the general partner is presumed to have control (e.g., AAA). Apollo also consolidates entities that are VIEs for which Apollo is the primary beneficiary. Under the amended consolidation rules, an enterprise is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it holds a controlling financial interest. A controlling financial interest is defined as (a) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity s business and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

Certain of our subsidiaries hold equity interests in and/or receive fees qualifying as variable interests from the funds that the Company manages. The amended consolidation rules require an analysis to determine whether (a) an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE and (b) Apollo s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interests (e.g., carried interest and management fees), would give it a controlling financial interest. When the VIE has qualified for the deferral of the amended consolidation rules in accordance with U.S. GAAP, the analysis is based on previous consolidation rules, which require an analysis to determine whether (a) an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE and (b) Apollo s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or consolidation rules, which require an analysis to determine whether (a) an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE and (b) Apollo s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interests (e.g., carried interest and management fees), would be expected to absorb a majority of the variability of the entity.

Under both guidelines, the determination of whether an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE requires judgments which include determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a significant effect on the success of the entity, determining whether two or more parties equity interests should be aggregated, and determining whether the equity investors have proportionate voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to receive returns from an entity. Under both guidelines, Apollo determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes involved with a VIE and reconsiders that conclusion continuously. The consolidation analysis can generally be performed qualitatively. However, if it is not readily apparent whether Apollo is the primary beneficiary, a quantitative expected losses and expected residual returns calculation will be performed. Investments and redemptions (either by Apollo, affiliates of Apollo or third parties) or amendments to the governing documents of the respective Apollo fund may affect an entity s status as a VIE or the determination of the primary beneficiary.

Apollo assesses whether it is the primary beneficiary and will consolidate or deconsolidate the entity accordingly. Performance of that assessment requires the exercise of judgment. Where the variable interests have qualified for the deferral, judgments are made in estimating cash flows in evaluating which member within the equity group absorbs a majority of the expected profits or losses of the VIE. Where the variable interests have not qualified for the deferral, judgments are made in determining whether a member in the equity group has a controlling financial interest including power to direct activities that most significantly impact the VIE s economic performance and rights to receive benefits or obligations to absorb losses that are potentially significant to the VIE. Under both guidelines, judgment is made in evaluating the nature of the relationships and activities of the parties involved in determining which party within a related-party group is most closely associated with a VIE. The use of these judgments has a material impact to certain components of Apollo s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Assets and liability amounts of the consolidated VIEs are shown in separate sections within the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition.

Additional disclosures regarding VIEs are set forth in note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements. Intercompany transactions and balances, if any, have been eliminated in the consolidation.

#### **Revenue Recognition**

*Carried Interest Income from Affiliates.* We earn carried interest income from our funds as a result of such funds achieving specified performance criteria. Such carried interest income generally is earned based upon a

fixed percentage of realized and unrealized gains of various funds after meeting any applicable hurdle rate or threshold minimum. Carried interest income from certain of the funds that we manage is subject to contingent repayment. Carried interest income is generally paid to us as particular investments made by the funds are realized. If, however, upon liquidation of a fund, the aggregate amount paid to us as carried interest exceeds the amount actually due to us based upon the aggregate performance of the fund, the excess (in certain cases net of taxes) is required to be returned by us to that fund. For a majority of our capital markets funds, once the annual carried interest income has been determined, there generally is no look-back to prior periods for a potential contingent repayment, however, carried interest income on certain other capital markets funds can be subject to contingent repayment at the end of the life of the fund. We have elected to adopt Method 2 from U.S. GAAP guidance applicable to accounting for management fees based on a formula, and under this method, we accrue carried interest income quarterly based on fair value of the underlying investments and separately assess if contingent repayment is necessary. The determination of carried interest income and contingent repayment considers both the terms of the respective partnership agreements and the current fair value of the underlying investments within the funds. Estimates and assumptions are made when determining the fair value of the underlying investments within the funds and could vary depending on the valuation methodology that is used. Refer to note 5 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for disclosure of the amounts of carried interest income (loss) income from affiliates that was generated from realized versus unrealized losses. See the Valuation of Investments section below for further discussion related to significant estimates and assumptions used for determining fair value of the underlying investments in our capi

*Management Fees from Affiliates.* The management fees related to our private equity funds are generally based on a fixed percentage of the committed capital or invested capital. The corresponding fee calculations that consider committed capital or invested capital are both objective in nature and therefore do not require the use of significant estimates or assumptions. Management fees related to our capital markets funds, by contrast, can be based on net asset value, gross assets, adjusted cost of all unrealized portfolio investments, capital commitments, adjusted assets, or capital contributions, all as defined in the respective partnership agreements. The capital markets management fee calculations that consider net asset value, gross assets, adjusted cost of the underlying investments and adjusted assets, are normally based on the terms of the respective partnership agreements and the current fair value of the underlying investments within the funds. Estimates and assumptions are made when determining the fair value of the underlying investments within the funds and could vary depending on the valuation methodology that is used. The management fees related to our real estate funds are generally based on a specific percentage of the funds stockholders equity or committed or net invested capital or the capital accounts of the limited partners. See the Valuation of Investments in our capital markets and private equity funds.

#### Investments, at Fair Value

The Company follows U.S. GAAP applicable to fair value measurements, which among other things, requires enhanced disclosures about investments that are measured and reported at fair value. Investments, at fair value, represent investments of the consolidated funds, investments of the consolidated VIEs, certain financial instruments for which the fair value option was elected, with unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value and are reflected as net gains (losses) from investment activities and net gains (losses) from investment activities of the consolidated variable interest entities, respectively, in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories:

*Level I* Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date. The type of investments included in Level I include listed equities and listed derivatives. As required by U.S. GAAP, the Company does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where the Company holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.

Level II Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation methodologies. Investments that are generally included in this category

-126-

include corporate bonds and loans, less liquid and restricted equity securities and certain over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on observable inputs. These investments exhibit higher levels of liquid market observability as compared to Level III investments. The Company subjects broker quotes to various criteria in making the determination as to whether a particular investment would qualify for treatment as a Level II investment. These criteria include, but are not limited to, the number and quality of broker quotes, the standard deviation of obtained broker quotes, and the percentage deviation from independent pricing services.

*Level III* Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and includes situations where there is little observable market activity for the investment. The inputs into the determination of fair value may require significant management judgment or estimation. Investments that are included in this category generally include general and limited partnership interests in corporate private equity and real estate funds, mezzanine funds, funds of hedge funds, distressed debt and non-investment grade residual interests in securitizations and collateralized debt obligations where the fair value is based on observable inputs as well as unobservable inputs. When a security is valued based on broker quotes, the Company subjects those broker quotes to various criteria in making the determination as to whether a particular investment would qualify for treatment as a Level II or Level III investment. Some of the factors we consider include the number of broker quotes to independent pricing services.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the investment where the fair value is based on unobservable inputs.

In cases where an investment or financial instrument measured and reported at fair value is transferred into or out of Level III of the fair value hierarchy, the Company accounts for the transfer as of the end of the reporting period.

*Equity Method Investments*. For investments in entities over which the Company exercises significant influence but which do not meet the requirements for consolidation, the Company uses the equity method of accounting, whereby the Company records its share of the underlying income or loss of these entities. Income (loss) from equity method investments is recognized as part of other income (loss) in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and income (loss) on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investments) is recognized as part of other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax in the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). The carrying amounts of equity method investments are reflected in investments in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. As the underlying entities that the Company manages and invests in are, for U.S. GAAP purposes, investment companies which reflect their investments at estimated fair value, the carrying value of the Company is equity method investments in such entities are at fair value.

*Private Equity Investments.* The majority of the investments within our private equity funds are valued using the market approach, which provides an indication of fair value based on a comparison of the subject company to comparable publicly traded companies and transactions in the industry.

*Market Approach.* The market approach is driven by current market conditions, including actual trading levels of similar companies and, to the extent available, actual transaction data of similar companies. Judgment is required by management when assessing which companies are similar to the subject company being valued. Consideration may also be given to any of the following factors: (1) the subject company s historical and projected financial data; (2) valuations given to comparable companies; (3) the size and scope of the subject company s operations; (4) the subject company s individual strengths and weaknesses; (5) expectations relating to the market s receptivity to an offering of the subject company s securities; (6) applicable restrictions on transfer; (7) industry and market information; (8) general economic conditions; and (9) other factors deemed relevant. Market approach valuation models typically employ a multiple that is based on one or more of the factors described above. Sources for gaining additional knowledge related to comparable companies include public filings, annual reports, analyst

-127-

research reports, and press releases. Once a comparable company set is determined, we review certain aspects of the subject company s performance and determine how its performance compares to the group and to certain individuals in the group. We compare certain measurements such as EBITDA margins, revenue growth over certain time periods, leverage ratios, and growth opportunities. In addition, we compare our entry multiple and its relation to the comparable set at the time of acquisition to understand its relation to the comparable set on each measurement date.

*Income Approach.* For investments where the market approach does not provide adequate fair value information, we rely on the income approach. The income approach is also used to value investments or validate the market approach within our private equity funds. The income approach provides an indication of fair value based on the present value of cash flows that a business or security is expected to generate in the future. The most widely used methodology used in the income approach is a discounted cash flow method. Inherent in the discounted cash flow method are significant assumptions related to the subject company s expected results and a calculated discount rate, which is normally based on the subject company s weighted average cost of capital, or WACC. The WACC represents the required rate of return on total capitalization, which is comprised of a required rate of return on equity, plus the current tax-effected rate of return on debt, weighted by the relative percentages of equity and debt that are typical in the industry. The most critical step in determining the appropriate WACC for each subject company is to select companies that are comparable in nature to the subject company. Sources for gaining additional knowledge about the comparable companies include public filings, annual reports, analyst research reports, and press releases. The general formula then used for calculating the WACC considers the after-tax rate of return on debt capital and the rate of return on common equity capital, which further considers the risk-free rate of return, market beta, market risk premium and small stock premium, if applicable. The variables used in the WACC formula are inferred from the comparable company or analyzes the range of data for the investment.

The value of liquid investments, where the primary market is an exchange (whether foreign or domestic) is determined using period end market prices. Such prices are generally based on the close price on the date of determination.

Apollo utilizes a valuation committee consisting of members from senior management that reviews and approves the valuation results related to our private equity investments. Management also retains an independent valuation firm to provide third-party valuation consulting services to Apollo, which consist of certain limited procedures that management identifies and requests them to perform. The limited procedures provided by the independent valuation firm assist management with validating their valuation results. However, because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation, those estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the investments existed, and the differences could be material.

*Capital Markets Investments.* The majority of investments in Apollo s capital markets funds are valued based on valuation models and quoted market prices. Debt and equity securities that are not publicly traded or whose market prices are not readily available are valued at fair value utilizing recognized pricing services, market participants or other sources. The capital markets funds also enter into foreign currency exchange contracts, credit default swap contracts, and other derivative contracts, which may include options, caps, collars and floors. Foreign currency exchange contracts are marked-to-market by recognizing the difference between the contract exchange rate and the current market rate as unrealized appreciation or depreciation. If securities are held at the end of this period, the changes in value are recorded in income as unrealized. Realized gains or losses are recognized when contracts are settled. Credit default swap contracts are recognized at the termination of the contract based on the difference between the close-out price of the credit default contract and the original contract price.

Forward contracts are valued based on market rates obtained from counterparties or prices obtained from recognized financial data service providers. When determining fair value pricing when no observable market value exists, the value attributed to an investment is based on the enterprise value at the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Valuation approaches used to estimate the fair value of illiquid investments included in Apollo s capital markets investments also may include the market approach and the income approach, as previously described above.

Apollo also utilizes a valuation committee that reviews and approves the valuation results related to our capital markets investments. Management performs various back-testing procedures to validate their valuation approaches, including comparisons between expected and observed outcomes, forecast evaluations and variance analysis.

The fair values of the investments in our private equity and capital markets funds can be impacted by changes to the assumptions used in the underlying valuation models. There have been no material changes to the underlying valuation models during the periods that our financial results are presented.

*Real Estate Investments.* For ARI and the CMBS Funds, the estimated fair value of the AAA-rated CMBS portfolio is determined by reference to market prices provided by certain dealers who make a market in these financial instruments. Broker quotes are only indicative of fair value and may not necessarily represent what the funds would receive in an actual trade for the applicable instrument. Additionally, the loans held-for-investment are stated at the principal amount outstanding, net of deferred loan fees and costs in accordance with GAAP. Loans that the funds plans to sell or liquidate in the near term will be treated as loans held-for-sale and will be held at the lower of cost or fair value. For AGRE s opportunistic and value added real estate funds, valuations of non-marketable underlying investments are determined using methods that include, but are not limited to (i) discounted cash flow estimates or comparable analysis prepared internally, (ii) third party appraisals or valuations by qualified real estate appraisers, and (iii) contractual sales value of investments/properties subject to bona fide purchase contracts. Methods (i) and (ii) also incorporate consideration of the use of the income, cost, or sales comparison approaches of estimating property values. For portfolio or operating company investments, valuations may also incorporate the use of sales comparisons, valuing statistically meaningful samples, and the use of other techniques such as earnings multiples of similar companies. Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of investments that do not have a readily available market value, the value of investments by certain of our real estate funds may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a readily available market value existed for such investments, and the differences could be material.

## Fair Value of Financial Instruments

U.S. GAAP guidance requires the disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments. The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Except for the Company s debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement (as defined in note 8 to the condensed consolidated financial statements), Apollo s financial instruments are recorded at fair value or at amounts whose carrying value approximates fair value. See Investments, at Fair Value above. While Apollo s valuations of portfolio investments are based on assumptions that Apollo believes are reasonable under the circumstances, the actual realized gains or losses will depend on, among other factors, future operating results, the value of the assets and market conditions at the time of disposition, any related transaction costs and the timing and manner of sale, all of which may ultimately differ significantly from the assumptions on which the valuations were based. Other financial instruments carrying values generally approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of those instruments or variable interest rates related to the borrowings. As disclosed in note 8, the Company s long term debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement is believed to have an estimated fair value of approximately \$745.9 million based on a yield analysis using available market data of comparable securities with similar terms and remaining maturities. However, the carrying value that is recorded on the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition is the amount for which we expect to settle the long term debt obligation.

#### Valuation of Financial Instruments held by Consolidated VIEs

The consolidated VIEs hold investments that are traded over-the-counter. Investments in securities that are traded on a securities exchange or comparable over-the-counter quotation systems are valued based on the last reported sale price at that date. If no sales of such investments are reported on such date, and in the case of over-the-counter securities or other investments for which the last sale date is not available, valuations are based on independent market quotations obtained from market participants, recognized pricing services or other sources deemed relevant, and the prices are based on the average of the bid and ask prices, or at ascertainable prices at the close of business on such day. Market quotations are generally based on valuation pricing models or market transactions of similar securities adjusted for security-specific factors such as relative capital structure priority and interest and yield risks, among other factors.

The consolidated VIEs also have debt obligations that are recorded at fair value. The valuation approach used to estimate the fair values of debt obligations is the discounted cash flow method, which includes consideration of the cash flows of the debt obligation based on projected quarterly interest payments and quarterly amortization. Debt obligations are discounted based on the appropriate yield curve given the loan s respective maturity and credit rating. Management uses its discretion and judgment in considering and appraising relevant factors for determining the valuations of its debt obligations.

*Fair Value Option.* Apollo has elected the fair value option for the assets and liabilities of the consolidated VIEs. Such election is irrevocable and is applied to financial instruments on an individual basis at initial recognition. Apollo has applied the fair value option for certain corporate loans, other investments and debt obligations held by these entities that otherwise would not have been carried at fair value. Refer to note 4 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for further disclosure on financial instruments of the consolidated VIEs for which the fair value option has been elected.

## Compensation and Benefits

Compensation and benefits include salaries, bonuses, profit sharing plans and the amortization of equity-based compensation. Bonuses are accrued over the service period. From time to time, the Company may distribute profits interests as a result of waived management fees to its investment professionals, which are considered compensation. Additionally, certain employees have arrangements whereby they are entitled to receive a percentage of carried interest income based on the fund s performance. To the extent that individuals are entitled to a percentage of the carried interest income and such entitlement is subject to potential forfeiture at inception, such arrangements are accounted for as profit sharing plans, and compensation expense is recognized as the related carried interest income is recognized.

**Profit Sharing Expense.** Compensation expense related to our profit sharing payable is a result of agreements with our Contributing Partners and employees to compensate them based on the ownership interest they have in the general partners of the Apollo funds. Therefore, any movements in the fair value of the underlying investments in the funds we manage and advise affect the profit sharing expense. The Contributing Partners and employees are allocated approximately 30% to 50% of the total carried interest income which is driven primarily by changes in fair value of the underlying fund s investments and is treated as compensation expense. Additionally, profit sharing expenses paid may be subject to clawback from employees, former employees and Contributing Partners.

In June 2011, the Company adopted a performance based bonus arrangement for certain Apollo partners and employees designed to more closely align compensation on an annual basis with the overall performance of the Company. This arrangement enables certain partners and employees to earn discretionary bonuses based on carried interest realizations earned by the Company in a given year which amounts are reflected as profit sharing expense in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

*Incentive Fee Compensation.* Certain employees are entitled to receive a discretionary portion of incentive fee income from certain of our capital markets funds, based on performance for the year. Incentive fee compensation expense is recognized on accrual basis as the related carried interest income is earned. Incentive fee compensation expense may be subject to reversal during the interim period where there is a decline in the related carried interest income, however it is not subject to reversal once the carried interest income crystallizes.

*Equity-Based Compensation.* Equity-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires that the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments is generally measured based on the grant date fair value of the award. Equity-based awards that do not require future service (i.e., vested awards) are expensed immediately. Equity-based employee awards that require future service are recognized over the relevant service period. Further, as required under U.S. GAAP, the Company estimates forfeitures using industry comparables or historical trends for equity-based awards that are not expected to vest. Apollo s equity-based compensation awards consist of, or provide rights with respect to AOG Units, RSUs, Share

-130-

Options, AAA RDUs, ARI Restricted Stock, ARI RSUs Awards and AMTG RSUs. The Company s assumptions made to determine the fair value on grant date and the estimated forfeiture rate are embodied in the calculations of compensation expense.

Another significant part of our compensation expense is derived from amortization of the AOG Units subject to forfeiture by our Managing Partners and Contributing Partners. The estimated fair value was determined and recognized over the forfeiture period on a straight-line basis. We have estimated a 0% and 3% forfeiture rate for our Managing Partners and Contributing Partners, respectively, based on the Company s historical attrition rate for this level of staff as well as industry comparable rates. If either the Managing Partners or Contributing Partners are no longer associated with Apollo or if there is no turn over, we will revise our estimated compensation expense to the actual amount of expense based on the units vested at the balance sheet date in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Additionally, the value of the AOG Units have been reduced to reflect the transfer restrictions imposed on units issued to the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners as well as the lack of rights to participate in future Apollo Global Management, LLC equity offerings. These awards have the following characteristics:

Awards granted to the Managing Partners (i) are not permitted to be sold to any parties outside of the Apollo Global Management, LLC control group and transfer restrictions lapse pro rata during the forfeiture period over 60 or 72 months, and (ii) allow the Managing Partners to initiate a change in control.

Awards granted to the Contributing Partners (i) are not permitted to be sold or transferred to any parties except to the Apollo Global Management, LLC control group and (ii) the transfer restriction period lapses over six years (which is longer than the forfeiture period which lapses ratably over 60 months).

As noted above, the AOG Units issued to the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners have different restrictions which affect the liquidity of and the discounts applied to each grant.

We utilized the Finnerty Model to calculate a discount on the AOG Units granted to the Contributing Partners. The Finnerty Model provides for a valuation discount reflecting the holding period restriction embedded in a restricted stock preventing its sale over a certain period of time. Along with the Finnerty Model we applied adjustments to account for the existence of liquidity clauses specific to contributing partner units and a minority interest consideration as compared to units sold through the strategic investor transaction in 2007. The combination of these adjustments yielded a fair value estimate of the AOG Units granted to the Contributing Partners.

The Finnerty Model proposes to estimate a discount for lack of marketability such as transfer restrictions by using an option pricing theory. This model has gained recognition through its ability to address the magnitude of the discount by considering the volatility of a company s stock price and the length of restriction. The concept underpinning the Finnerty Model is that restricted stock cannot be sold over a certain period of time. Further simplified, a restricted share of equity in a company can be viewed as having forfeited a put on the average price of the marketable equity over the restriction period (also known as an Asian Put Option ). If we price an Asian Put Option and compare this value to that of the assumed fully marketable underlying stock, we can effectively estimate the marketability discount.

The assumptions utilized in the model were (i) length of holding period, (ii) volatility, (iii) dividend yield and (iv) risk free rate. Our assumptions were as follows:

- (i) We assumed a maximum two year holding period.
- (ii) We concluded based on industry peers, that our volatility annualized would be approximately 40%.
- (iii) We assumed no dividends.

(iv) We assumed a 4.88% risk free rate based on U.S. Treasuries with a two year maturity. For the Contributing Partners grants, the Finnerty Model calculation, as detailed above, yielded a marketability discount of 25%. This marketability discount, along with adjustments to account for the existence of liquidity clauses and consideration of non-controlling interests as compared to units sold through the strategic investors transaction in 2007, resulted in an overall discount for these grants of 29%.

We determined a 14% discount for the grants to the Managing Partners based on the equity value per share of \$24. We determined that the value of the grants to the Managing Partners was supported by the 2007 sale of an identical security to Credit Suisse Management, LLC at \$24 per share. Based on an equity value per share of \$24, the implied discount for the grants to the Managing Partners was 14%. The Contributing Partners yielded a larger overall discount of 29%, as they are unable to cause a change in control of Apollo. This results in a lower fair value estimate, as their units have fewer beneficial features than those of the Managing Partners.

#### Income Taxes

The Apollo Operating Group and its subsidiaries continue to generally operate in the U.S. as partnerships for U.S. Federal income tax purposes and generally as corporate entities in non-U.S. jurisdictions. Accordingly, these entities in some cases are subject to NYC UBT, or in the case of non-U.S. entities, to non-U.S. corporate income taxes. In addition, APO Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is subject to U.S. Federal, state and local corporate income tax, and the Company s provision for income taxes is accounted for in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

As significant judgment is required in determining tax expense and in evaluating tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties, we recognize the tax benefits of uncertain tax positions only where the position is more likely than not to be sustained assuming examination by tax authorities. The tax benefit is measured as the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. If a tax position is not considered more likely than not to be sustained, then no benefits of the position are recognized. The Company s tax positions are reviewed and evaluated quarterly and determine whether or not we have uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recognition.

Deferred income taxes are provided for the effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability and its reported amount in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. These temporary differences result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

A list of recent accounting pronouncements that are relevant to Apollo and its industry are included in note 2 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

In the normal course of business, we engage in off-balance sheet arrangements, including transactions in derivatives, guarantees, commitments, indemnifications and potential contingent repayment obligations. See note 12 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for a discussion of guarantees and contingent obligations.

-132-

#### **Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies**

As of September 30, 2011, the Company s material contractual obligations consist of lease obligations, contractual commitments as part of the ongoing operations of the funds and debt obligations. In addition, on a historical basis, the Company had the contractual obligations of the consolidated funds while the capital commitments to these funds were substantially eliminated in consolidation. Fixed and determinable payments due in connection with these obligations are as follows:

	Remaining 2011	2012	2013	<b>2014</b> (in thousand	<b>2015</b>	Thereafter	Total
Operating lease obligations	\$ 7,667	\$ 29,870	\$ 29,317	\$ 29,047	\$ 21,332	\$ 114,204	\$ 231,437
Other long-term obligations <sup>(1)</sup>	5,543	8,492	630				14,665
AMH credit facility <sup>(2)</sup>	7,809	30,090	29,358	84,312	77,268	648,719	877,556
CIT secured loan agreement	249	980	9,626				10,855
Total Obligations as of September 30, 2011	\$ 21,268	\$ 69,432	\$ 68,931	\$ 113,359	\$ 98,600	\$ 762,923	\$ 1,134,513

- (1) Includes (i) payments on management service agreements related to certain assets and (ii) payments with respect to certain consulting agreements entered into by the Company. Note that a significant portion of these costs are reimbursable by funds of portfolio companies.
- (2) \$723.3 million, net (\$995.0 million portion less amount repurchased) of the AMH credit facility matures in January 2017 and \$5.0 million matures in April 2014. Amounts represent estimated interest payments until the loan matures using an estimated weighted average annual interest rate of 4.07%, which includes the effects of the interest rate swap through its expiration in May 2012 and certain required repurchases of at least \$50.0 million by December 31, 2014 and at least \$100.0 million (inclusive of the previously purchased \$50.0 million) by December 31, 2015 as described in note 12 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.
- Note: Due to the fact that the timing of certain amounts to be paid cannot be determined or for other reasons discussed below, the following contractual commitments have not been presented in the table above.
- (i) Amounts do not include the senior secured revolving credit facility entered into by AAA s investment vehicle, of which \$400.5 million was utilized as of September 30, 2011. The credit facility matures on June 1, 2012. AAA is consolidated by the Company in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The Company does not guarantee and has no legal obligation to repay amounts outstanding under the credit facility. Accordingly, the \$400.5 million outstanding balance was excluded from the table above.
- (ii) As noted previously, we have entered into a tax receivable agreement with our Managing Partners and Contributing Partners which requires us to pay to our Managing Partners and Contributing Partners 85% of any tax savings received by APO Corp. from our step-up in tax basis. The tax savings achieved may not ensure that we have sufficient cash available to pay this liability and we might be required to incur additional debt to satisfy this liability.
- (iii) Debt amounts related to the consolidated VIEs are not presented in the table above as the Company is not a guarantor of these non-recourse liabilities.

*Contingent Obligations* Carried interest income in both private equity funds and certain capital markets funds is subject to reversal in the event of future losses to the extent of the cumulative carried interest recognized in income to date. If all of the existing investments became worthless, the amount of cumulative revenues that has been recognized by Apollo through September 30, 2011 and that would be reversed approximates \$1.0 billion. Management views the possibility of all of the investments becoming worthless as remote. Carried interest income is affected by changes in the fair values of the underlying investments in the funds that Apollo manages. Valuations, on an unrealized basis, can be significantly affected by a variety of external factors including, but not limited to, bond yields and industry trading multiples. Movements in these items can affect valuations quarter to quarter even if the underlying business fundamentals remain stable. The table below indicates the potential future reversal of carried interest income:

	September 30, 2011
Fund VII	\$ 351,096
Fund V	264,906
Fund IV	253,262
COF I	72,547

## Edgar Filing: Apollo Global Management LLC - Form 424B3

COF II	32,733
EPF	24,261
AIE II	21,169
AAA	17,213
SVF	3,956
VIF	2,949
FCI I	481
Total	\$ 1,044,573

Additionally, at the end of the life of certain funds that the Company manages, there could be a payment due to a fund by the Company if the Company as general partner has received more carried interest income than was

-133-

ultimately earned. The general partner obligation amount, if any, will depend on final realized values of investments at the end of the life of each fund. As discussed in note 11 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company has recorded a general partner obligation to return previously distributed carried interest income of \$78.0 million, \$24.2 million and \$17.6 million relating to Fund VI, COF II and SOMA as of September 30, 2011, respectively.

Certain funds may not generate carried interest income as a result of unrealized and realized losses that are recognized in the current and prior reporting period. In certain cases, carried interest income will not be generated until additional unrealized and realized gains occur. Any appreciation would first cover the deductions for invested capital, unreturned organizational expenses, operating expenses, management fees and priority returns based on the terms of the respective fund agreements.

-134-

#### ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our predominant exposure to market risk is related to our role as investment manager for our funds and the sensitivity to movements in the fair value of their investments and resulting impact on carried interest income and management fee revenues. Our direct investments in the funds also expose us to market risk whereby movements in the fair values of the underlying investments will increase or decrease both net gains (losses) from investment activities and income (loss) from equity method investments. For a discussion of the impact of market risk factors on our financial instruments refer to Critical Accounting Policies Consolidation Valuation of Investments.

The fair value of our financial assets and liabilities of our funds may fluctuate in response to changes in the value of investments, foreign exchange, commodities and interest rates. The net effect of these fair value changes impacts the gains and losses from investments in our condensed consolidated statements of operations. However, the majority of these fair value changes are absorbed by the Non-Controlling Interests.

The Company is subject to a concentration risk related to the investors in its funds. Although there are more than approximately 1,000 limited partner investors in Apollo s active private equity, capital markets and real estate funds, no individual investor accounts for more than 10% of the total committed capital to Apollo s active funds.

Risks are analyzed across funds from the bottom up and from the top down with a particular focus on asymmetric risk. We gather and analyze data, monitor investments and markets in detail, and constantly strive to better quantify, qualify and circumscribe relevant risks.

Each segment runs its own investment and risk management process subject to our overall risk tolerance and philosophy:

The investment process of our private equity funds involves a detailed analysis of potential acquisitions, and investment management teams assigned to monitor the strategic development, financing and capital deployment decisions of each portfolio investment.

Our capital markets funds continuously monitor a variety of markets for attractive trading opportunities, applying a number of traditional and customized risk management metrics to analyze risk related to specific assets or portfolios, as well as, fund-wide risks.

Impact on Management Fees Our management fees are based on one of the following:

capital commitments to an Apollo fund;

capital invested in an Apollo fund; or

the gross, net or adjusted asset value of an Apollo fund, as defined.

Management fees could be impacted by changes in market risk factors and management could consider an investment permanently impaired as a result of (i) such market risk factors cause changes in invested capital or in market values to below cost, in the case of our private equity funds and certain capital markets funds, or (ii) such market risk factors cause changes in gross or net asset value, for the capital markets funds. The proportion of our management fees that are based on NAV is dependent on the number and types of our funds in existence and the current stage of each fund s life cycle.

*Impact on Advisory and Transaction Fees* We earn transaction fees relating to the negotiation of private equity, capital markets and real estate transactions and may obtain reimbursement for certain out-of-pocket expenses incurred. Subsequently, on a quarterly or annual basis, ongoing advisory fees, and additional transaction fees in connection with additional purchases or follow-on transactions, may be earned. Management Fee Offsets and any broken deal costs are reflected as a reduction to advisory and transaction fees from affiliates. Advisory and transaction fees will be impacted by changes in market risk factors to the extent that they limit our opportunities to engage in private equity, capital markets and

real estate transactions or impair our ability to consummate such transactions. The impact of changes in market risk factors on advisory and transaction fees is not readily predicted or estimated.

*Impact on Carried Interest Income* We earn carried interest income from our funds as a result of such funds achieving specified performance criteria. Our carried interest income will be impacted by changes in market risk factors. However, several major factors will influence the degree of impact:

the performance criteria for each individual fund in relation to how that fund s results of operations are impacted by changes in market risk factors;

whether such performance criteria are annual or over the life of the fund;

to the extent applicable, the previous performance of each fund in relation to its performance criteria; and

whether each funds carried interest income is subject to contingent repayment. As a result, the impact of changes in market risk factors on carried interest income will vary widely from fund to fund. The impact is heavily dependent on the prior and future performance of each fund, and therefore is not readily predicted or estimated.

*Market Risk* We are directly and indirectly affected by changes in market conditions. Market risk generally represents the risk that values of assets and liabilities or revenues and expenses will be adversely affected by changes in market conditions. Market risk is inherent in each of our investments and activities, including equity investments, loans, short-term borrowings, long-term debt, hedging instruments, credit default swaps, and derivatives. Just a few of the market conditions that may shift from time to time, thereby exposing us to market risk, include fluctuations in interest and currency exchange rates, equity prices, changes in the implied volatility of interest rates and price deterioration. For example, subsequent to the second quarter of 2007, the debt capital markets around the world began to experience significant dislocation, severely limiting the availability of new credit to facilitate new traditional buyouts, and the markets remain volatile. Volatility in the debt and equity markets can impact our pace of capital deployment, the timing of receipt of transaction fee revenues, and the timing of realizations. These market conditions could have an impact on the value of investments and our rates of return. Accordingly, depending on the instruments or activities impacted, market risk using certain strategies and methodologies which management evaluates periodically for appropriateness. We intend to continue to monitor this risk going forward and continue to monitor our exposure to all market factors.

*Interest Rate Risk* Interest rate risk represents exposure we have to instruments whose values vary with the change in interest rates. These instruments include, but are not limited to, loans, borrowings and derivative instruments. We may seek to mitigate risks associated with the exposures by taking offsetting positions in derivative contracts. Hedging instruments allow us to seek to mitigate risks by reducing the effect of movements in the level of interest rates, changes in the shape of the yield curve, as well as, changes in interest rate volatility. Hedging instruments used to mitigate these risks may include related derivatives such as options, futures and swaps.

Credit Risk Certain of our funds are subject to certain inherent risks through their investments.

Certain of our entities invest substantially all of their excess cash in open-end money market funds and money market demand accounts, which are included in cash and cash equivalents. The money market funds invest primarily in government securities and other short-term, highly liquid instruments with a low risk of loss. We continually monitor the funds performance in order to manage any risk associated with these investments.

Certain of our entities hold derivatives instruments that contain an element of risk in the event that the counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of such agreements. We minimize our risk exposure by limiting the counterparties with which we enter into contracts to banks and investment banks who meet established credit and capital guidelines. We do not expect any counterparty to default on its obligations and therefore do not expect to incur any loss due to counterparty default.

*Foreign Exchange Risk* Foreign exchange risk represents exposures we have to changes in the values of current holdings and future cash flows denominated in other currencies and investments in non-U.S. companies. The types of investments exposed to this risk include investments in foreign subsidiaries, foreign currency-denominated loans, foreign currency-denominated transactions, and various foreign exchange derivative instruments whose values fluctuate with changes in currency exchange rates or foreign interest rates. Instruments used to mitigate this risk are foreign exchange options, currency swaps, futures and forwards. These instruments may be used to help insulate us against losses that may arise due to volatile movements in foreign exchange rates and/or interest rates.

*Non-U.S. Operations* We conduct business throughout the world and are continuing to expand into foreign markets. We currently have offices in London, Frankfurt, Luxembourg, Mumbai, Hong Kong and Singapore, and have been strategically growing our international presence. Our investments and revenues are primarily derived from our U.S. operations. With respect to our non-U.S. operations, we are subject to risk of loss from currency fluctuations, social instability, changes in governmental policies or policies of central banks, expropriation, nationalization, unfavorable political and diplomatic developments and changes in legislation relating to non-U.S. ownership. We also invest in the securities of corporations which are located in non-U.S. jurisdictions. As we continue to expand globally, we will continue to focus on monitoring and managing these risk factors as they relate to specific non-U.S. investments.

## **ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES**

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act ), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired objectives.

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are effective at the reasonable assurance level to accomplish their objectives of ensuring that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a 15(f) and 15d 15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act) occurred during our most recent quarter, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

-137-

## PART II OTHER INFORMATION

#### **ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS**

The section entitled Litigation and Contingencies in note 12 of our financial statements included elsewhere in this report is incorporated herein by reference.

#### **ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS**

For a discussion of our potential risks and uncertainties, see the information under the heading Risk Factors in our prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC in accordance with Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, on March 30, 2011, which is accessible on the Securities and Exchange Commission s website at www.sec.gov. There have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in the prospectus.

## ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

#### Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering

The effective date of Apollo Global Management, LLC s registration statement filed on Form S-1 under the Securities Act of 1933 (File No. 333-150141) relating the initial public offering of Class A shares, representing Class A limited liability company interests of Apollo Global Management, LLC, was March 29, 2011. A total of 21,500,000 Class A shares were offered for sale by us and 8,257,559 Class A shares were offered for resale by certain selling shareholders. Goldman, Sachs & Co., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated acted as representatives of the underwriter and, together with Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., UBS Securities LLC, Barclays Capital Inc., Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, acted as joint book-running managers of the offering. The initial public offering was completed on April 4, 2011.

The aggregate offering price for the Class A shares offered by selling shareholders was approximately \$156.9 million and the related underwriting discounts where approximately \$9.4 million. We did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of Class A shares offered by selling shareholders participating in the initial public offering.

The aggregate offering price for the Class A shares offered by us was approximately \$408.5 million and the related underwriting discounts were approximately \$24.5 million, none of which was paid to affiliates of Apollo Global Management, LLC. We incurred approximately \$1.5 million of other expenses in connection with the initial public offering. The net proceeds from the sale of 21,500,000 Class A shares offered by us totaled approximately \$382.5 million. We will use the proceeds from the initial public offering for general corporate purposes and to fund growth initiatives.

#### Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities

On July 11, 2011, and August 15, 2011, we issued 77,305 and 1,191,432 Class A shares, net of taxes, to Apollo Management Holdings, L.P., respectively, for an aggregate purchase price of \$1,278,624 and \$16,000,932, respectively. The issuances were exempt from registration under the Securities Act in accordance with Section 4(2) and Rule 506 thereof, as transactions by the issuer not involving a public offering. We determined that the purchaser of Class A shares in the transactions, Apollo Management Holdings, L.P., was an accredited investor.

#### ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

Not applicable.

## ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)

## **ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION**

None.

-138-

## **ITEM 6. EXHIBITS**

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
3.1	Certificate of Formation of Apollo Global Management, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
3.2	Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Apollo Global Management, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
4.1	Specimen Certificate evidencing the Registrant s Class A shares (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.1	Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of AGM Management, LLC dated as of July 10, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.2	Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings I, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.3	Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.4	Third Amended and Restated Exempted Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings III, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.5	Third Amended and Restated Exempted Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.6	Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2007, by and among Apollo Global Management, LLC, Goldman Sachs & Co., J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.7	Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2007, by and among Apollo Global Management, LLC, AGM Management, LLC and Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.8	Apollo Global Management, LLC 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.9	Agreement Among Principals, dated as of July 13, 2007, by and among Leon D. Black, Marc J. Rowan, Joshua J. Harris, Black Family Partners, L.P., MJR Foundation LLC, AP Professional Holdings, L.P. and BRH Holdings, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.10	Shareholders Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2007, by and among Apollo Global Management, LLC, AP Professional Holdings, L.P., BRH Holdings, L.P., Black Family Partners, L.P., MJR Foundation LLC, Leon D. Black, Marc J. Rowan and Joshua J. Harris (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).

-139-

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
10.11	Exchange Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2007, by and among Apollo Global Management, LLC, Apollo Principal Holdings I, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings III, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings III, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings III, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings, I.P. and the Apollo Principal Holders (as defined therein), from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.12	Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2007, by and among APO Corp., Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Management Holdings, L.P. and each Holder defined therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.13	Credit Agreement dated as of April 20, 2007 among Apollo Management Holdings, L.P., as borrower, Apollo Management, L.P., Apollo Capital Management, L.P., Apollo International Management, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P. and AAA Holdings, L.P., as guarantors, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.14	Employment Agreement with Leon D. Black (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.15	Employment Agreement with Marc J. Rowan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.16	Employment Agreement with Joshua J. Harris (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.17	Employment Agreement with Barry Giarraputo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.18	Separation Agreement with Kenneth A. Vecchione (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.19	Employment Agreement with Henry Silverman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.20	Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.21	Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings VI, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.22	Second Amended and Restated Exempted Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings VII, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.23	Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings VIII, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.24	Second Amended and Restated Exempted Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Principal Holdings IX, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.25	Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Apollo Management Holdings, L.P. dated as of April 14, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
10.26	Settlement Agreement, dated December 14, 2008, by and among Huntsman Corporation, Jon M. Huntsman, Peter R. Huntsman, Hexion Specialty Chemicals, Inc., Hexion LLC, Nimbus Merger Sub, Inc., Craig O. Morrison, Leon Black, Joshua J. Harris and Apollo Global Management, LLC and certain of its affiliates (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.27	First Amendment and Joinder, dated as of August 18, 2009, to the Shareholders Agreement, dated as of July 13, 2007, by and among Apollo Global Management, LLC, AP Professional Holdings, L.P., BRH Holdings, L.P., Black Family Partners, L.P., MJR Foundation LLC, Leon D. Black, Marc J. Rowan and Joshua J. Harris (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.28	Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.29	Employment Agreement with James Zelter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.30	Roll-Up Agreement with James Zelter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.31	Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement under the Apollo Global Management, LLC 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (for Plan Grants) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.32	Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement under the Apollo Global Management, LLC 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (for Bonus Grants) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.33	Form of Lock-up Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.34	Apollo Management Companies AAA Unit Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.35	Employment Agreement with Marc Spilker (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.36	First Amendment and Joinder, dated as of April 14, 2010, to the Tax Receivable Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.37	Employment Agreement with Gene Donnelly (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.38	First Amendment, dated as of May 16, 2007, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of April 20, 2007, among Apollo Management Holdings, L.P., as borrower, the lenders party thereto from time to time, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other parties party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.39	Second Amendment, dated as of December 20, 2010, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of April 20, 2007, as amended by the First Amendment thereto dated as of May 16, 2007, among Apollo Management Holdings, L.P., as borrower, the lenders party thereto from time to time JPMorgan Chase Bank as administrative agent and the other parties party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.40	Non-Qualified Share Option Agreement pursuant to the Apollo Global Management, LLC 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan with Marc Spilker dated December 2, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
10.41	Non-Qualified Share Option Agreement pursuant to the Apollo Global Management, LLC 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan with Henry Silverman dated January 21, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-150141)).
10.42	Form of Independent Director Engagement Letter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the Registrant s Form 10-Q for the quarter period ended March 31, 2011 (File No. 001-35107)).
*31.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
*31.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
*32.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
*32.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
*101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
*101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Scheme Document
*101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
*101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
*101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
*101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

#### \* Filed herewith.

XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed for purposes of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.

-142-

## SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 8, 2011

#### Apollo Global Management, LLC

By: Apollo Global Management, LLC, its general partner

By: /s/ Gene Donnelly Name: Gene Donnelly Title: Chief Financial Officer

-143-

# **UNITED STATES**

# **SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION**

# WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

# Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

•••

X QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO Commission File Number: 001-35107

# **APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC**

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

20-8880053 (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

New York, New York 10019

9 West 57th Street, 43rd Floor

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(212) 515-3200

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (\$232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerate filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

 Large accelerated filer
 Accelerated filer

 Non-accelerated filer
 x (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

 Indicate by check mark
 x (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes " No x

As of August 9, 2011 there were 121,798,795 Class A shares and 1 Class B share outstanding.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	Page
Item 1.	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	6
	Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition (Unaudited) as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010	6
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited) for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010	7
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Unaudited) for the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010	8
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders Equity (Unaudited) for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010	9
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010	10
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	12
ITEM 2.	MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	65
ITEM 3.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	118
ITEM 4.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	120
PART II	OTHER INFORMATION	
ITEM 1.	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	121
ITEM 1A.	RISK FACTORS	121
ITEM 2.	UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS	121
ITEM 3.	DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES	122
ITEM 4.	(REMOVED AND RESERVED)	122
ITEM 5.	OTHER INFORMATION	122
ITEM 6.	EXHIBITS	123
SIGNATURE	<u>ES</u>	127

-2-

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

This quarterly report may contain forward looking statements that are within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements include, but are not limited to, discussions related to Apollo s expectations regarding the performance of its business, its liquidity and capital resources and the other non-historical statements in the discussion and analysis. These forward-looking statements are based on management s beliefs, as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available to, management. When used in this quarterly report, the words believe, anticipate, estimate, expect, intend and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. Although management believes that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that these expectations will prove to have been correct. These statements are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including risks relating to our dependence on certain key personnel, our ability to raise new private equity, capital markets or real estate funds, market conditions, generally; our ability to manage our growth, fund performance, changes in our regulatory environment and tax status, the variability of our revenues, net income and cash flow, our use of leverage to finance our businesses and investments by our funds and litigation risks, among others. We believe these factors include but are not limited to those described under the section entitled Risk Factors. In the Company s prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) pursuant to Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act of 1933 on March 30, 2011, as such factors may be updated from time to time in our periodic filings with the SEC, which are accessible on the SEC s website at www.sec.gov. These factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements that are included in this release and in other filings. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as required by applicable law.

-3-

In this quarterly report, references to Apollo, we, us, our and the company refer collectively to Apollo Global Management, LLC and its subsidiaries, including the Apollo Operating Group and all of its subsidiaries.

Apollo funds and our funds refer to the funds, alternative asset companies and other entities that are managed by the Apollo Operating Group. Apollo Operating Group refers to:

- (i) the limited partnerships through which our managing partners currently operate our businesses and;
- (ii) one or more limited partnerships formed for the purpose of, among other activities, holding certain of our gains or losses on our principal investments in the funds, which we refer to as our principal investments

AMH refers to Apollo Management Holdings, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership owned by APO Corp. and Holdings. APO Corp. refers to APO Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Global Management, LLC. Holdings means AP Professional Holdings, L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership through which our managing partners and our contributing partners hold their Apollo Operating Group units; managing partners refers to Messrs. Leon Black, Joshua Harris and Marc Rowan collectively and, when used in reference to holdings of interests in Apollo or Holdings, includes certain related parties of such individuals; our manager means AGM Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company that is controlled by our managing partners.

AAA refers to AP Alternative Assets, L.P., a Guernsey limited partnership that generally invests alongside certain of our private equity funds and directly in certain of our capital markets funds and in other transactions that we sponsor and manage; the common units of AAA are listed on NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam, which we refer to as Euronext Amsterdam ; AAA Investments refers to AAA Investments, L.P., a Guernsey limited partnership through which AAA s investments are made.

Assets Under Management, or AUM, refers to the assets we manage or with respect to which we have control, including capital we have the right to call from our investors pursuant to their capital commitments to various funds. Our AUM equals the sum of:

- the fair value of our private equity investments plus the capital that we are entitled to call from our investors pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments plus non-recallable capital to the extent a fund is within the commitment period in which management fees are calculated based on total commitments to the fund;
- (ii) the net asset value, or NAV, of our capital markets funds, other than certain senior credit funds, which are structured as collateralized loan obligations (such as Artus, which we measure by using the mark-to-market value of the aggregate principal amount of the underlying collateralized loan obligations), plus used or available leverage and/or capital commitments;
- (iii) the gross asset values of our real estate entities and the structured portfolio vehicle investments included within the funds we manage, which includes the leverage used by such structured portfolio vehicles;
- (iv) the incremental value associated with the reinsurance investments of the funds we manage; and
- (v) the fair value of any other assets that we manage plus unused credit facilities, including capital commitments for investments that may require pre-qualification before investment plus any other capital commitments available for investment that are not otherwise included in the clauses above.

Fee-generating AUM consists of assets that we manage and on which we earn management fees or monitoring fees pursuant to management agreements on a basis that varies among the Apollo funds. Management fees are normally based on net asset value, gross assets, adjusted cost of all unrealized portfolio investments, capital commitments, adjusted assets, stockholders equity, invested capital or capital contributions, e defined in the applicable management agreement. Monitoring fees for AUM purposes are based on the total value of certain structured portfolio

vehicle investments, which normally include leverage, less any portion of such total value that is already considered in fee-generating AUM.

Non-fee generating AUM consists of assets that do not produce management fees or monitoring fees. These assets generally consist of the following: (a) fair value above invested capital for those funds that earn management fees based on invested capital, (b) net asset values related to general partner and co-investment ownership, (c) unused credit facilities, (d) available commitments on those funds that generate management fees on invested capital, (e) structured portfolio vehicle investments that do not generate monitoring fees and (f) the difference between gross assets and net asset value for those funds that earn management fees based on net asset value. We use non-fee generating AUM combined with fee generating AUM as a performance measurement of our investment activities, as well as to monitor fund size in relation to professional resource and infrastructure needs. Non-fee generating AUM includes assets on which we could earn carried interest income.

Our AUM measure includes assets under management for which we charge either no or nominal fees. Our definition of AUM is not based on any definition of assets under management contained in our operating agreement or in any of our Apollo fund management agreements.

# APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

## CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010
Assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 837,040	\$ 382,269
Cash and cash equivalents held at Consolidated Funds	46	
Restricted cash	7,218	6,563
Investments	2,181,439	1,920,553
Assets of consolidated variable interest entities		
Cash and cash equivalents	194,972	87,556
Investments, at fair value	1,070,125	1,342,611
Other assets	17,877	36,754
Carried interest receivable	2,201,009	1,867,073
Due from affiliates	133,569	144,363
Fixed assets, net	50,500	44,696
Deferred tax assets	566,843	571,325
Other assets	23,258	35,141
Goodwill	48,894	48,894
Intangible assets, net	56,937	64,574
Total Assets	\$ 7,389,727	\$ 6,552,372
Liabilities and Shareholders Equity Liabilities:		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$ 28,036	\$ 31,706
Accrued compensation and benefits	71,955	54,057
Deferred revenue	241,603	251,475
Due to affiliates	468,388	517,645
Profit sharing payable	836,543	678,125
Debt	738,784	751,525
Liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities		
Debt, at fair value	1,174,568	1,127,180
Other liabilities	98,410	33,545
Other liabilities	26,396	25,695
Total Liabilities	3,684,683	3,470,953
Commitments and Contingencies (see note 12)		
Shareholders Equity:		
Apollo Global Management, LLC shareholders equity:		
Class A shares, no par value, unlimited shares authorized, 121,721,490 shares and 97,921,232 shares issued		
and outstanding at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively		

Class B shares, no par value, unlimited shares authorized, 1 share issued and outstanding at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 Additional paid-in-capital 2,757,158

2,078,890

Accumulated deficit	(1,959,696)	(1,937,818)
Appropriated partners capital	1,728	11,359
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(1,247)	(1,529)
Total Apollo Global Management, LLC shareholders equity	797,943	150,902
Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	1,774,151	1,888,224
Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	1,132,950	1,042,293
Total Shareholders Equity	3,705,044	3,081,419
Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity	\$ 7,389,727	\$ 6,552,372

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

# -6-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	Three Mon June	ded	Six Montl June	ed	
	2011	 2010	2011		2010
Revenues:					
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 23,556	\$ 26,844	\$ 42,972	\$	37,913
Management fees from affiliates	121,187	106,112	239,337		209,916
Carried interest income (loss) from affiliates	164,133	(53,676)	722,909		55,045
Total Revenues	308,876	79,280	1,005,218		302,874
Expenses:					
Compensation and benefits:					
Equity-based compensation	287,358	279,960	570,965		553,606
Salary, bonus and benefits	64,286	60,289	136,355		120,059
Profit sharing expense	70,733	(32,566)	287,818		5,950
Incentive fee compensation	(3,594)	6,314	6,565		9,259
Total Compensation and Benefits	418,783	313,997	1,001,703		688,874
Interest expense	10,327	9,502	21,209		20,324
Professional fees	12,992	9,539	30,353		22,404
General, administrative and other	22,502	16,990	39,109		31,503
Placement fees	575	680	1,114		4,541
Occupancy	7,925	5,361	15,151		10,808
Depreciation and amortization	6,902	6,041	12,948		12,146
Total Expenses	480,006	362,110	1,121,587		790,600
Other Income (Loss):					
Net gains (losses) from investment activities	63,311	(11,005)	221,240		100,716
Net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated	05,511	(11,005)	221,240		100,710
variable interest entities	(12,369)	(19,432)	4,719		(265)
Income (loss) from equity method investments	5,370	(1,712)	27,196		6,168
Interest income	612	300	870		662
Other income, net	13,111	25,264	21,174		21,906
Total Other Income (Loss)	70,035	(6,585)	275,199		129,187
(Loss) income before income tax provision	(101,095)	(289,415)	158,830		(358,539)
Income tax provision	(3,550)	(12,727)	(12,370)		(16,782)
Net (Loss) Income	(104,645)	(302,142)	146,460		(375,321)
Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests	53,656	227,018	(159,293)		239,515
Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$ (50,989)	\$ (75,124)	\$ (12,833)	\$	(135,806)

Dividends Declared per Class A Share           Net Loss Per Class A Share:           Net Loss Per Class A Share:		0.22	\$	0.07	\$	0.39	\$	0.07
Net Loss Per Class A Share:								
Net Loss Per Class A Share Basic and Diluted	\$	(0.46)	\$	(0.79)	\$	(0.19)	\$	(1.42)
Weighted Average Number of Class A Shares Basic and								
Diluted	120,	963,248	96,	346,032	109	,652,330	96,	065,452

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### -7-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	Three Mon Jun	e 30	Six Mont June	e 30
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Net (Loss) Income	\$ (104,645)	\$ (302,142)	\$ 146,460	\$ (375,321)
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax:				
Net unrealized gain on interest rate swaps (net of taxes of \$305 and \$(1,172) for				
Apollo Global Management, LLC for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and				
June 30, 2010, respectively, and \$345 and \$1,021 for Apollo Global Management,				
LLC for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and \$0 for				
Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group for both the three months and				
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010)	1,419	3,461	3,146	7,732
Net (loss) income on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investment)	(60)	123	(109)	123
Total Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax	1,359	3,584	3,037	7,855
Comprehensive (Loss) Income	(103,286)	(298,558)	149,497	(367,466)
Comprehensive Loss (Income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests	40,087	220,640	(171,323)	229,681
Comprehensive Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$ (63,199)	\$ (77,918)	\$ (21,826)	\$ (137,785)

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

-8-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

#### SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Apollo Global Management, LLC Shareholders

		•	0	<i>,</i>						
	Class A Shares	Class B Shares	Additional Paid-In Capital	Accumu- lated Deficit	Approp- riated Partners (Deficit) Capital	nsive	Apollo Global Manage- ment, LLC Total Share- holders Deficit) Equit	Non- Controlling Interests in Consolidated y Entities	Non- Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	Total Shareholders Equity
Balance at January 1,	05 (24 541	1	¢ 1 720 502	¢ (2.020.541)	¢	¢ (4 000)	¢ (204.02C)	¢ 1 292 272	¢ 210.004	¢ 1 200 110
2010 Transition adjustment	95,624,541	1	\$ 1,729,593	\$ (2,029,541)	\$	\$ (4,088)	\$ (304,036)	\$ 1,283,262	\$ 319,884	\$ 1,299,110
relating to consolidation of variable interest entity Capital increase related								411,885		411,885
to equity-based										
compensation			182,898				182,898		368,966	551,864
Purchase of AAA shares								(740)		(740)
Capital contributions								15		15
Cash distributions Dividends			(7,704)				(7,704)	(11,527)	(16 900)	(11,527)
Distributions related to deliveries of Class A			(7,704)				(7,704)	(6,602)	(16,800)	(31,106)
shares for RSUs	721,491			(773)			(773)			(773)
Non-cash contributions	,.,			(110)			(110)	57		57
Non-cash distributions				(18)			(18)	(575)		(593)
Net transfers of AAA ownership interest to (from) Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated										
entities			(4,605)				(4,605)	4,605		
Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs			6,099				6,099			6,099
Net (loss) income			0,099	(135,806)	(3,584)		(139,390)	110,982	(346,913)	(375,321)
Net income on available-for-sale securities (from equity				(135,000)	(3,304)		(137,370)	110,902	(340,713)	(373,321)
method investment)						123	123			123
Net unrealized gain on interest rate swaps (net of taxes of \$1,021 and \$0 for Apollo Global Management, LLC and Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, respectively)						1,482	1,482		6,250	7,732
	06 246 022	1	¢ 1 007 391	¢ (2 1(( 120)	¢ (2 504)	¢ (2.492)	\$ (2(5.024)	¢ 1 701 2(2	¢ 221.207	¢ 1 057 005

 $96,346,032 \qquad 1 \quad \$ \ 1,906,281 \quad \$ \ (2,166,138) \quad \$ \ (3,584) \quad \$ \ (2,483) \quad \$ \ (265,924) \quad \$ \ 1,791,362 \quad \$ \quad 331,387 \quad \$ \ 1,856,825$ 

# Balance at June 30, 2010

Balance at January 1, 2011	97,921,232	1	\$ 2,078,890	\$ (1,937,818)	\$ 11 250	\$ (1,529)	\$ 150,902	\$ 1,888,224	\$ 1,042,293	\$ 3,081,419
Issuance of Class A	97,921,232	1	\$ 2,078,890	\$ (1,937,010)	\$ 11,339	\$ (1,329)	\$ 150,902	\$ 1,000,224	\$ 1,042,293	\$ 3,001,419
shares	21,500,000		382,488				382,488			382,488
Dilution impact of										
issuance of Class A										
shares			135,218			(356)	134,862		(127,096)	7,766
Capital increase related										
to equity-based										
compensation			215,391				215,391		354,916	570,307
Cash distributions								(308,276)		(308,276)
Dividends			(51,390)				(51,390)	(27,284)	(93,600)	(172,274)
Distributions related to										
deliveries of Class A										
shares for RSUs	2,300,258		(683)	(9,045)			(9,728)			(9,728)
Net transfers of AAA										
ownership interest to										
(from) Non-Controlling										
Interests in consolidated entities			(( (01)				(( (01)	( (01		
Satisfaction of liability			(6,601)				(6,601)	6,601		
related to AAA RDUs			3,845				3,845			3,845
Net (loss) income			3,043	(12,833)	(9,631)		(22,464)	214,886	(45,962)	146,460
Net loss on				(12,055)	(9,031)		(22,404)	214,000	(43,902)	140,400
available-for-sale										
securities (from equity										
method investment)						(109)	(109)			(109)
Net unrealized gain on						(10))	(10))			(10)
interest rate swaps (net of										
taxes of \$345 and \$0 for										
Apollo Global										
Management, LLC and										
Non-Controlling Interests										
in Apollo Operating										
Group, respectively)						747	747		2,399	3,146
Balance at June 30,										
2011	121,721,490	1	\$ 2,757,158	\$ (1,959,696)	\$ 1,728	\$ (1,247)	\$ 797,943	\$ 1,774,151	\$ 1,132,950	\$ 3,705,044

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

-9-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

## CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	Six Month June	
	2011	2010
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:		
Net income (loss)	\$ 146,460	\$ (375,321)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Equity-based compensation	570,965	553,606
Depreciation	5,311	5,795
Amortization of intangible assets	7,637	6,351
Amortization of debt issuance costs	255	28
Gain from investment in HFA	(20,061)	
Income from equity awards received for director s fees	(2,437)	
Income from equity method investments	(27,196)	(6,168)
Waived management fees	(15,432)	(14,631)
Non-cash compensation related to waived management fees	15,432	14,631
Deferred taxes, net	13,146	12,550
Loss on sale of assets	571	
Changes in assets and liabilities:		
Carried interest receivable	(333,936)	99,159
Due from affiliates	11,203	(11,226)
Other assets	(1,285)	(2,110
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(3,309)	(3,801)
Accrued compensation and benefits	21,084	39,698
Deferred revenue	(9,872)	(50,109
Due to affiliates	(55,172)	(4,850
Profit sharing payable	158,418	(31,261
Other liabilities	2,279	(600
Apollo Funds related:	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Net realized losses (gains) from investment activities	12,619	(186)
Net unrealized gains from investment activities	(226,369)	(85,569)
Net realized gains on debt	(41,819)	(1,679)
Net unrealized losses on debt	46,904	339
Dividends from investment activities	28,000	16,991
Cash transferred in from Metals Trading Fund	-,	38,033
Change in cash held at consolidated variable interest entities	(107,416)	(86,271)
Purchases of investments	(840,719)	(371,583)
Sales of investments	1,125,468	82,972
Change in other assets	18,881	(14,986
Change in other liabilities	64,865	77,006
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities	564,475	(113,192
Cash Flows from Investment Activities:		
Purchases of fixed assets	(12,125)	(2,169)
Business acquisition		(1,354
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets	356	

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities	\$ (49,092)	\$ (27,512)
Change in restricted cash	(655)	358
Cash distributions from equity method investments	31,919	17,676
Cash contributions to equity method investments	(16,518)	(42,023)
Purchase of investments in HFA (see note 3)	(52,069)	

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

# STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) (CONT D)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	Six Months Ended June 30		naea
	2011	ic 50	2010
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:			
Issuance of Class A shares	\$ 383,990	\$	
Issuance costs	(1,502)		
Principal repayments on debt	(1,672)		(803)
Distributions related to deliveries of Class A shares for RSUs	(9,045)		(773)
Distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	(7,355)		(11,527)
Contributions from Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities			15
Dividends paid to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	(93,600)		(16,800
Dividends paid	(45,476)		(7,704
Apollo Funds related:			
issuance of debt	454,356		320,154
Principal repayment of term loans	(412,057)		(17,239
Purchase of AAA shares	( ))		(740
Dividends paid to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	(27,284)		(6,602
Distributions paid to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated variable interest entities	(300,921)		(0,002
Sistibutions paid to tron-controlling increases in consolidaded variable increase entries	(500,521)		
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities	(60,566)		257,981
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents	454.817		117,277
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period	382,269		366,226
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	\$ 837,086	\$	483,503
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:	. ,		,
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid	\$ 24,596	<b>\$</b> \$	22,540
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities	\$ 24,596 10,484		22,540 4,330
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid	\$ 24,596		22,540 4,330
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities:	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804		22,540 4,330 4,539
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83		22,540 4,330 4,539
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640		22,540 4,330 4,539
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409)		22,540 4,330 4,539
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069)		22,540 4,330 4,539
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409)		22,540 4,330 4,539
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069)		22,540 4,330 4,539
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069)		22,540 4,330 4,539 749
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities:	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069)		22,540 4,330 4,539 749
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575
Suplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Suplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914)		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250
Suplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Suplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Suplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914) 2,399		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250 (6,099
Suplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs Net transfers of AAA ownership interest to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914) 2,399 3,845		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250 (6,099 4,605
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT Ioan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs Net transfers of AAA ownership interest to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities Net transfers of AAA ownership interest from AGM	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914) 2,399 3,845 6,601 (6,601)		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250 (6,099 4,605
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs Net transfers of AAA ownership interest from AGM Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914) 2,399 3,845 6,601 (6,601) 134,862		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250 (6,099 4,605
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: interest paid interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash distributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs Net transfers of AAA ownership interest from AGM Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares on Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914) 2,399 3,845 6,601 (6,601) 134,862 (127,096)		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250 (6,099 4,605 (4,605
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: interest paid interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash gurchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs Net transfers of AAA ownership interest from AGM Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares on Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investment)	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914) 2,399 3,845 6,601 (6,601) 134,862 (127,096) (109)		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250 (6,099 4,605 (4,605
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Interest paid Interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities Income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT Ioan Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT Ioan Non-cash purchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs Net transfers of AAA ownership interest from AGM Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares on Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investment) Non-cash contributions to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914) 2,399 3,845 6,601 (6,601) 134,862 (127,096) (109) 354,916		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250 (6,099 4,605 (4,605 (4,605
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: interest paid interest paid by consolidated variable interest entities income taxes paid Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investment Activities: Change in accrual for purchase of fixed assets Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash contributions on equity method investments Non-cash sale of assets held-for-sale for repayment of CIT loan Non-cash gurchases of other investments, at fair value Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities: Non-cash distributions Non-cash distributions Non-controlling Interests in consolidated entities Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group, net of taxes Satisfaction of liability related to AAA RDUs Net transfers of AAA ownership interest from AGM Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares Dilution impact of issuance of Class A shares on Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group Unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investment)	\$ 24,596 10,484 6,804 83 3,640 (409) (11,069) 2,437 (5,914) 2,399 3,845 6,601 (6,601) 134,862 (127,096) (109)		22,540 4,330 4,539 749 (18 (575 6,250 (6,099

Non-cash contribution from Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	57
Tax benefits from RSU deliveries (683)	
Non-cash accrued compensation related to ARI RSUs 430	421
Non-cash accrued compensation related to AAA RDUs 223	1,320
Satisfaction of liability related to repayment on CIT loan 11,069	
Net Assets Transferred from Metals Trading Fund:	
Cash	38,033
Other assets	443
Net Assets Transferred from Consolidated Variable Interest Entity:	
Investments	1,102,114
Other assets	28,789
Debt	(706,027)
Other liabilities	(12,991)

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

-11-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### 1. ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Apollo Global Management, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries (the Company or Apollo), is a global alternative asset manager whose predecessor was founded in 1990. Its primary business is to raise, invest and manage private equity, capital markets and real estate funds on behalf of pension and endowment funds, as well as other institutional and high net worth individual investors. For these investment and management services, Apollo receives management fees generally related to the amount of assets managed, transaction and advisory fees for the investments made and carried interest income related to the performance of the respective funds that it manages. Apollo has three primary business segments:

*Private equity* primarily invests in control equity and related debt instruments, convertible securities and distressed debt investments;

*Capital markets* primarily invests in non-control debt and non-control equity investments, including distressed debt securities; and

*Real estate* primarily invests in legacy commercial mortgage-backed securities, commercial first mortgage loans, mezzanine investments and other commercial real estate-related debt investments. The Company may seek to sponsor additional real estate funds that focus on opportunistic investments in distressed debt and equity recapitalization transactions.

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) for interim financial information and instructions to Form 10-Q. The condensed consolidated financial statements and these notes are unaudited and exclude some of the disclosures required in annual financial statements. Management believes it has made all necessary adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring items) so that the condensed consolidated financial statements are presented fairly and that estimates made in preparing its condensed consolidated financial statements are reasonable and prudent. The operating results presented for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any other interim period or for the entire year. The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries, the consolidated entities which are not considered to be variable interest entities but in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2010 included in the Company is prospectus dated March 29, 2011 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2011.

#### **Reorganization of the Company**

The Company was formed as a Delaware limited liability company on July 3, 2007 and completed a reorganization of its predecessor businesses on July 13, 2007 (the Reorganization ). The Company is managed and operated by its manager, AGM Management, LLC, which in turn is wholly owned and controlled by Leon Black, Joshua Harris and Marc Rowan (the Managing Partners ).

As of June 30, 2011, the Company owned, through three intermediate holding companies that include APO Corp. (APO Corp.), a Delaware corporation that is a domestic corporation for U.S. Federal income tax purposes, APO Asset Co., LLC (APO Asset), a Delaware limited liability company that is a disregarded entity for U.S. Federal income tax purposes, and APO (FC), LLC (APO (FC)), an Anguilla limited liability company that is treated as a corporation for U.S Federal income tax purposes (collectively, the Intermediate Holding Companies), 33.7% of the

economic interests of, and operated and controlled all of the businesses and affairs of, the Apollo Operating Group as general partners.

AP Professional Holdings, L.P., a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership (Holdings), is the entity through which the Managing Partners and the contributing partners (the Contributing Partners) hold Apollo Operating Group Units (AOG Units) that represent 66.3% of the economic interests in the Apollo Operating Group as of June 30, 2011. The Company consolidates the financial results of the Apollo Operating Group and its consolidated subsidiaries. Holdings ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group is reflected as a Non-Controlling Interest in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

-12-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Apollo also entered into an exchange agreement with Holdings that allows the partners in Holdings, subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the partnership agreements of the Apollo Operating Group, to exchange their AOG Units for the Company s Class A shares on a one-for-one basis up to four times each year, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications. A limited partner must exchange one partnership unit in each of the ten Apollo Operating Group partnerships to effect an exchange for one Class A share.

*Initial Public Offering* On April 4, 2011, the Company completed the initial public offering (IPO) of its Class A shares, representing limited liability company interests of the Company. AGM received net proceeds from the initial public offering of approximately \$382.5 million, which was used to acquire additional AOG Units. As a result, Holdings ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 70.7% to 66.5% and the Company s ownership interest increased from 29.3% to 33.5%. As such, the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid for the Apollo Operating Group level ownership interest and the book value on the date of the IPO is reflected in Additional Paid in Capital.

#### 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

*Principles of Consolidation* Apollo consolidates those entities it controls through a majority voting interest or through other means, including those funds in which the general partner is presumed to have control over them (e.g., AP Alternative Assets, L.P. (AAA)). Apollo also consolidates entities that are VIEs for which Apollo is the primary beneficiary. Under the amended consolidation rules, an enterprise is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it holds a controlling financial interest. A controlling financial interest is defined as (a) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the entity s business and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

Certain of our subsidiaries hold equity interests in and/or receive fees qualifying as variable interests from the funds that the Company manages. The amended consolidation rules require an analysis to determine whether (a) an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE and (b) Apollo s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interests (e.g., carried interest and management fees), would give it a controlling financial interest. When the VIE has qualified for the deferral of the amended consolidation rules in accordance with U.S. GAAP, the analysis is based on previous consolidation rules, which require an analysis to determine whether (a) an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE and (b) Apollo s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interest is a VIE and (b) Apollo s involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interests (e.g., carried interest and management fees), would be expected to absorb a majority of the variability of the entity.

Under both guidelines, the determination of whether an entity in which Apollo holds a variable interest is a VIE requires judgments which include determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a significant effect on the success of the entity, determining whether two or more parties equity interests should be aggregated, and determining whether the equity investors have proportionate voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to receive returns from an entity. Under both guidelines, Apollo determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes involved with a VIE and reconsiders that conclusion continuously. The consolidation analysis can generally be performed qualitatively. However, if it is not readily apparent whether Apollo is the primary beneficiary, a quantitative expected losses and expected residual returns calculation will be performed. Investments and redemptions (either by Apollo, affiliates of Apollo or third parties) or amendments to the governing documents of the respective Apollo fund may affect an entity s status as a VIE or the determination of the primary beneficiary.

Apollo assesses whether it is the primary beneficiary and will consolidate or deconsolidate the entity accordingly. Performance of that assessment requires the exercise of judgment. Where the variable interests have qualified for the deferral, judgments are made in estimating cash flows in evaluating which member within the equity group absorbs a majority of the expected profits or losses of the VIE. Where the variable interests have not qualified for the deferral, judgments are made in determining whether a member in the equity group has a controlling financial interest including power to direct activities that most significantly impact the VIE s economic performance and rights to receive benefits or

obligations to absorb losses that are potentially significant to the VIE. Under both guidelines, judgment is made in evaluating the nature of the relationships and activities of the parties involved in determining which party within a related-party group is most closely associated with a VIE. The use of these judgments has a material impact to certain components of Apollo s condensed consolidated financial statements.

-13-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Assets and liability amounts of the consolidated VIEs are shown in separate sections within the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition.

Refer to additional disclosures regarding VIEs in note 4. Intercompany transactions and balances, if any, have been eliminated in the consolidation.

*Equity Method Investments* For investments in entities over which the Company exercises significant influence but which do not meet the requirements for consolidation, the Company uses the equity method of accounting, whereby the Company records its share of the underlying income or loss of these entities. Income (loss) from equity method investments is recognized as part of other income (loss) in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and income (loss) on available-for-sale securities (from equity method investments) is recognized as part of other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax in the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). The carrying amounts of equity method investments are reflected in investments in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. As the underlying entities that the Company manages and invests in are, for U.S. GAAP purposes, investment companies which reflect their investments at estimated fair value, the carrying value of the Company is equity method investments in such entities are at fair value.

*Non-Controlling Interest* For entities that are consolidated, but not 100% owned, a portion of the income or loss and corresponding equity is allocated to owners other than Apollo. The aggregate of the income or loss and corresponding equity that is not owned by the company is included in Non-Controlling Interest in the condensed consolidated financial statements. The Non-Controlling Interests relating to Apollo Global Management, LLC primarily includes the 66.3% ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group held by the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners through their limited partner interests in Holdings and other ownership interests in consolidated entities, which primarily consist of the approximate 98% ownership interest held by limited partners in AAA as of June 30, 2011. Non-Controlling Interests also include limited partner interests of Apollo managed funds in certain consolidated VIEs.

The authoritative guidance for Non-Controlling Interests in the condensed consolidated financial statements requires reporting entities to present Non-Controlling Interest as equity and provides guidance on the accounting for transactions between an entity and Non-Controlling Interests. According to the guidance, (1) Non-Controlling Interests are presented as a separate component of shareholders equity on the company s condensed consolidated statements of financial condition, (2) net income (loss) includes the net income (loss) attributed to the Non-Controlling Interest holders on the company s condensed consolidated statements of operations, (3) the primary components of Non-Controlling Interests are separately presented in the company s condensed consolidated statements of changes in shareholders equity to clearly distinguish the interests in the Apollo Operating Group and other ownership interests in the consolidated entities and (4) profits and losses are allocated to Non-Controlling Interests in proportion to their ownership interests regardless of their basis.

*Revenues* Revenues are reported in three separate categories that include (i) advisory and transaction fees from affiliates, which relate to the investments of the funds and may include individual monitoring agreements with the portfolio companies and debt investment vehicles of the private equity funds and capital markets funds; (ii) management fees from affiliates, which are based on committed capital, invested capital, net asset value, gross assets or as otherwise defined in the respective agreements; and (iii) carried interest income (loss) from affiliates, which is normally based on the performance of the funds subject to preferred return.

*Advisory and Transaction Fees from Affiliates* Advisory and transaction fees, including directors fees are recognized when the underlying services rendered are substantially completed in accordance with the terms of their transaction and advisory agreements. Additionally, during the normal course of business, the Company incurs certain costs related to private equity fund transactions that are not consummated (Broken Deal Costs).

As a result of providing advisory services to certain private equity and capital markets portfolio companies, Apollo is entitled to receive fees for transactions related to the acquisition and disposition of portfolio companies as well as ongoing monitoring of portfolio company operations. The amounts due from portfolio companies are included in Due from Affiliates, which is discussed further in note 11. Under the terms of the

limited partnership agreements for certain funds, the management fee payable by the funds is subject to a reduction based on a certain percentage of such advisory and transaction fees, net of applicable broken deal costs ( Management Fee Offset ). Such amounts are presented as a reduction to Advisory and Transaction Fees from Affiliates in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

-14-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Management Fees from Affiliates* Management fees for private equity funds, real estate funds and certain capital markets funds are recognized in the period during which the related services are performed in accordance with the contractual terms of the related agreement. Management fees for private equity funds and certain capital markets funds are based upon a percentage of the capital committed during the commitment period, and thereafter based on the remaining invested capital of unrealized investments. For most capital markets funds, management fees are recognized in the period during which the related services are performed and are based upon net asset value, gross assets or as otherwise defined in the respective agreements.

*Carried Interest Income from Affiliates* Apollo is entitled to an incentive return that can normally amount to as much as 20% of the total returns on funds capital, depending upon performance. Performance-based fees are assessed as a percentage of the investment performance of the funds. The carried interest income from affiliates for any period is based upon an assumed liquidation of the fund s net assets on the reporting date, and distribution of the net proceeds in accordance with the fund s income allocation provisions. Carried interest receivable is presented separately in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition. The net carried interest income may be subject to reversal to the extent that the carried interest income recorded exceeds the amount due to the general partner based on a fund s cumulative investment returns. When applicable, the accrual for potential repayment of previously received carried interest income, which is a component of due to affiliates, represents all amounts previously distributed to the general partner that would need to be repaid to the Apollo funds if these funds were to be liquidated based on the current fair value of the underlying funds investments as of the reporting date. The actual general partner obligation, however, would not become payable or realized until the end of a fund s life.

#### Compensation and Benefits

The components of compensation and benefits have been expanded for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2010 to conform with the 2011 presentation.

*Equity-Based Compensation* Equity-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires that the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments generally be measured based on the grant date fair value of the award. Equity-based awards that do not require future service (i.e., vested awards) are expensed immediately. Equity-based employee awards that require future service are expensed over the relevant service period. The Company estimates forfeitures for equity-based awards that are not expected to vest. Equity based awards granted to non-employees for services provided to the affiliates are remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period and expensed over the relevant service period.

*Salaries, Bonus and Benefits* Salaries, bonus and benefits includes base salaries, discretionary and non-discretionary bonuses, severance and employee benefits. Bonuses are accrued over the service period.

From time to time, the Company may assign profits interests received in lieu of management fees to certain investment professionals. Such assignments of profits interests are treated as compensation and benefits when assigned.

The Company sponsors a 401(k) Savings Plan whereby U.S.-based employees are entitled to participate in the plan based upon satisfying certain eligibility requirements. The Company may provide discretionary contributions from time to time. No contributions relating to this plan were made by the Company for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

**Profit Sharing Expense** Profit sharing expense consists of a portion of carried interest earned in one or more funds allocated to employees and former employees. Profit sharing expense is recognized as the related carried interest income is recognized. Profit sharing expense can be reversed during periods when there is a decline in carried interest income that was previously recognized.

In June 2011, the Company adopted a performance based bonus arrangement for certain Apollo partners and employees designed to more closely align compensation on an annual basis with the overall performance of the Company. This arrangement enables certain partners and employees to earn discretionary bonuses based on carried interest realizations earned by the Company in a given year which amounts are reflected as profit sharing expense in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Incentive Fee Compensation* Certain employees are entitled to receive a discretionary portion of incentive fee income from certain of our capital markets funds, based on performance for the year. Incentive fee compensation expense is recognized on accrual basis as the related carried interest income is earned. Incentive fee compensation expense may be subject to reversal during the interim period where there is a decline in the related carried interest income, however it is not subject to reversal once the carried interest income crystallizes.

#### Other Income (Loss)

*Net Gains (Losses) from Investment Activities* Net gains (losses) from investment activities include both realized gains and losses and the change in unrealized gains and losses in the Company s investment portfolio between the opening balance sheet date and the closing balance sheet date. Net unrealized gains (losses) are a result of changes in the fair value of investments that have not been realized as of the balance sheet date. The condensed consolidated financial statements include the net realized and unrealized gains (losses) of AAA, the Apollo fund that was consolidated during the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 and the investment in HFA Holdings Limited (HFA) (see note 3).

*Net Gains from Investment Activities of Consolidated Variable Interest Entities* Changes in the fair value of the consolidated VIEs assets and liabilities and related interest, dividend and other income and expenses subsequent to consolidation are presented within net gains (losses) from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities and are attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

*Investments, at Fair Value* The Company follows U.S. GAAP attributable to fair value measurements, which among other things, requires enhanced disclosures about investments that are measured and reported at fair value. Investments, at fair value, represent investments of the consolidated funds, investments of the consolidated VIEs and certain financial instruments for which fair value option was elected and the unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value are reflected as net gains from investment activities and net gains from investment activities of the consolidated variable interest entities, respectively, in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories:

*Level I* Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date. The type of investments included in Level I include listed equities and listed derivatives. As required by U.S. GAAP, the Company does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where the Company holds a large position and the sale of such position would likely deviate from the quoted price.

*Level II* Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation methodologies. Investments that are generally included in this category include corporate bonds and loans, less liquid and restricted equity securities and certain over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on observable inputs. These investments exhibit higher levels of liquid market observability as compared to Level III investments. The Company subjects broker quotes to various criteria in making the determination as to whether a particular investment would qualify for treatment as a Level II investment. These criteria include, but are not limited to, the number and quality of broker quotes, the standard deviation of obtained broker quotes, and the percentage deviation from independent pricing services.

*Level III* Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and includes situations where there is little observable market activity for the investment. The inputs into the determination of fair value may require significant management judgment or estimation. Investments that are included in this category generally include general and limited partnership interests in corporate private equity and real estate funds, mezzanine funds, funds of hedge funds, distressed debt and non-investment grade residual interests in securitizations and collateralized debt obligations where the fair value is based on observable inputs as well as unobservable inputs. When a security is valued based on broker quotes, the Company subjects those quotes to various criteria in making the determination as to whether a particular investment would qualify for treatment as a Level II or Level III investment. Some of the factors we consider include the number of broker quotes we obtain, the quality of the broker quotes, the standard deviations of the observed broker quotes and the corroboration of the broker quotes to independent pricing services.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the investment when the fair value is based on unobservable inputs.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Private Equity Investments* The value of liquid investments, where the primary market is an exchange (whether foreign or domestic) is determined using period end market prices. Such prices are generally based on the last sales price on the date of determination.

Valuation approaches used to estimate the fair value of investments that are less liquid include the income approach and the market approach. The income approach provides an indication of fair value based on the present value of cash flows that a business or security is expected to generate in the future. The most widely used methodology used in the income approach is a discounted cash flow method. Inherent in the discounted cash flow method are assumptions of expected results and a calculated discount rate. The market approach provides an indication of fair value based on a comparison of the subject company to comparable publicly traded companies and transactions in the industry. The market approach is driven more by current market conditions of actual trading levels of similar companies and actual transaction data of similar companies. Consideration may also be given to such factors as the Company s historical and projected financial data, valuations given to comparable companies, the size and scope of the Company s operations, the Company s strengths, weaknesses, expectations relating to the market s receptivity to an offering of the Company s securities, applicable restrictions on transfer, industry information and assumptions, general economic and market conditions and other factors deemed relevant. As part of management s process, the Company utilizes a valuation committee to review and approve the valuations. However, because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation, those estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the investments existed, and the differences could be material.

*Capital Markets Investments* The majority of the investments in Apollo s capital markets funds are valued using quoted market prices. Debt and equity securities that are not publicly traded or whose market prices are not readily available are valued at fair value utilizing recognized pricing services, market participants or other sources. The capital markets funds also enter into foreign currency exchange contracts, credit default swap contracts, and other derivative contracts, which may include options, caps, collars and floors. Foreign currency exchange contracts are marked-to-market by recognizing the difference between the contract exchange rate and the current market rate as unrealized appreciation or depreciation. If securities are held at the end of this period, the changes in value are recorded in income as unrealized. Realized gains or losses are recognized when contracts are settled. Credit default swap contracts are recognized at the termination of the contract based on the difference between the close-out price of the credit default contract and the original contract price.

Forward contracts are valued based on market rates obtained from counterparties or prices obtained from recognized financial data service providers. When determining fair value pricing when no market value exists, the value attributed to an investment is based on the enterprise value at the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Valuation approaches used to estimate the fair value of illiquid investments included in Apollo s capital markets funds also may use the income approach or market approach. The valuation approaches used consider, as applicable, market risks, credit risks, counterparty risks and foreign currency risks.

*Real Estate Investments* For Apollo s CMBS portfolio, the estimated fair value is determined by reference to market prices provided by certain dealers who make a market in these financial instruments. Broker quotes are only indicative of fair value and may not necessarily represent what the funds would receive in an actual trade for the applicable instrument. Additionally, the loans held-for-investment are stated at the principal amount outstanding, net of deferred loan fees and costs in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Loans that the funds plan to sell or liquidate in the near term will be treated as loans held-for-sale and will be held at the lower of cost or fair value. For Apollo s illiquid investments, valuations of non-marketable underlying investments are determined using methods that include, but are not limited to (i) discounted cash flow estimates or comparable analysis prepared internally, (ii) third party appraisals or valuations by qualified real estate appraisers, and (iii) contractual sales value of investments/properties subject to bona fide purchase contracts. Methods (i) and (ii) also incorporate consideration of the use of the income, cost, or sales comparison approaches of estimating property values. For portfolio or operating company investments, valuations may also incorporate the use of sales comparisons, valuing statistically meaningful samples, and the use of other techniques such as earnings multiples of similar companies due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of investments that do not have a readily available market value, the value of investments by certain of our real estate funds may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a readily available market value existed for such investments, and the differences could be material.

*Fair Value of Financial Instruments* U.S. GAAP guidance requires the disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments. The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

-17-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Except for the Company s debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement (as defined in note 8), Apollo s financial instruments are recorded at fair value or at amounts whose carrying value approximates fair value. See Investments, at Fair Value above. While Apollo s valuations of portfolio investments are based on assumptions that Apollo believes are reasonable under the circumstances, the actual realized gains or losses will depend on, among other factors, future operating results, the value of the assets and market conditions at the time of disposition, any related transaction costs and the timing and manner of sale, all of which may ultimately differ significantly from the assumptions on which the valuations were based. Other financial instruments carrying values generally approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of those instruments or variable interest rates related to the borrowings. As disclosed in note 8, the Company s long term debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement is believed to have an estimated fair value of approximately \$743.4 million based on a yield analysis using available market data of comparable securities with similar terms and remaining maturities. However, the carrying value that is recorded on the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition is the amount for which we expect to settle the long term debt obligation.

*Financial Instruments held by Consolidated VIEs* The consolidated VIEs hold investments that are traded over-the-counter. Investments in securities that are traded on a securities exchange or comparable over-the-counter quotation systems are valued based on the last reported sale price at that date. If no sales of such investments are reported on such date, and in the case of over-the-counter securities or other investments for which the last sale date is not available, valuations are based on independent market quotations obtained from market participants, recognized pricing services or other sources deemed relevant, and the prices are based on the average of the bid and ask prices, or at ascertainable prices at the close of business on such day. Market quotations are generally based on valuation pricing models or market transactions of similar securities adjusted for security-specific factors such as relative capital structure priority and interest and yield risks, among other factors.

The consolidated VIEs also have debt obligations that are recorded at fair value. The valuation approach used to estimate the fair values of debt obligations is the discounted cash flow method, which includes consideration of the cash flows of the debt obligation based on projected quarterly interest payments and quarterly amortization. Debt obligations are discounted based on the appropriate yield curve given the loan s respective maturity and credit rating. Management uses its discretion and judgment in considering and appraising relevant factors for determining the valuations of its debt obligations.

*Fair Value Option* Apollo has elected the fair value option for the assets and liabilities of the consolidated VIEs. Such election is irrevocable and is applied to financial instruments on an individual basis at initial recognition. Apollo has applied the fair value option for certain corporate loans, other investments and debt obligations held by these entities that otherwise would not have been carried at fair value. Refer to note 4 for further disclosure on financial instruments of the consolidated VIEs for which the fair value option has been elected.

*Net Income (Loss) Per Class A Share* U.S. GAAP requires use of the two-class method of computing earnings per share for all periods presented for each class of common stock and participating security as if all earnings for the period had been distributed. Under the two-class method, during periods of net income, the net income is first reduced for dividends declared on all classes of securities to arrive at undistributed earnings. During periods of net losses, the net loss is reduced for dividends declared on participating security has the right to participate in the earnings of the entity and an objectively determinable contractual obligation to share in net losses of the entity.

The remaining earnings are allocated to common Class A Shares and participating securities to the extent that each security shares in earnings as if all of the earnings for the period had been distributed. Each total is then divided by the applicable number of shares to arrive at basic earnings per share. For the diluted earnings, the denominator includes all outstanding common shares and all potential common shares assumed issued if they are dilutive. The numerator is adjusted for any changes in income or loss that would result from the assumed conversion of these potential common shares.

*Use of Estimates* The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses during the reporting periods. Apollo s most significant estimates include goodwill, intangible assets, income taxes, carried interest income from affiliates, non-cash compensation and fair value of investments and debt in the consolidated and unconsolidated funds and VIEs. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In April 2011, the FASB amended existing guidance for agreements to transfer financial assets that both entitle and obligate the transferor to repurchase or redeem the financial assets before their maturity. The amendments remove from the assessment of effective control the criterion requiring the transferor to have the ability to repurchase or redeem the financial assets on substantially the agreed terms, even in the event of default by the transferee and the collateral maintenance implementation guidance related to that criterion. The guidance is effective for the first interim or annual period beginning on or after December 15, 2011 and is to be applied prospectively. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued an update which includes amendments that result in common fair value measurement and disclosure requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. Consequently, the amendments change the wording used to describe many of the requirements in U.S. GAAP for measuring fair value and for disclosing information about fair value measurements. Certain of the amendments could change how the fair value measurement guidance is applied including provisions related to highest and best use and valuation premise for nonfinancial assets, application to financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting positions in market risks or counterparty credit risk, premiums or discounts in fair value measurement, fair value of an instrument classified in a reporting entity s shareholders equity, and additional disclosure requirements about fair value measurements. The update is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011 for public entities to be applied prospectively. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that this guidance will have on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued an update which includes amendments that eliminate the option to present components of other comprehensive income (OCI) as part of the statement of changes in stockholders equity and requires entities to report components of other comprehensive income in either (1) a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or (2) two separate but consecutive statements. In a single continuous statement, entities must include the components of net income, a total for net income, the components of OCI, a total for OCI, and a total for comprehensive income. Under the two separate but continuous statement would include components of OCI. For public entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. For all entities, the amendments must be applied retrospectively for all periods presented and do not require any transition disclosures. The adoption of this guidance will not have an impact on the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements as the Company presents a separate statement of comprehensive income.

#### **3. INVESTMENTS**

The following table represents Apollo s investments:

	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010
Investments, at fair value	\$ 1,883,075	\$ 1,637,091
Other investments	298,364	283,462
Total Investments	\$ 2,181,439	\$ 1,920,553

#### **Investments at Fair Value**

Investments at fair value consist of financial instruments held by AAA, consolidated VIEs and other investments as discussed further in note 4, the investment in HFA and other investments held at fair value. As of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the net assets of the consolidated funds and VIEs were \$1,819.1 million and \$1,951.6 million, respectively. The following investments, except the investment in HFA and other investments, are presented as a percentage of net assets of the consolidated funds and VIEs:

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

		Fair Value	June 30, 2011	C	% of Net Assets of Consolidated Funds		D Fair Valı	ecember 31, : le		% of Net Assets of Consolidated Funds
Investments, at Fair Value Affiliates	Private Equity	Capital Markets	Total	Cost	and VIEs	Private Equity	Capital Market		Cost	and VIEs
Investments, at fair value:										
AAA	\$ 1,810,577	\$	\$ 1,810,577	\$ 1,668,299	99.5%	\$ 1,637,091	\$	\$ 1,637,091	\$ 1,695,992	2 83.9%
HFA		70,061	70,061	52,069	(1)					
Other	2,437		2,437	2,437	(1)					
Total	\$ 1,813,014	\$ 70,061	\$ 1,883,075	\$ 1,722,805	99.5%	\$ 1,637,091	\$	\$ 1,637,091	\$ 1,695,992	83.9%

# (1) Investments were not held by a consolidated fund or consolidated VIEs. **Securities**

At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the sole investment of AAA was its investment in AAA Investments, L.P. ( AAA Investments ). The following tables represent each investment of AAA Investments constituting more than five percent of the net assets of the consolidated funds and VIEs as of the aforementioned dates:

		June 30, 20	)11	
				% of Net
				Assets of
				Consolidated
	Instrument Type	Cost	Fair Value	Funds and VIEs
Apollo Life Re Ltd.	Equity	\$ 201,098	\$ 278,700	15.3%
Momentive Performance Materials Holdings Inc.	Equity	76,007	184,323	10.1
Apollo Strategic Value Offshore Fund, Ltd.	Investment Fund	113,772	172,258	9.5
Rexnord Corporation	Equity	37,461	138,700	7.6
Charter Communications, Inc.	Equity	44,585	124,075	6.8
LeverageSource, L.P.	Equity	139,851	120,060	6.6
Apollo Asia Opportunity Offshore Fund, Ltd.	Investment Fund	96,357	101,281	5.6
Caesars Entertainment Corporation	Equity	176,729	95,100	5.2

Instrument Type

December 31, 2010 Cost

			Fair Value	% of Net Assets of Consolidated Funds and VIEs
Apollo Life Re Ltd.	Equity	\$ 201,098	\$ 249,900	12.8%
Apollo Strategic Value Offshore Fund, Ltd.	Investment Fund	113,772	160,262	8.2
Momentive Performance Materials Holdings Inc.	Equity	76,007	137,992	7.1
Rexnord Corporation	Equity	37,461	133,700	6.9
LeverageSource, L.P.	Equity	140,743	115,677	5.9
Apollo Asia Opportunity Offshore Fund, Ltd.	Investment Fund	102,530	110,029	5.6
Caesars Entertainment Corporation	Equity	176,729	99,000	5.1

In addition to AAA Investments private equity co-investment in Caesars Entertainment Corporation (formerly known as Harrah s Entertainment, Inc.) (Caesars), as shown in the tables above, AAA Investments has an ownership interest in LeverageSource, L.P., which owns Caesars debt. AAA Investments combined share of these debt and equity investments is greater than 5% of the net asset of the consolidated funds and VIEs and is valued at \$98.8 million and \$102.8 million at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively. In addition to AAA Investments private equity co-investment in Momentive Performance Materials Holdings Inc. (Momentive) noted above, AAA Investments has an ownership interest in the debt of Momentive. AAA Investments combined share of these debt and equity investments is greater than 5% of the net assets of consolidated funds and VIEs and is valued at \$185.1 million and \$138.8 million at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively. Furthermore, AAA Investments owns equity, as a private equity co-investment, and debt, through its investment in Autumnleaf, L.P. and Apollo Fund VI BC, L.P., in CEVA Logistics. AAA Investments combined share of CEVA Logistics debt and equity investments was greater than 5% of the net assets of consolidated funds and was valued at \$165.2 million and \$124.6 million as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

-20-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Apollo Strategic Value Offshore Fund, Ltd. (the Apollo Strategic Value Fund ) primarily invests in the securities of leveraged companies in North America and Europe through three core strategies: distressed investments, value-driven investments and special opportunities. In connection with the redemptions requested by AAA Investments of its investment in the Apollo Strategic Value Fund, the remainder of AAA Investments investment in the Apollo Strategic Value Fund, was converted into liquidating shares issued by the Apollo Strategic Value Fund. The liquidating shares are generally allocated a pro rata portion of each of Apollo Strategic Value Fund s existing investments and liabilities, and as those investments are sold, AAA Investments is allocated the proceeds from such disposition less its proportionate share of any expenses incurred by the Apollo Strategic Value Fund.

Apollo Asia Opportunity Offshore Fund, Ltd. ( Asia Opportunity Fund ) is an investment vehicle that seeks to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns across market cycles by capitalizing on investment opportunities created by the increasing demand for capital in the rapidly expanding Asian markets. In connection with a redemption requested by AAA Investments of its investment in Asia Opportunity Fund, a portion of AAA Investments investment was converted into liquidating shares issued by the Asia Opportunity Fund. The liquidating shares are generally allocated a pro rata portion of each of Asia Opportunity Fund s existing investments and liabilities, and as those investments are sold, AAA Investments is allocated the proceeds from such disposition less its proportionate share of any expenses incurred or reserves set by Asia Opportunity Fund. At June 30, 2011, the liquidating shares of Asia Opportunity Fund had a fair value of \$38.6 million.

Apollo Life Re Ltd. is an Apollo-sponsored vehicle that owns the majority of the equity of Athene Holding Ltd., the parent of Athene Life Re Ltd. ( Athene ), a Bermuda-based reinsurance company focusing on the life reinsurance sector, Liberty Life Insurance Company, a recently acquired South Carolina-domiciled stock life insurance company focused on retail sales and reinsurance in the retirement services market, and Athene Life Insurance Company, a recently organized Indiana-domiciled stock life insurance company focused on the Institutional Guaranteed Investment Contracts (GIC)-backed note and funding agreement markets.

#### HFA

On March 7, 2011, the Company invested \$52.1 million (including expenses related to the purchase) in a convertible note with an aggregate principal amount of \$50.0 million and received 20,833,333 stock options issued by HFA, an Australian based specialist global funds management company providing absolute return fund products to investors.

The terms of the convertible note allow the Company to convert the note, in whole or in part, into common shares of HFA at an exchange rate equal to the principal plus accrued payment-in-kind interest (or PIK interest) divided by US\$0.98 at any time, and convey participation rights, on an as-converted basis, in any dividends declared in excess of \$6.0 million per annum, as well as seniority rights over HFA common equity holders. Unless previously converted, repurchased or cancelled, the note shall be converted on the eighth anniversary of its issuance. Additionally, the note has a percentage coupon interest of 6% per annum, paid via principal capitalization (PIK interest) for the first four years, and thereafter either in cash or via principal capitalization at HFA s discretion. The PIK provides for the Company to receive additional common shares of HFA if the note is converted. The Company has elected the fair value option for the convertible note. The convertible note was valued using an as if-converted basis . The terms of the stock options allow for the Company to acquire 20,833,333 fully paid ordinary shares of HFA at an exercise price in Australian Dollars ( A\$ ) of A\$8.00 (exchange rate of A\$1.00 to \$1.07 as of June 30, 2011) per stock option. The stock options became exercisable upon issuance and expire on the eighth anniversary of the issuance date. The stock options are accounted for as a derivative and are valued at their fair value under U.S. GAAP at each balance sheet date. As a result, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, the Company recorded an unrealized gain of approximately \$2.2 million and \$20.1 million, respectively, related to the convertible note and stock options within net gains (losses) from investment activities in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The Company has classified all instruments associated with the HFA investment as Level III.

-21-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

## NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### Net Gains (Losses) from Investment Activities

Net gains (losses) from investment activities in the condensed consolidated statements of operations include net realized gains from sales of investments, and the change in net unrealized gains (losses) resulting from changes in fair value of the affiliated funds investments and realization of previously unrealized gains (losses). The following tables present Apollo s net gains (losses) from investment activities for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010:

		Three Months Ended June 30, 2011			
	Private Equity	. •	al Markets	Total	
Net unrealized gains due to changes in fair value	\$ 61,079	\$	2,232	\$ 63,311	
Net Gains from Investment Activities	\$61,079	\$	2,232	\$ 63,311	

	Private Equity	Capital Aarkets	Total
Net unrealized losses due to changes in fair value	\$ (9,961)	\$ (1,044)	\$ (11,005)
Net Losses from Investment Activities	\$ (9,961)	\$ (1,044)	\$ (11,005)

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2011					
	<b>Private Equity</b>	Capi	tal Markets	Total		
Net unrealized gains due to changes in fair value	\$ 201,179	\$	20,061	\$ 221,240		
Net Gains from Investment Activities	\$ 201,179	\$	20,061	\$ 221,240		

	Private Equity	Jun (	onths Ended e 30, 2010 Capital Iarkets	Total
Net unrealized gains (losses) due to changes in fair value	\$ 102,990	\$	(2,274)	\$ 100,716
Net Gains (Losses) from Investment Activities	\$ 102,990	\$	(2,274)	\$ 100,716

#### **Other Investments**

# Table of Contents

Other Investments primarily consist of equity method investments. Apollo s share of operating income (loss) generated by these investments is recorded within income from equity method investments in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Income (loss) from equity method investments for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 consisted of the following:

	For the Mor Ended 2011	nths	For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 2010		
Investments:					
Private Equity Funds:					
AAA Investments	\$ 39	\$ (3)	\$ 119	\$ 64	
Apollo Investment Fund IV, L.P. ( Fund IV )	2	13	12	16	
Apollo Investment Fund V, L.P. ( Fund V )	12	(12)	17	25	
Apollo Investment Fund VI, L.P. ( Fund VI )	222	139	2,896	(241)	
Apollo Investment Fund VII, L.P. ( Fund VII )	3,295	2,655	13,665	2,703	
Capital Markets Funds:					
Apollo Special Opportunities Managed Account, L.P.	(152)	114	142	321	
Apollo Value Investment Fund, L.P.	(11)	7	4	13	
Apollo Strategic Value Fund, L.P.	(6)	(1)	3	8	
Apollo Credit Liquidity Fund, L.P.	(197)	(1,563)	496	(1,088)	
Apollo/Artus Investors 2007-I, L.P.	(97)	487	369	1,191	
Apollo Credit Opportunity Fund I, L.P. ( COF I )	175	(1,190)	4,360	(2,130)	
Apollo Credit Opportunity Fund II, L.P. ( COF II )	323	(363)	938	172	
Apollo European Principal Finance Fund, L.P.	1,516	357	2,863	1,960	
Apollo Investment Europe II, L.P.	235	(569)	1,410	(111)	
Apollo Palmetto Strategic Partnership, L.P.	173	11	521	133	
Real Estate:					
Apollo Commercial Real Estate Finance, Inc.	175	263	312	120	
CPI Capital Partners NA Fund	81		81		
CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific Fund	14		14		
Other Equity Method Investments:					
VC Holdings, L.P. Series A (Vantium A)	(683)	(96)	(1,306)	(526)	
VC Holdings, L.P. Series C ( Vantium C )	174	(2,010)	220	3,514	
VC Holdings, L.P. Series D ( Vantium D )	80	49	60	24	
Total Income (loss) from Equity Method Investments	\$ 5,370	\$ (1,712)	\$ 27,196	\$ 6,168	

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Other investments as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 consisted of the following:

	Equity Held as of				
	June 30,	% of	December 31,	% of	
	2011	Ownership	2010	Ownership	
Investments:					
Private Equity Funds:	¢ 1024	0.0569	¢ 0 <b>0</b> 0	0.0560	
AAA Investments	\$ 1,034	0.056%	\$ 929	0.056%	
Fund IV	28	0.006	48	0.005	
Fund V	228	0.013	231	0.013	
Fund VI	8,531	0.069	5,860	0.051	
Fund VII	129,482	1.333	122,384	1.345	
Capital Markets Funds:					
Apollo Special Opportunities Managed Account, L.P.	5,992	0.540	5,863	0.537	
Apollo Value Investment Fund, L.P.	157	0.084	152	0.085	
Apollo Strategic Value Fund, L.P.	146	0.055	144	0.055	
Apollo Credit Liquidity Fund, L.P.	15,780	2.305	18,736	2.450	
Apollo/Artus Investors 2007-I, L.P.	6,441	6.156	7,143	6.156	
Apollo Credit Opportunity Fund I, L.P.	44,234	1.957	41,793	1.949	
Apollo Credit Opportunity Fund II, L.P	26,257	1.446	27,415	1.441	
Apollo European Principal Finance Fund, L.P.	17,192	1.363	15,352	1.363	
Apollo Investment Europe II, L.P.	9,563	2.051	8,154	2.045	
Apollo Palmetto Strategic Partnership, L.P.	7,228	1.186	6,403	1.186	
Apollo Senior Floating Rate Fund ( AFT )	100	0.034			
Apollo/JH Loan Portfolio, L.P.	100	0.191			
Apollo Residential Mortgage, Inc.	1				
Real Estate:					
Apollo Commercial Real Estate Finance, Inc.	9,195(2)	3.198(2)	9,440 <sup>(1)</sup>	3.198(1)	
AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund	5,963	5.892			
CPI Capital Partners NA Fund	592	0.332			
CPI Capital Partners Europe Fund	5	0.001			
CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific Fund	227	0.040			
Other Equity Method Investments:					
Vantium A	914	14.773	2,219	12.240	
Vantium C	7,853	2.163	10,135	2.166	
Vantium D	1,121	6.345	1,061	6.345	
	-,		1,001	0.0.0	
Total Other Investments	\$ 298,364		\$ 283,462		

(1) Amounts are as of September 30, 2010.

(2) Amounts are as of March 31, 2011.

-24-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

For the six months ended June 30, 2011, four equity method investees held by Apollo individually exceeded 20% of it s total consolidated income. As such, Apollo is required to present summarized aggregate income statement information for the four equity method investees, which is presented as follows:

	Private Equity		Capital I For the Six		Aggregate Totals	
	For the Six Mo June	End June		For the Six M June		
Income Statement Information	2011	2010	2011	2010	2011	2010
Revenues/investment income	\$ 412,393	\$ 227,248	\$ 124,500	\$ 36,986	\$ 536,893	\$ 264,234
Expenses	(90,394)	(83,609)	(53,026)	(42,174)	(143,420)	(125,783)
Net Investment Income (Loss)	321,999	143,639	71,474	(5,188)	393,473	138,451
Net Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss)	1,881,709	450,192	240,929	(43,236)	2,122,638	406,956
Net Income (Loss)	\$ 2,203,708	\$ 593,831	\$ 312,403	\$ (48,424)	\$ 2,516,111	\$ 545,407

## **Fair Value Measurements**

The following table summarizes the valuation of Apollo s investments in fair value hierarchy levels as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	Level I		L	Level II Level III		el III	Totals		
	June 30) 2011	December 31, 2010	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	
Assets, at fair value:									
Investment in AAA Investments,									
L.P.	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 1,810,577	\$ 1,637,091	\$ 1,810,577	\$ 1,637,091	
Investments in HFA and Other					72,498		72,498		
Total	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 1,883,075	\$ 1,637,091	\$ 1,883,075	\$ 1,637,091	

	Level I		Level II		Level III			Totals			
	June 30Į 2011	December 31, 2010	June 30, 2011	Dec	ember 31, 2010	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	-	ıne 30, 2011	Dec	ember 31, 2010
Liabilities, at fair value:											
Interest rate swap agreements	\$	\$	\$ 8,475	\$	11,531	\$	\$	\$	8,475	\$	11,531
Total		\$	8,475	\$	11,531		\$		8,475	\$	11,531

There were no transfers between Level I, II or III during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 relating to assets and liabilities, at fair value, noted in the tables above.

The following table summarizes the changes in AAA Investments, which is measured at fair value and characterized as a Level III investment:

	For the Thr Ended J		For the Si Ended J	
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 1,777,191	\$ 1,437,947	\$ 1,637,091	\$ 1,324,939
Purchases	307	286	307	343
Distributions	(28,000)	(16,991)	(28,000)	(16,991)
Change in unrealized gains (losses), net	61,079	(9,961)	201,179	102,990
Balance, End of Period	\$ 1,810,577	\$ 1,411,281	\$ 1,810,577	\$ 1,411,281

-25-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table summarizes the changes in investment in HFA and Other, which is measured at fair value and characterized as a Level III investment:

	For the	For the
	Three Months	Six Months
	Ended June 30 2011	Ended June 30 2011
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 69,898	\$
Purchases	2,437	54,506
Change in unrealized gains, net	2,232	20,061
Expenses incurred	(2,069)	(2,069)
Balance, End of Period	\$ 72,498	\$ 72,498

The change in unrealized gains, net have been recorded within the caption Net gains (losses) from investment activities in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The following table summarizes a look-through of the Company s Level III investments by valuation methodology of the underlying securities held by AAA Investments:

	Private I	Equity	
June 30, 2	011	December 3	31, 2010
	% of		% of
	Investment of AAA		Investment of AAA
\$ 989,599	49.4%	\$ 782,775	42.6%
485,978	24.3	490,024	26.6
297,948	14.9	24,232	1.3
209,018	10.4	504,917	27.5
20,082	1.0	37,351	2.0
2,002,625	100.0%	1,839,299	100.0%
(192,048)		(202,208)	
\$ 1 810 577		\$ 1 637 091	
	\$ 989,599 485,978 297,948 209,018 20,082 2,002,625	June 30, 2011 % of Investment of AAA \$ 989,599 49.4% 485,978 24.3 297,948 14.9 209,018 10.4 20,082 1.0 2,002,625 100.0% (192,048)	% of Investment of AAA           \$ 989,599         49.4%         \$ 782,775           485,978         24.3         490,024           297,948         14.9         24,232           209,018         10.4         504,917           20,082         1.0         37,351           2,002,625         100.0%         1,839,299           (192,048)         (202,208)

# Table of Contents

- (1) Balances include other assets and liabilities of certain funds in which AAA Investments has invested. Other assets and liabilities at the fund level primarily include cash and cash equivalents, broker receivables and payables and amounts due to and from affiliates. Carrying values approximate fair value for other assets and liabilities, and accordingly, extended valuation procedures are not required.
- (2) Balances include other assets, liabilities and general partner interests of AAA Investments and are primarily comprised of \$400.5 million and \$537.5 million in long-term debt offset by cash and cash equivalents at the June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 balance sheet dates, respectively. Carrying values approximate fair value for other assets and liabilities (except for debt), and, accordingly, extended valuation procedures are not required.

-26-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

## 4. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Company consolidates entities that are VIEs of which the Company has been designated as the primary beneficiary. The purpose of such VIEs is to provide strategy-specific investment opportunities for investors in exchange for management and performance based fees. The investment strategies of the entities that the Company manages may vary by entity, however, the fundamental risks of such entities have similar characteristics, including loss of invested capital and the return of carried interest income previously distributed to the Company by certain private equity and capital markets entities. The nature of the Company s involvement with VIEs includes direct and indirect investments and fee arrangements. The Company does not provide performance guarantees and has no other financial obligations to provide funding to VIEs other than its own capital commitments.

#### **Consolidated Variable Interest Entities**

In accordance with the methodology described in note 2, Apollo consolidated four VIEs under the amended consolidation guidance during 2010 and consolidated a fifth VIE during the three months ended June 30, 2011.

One of the consolidated VIEs was formed to purchase loans and bonds in a leveraged structure for the benefit of its limited partners, which included certain Apollo funds that contributed equity to the consolidated VIE. Through its role as general partner of this VIE, it was determined that Apollo had the characteristics of the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE s economic performance. Additionally, the Apollo funds have involvement with the VIE that have the characteristics of the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. As a group, the Company and its related parties have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest. Apollo determined that it is the party within the related party group that is most closely associated with the VIE and therefore should consolidate it.

Three of the consolidated VIEs including the VIE formed during the three months ended June 30, 2011 were formed for the sole purpose of issuing collateralized notes to investors, which include one Apollo fund. The assets of these VIEs are primarily comprised of senior secured loans and the liabilities are primarily comprised of debt. Through its role as collateral manager of these VIEs, it was determined that Apollo had the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of these VIEs. Additionally, Apollo determined that the potential fees that it could receive directly and indirectly from these VIEs represent rights to returns that could potentially be significant to such VIEs. As a result, Apollo determined that it is the primary beneficiary and therefore should consolidate the VIEs.

The fifth VIE was formed during the fourth quarter of 2010 which qualified as an asset-backed financing entity and the Company determined that it was the primary beneficiary. Based on a restructuring of this VIE which occurred later in the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company no longer possessed the power to direct the activities of such VIE resulting in deconsolidation of such VIE in the fourth quarter of 2010.

Apollo holds no equity interest in any of the consolidated VIEs described above. The assets of these consolidated VIEs are not available to creditors of the Company. In addition, the investors in these consolidated VIEs have no recourse to the assets of the Company. The Company has elected the fair value option for financial instruments held by its consolidated VIEs, which includes investments in loans and corporate bonds, as well as debt obligations held by such consolidated VIEs. Other assets include amounts due from brokers and interest receivables. Other liabilities include payables for securities purchased, which represent open trades within the consolidated VIEs and primarily relate to corporate loans that are expected to settle within the next sixty days.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### **Fair Value Measurements**

The following table summarizes the valuation of Apollo s consolidated VIEs in fair value hierarchy levels as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	L	Level I		Level II			Level III			Totals		
	June <b>B</b> 2011	cember 3 2010	31, June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	June 201			mber 31, 2010	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010		
Investments, at fair value <sup>(1)(3)</sup>	\$	\$	\$ 797,134	\$ 1,172,242	\$ 272	2,991	\$	170,369	\$ 1,070,125	\$ 1,342,611		
	Level I			Level II		Level III		Totals				
	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	r June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010	June 201			cember 31, 2010	June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010		
Liabilities, at fair value $^{(2)(3)}$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 1.174		÷ .	127.180	\$ 1.174.568	\$ 1.127.180		

- (1) During the first quarter of 2011, one of the consolidated VIEs sold all of its investments. At December 31, 2010, the cost and fair value of the investments of this VIE were \$719.5 million and \$684.1 million, respectively. The consolidated VIE had a net investment gain of \$16.0 million relating to the sale for the six months ended June 30, 2011, which is reflected in the net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
- (2) At December 31, 2010, the cost and fair value of the term loans were \$453.9 million and \$408.7 million, respectively. The term loans were paid down in the first quarter of 2011, with payments totaling \$412.1 million, resulting in a gain of \$41.8 million. Combined with net unrealized depreciation on the term loans of \$45.2 million, as such, the consolidated VIE had a net loss on term loans of \$3.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, which is reflected in the net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities on the condensed consolidated statement of operations.
- (3) During the three months ended June 30, 2011, the Company consolidated another VIE which included investments and notes. At June 30, 2011, the cost and fair value of the investments of this VIE were \$352.7 million and \$352.4 million, respectively. At June 30, 2011, the cost and fair value of the term loans were \$454.4 million and \$448.9 million, respectively.

Level III investments include corporate loan and corporate bond investments held by the consolidated VIEs, while the Level III liabilities consist of notes and loans, the valuations of which are discussed further in note 2. All Level II and III investments were valued using broker quotes. Transfers of investments out of Level III and into Level II or Level I, if any, are recorded as of the quarterly period in which the transfer occurred.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment s level within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the investment.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table summarizes the changes in investments of consolidated VIEs, which are measured at fair value and characterized as a Level III investment:

	1 01 010 11100	Months Ended e 30,		Aonths Ended e 30,
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 135,427	\$ 1,121,723	\$ 170,369	\$
Transition adjustment relating to consolidation of VIE on				
January 1, 2010				1,102,114
Purchases	200,890	313,485	485,515	371,240
Sale of investments	(30,130)	(24,128)	(80,589)	(82,972)
Net realized gains	546	819	1,834	186
Net unrealized gains (losses)	268	(36,478)	2,690	(15,147)
Elimination of equity investment attributable to consolidated				
VIEs		(1,054)		(1,054)
Transfers out of Level III	(102, 599)		(398,981)	
Transfers into Level III	68,589		92,153	
Balance, End of Period	\$ 272,991	\$ 1,374,367	\$ 272,991	\$ 1,374,367

Investments were transferred out of Level III into Level II and into Level III out of Level II, respectively as a result of subjecting the broker quotes on these investments to various criteria which include the number and quality of broker quotes, the standard deviation of obtained broker quotes, and the percentage deviation from independent pricing services.

The following table summarizes the changes in liabilities of consolidated VIEs, which are measured at fair value and characterized as Level III liabilities:

		ee Months Ended une 30,	For the Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2011	2010	2011	2010	
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$ 723,232	\$ 702,298	\$ 1,127,180	\$	
Transition adjustment relating to consolidation of VIE on					
January 1, 2010				706,027	
Elimination of equity investments attributable to					
consolidated VIEs	20	(1,054)	4	(1,054)	
Additions	454,356	320,154	454,356	320,154	
Repayments		(3,794)	(412,057)	(17,239)	
Net realized gains on debt		(681)	(41,819)	(1,679)	
Net unrealized (gains) losses on debt	(3,040)	(10,375)	46,904	339	
Balance, End of Period	\$ 1,174,568	\$ 1,006,548	\$ 1,174,568	\$ 1,006,548	

-29-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### Net (Losses) Gains from Investment Activities of Consolidated Variable Interest Entities

The following table presents net (losses) gains from investment activities of the consolidated VIEs for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010:

			For the Si	x Months	
		e Months Ended	Ended June 30,		
	Jui 2011	ne 30, 2010	June 2011	2010	
Net unrealized (losses) gains from investment activities	\$ (6,957)	\$ (36,478)	\$ 25,190	\$ (15,147)	
Net realized gains (losses) from investment activities	2,425	819	(12,619)	186	
Net (losses) gains from investment activities	(4,532)	(35,659)	12,571	(14,961)	
Net unrealized gains (losses) from debt	3,040	10,375	(46,904)	(339)	
Net realized gains from debt		681	41,819	1,679	
Net gains (losses) from debt	3,040	11,056	(5,085)	1,340	
Interest and other income	10,187	12,164	24,948	23,429	
Other expenses	(21,064)	(6,993)	(27,715)	(10,073)	
Net (Losses) Gains from Investment Activities of Consolidated VIEs	\$ (12,369)	\$ (19,432)	\$ 4,719	\$ (265)	

-30-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### **Investments of Consolidated VIEs**

The following table presents a condensed summary of the consolidated VIEs investments that are included in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	Fair Value as of June 30, 2011	% of Net Assets of Consolidated Funds and VIEs	Fair Value as of December 31, 2010	% of Net Assets of Consolidated Funds and VIEs
Corporate Loans:				
North America				
Communications				
Intelsat Jackson term loan due February 1, 2014	\$	N/A	\$ 105,659	5.4%
Other	92,850	5.1%	221,383	11.3
Communications	92,850	5.1	327,042	16.7
Chemicals	34,978	1.9	13,950	0.7
Consumer & Retail	154,642	8.4	114,931	5.9
Distribution & Transportation	8,561	0.5	7,794	0.4
Energy	35,860	2.0	25,026	1.3
Financial and Business Services	144,691	8.0	85,713	4.4
Healthcare	146,812	8.1	144,343	7.4
Manufacturing & Industrial	120,298	6.6	200,290	10.3
Media, Cable & Leisure	138,421	7.6	93,798	4.8
Metals & Mining	13,072	0.7	14,025	0.7
Packaging & Materials	31,101	1.7	21,066	1.1
Technology	114,612	6.3	34,862	1.8
Other	5,605	0.3	9,539	0.5
Total Corporate Loans North America (amortized cost \$1,034,192 and \$1,075,287)	1,041,503	57.2	1,092,379	56.0
Europe				
Manufacturing & Industrial Healthcare	13,610	0.7	7,696	0.4
Alliance Boots seniors facility B1 due July 5, 2015		N/A	143,105	7.3
Consumer & Retail		N/A	75,007	3.8
Media, Cable & Leisure		N/A	10,787	0.6
Chemicals	8,191	0.5	9,909	0.5
Total Corporate Loans Europe (amortized cost \$21,639 and \$284,760)	21,801	1.2	246,504	12.6
Total Corporate Loans (amortized cost \$1,055,831 and \$1,360,047)	1,063,304	58.4	1,338,883	68.6

Corporate Bonds:				
North America				
Communications		N/A	1,564	0.1
Distribution & Transportation	3,785	0.2	4,160	0.2
Energy		N/A	3,640	0.2
Manufacturing & Industrial		N/A		
Media, Cable & Leisure	5,151	0.3	3,550	0.2
	, í		, ,	
Total Comparets Dands North America (americad cost \$9,451 and \$12,406)	0.026	0.5	12.014	0.7
Total Corporate Bonds North America (amortized cost \$8,451 and \$12,406)	8,936	0.5	12,914	0.7
Europe				
Media, Cable & Leisure		N/A	1,599	0.1
Total Corporate Bonds Europe (amortized cost \$0 and \$1,519)		N/A	1,599	0.1
Total Colporate Bolids - Barope (anomized cost 40 and \$1,517)		10/1	1,577	0.1
Total Corporate Bonds (amortized cost \$8,451 and \$13,925)	8,936	0.5	14,513	0.8
Elimination of equity investments attributable to consolidated VIEs	(2,115)	(0.1)	(10,785)	(0.6)
Total Investments, at fair value, of Consolidated VIEs (amortized cost \$1,064,282				
and \$1.373,972)	\$ 1.070.125	58.8% \$	5 1,342,611	68.8%
······································	÷ 1,070,120	20.070 4		00.070

-31-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Senior Secured Notes, Subordinated Note, Term Loans* Included within debt are amounts due to third-party institutions of the consolidated VIEs. The following table summarizes the principal provisions of the consolidated VIEs debt as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

	Ju	As of ne 30, 2011		Decer	As of mber 31, 201	D		
	Outstanding Principal		Weighted Average Interest	Outstanding Principal	,	Weighted Average Interest		
Description	Balance	Fair Value	Rate	Balance	Fair Value	Rate	Maturity Date	Interest Rate
Loans:								
Term A Loan	\$	\$	%	5 \$ 146,502	\$ 142,601	0.91%	October 29, 2012	BBA 3 mo. LIBOR (USD) plus 0.5%
Term B Loan				145,390	111,655	0.91%	June 13, 2013	BBA 3 mo. LIBOR (GBP) plus 0.5%
Term C Loan				161,984	154,394	0.91%	October 29, 2013	BBA 3 mo. LIBOR (USD) plus 0.5%
	(1)	(1)		453,876	408,650			
Notes:(2)(3)								
Senior secured								
notes A1	215,400	215,977	2.23	215,400	215,400	2.02%	May 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 1.7%
Senior secured	11 100	10.020	2.04	11 100	10 767	2 1901	May 20, 2020	DDA 2 mg LIDOD (USD) alug 2 25%
notes A2 Senior secured	11,100	10,930	2.84	11,100	10,767	2.48%	May 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 2.25%
notes B	24,700	23,898	2.89	24,700	22,971	2.52%	May 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 2.30%
Subordinated note		69,660	N/A	70,946	70,376	N/A	May 20, 2020	N/A
							•	
	322,146	320,465		322,146	319,514			
Notes:(2)(4)								
Senior secured								
notes A1	262,000	264,017	2.10	262,000	261,371	2.22%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 1.7%
Senior secured								
notes A1	20,500	20,746	2.90	20,500	19,959	3.05%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 2.5%
Senior secured notes B	25,750	25,428	3.41	25,750	24,426	3.58%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 3.0%
Senior secured	25,750	23,420	5.41	25,750	24,420	5.56 //	November 20, 2020	BBA 5 IIIO LIBOR (USD) plus 5.0%
notes C	14,000	13,741	4.41	14,000	12,604	4.62%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 4.0%
Senior secured								· · · ·
notes D	10,000	9,542	6.42	10,000	9,398	6.71%	November 20, 2020	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 6.0%
Subordinated								
note <sup>(5)</sup>	71,258	71,779	N/A	71,258	71,258	N/A	November 20, 2020	N/A
	403,508	405,253		403,508	399,016			
Notes:(2)(6)								
1.000	274,500	274,500	1.67				July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 1.24%
	. ,							

Senior se								
notes A								
Senior se								
notes B		58,500	58,061	2.33			July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 1.90%
Senior se								
notes C	2	29,812	29,365	3.18			July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 2.75%
Senior se	cured							
notes D	)	20,250	18,681	3.63			July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 3.20%
Senior se	cured							
notes E	3	23,625	19,609	4.63			July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 4.20%
Senior se	cured							
notes F	7	11,270	9,185	5.93			July 18, 2022	BBA 3 mo LIBOR (USD) plus 5.50%
Subordina	ated note	43,350	39,449	N/A			July 18, 2022	N/A
		461 207	440.050					
		461,307	448,850					
Total not	es and							
loans		\$ 1,186,961	\$ 1,174,568		\$ 1,179,530	\$ 1,127,180		

- (1) At December 31, 2010, the cost and fair value of the term loans were \$453.9 million and \$408.7 million, respectively. The term loans were paid down in the first quarter of 2011, with payments totaling \$412.1 million, resulting in a gain of \$41.8 million. Combined with net unrealized depreciation on the term loans of \$45.2 million, the consolidated VIE had a net loss on term loans of \$3.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011, which is reflected in the net (losses) gains from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
- (2) Each class of notes will mature at par on the stated maturity, unless previously redeemed or repaid. Principal will not be payable on the notes except in certain limited circumstances. Interest on the notes is payable quarterly in arrears on the outstanding amount of the notes on scheduled payment dates. The subordinated note will be fully redeemed on the stated maturity unless previously redeemed. The subordinated note may be redeemed, in whole but not in part, on or after the redemption or repayment in full of principal and interest on the secured notes. No interest accrues or is payable on the subordinated note.

-32-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

- (3) The notes are subject to two coverage tests. These tests are primarily used to determine whether principal and interest may be paid on the secured notes and distributions may be made on the subordinated notes. The Coverage Tests consist of the Overcollateralization Ratio Test and the Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each note. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each note. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test; each test applies as of any date on which such Coverage Test is applicable, if (1) the applicable Overcollateralization Ratio or Interest Coverage Ratio is at least equal to the applicable ratio or (2) the class or classes of secured notes is no longer outstanding. The applicable Interest Coverage Ratio for Class A Notes and B Notes is 110.0% and 105.0%, respectively. The applicable Overcollateralization Ratio for Class A Notes and B Notes is 137.5% and 126.4%, respectively.
- (4) The notes are subject to two coverage tests. These tests are primarily used to determine whether principal and interest may be paid on the secured notes and distributions may be made on the subordinated notes. The Coverage Tests consist of the Overcollateralization Ratio Test and the Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each note. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each note. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each note. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each note. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test applicable to the indicated classes of secured notes will be satisfied as of any date on which such Coverage Test is applicable, if (1) the applicable Overcollateralization Ratio or Interest Coverage Ratio is at least equal to the applicable ratio or (2) the class or classes of secured notes is no longer outstanding. The applicable Interest Coverage Ratio for Class A Notes, Class B Notes, Class C Notes and Class D Notes is 110.0%, 102.0% and 101.0%, respectively. The applicable Overcollateralization Ratio for Class A Notes, Class B Notes, Class B Notes, Class B Notes, Class C Notes and Class D Notes is 135.59%, 124.76%, 120.13% and 117.39%, respectively.
- (5) The subordinated notes were issued to an affiliate of the Company. Amount is reduced by approximately \$2.1 million due to elimination of equity investment attributable to consolidated VIEs as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.
- (6) The notes are subject to two coverage tests. These tests are primarily used to determine whether principal and interest may be paid on the secured notes and distributions may be made on the subordinated notes or whether funds which would otherwise be used to pay interest on the Secured Notes other than the Class A Notes and the Class B Notes and to make distributions on the Subordinated Notes must instead be used to pay principal on one or more Classes of Secured Notes according to the priorities defined. The Coverage Tests consist of the Overcollateralization Ratio Test and the Interest Coverage Test; each test applies to each specified Class or Classes of Secured Notes. The Overcollateralization Ratio Test and Interest Coverage Test applicable to the indicated classes of secured notes will be satisfied as of any date of determination on which such Coverage Test is applicable, if (1) the applicable Overcollateralization Ratio or Interest Coverage Ratio is at least equal to the applicable ratio or (2) the class or classes of secured notes is no longer outstanding. The applicable Interest Coverage Ratio for Class A and B Notes, Class C Notes and Class D Notes is 100.0% in respect of the first determination date and 120% thereafter, 110.0%, and 105.0%, respectively. The applicable Overcollateralization Ratio for Class A and B Notes, Class D Notes and Class E Notes is 125.1%, 118.0%, 113.5% and 107.7%, respectively.

The consolidated VIEs have elected the fair value option to value the term loans and notes payable. The general partner uses its discretion and judgment in considering and appraising relevant factors in determining valuation of these loans. As of June 30, 2011, the notes payable are classified as Level III liabilities. Because of the inherent uncertainty in the valuation of the term loans and notes payable, which are not publicly traded, estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been reported had a ready market for such investments existed.

The consolidated VIEs debt obligations contain various customary loan covenants as described above. As of the balance sheet date, the Company was not aware of any instances of noncompliance with any of these covenants.

#### Variable Interest Entities Which are Not Consolidated

The Company holds variable interests in certain VIEs which are not consolidated as it has been determined that Apollo is not the primary beneficiary.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following tables present the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the VIEs for which Apollo has concluded that it holds a significant variable interest, but that it is not the primary beneficiary. In addition, the tables present the maximum exposure to loss relating to those VIEs:

	June 30, 2011 Total Assets Total Liabilities Apollo Exposure		
	Total Assets	Total Liabilities	Apollo Exposure
Private Equity	\$ 13,457,451	\$ (32,290)	\$ 9,887
Capital Markets	3,123,834	(606,859)	12,736
Real Estate	1,577,713	(1,271,954)	
Total	\$ 18,158,998 <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ (1,911,103) <sup>(2)</sup>	\$ 22,623 <sup>(3)</sup>

(1) Consists of \$206,394 in cash, \$17,590,304 in investments and \$362,300 in receivables.

(2) Represents \$1,846,009 in debt and other payables, \$63,263 in securities sold, not purchased, and \$1,831 in capital withdrawals payable.

(3) Apollo s exposure is limited to its direct and indirect investments in those entities in which Apollo holds a significant variable interest.

	December 31, 2010 Total Assets Total Liabilities A					
Private Equity	\$ 11,593,805	\$ (39,625)	\$	13,415		
Capital Markets	3,117,013	(824,957)		13,302		
Real Estate	1,569,147	(1,263,354)				
Total	\$ 16,279,965 <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ (2,127,936) <sup>(2)</sup>	\$	26,717 <sup>(3)</sup>		

(1) Consists of \$207,168 in cash, \$15,672,604 in investments and \$400,193 in receivables.

Represents \$2,011,194 in debt and other payables, \$21,369 in securities sold, not purchased, and \$95,373 in capital withdrawals payable.
Apollo s exposure is limited to its direct and indirect investments in those entities in which Apollo holds a significant variable interest. At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, AAA Investments, the sole investment of AAA, invested in certain of the Company s unconsolidated VIEs, including LeverageSource, L.P., AutumnLeaf, L.P., Apollo ALS Holdings, L.P., and A.P. Charter Holdings, L.P. At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the aggregate amount of such investments were \$166.6 million and \$251.5 million, respectively. The Company s ownership interest in AAA was 2.43% and 2.81% at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

#### **5. CARRIED INTEREST RECEIVABLE**

The table below provides a roll-forward of the carried interest receivable balance for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

	Private Equity	Capital Markets	Total	
Carried interest receivable at January 1, 2011	\$ 1,578,135	\$ 288,938	\$ 1,867,073	
Carried interest income from change in fair value of funds	580,681	142,228	722,909	
Foreign exchange gain		2,241	2,241	
Fund cash distributions	(289,948)	(101,266)	(391,214)	
Carried Interest Receivable at June 30, 2011	\$ 1,868,868	\$ 332,141	\$ 2,201,009	

The timing of the payment of carried interest due to the general partner or investment manager varies depending on the terms of the applicable fund agreements. Generally, carried interest with respect to the private equity funds is payable and is distributed to the fund s general partner upon realization of an investment if the fund s cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return. For most capital markets funds, carried interest is payable based on realizations after the end of the relevant fund s fiscal year or fiscal quarter, subject to high watermark provisions. There is currently no carried interest receivable associated with the Company s real estate segment.

-34-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

## 6. OTHER LIABILITIES

Other liabilities consist of the following:

	June 30, 2011		ember 31, 2010
Interest rate swap agreements	\$ 8,475	\$	11,531
Deferred rent	12,608		10,318
Deferred taxes	4,350		2,424
Other	963		1,422
Total Other Liabilities	\$ 26,396	\$	25,695

*Interest Rate Swap Agreements* The principal financial instruments used for cash flow hedging purposes are interest rate swaps. Apollo enters into interest rate swap agreements to manage its exposure to interest rate changes. The swaps effectively converted a portion of the Company s variable rate debt under the AMH Credit Agreement (discussed in note 8) to a fixed rate, without exchanging the notional principal amounts. Apollo entered into an interest rate swap agreement whereby Apollo receives floating rate payments in exchange for fixed rate payments of 5.175%, on the notional amount of \$167.0 million, effectively converting a portion of its floating rate borrowings to a fixed rate. The interest rate swap agreement expires in May 2012. Apollo has hedged only the risk related to changes in the benchmark interest rate (three month LIBOR). As of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company has recorded a liability of \$8.5 million and \$11.5 million, respectively, to recognize the fair value of this derivative.

The Company has determined that the valuation of the interest rate swaps fall within Level II of the fair value hierarchy. The Company estimates the fair value of its interest rate swaps using discounted cash flow models, which project future cash flows based on the instruments contractual terms using market-based expectations for interest rates. The Company also includes a credit risk adjustment to the cash flow discount rate to incorporate the impact of non-performance risk in the recognized measure of the fair value of the swaps. This adjustment is based on the counterparty s credit risk when the swaps are in a net asset position and on the Company s own credit risk when the swaps are in a net liability position.

#### 7. INCOME TAXES

The Company is treated as a partnership for tax purposes and is therefore not subject to U.S. Federal income taxes; however, APO Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is subject to U.S. Federal corporate income taxes. In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject to New York City Unincorporated Business Tax ( NYC UBT ) attributable to the Company s operations apportioned to New York City and certain non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company are subject to income taxes in their local jurisdictions. APO Corp. is required to file a standalone Federal corporate tax return, as well as filing standalone corporate state and local tax returns in California, New York and New York City. The Company s provision for income taxes is accounted for under the provisions of U.S. GAAP.

The Company s provision for income taxes totaled (3.6) million and (12.7) million for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively and (12.4) million and (16.8) million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The Company s effective tax rate was approximately (3.51)% and (4.40)% for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively and 7.79% and (4.68)% for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively and 7.79% and (4.68)% for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Based upon the Company s review of its federal, state, local and foreign income tax returns and tax filing positions, the Company determined no unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax positions were required to be recorded. In addition, the Company does not believe that it has any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that it will be required to record significant amounts of unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months.

The Company files its tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which it operates. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by federal and certain state, local, and foreign tax authorities. As of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, Apollo and its predecessor entities U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income tax returns for the years 2008 through 2010 are open under the normal statute of limitations and therefore subject to examination.

-35-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### 8. DEBT

Debt consists of the following:

	June 3	0, 2011 Annualized Weighted	Decembe	31, 2010 Annualized Weighted	
	Outstanding Balance	Average Interest Rate	Outstanding Balance	Average Interest Rate	
AMH credit agreement	\$ 728,273	5.52%(1)	\$ 728,273	$3.78\%^{(1)}$	
CIT secured loan agreement	10,511	3.37	23,252	3.50	
Total Debt	\$ 738,784	5.46%	\$ 751,525	3.77%	

#### (1) Includes the effect of interest rate swaps.

*AMH Credit Agreement* On April 20, 2007, Apollo Management Holdings, L.P. (AMH) entered into a \$1.0 billion seven year credit agreement (the AMH Credit Agreement). Interest payable under the AMH Credit Agreement may from time to time be based on Eurodollar (LIBOR) or Alternate Base Rate (ABR) as determined by the borrower. Through the use of interest rate swaps, AMH has irrevocably elected three-month LIBOR for \$433 million of the debt for three years from the closing date of the AMH Credit Agreement and \$167 million of the debt for five years from the closing date of the AMH Credit Agreement. The interest rate swap agreements related to the \$433 million notional amount were comprised of two components: a \$333 million portion and a \$100 million portion. The interest rate swap agreement related to the \$333 million portion and a \$100 million portion expired in November 2010. The interest rate swap agreement related to the \$167 million notional amount expires in May 2012. The remaining amount of the debt is computed currently based on three-month LIBOR. The interest rate of the Eurodollar loan, which was amended as discussed below, is the daily Eurodollar rate plus the applicable margin rate (3.75% for loans with extended maturity, as discussed below, and 1.00% for loans without the extended maturity as of June 30, 2011 and 4.25% for loans with extended maturity and 1.50% for loans without the extended maturity as of December 31, 2010). The interest rate on the ABR term loan, which was amended as discussed below, in each case plus the applicable margin. The AMH Credit Agreement originally had a maturity date of April 2014.

On December 20, 2010, Apollo amended the AMH Credit Agreement to extend the maturity date of \$995.0 million (including the \$90.9 million of fair value debt repurchased by the Company) of the term loans from April 20, 2014 to January 3, 2017 and modified certain other terms of the credit facility. Pursuant to this amendment, AMH was required to purchase from each lender that elected to extend the maturity date of its term loan a portion of such extended term loan equal to 20% thereof. In addition, the Company is required to repurchase at least \$50.0 million aggregate principal amount of term loans by December 31, 2014 and at least \$100.0 million aggregate principal amount of term loans (inclusive of the previously purchased \$50.0 million) by December 31, 2015 at a price equal to par plus accrued interest. The sweep leverage ratio was also extended to end at the new loan term maturity date. The interest rate for the highest applicable margin for the loan portion extended changed to LIBOR plus 4.25% and ABR plus 3.25%. On December 20, 2010, an affiliate of AMH that is a guarantor under the AMH Credit Agreement repurchased approximately \$180.8 million of term loans in connection with the extension of the maturity date of such loans and thus the AMH loans (excluding the portions held by AMH affiliates) had a remaining balance of \$728.3 million. The Company determined that the amendments to the AMH Credit Agreement resulted in a debt extinguishment which did not result in any gain or loss.

The interest rate on the \$723.3 million, net (\$995.0 million portion less amount repurchased) of the loan at June 30, 2011 was 4.01% and the interest rate on the remaining \$5.0 million portion of the loan at June 30, 2011 was 1.26%. The estimated fair value of the Company s long-term debt obligation related to the AMH Credit Agreement is believed to be approximately \$743.4 million based on a yield analysis using available market data of comparable securities with similar terms and remaining maturities. The \$728.3 million carrying value of debt that is recorded on the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition at June 30, 2011 is the amount for which the Company expects to settle the AMH Credit Agreement.

-36-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

As of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the AMH Credit Agreement is guaranteed by, and collateralized by, substantially all of the assets of Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IX, L.P. and AMH, as well as cash proceeds from the sale of assets or similar recovery events and any cash deposited pursuant to the excess cash flow covenant, which will be deposited as cash collateral to the extent necessary as set forth in the AMH Credit Agreement. As of June 30, 2011, the consolidated net assets (deficit) of Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IX, L.P. and AMH and its consolidated subsidiaries were \$149.4 million, \$67.9 million, \$44.7 million, \$165.4 million and \$(1,012.4) million, respectively. As of December 31, 2010, the consolidated net assets (deficit) of Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apol

In accordance with the AMH Credit Agreement, Apollo Principal Holdings II, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IV, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings V, L.P., Apollo Principal Holdings IX, L.P. and AMH and their respective subsidiaries are subject to certain negative and affirmative covenants. Among other things, the AMH Credit Agreement includes an excess cash flow covenant and an asset sales covenant. The AMH Credit Agreement does not contain any financial maintenance covenants.

If AMH s debt to EBITDA ratio (the Leverage Ratio ) as of the end of any fiscal year exceeds the level set forth in the next sentence (the Excess Sweep Leverage Ratio ), AMH must deposit in the cash collateral account the lesser of (a) 100% of its Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the AMH Credit Agreement) and (b) the amount necessary to reduce the Leverage Ratio on a pro forma basis as of the end of such fiscal year to 0.25 to 1.00 below the Excess Sweep Leverage Ratio. The Excess Sweep Leverage Ratio will be: for 2011, 4.00 to 1.00; for 2012, 4.00 to 1.00; for 2013, 4.00 to 1.00; for 2014, 3.75 to 1.00; and for 2015 and thereafter, 3.50 to 1.00.

In addition, AMH must deposit the lesser of (a) 50% of any remaining Excess Cash Flow and (b) the amount required to reduce the Leverage Ratio on a pro forma basis at the end of each fiscal year to a level 0.25 to 1.00 below the Sweep Leverage Ratio (as defined in the next paragraph) for such fiscal year.

If AMH receives net cash proceeds from certain non-ordinary course asset sales, then such net cash proceeds shall be deposited in the cash collateral account to the extent necessary to reduce its Leverage Ratio on a pro forma basis as of the last day of the most recently completed fiscal quarter (after giving effect to such non-ordinary course asset sale and such deposit) to (the following specified levels for the specified years, the Sweep Leverage Ratio ) (i) for 2011, 2012 and 2013, a Leverage Ratio of 3.50 to 1.00, (ii) for 2014, a Leverage Ratio of 3.25 to 1.00, (iii) for 2015, a Leverage Ratio of 3.00 to 1.00 and (iv) for all other years, a Leverage Ratio of 3.00 to 1.00.

The AMH Credit Agreement contains customary events of default, including events of default arising from non-payment, material misrepresentations, breaches of covenants, cross default to material indebtedness, bankruptcy and changes in control of AMH. As of June 30, 2011, the Company was not aware of any instances of non-compliance with the AMH Credit Agreement.

*CIT Secured Loan Agreement* During the second quarter of 2008, the Company entered into four secured loan agreements totaling \$26.9 million with CIT Group/Equipment Financing Inc. ( CIT ) to finance the purchase of certain fixed assets. The loans bear interest at LIBOR plus 318 basis points per annum with interest and principal to be repaid monthly and a balloon payment of the remaining principal totaling \$9.4 million due at the end of the terms in April 2013. At June 30, 2011, the interest rate was 3.37%. On April 28, 2011, the Company sold its ownership interest in certain assets which served as collateral to the CIT secured loan agreement for \$11.3 million with \$11.1 million of the proceeds going to CIT directly. As a result of the sale and an additional payment made by the Company of \$1.1 million, the Company satisfied the loan associated with the related asset of \$12.2 million on April 28, 2011. As of June 30, 2011, the carrying value of the remaining CIT secured loan agreement is \$10.5 million.

Apollo has determined that the carrying value of this debt approximates fair value as the loans are primarily variable rate in nature.

-37-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

## NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### 9. NET LOSS PER CLASS A SHARE

U.S. GAAP requires use of the two-class method of computing earnings per share for all periods presented for each class of common stock and participating security as if all earnings for the period had been distributed. Under the two-class method, during periods of net income, the net income is first reduced for dividends declared on all classes of securities to arrive at undistributed earnings. During periods of net losses, the net loss is reduced for dividends declared on participating securities only if the security has the right to participate in the earnings of the entity and an objectively determinable contractual obligation to share in net losses of the entity.

The remaining earnings are allocated to common Class A Shares and participating securities to the extent that each security shares in earnings as if all of the earnings for the period had been distributed. Each total is then divided by the applicable number of shares to arrive at basic earnings per share. For the diluted earnings, the denominator includes all outstanding common shares and all potential common shares assumed issued if they are dilutive. The numerator is adjusted for any changes in income or loss that would result from the assumed conversion of these potential common shares.

The table below presents basic and diluted net loss per Class A share using the two-class method for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010:

	Basic and Diluted							
	For the Three Months Ended			For the Six Months Ended				
		June 3 2011	· ·		June 3		30, 2010	
Numerator:		2011		2010		2011		2010
Net loss attributable to Apollo Global Management,	¢	(50.080)	¢	(75, 124)	¢	(12, 922)	¢	(125, 906)
	\$	(50,989)	\$	(75,124)	\$	(12,833)	\$	(135,806)
Dividends declared on Class A shares		$(26,779)^{(1)}$		$(6,744)^{(2)}$		$(43,426)^{(1)}$		$(6,744)^{(2)}$
Dividend equivalents on participating securities		(4,706)		(960)		(7,964)		(960)
Earnings allocable to participating securities		(3)		(3)		(3)		(3)
Net Loss Attributable to Class A Shareholders	\$	(82,474)	\$	(82,828)	\$	(64,223)	\$	(143,510)
Denominator:								
Weighted average number of Class A shares								
outstanding	12	0,963,248	9	6,346,032	1	09,652,330	9	6,065,452
Net loss per Class A share: Basic and Diluted <sup>(4)</sup>								
Distributable Earnings	\$	0.22	\$	0.07	\$	0.40	\$	0.07
Undistributed loss		(0.68)		(0.86)		(0.59)		(1.49)
Net Loss per Class A Share	\$	(0.46)	\$	(0.79)	\$	(0.19)	\$	(1.42)
The Loss per Class A bildre	φ	(0.+0)	φ	(0.79)	φ	(0.19)	φ	(1.42)

- (1) The Company declared a \$0.17 dividend on Class A shares on January 4, 2011 and a \$0.22 dividend on Class A shares on May 12, 2011. As a result, there is an increase in net loss attributable to Class A shareholders presented during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011.
- (2) The Company declared a \$0.07 dividend on Class A shares in May 2010. As a result, there is an increase in net loss attributable to Class A shareholders presented during the three and six months ended June 30, 2010.
- (3) No allocation of losses was made to the participating securities as the holders do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses of the Company with the Class A shareholders.
- (4) For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, unvested RSUs, AOG Units and the share options were determined to be anti-dilutive. Therefore, basic and diluted net loss per share is presented as identical for these periods.

-38-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

On October 24, 2007, the Company commenced the granting of restricted share units (RSUs) that provide the right to receive, upon vesting, Class A shares of Apollo Global Management, LLC, pursuant to the 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. Certain RSU grants to Company employees during 2010 and 2011 provide the right to receive distribution equivalents on vested RSUs on an equal basis any time a distribution is declared. The Company refers to these RSU grants as Plan Grants. For certain Plan Grants made before 2010, distribution equivalents are paid in January of the calendar year next following the calendar year in which a distribution on Class A shares was declared. In addition, certain RSU grants to Company employees in 2010 and 2011 (the Company refers to these as Bonus Grants) provide that both vested and unvested RSUs participate in distribution equivalents on an equal basis with the Class A shareholders any time a distribution is declared. As of June 30, 2011, approximately 16.6 million vested RSUs and 6.5 million unvested RSUs were eligible for participation in distribution equivalents.

Any distribution equivalent paid to an employee will not be returned to the Company upon forfeiture of the award by the employee. Vested and unvested RSUs that are entitled to non-forfeitable distribution equivalents qualify as participating securities and are included in the Company s basic and diluted earnings per share computations using the two-class method. The holder of a RSU participating security would have a contractual obligation to share in the losses of the entity if the holder is obligated to fund the losses of the issuing entity or if the contractual principal or mandatory redemption amount of the participating security is reduced as a result of losses incurred by the issuing entity. Because the RSU participating securities do not have a mandatory redemption amount and the holders of the participating securities are not obligated to fund losses, neither the vested RSUs nor the unvested RSUs are subject to any contractual obligation to share in losses of the Company.

-39-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Holders of AOG Units are subject to the vesting requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the agreements with the respective holders, and may up to four times each year (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement) exchange their AOG Units for Class A shares on a one-for-one basis. A limited partner must exchange one partnership unit in each of the eight Apollo Operating Group partnerships to effect an exchange for one Class A share. If fully converted, the result would be an additional 240,000,000 Class A shares added to the diluted earnings per share calculation.

Apollo has one Class B share outstanding, which is held by Holdings. The voting power of the Class B share is reduced on a one vote per one AOG Unit basis in the event of an exchange of AOG Units for Class A shares, as discussed above. The Class B share has no net income (loss) per share as it does not participate in Apollo s earnings (losses) or distributions. The Class B share has no distribution or liquidation rights. The Class B share has voting rights on a pari passu basis with the Class A shares. The Class B share currently has a super voting power of 240,000,000 votes.

On March 12, 2010, the Company issued 0.7 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 28.6% from 28.5%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A share issuance, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 71.5% to 71.4%.

On July 9, 2010 and July 23, 2010, the Company issued a total of 1.6 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 29.0% from 28.6%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A share issuance, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 71.4% to 71.0%.

On September 16, 2010, the Company repurchased 7,135 Class A shares from an employee who left the firm. This repurchase did not cause a material change to the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group.

On September 30, 2010, the Company issued 11,405 Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance did not cause a material change to the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group.

On January 8, 2011, the Company issued 2,287 Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance did not cause a material change to the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group.

On March 15, 2011, the Company issued 1.5 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 29.3% from 29.0%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A share issuance, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 71.0% to 70.7% for Class A shares issued a change in ownership.

On April 4, 2011, the Company issued 21.5 million Class A shares as part of the IPO for net proceeds of \$382.5 million. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 33.5% from 29.3%. As Holdings did not participate in this IPO, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 70.7% to 66.5%.

On April 7, 2011, the Company issued 0.75 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 33.7% from 33.5%. As Holdings did not participate in this Class A share issuance, its ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group decreased from 66.5% to 66.3%.

#### **10. EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION**

AOG Units

As a result of the service requirement, the fair value of the AOG Units of approximately \$5.6 billion is being charged to compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the five or six year service period, as applicable. For the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, \$516.4 million and \$516.7 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, \$258.2 million and \$258.3 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively. The estimated forfeiture rate was 3% for Contributing Partners and 0% for Managing Partners based on actual forfeitures as well as the Company s future forfeiture expectations. As of June 30, 2011, there was \$1.0 billion of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested AOG Units that are expected to vest over the next two years.

-40-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table summarizes AOG activity for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

	Apollo Operating Group Units	Ğra	ted Average ant Date ir Value
Balance at January 1, 2011	66,742,906	\$	23.13
Granted			
Forfeited			
Vested at June 30, 2011	(22,074,848)		23.39
Balance at June 30, 2011	44,668,058	\$	23.00

Units Expected to Vest As of June 30, 2011, approximately 44,400,000 AOG Units are expected to vest over the next two years.

#### **RSUs**

On October 24, 2007, the Company commenced the granting of RSUs under the Company s 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. These grants are accounted for as a grant of equity awards in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The fair value of Plan Grants made in 2011 was approximately \$88.7 million, which is based on valuation methods that consider market comparables for transfer restrictions and lack of distributions until vested. For Bonus Grants, the valuation methods consider transfer restrictions and timing of distributions. The total fair value will be charged to compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which generally can be up to 24 quarters or annual vesting over three years. The actual forfeiture rate was 0.9% and 7.1% for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and 0.4% and 2.8% for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, \$50.8 million and \$35.2 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, \$27.0 million and \$20.7 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively.

#### **Delivery of Class A Shares**

The delivery of RSUs does not cause a transfer of amounts in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders Equity to the Class A Shareholders. The delivery of Class A shares for vested RSUs causes the income allocated to the Non-Controlling Interests to shift to the Class A shareholders from the date of delivery forward. For the three months ended, the Company delivered 0.75 million Class A shares in settlement of vested RSUs, which caused the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group to increase to 33.7% from 33.5%. Upon conversion of the AOG Units, there will be a transfer of amounts from Non-Controlling Interests to the Company s equity.

The following table summarizes RSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

		0	ited Average ant Date		
	Unvested		Fair Value	Vested	Total Number of RSUs
	Unvesteu		value	vesteu	KSUS
Balance at January 1, 2011	23,442,916	\$	10.25	15,642,921	39,085,837

Granted	5,467,855	16.	23	5,467,855
Forfeited	(266,724)	10.	61	(266,724)
Delivered		8.	83 (2,777,155)	(2,777,155)
Vested at June 30, 2011	(3,763,510)	11.	26 3,763,510	
Balance at June 30, 2011	24,880,537	\$ 11.	41 16,629,276 <sup>(1)</sup>	41,509,813

(1) Amount excludes RSUs which have vested and have been delivered.

Units Expected to Vest As of June 30, 2011, approximately 23,400,000 RSUs are expected to vest.

-41-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### **Share Options**

Under the Company s 2007 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, 5,000,000 options were granted on December 2, 2010. These options shall vest and become exercisable with respect to 4/24 of the option shares on December 31, 2011 and the remainder in equal installments over each of the remaining 20 quarters with full vesting on December 31, 2016. In addition, 555,556 options were granted on January 22, 2011 and 25,000 options were granted on April 9, 2011. The options granted on January 22, 2011 shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the option shares on December 31, 2012. The options granted on April 9, 2011 shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the option shares on December 31, 2012. The options granted on April 9, 2011 shall vest and become exercisable with respect to half of the options shares on December 31, 2011 and the other half in four equal quarterly installments starting on March 31, 2012 and thereafter, ending on December 31, 2012. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, \$1.8 million and \$3.2 million of compensation expense was recognized as a result of these grants, respectively.

Apollo measures fair value of each option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for options awarded during 2011:

Assumptions:	<b>2011</b> <sup>(2)</sup>
Risk-free interest rate	2.79%
Weighted average expected dividend yield	2.25%
Expected volatility factor	40.22%(1)
Expected life in years	5.72
Fair Value of options per share	\$ 8.44

(1) The Company determined its expected volatility based on comparable companies using daily stock prices.

(2) Represents weighted average of 2011 grants.

The following table summarizes the share option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

	Options Outstanding	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Aggregate Fair Value	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term
Balance at January 1, 2011	5,000,000	\$ 8.00	\$ 28,100	9.92
Granted	580,556	9.39	4,896	9.59
Exercised				
Forfeited				
Balance at June 30, 2011	5,580,556	\$ 8.14	\$ 32,996	9.43

Units Expected to Vest As of June 30, 2011, approximately 5,250,000 options are expected to vest.

The expected term of the options granted represents the period of time that options are expected to be outstanding and is based on the contractual term of the option. Unamortized compensation cost related to unvested share options at June 30, 2011 was \$29.6 million and is expected to be recognized over a period of 5.1 years. None of the share options were vested or exercisable at June 30, 2011.

### AAA RDUs

Incentive units that provide the right to receive AAA restricted depository units ( RDUs ) following vesting are granted periodically to employees of Apollo. These grants are accounted for as equity awards in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The RDUs subject to incentive units granted to employees generally vest over three years. In contrast, the Company s Managing Partners and Contributing Partners have received distributions of fully vested AAA RDUs. The fair value of the grants is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period (or upon grant in the case of fully vested AAA RDUs). Vested AAA RDUs can be converted into ordinary common units of AAA. During the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the actual forfeiture rate was 0% and 2.5%, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the actual forfeiture rate was 0% and 0.5%, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, \$0.2 million and \$1.3 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, \$0.1 million and \$0.7 million of compensation expense was recognized, respectively.

-42-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

During the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Company delivered 389,785 and 389,892 RDUs, respectively, to individuals who had vested in these units. The delivery in 2011 resulted in a reduction of the accrued compensation liability of \$3.8 million and the recognition of a net decrease of additional paid in capital of \$2.8 million. These amounts are presented in the condensed consolidated statement of changes in shareholders equity. There was \$0.2 million and \$1.4 million of liability for undelivered RDUs included in accrued compensation and benefits in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The following table summarizes RDU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

	Unvested	Avera Da	eighted age Grant te Fair Value	Vested	Total Number of RDUs Issued and Outstanding
Balance at January 1, 2011	166,667	\$	7.20	389,785	556,452
Granted	82,107		10.50		82,107
Forfeited					
Delivered			10.54	(389,785)	(389,785)
Vested					
Balance at June 30, 2011	248,774	\$	8.29		248,774

Units Expected to Vest As of June 30, 2011, approximately 219,000 RDUs are expected to vest over the next three years.

The following table summarizes the activity of RDUs available for future grants:

	RDUs Available For Future Grants
Balance at January 1, 2011	1,979,031
Purchases	49,418
Granted	(82,107)
Forfeited	
Balance at June 30, 2011	1,946,342

#### Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit Awards Apollo Commercial Real Estate Finance, Inc. ( ARI )

On September 29, 2009, 97,500 and 140,000 shares of ARI restricted stock were granted to the Company and certain of the Company s employees, respectively. Additionally, on December 31, 2009, 5,000 shares of ARI restricted stock were granted to a Company employee. The fair value of the Company and employee awards granted was \$1.8 million and \$2.7 million, respectively. These awards generally vest over three years or twelve calendar quarters, with the first quarter vesting on January 1, 2010. On March 23, 2010, July 1, 2010 and July 21, 2010, 102,084, 5,000 and 16,875 shares of ARI restricted stock units (ARI RSUs), respectively, were granted to certain of the Company s employees. Additionally, another 5,000 shares were granted to certain of the Company s employees on April 1, 2011. Pursuant to the March 23, 2010 and July 21, 2010 issuances, 102,084 and 16,875 shares of ARI restricted stock, respectively, were forfeited by the Company s employees. As the fair

value of ARI RSUs was not greater than the forfeiture of the restricted stock, no additional value will be amortized. The awards granted to the Company are accounted for as investments and deferred revenue in the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition. As these awards vest, the deferred revenue is recognized as management fees. The investment is accounted for using the equity method of accounting for awards granted to the Company and as a deferred compensation asset for the awards granted to employees. Compensation expense will be recognized on a straight line-basis over the vesting period for the awards granted to the employees. The Company recorded an asset and a liability upon receiving the awards on behalf of the Company s employees. The awards granted to the Company s employees are remeasured each period to reflect the fair value of the asset and liability and any changes in these values are recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

-43-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

For the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, \$0.7 million and \$0.7 million of management fees and \$0.4 million and \$0.4 million of compensation expense were recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, \$0.4 million and \$0.4 million of management fees and \$0.2 million and \$0.2 million of compensation expense were recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations, respectively. The actual forfeiture rate for unvested ARI restricted stock awards and ARI RSUs was 0% and 0% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, as the forfeiture noted above was an exchange of securities and did not impact the overall expense recognized by the Company.

The following table summarizes activity for the ARI restricted stock awards and ARI RSUs that were granted to both the Company and certain of its employees for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

	ARI RSUs Unvested	ARI Restricted Stock Unvested	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value	Vested	Total Number of Restricted Stock Awards and RSUs Issued
Balance at January 1, 2011	96,250	65,002	\$ 17.57	81,248	242,500
Granted to employees of the Company	5,000		15.85		5,000
Forfeited by employees of the Company					
Vested awards for employees of the Company	(27,501)		17.00	27,501	
Vested awards for the Company		(16,250)	18.48	16,250	
Balance at June 30, 2011	73,749	48,752	\$ 17.51	124,999	247,500

Units Expected to Vest As of June 30, 2011, approximately 69,000 and 48,752 shares of ARI RSUs and ARI restricted stock, respectively, are expected to vest.

Equity-based compensation is allocated based on ownership interests. Therefore, the amortization of the AOG Units is allocated to Shareholders Equity and the Non-Controlling Interests, which results in a difference in the amounts charged to equity-based compensation expense and the amounts credited to Shareholders Equity in the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Below is a reconciliation of the equity-based compensation allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC for the three months ended June 30, 2011:

		Allocated	
	Non-	to	
	Controlling	Non-	
	Interest %	Controlling	Allocated to
	in	Interest in	Apollo
	Apollo	Apollo	Global
Total	Operating	Operating	Management,
Amount	Group (1)	Group <sup>(1)</sup>	LLC

AOG Units	\$ 258,191	66.5%	\$ 171,694	\$	86,497
RSUs and Share Options	28,768				28,768
ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs	247	66.5%	156		91
AAA RDUs	152	66.5%	98		54
Total Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 287,358		171,948		115,410
Less AAA RDUs, ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs			(254)		(145)
Capital Increase Related to Equity-Based Compensation			\$ 171.694	\$	115.265
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			,	,	- /= ==

(1) Calculated based on average ownership percentage for the period considering Class A share issuances during the period.

### -44-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Below is a reconciliation of the equity-based compensation allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC for the three months ended June 30, 2010:

	Total Amount	Non- Controlling Interest % in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Non- Controlling Interest in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC
AOG Units	\$ 258,336	71.4%	\$ 184,336	\$ 74,000
RSUs	20,722			20,722
ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs	203	71.4%	144	59
AAA RDUs	699	71.4%	499	200
Total Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 279,960		184,979	94,981
Less AAA RDUs, ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs			(643)	(259)
Capital Increase Related to Equity-Based Compensation			\$ 184,336	\$ 94,722

Calculated based on average ownership percentage for the period considering Class A share issuances during the period.
 Below is a reconciliation of the equity-based compensation allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

	Total Amount	Non- Controlling Interest % in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Non- Controlling Interest in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC
AOG Units	\$ 516,382	68.7%	\$ 354,916	\$ 161,466
RSUs and Share Options	53,925			53,925
ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs	434	68.7%	288	146
AAA RDUs	224	68.7%	149	75
Total Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 570,965		355,353	215,612

Less AAA RDUs, ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs	(437)	(221)
Capital Increase Related to Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 354,916	\$ 215,391

(1) Calculated based on average ownership percentage for the period considering Class A share issuances during the period.

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

Below is a reconciliation of the equity-based compensation allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC for the six months ended June 30, 2010:

	Total Amount	Non- Controlling Interest % in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Non- Controlling Interest in Apollo Operating Group <sup>(1)</sup>	Allocated to Apollo Global Management, LLC
AOG Units	\$ 516,672	71.4%	\$ 368,966	\$ 147,706
RSUs	35,192			35,192
ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs	421	71.4%	300	121
AAA RDUs	1,321	71.4%	943	378
Total Equity-Based Compensation	\$ 553,606		370,209	183,397
Less AAA RDUs, ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs			(1,243)	(499)
Capital Increase Related to Equity-Based Compensation			\$ 368,966	\$ 182,898

### (1) Calculated based on average ownership percentage for the period considering Class A share issuances during the period.

### 11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND INTERESTS IN CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

The Company typically facilitates the initial payment of certain operating costs incurred by the funds that it manages as well as their affiliates. These costs are normally reimbursed by such funds and are included in due from affiliates.

Due from affiliates and due to affiliates are comprised of the following:

	As of June 30, 2011	As of December 31, 2010
Due from Affiliates:		
Due from private equity funds	\$ 21,908	\$ 52,128
Due from portfolio companies	56,676	42,933
Management and advisory fees receivable from capital markets funds	20,514	19,095
Due from capital markets funds	8,336	13,612
Due from Contributing Partners, employees and former employees	7,299	8,496

Due from real estate funds	16,890	5,887
Other	1,946	2,212
Total Due from Affiliates	\$ 133,569	\$ 144,363

## Due to Affiliates:

Due to Managing Partners and Contributing Partners in connection with		
the tax receivable agreement	\$451,606	\$ 491,402
Due to private equity funds	10,785	20,890
Due to real estate funds	1,200	1,200
Other	4,797	4,153
Total Due to Affiliates	\$ 468,388	\$ 517,645

-46-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### **Tax Receivable Agreement**

Subject to certain restrictions, each of the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners has the right to exchange their vested AOG Units for the Company s Class A shares. Certain Apollo Operating Group entities have made an election under Section 754 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, as amended, which will result in an adjustment to the tax basis of the assets owned by Apollo Operating Group at the time of the exchange. These exchanges will result in increases in tax deductions that will reduce the amount of tax that APO Corp. will otherwise be required to pay in the future. Additionally, the further acquisition of AOG Units from the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners also may result in increases in tax deductions and tax basis of assets that will further reduce the amount of tax that APO Corp. will otherwise be required to pay in the future.

APO Corp. entered into a tax receivable agreement (TRA) with the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners that provides for the payment to the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. Federal, state, local and foreign income taxes that APO Corp. would realize as a result of the increases in tax basis of assets that resulted from the Reorganization. If the Company does not make the required annual payment on a timely basis as outlined in the TRA agreement, interest is accrued on the balance until the payment date. These payments are expected to occur approximately over the next 20 years.

In April 2011, Apollo made a \$39.8 million cash payment against the tax receivable agreement to the Managing and Contributing Partners resulting from a realized tax benefit for the 2010 tax year. Included in the payment was \$29 thousand and \$3 thousand of interest to the Managing Partners and Contributing Partners, respectively. Additionally, the Company deferred 25% of the TRA payment intended to be paid to the Managing Partners on April 5, 2011. The deferred payment of \$12.1 million is expected to be paid in 2014.

#### **Special Allocation**

In December 2009, the AMH partnership agreement was amended to provide for special allocations of income to APO Corp. and a reduction of income allocated to Holdings for the 2009 and 2010 calendar years. In connection with the amendment of the AMH partnership agreement in April of 2010, the tax receivable agreement was revised to reflect the Managing Partners agreement to defer 25% of required payments pursuant to the tax receivable agreement that is attributable to the 2010 fiscal year for a period of four years. The amendment allows for a maximum allocation of income from Holdings of approximately \$22.1 million in 2009 and eliminates any income allocation to Holdings in 2010. There was no extension of the special allocation after December 31, 2010. Therefore as a result, the Company did not allocate any additional income from AMH to APO Corp. related to the special allocation beyond such date. The Company will continue to allocate income to APO Corp. based on the current economic sharing percentage.

#### Due from Contributing Partners, Employees and Former Employees

The Company has accrued a receivable from the Contributing Partners and certain employees and former employees for the potential return of carried interest income that would be due if the private equity funds were liquidated at the balance sheet date. Also see Due to Private Equity Funds.

#### Management Fee Waiver and Notional Investment Program

Apollo has forgone a portion of management fee revenue that it would have been entitled to receive in cash and instead received profits interests and assigned these profits interests to employees and partners. The amount of management fees waived and related compensation expense amounted to \$15.4 million and \$14.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and \$7.7 million and \$7.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

-47-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### Distributions

The table below presents the determination, declaration, and payment of the amount of quarterly distributions which are at the sole discretion of the company (in millions, except per share amounts):

	C	outions per lass A Share Distributions		Distributions to Non-Controlling Interest Distributions to Holders AGM in the Class A Apollo			to ontrolling erest lders	Distr f	Fotal Tibutions Trom pollo	Equiva	bution llents on ipating
Distributions Declaration Date	Aı	mount	Payment Date	Share	eholders	Operati	ng Group	Operat	ing Group	Secu	rities
May 27, 2010	\$	0.07	June 15, 2010	\$	6.7	\$	16.8	\$	23.5	\$	1.0
January 4, 2011	\$	0.17	January 14, 2011	\$	16.6	\$	40.8	\$	57.4	\$	3.3
May 12, 2011	\$	0.22	June 1, 2011	\$	26.8	\$	52.8	\$	79.6	\$	4.7

Indemnity

Carried interest income from certain funds that the Company manages can be distributed to us on a current basis, but is subject to repayment by the subsidiary of the Apollo Operating Group that acts as general partner of the fund in the event that certain specified return thresholds are not ultimately achieved. The Managing Partners, Contributing Partners and certain other investment professionals have personally guaranteed, subject to certain limitations, the obligation of these subsidiaries in respect of this general partner obligation. Such guarantees are several and not joint and are limited to a particular Managing Partner s or Contributing Partner s distributions. An existing shareholders agreement includes clauses that indemnify each of the Company s Managing Partners and certain Contributing Partners against all amounts that they pay pursuant to any of these personal guarantees in favor of certain funds that the Company manages (including costs and expenses related to investigating the basis for or objecting to any claims made in respect of the guarantees) for all interests that the Company s Managing Partners and Contributing Partners that the Company s Managing Partners and Contributing Partners that the Company s Managing Partners and Contributing Partners that the Company s Managing Partners and Contributing Partners that the Company s Managing Partners and Contributing Partners have contributed or sold to the Apollo Operating Group.

Accordingly, in the event that the Company s Managing Partners, Contributing Partners and certain investment professionals are required to pay amounts in connection with a general partner obligation for the return of previously made distributions, we will be obligated to reimburse the Company s Managing Partners and certain Contributing Partners for the indemnifiable percentage of amounts that they are required to pay even though we did not receive the certain distribution to which that general partner obligation related. As of June 30, 2011, the Company has not recorded an obligation for any previously made distributions.

#### **Due to Private Equity Funds**

On June 30, 2008, the Company entered into a credit agreement with Fund VI, pursuant to which Fund VI advanced \$18.9 million of carried interest income to the limited partners of Apollo Advisors VI, L.P., who are also employees of the Company. The loan obligation accrues interest at an annual fixed rate of 3.45% and terminates on the earlier of June 30, 2017 or the termination of Fund VI. At December 31, 2010, the total outstanding loan aggregated \$20.5 million, including accrued interest of \$1.6 million, which approximated fair value, of which approximately \$6.5 million was not subject to the indemnified portion of the loan obligation was established between the Company and Fund VI, therefore the loan was reduced in the amount of \$10.9 million, which is offset in carried interest receivable on the condensed consolidated statement of financial condition. As of June 30, 2011, the total outstanding loan aggregated \$8.8 million, including accrued interest of \$0.8 million which approximated fair value, of which approximately \$6.3 million was not subject to the indemnify \$6.3 million aggregated \$8.8 million, including accrued interest of \$0.8 million which approximated fair value, of which approximately \$6.3 million was not subject to the indemnify discussed above and is a

receivable from the Contributing Partners and certain employees. See Contingent Obligations section for further discussion of potential future reversal of carried interest income.

### **Broker Dealer**

During 2011, the Company formed Apollo Global Securities, LLC. which acts as a broker dealer. From time to time, this entity is involved in transactions with affiliates of AGM whereby the Company will earn transaction and advisory fees.

-48-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### Due to Strategic Investor/Strategic Relationship Agreement

On April 20, 2010, the Company announced that it entered into a new strategic relationship agreement with CalPERS (Strategic Investor). The strategic relationship agreement provides that Apollo will reduce management and other fees charged to CalPERS on funds it manages, or in the future will manage, solely for CalPERS by \$125 million over a five-year period or as close a period as required to provide CalPERS with that benefit. The agreement further provides that Apollo will not use a placement agent in connection with securing any future capital commitments from CalPERS.

#### **Underwriting Fee Paid for ARI**

The Company incurred \$8.0 million in underwriting expenses for the benefit of ARI, which may be repaid to the Company if during any period of four consecutive calendar quarters during the sixteen full calendar quarters after the consummation of ARI s initial public offering on September 29, 2009, ARI s core earnings, as defined in the corresponding management agreement, for any such four-quarter period exceeds an 8% performance hurdle rate. During the last four quarters ending June 30, 2011, the core earnings had exceeded the hurdle rate and the Company recorded \$8 million of other income in the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011. This receivable is expected to be received within 45 days after June 30, 2011.

#### **Interests in Consolidated Entities**

These amounts relate to equity interests in Apollo s consolidated, but not wholly-owned, subsidiaries and funds.

Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests consists of the following:

	Three Mon June		Six Month June	
	2011 2010		2011	2010
		×	usands)	
$AAA^{(1)}$	\$ (59,077)	\$ 11,573	\$ (195,302)	\$ (97,896)
Consolidated VIEs	12,369(2)	19,432(2)	$(4,719)^{(2)}$	265(2)
Former employees <sup>(3)</sup>	(1,596)	(7,261)	(5,234)	(9,767)
Net (income) loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated entities	(48,304)	23,744	(205,255)	(107,398)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating Group	101,960	203,274	45,962	346,913
Net loss (income) attributable to Non-Controlling Interests	\$ 53,656	\$ 227,018	\$ (159,293)	\$ 239,515

(1) Reflects the Non-Controlling Interests in the net (income) loss of AAA and is calculated based on the Non-Controlling Interests ownership percentage in AAA, which was approximately 98% and 97% during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

- (2) Reflects the Non-Controlling Interests in the net income of the consolidated VIEs and includes \$12.4 million and \$9.6 million of losses recorded within appropriated partners deficit related to consolidated VIEs during the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, respectively, and \$3.6 million of losses recorded within appropriated partners deficit related to consolidated VIEs during both the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively.
- (3) Reflects the remaining interest held by certain former employees in the net income of our capital markets management companies.

### 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

*Financial Guarantees* Apollo has provided financial guarantees on behalf of certain employees for the benefit of unrelated third-party lenders, in connection with their capital commitment to certain funds managed by the Company. As of June 30, 2011, the maximum exposure relating to these financial guarantees approximated \$5.0 million. Apollo has historically not incurred any liabilities as a result of these agreements and does not expect to in the future. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

-49-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

As the general partner of Apollo/Artus Investor 2007-I, L.P. (Artus), the Company may be obligated for certain losses in excess of those allocable to the limited partners to the extent that there is negative equity in that fund. As of June 30, 2011, the Company has no current obligations to Artus.

*Investment Commitments* As a limited partner, general partner and manager of the Apollo private equity funds, capital markets and real estate funds, Apollo has unfunded capital commitments at June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 of \$153.2 million and \$140.6 million, respectively.

Apollo has an ongoing obligation to acquire additional common units of AP Alternative Assets, L.P., on a quarterly basis, in an amount equal to 25% of the aggregate after-tax cash distributions, if any, that are made to its affiliates pursuant to the carried interest distribution rights that are applicable to investments made through AAA Investments, L.P.

*Debt Covenants* Apollo s debt obligations contain various customary loan covenants. As of the balance sheet date, the Company was not aware of any instances of noncompliance with any of these covenants.

*Litigation and Contingencies* The Company is from time to time, party to various legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, including claims and litigation, reviews, investigations and proceedings by governmental and self-regulatory agencies regarding the Company s business.

On July 16, 2008, Apollo was joined as a defendant in a pre-existing purported class action pending in Massachusetts federal court against, among other defendants, numerous private equity firms. The suit alleges that beginning in mid-2003, Apollo and the other private equity firm defendants violated the U.S. antitrust laws by forming bidding clubs or consortia that, among other things, rigged the bidding for control of various public corporations, restricted the supply of private equity financing, fixed the prices for target companies at artificially low levels and allocated amongst themselves an alleged market for private equity services in leveraged buyouts. The suit seeks class action certification, declaratory and injunctive relief, unspecified damages and attorneys fees. On August 27, 2008, Apollo and its co-defendants moved to dismiss plaintiffs complaint and on November 20, 2008, the Court granted the Company s motion. The Court also dismissed two other defendants, Permira and Merrill Lynch. In an order dated August 18, 2010, the Court granted in part and denied in part plaintiffs motion to expand the complaint and to obtain additional discovery. The Court ruled that plaintiffs could amend the complaint and obtain discovery in a second discovery phase limited to eight additional transactions. The Court gave the plaintiffs until September 17, 2010 to amend the complaint to include the additional eight transactions. On September 17, 2010, the plaintiffs filed a motion to amend the complaint by adding the additional eight transactions and adding Apollo as a defendant. On October 6, 2010, the Court granted plaintiffs motion to file the fourth amended complaint. Plaintiffs fourth amended complaint, filed on October 7, 2010, adds Apollo Global Management, LLC, as a defendant. On November 4, 2010, Apollo moved to dismiss, arguing that the claims against Apollo are time-barred and that the allegations against Apollo are insufficient to state an antitrust conspiracy claim. On February 17, 2011, the Court denied Apollo s motion to dismiss, ruling that Apollo should raise the statute of limitations issues on summary judgment after discovery is completed. Apollo filed it s answer to the fourth amended complaint on March 21, 2011. On July 11, 2011, the plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to file a fifth amended complaint that adds ten additional transactions and expands the scope of the class seeking relief. All defendants are opposing the motion. Currently, the Company does not believe that a loss from liability in this case is either probable or reasonably estimable. The Court granted Apollo s motion to dismiss plaintiffs initial complaint in 2008, ruling that Apollo was released from the only transaction in which it allegedly was involved. While plaintiffs have survived Apollo s motion to dismiss the fourth amended complaint, the Court stated in denying the motion that it will consider the statute of limitations (one of the bases for Apollo s motion to dismiss) at the summary judgment stage. Based on the applicable statute of limitations, among other reasons, Apollo believes that plaintiffs claims lack factual and legal merit. For these reasons, no estimate of possible loss, if any, can be made at this time.

Apollo believes that this action is without merit and intends to defend itself vigorously.

-50-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Various state attorneys general and federal and state agencies have initiated industry-wide investigations into the use of placement agents in connection with the solicitation of investments, particularly with respect to investments by public pension funds. Certain affiliates of Apollo have received subpoenas and other requests for information from various government regulatory agencies and investors in Apollo s funds, seeking information regarding the use of placement agents. CalPERS, one of Apollo s Strategic Investors, announced on October 14, 2009, that it had initiated a special review of placement agents and related issues. The Report of the CalPERS Special Review was issued on March 14, 2011. That report does not allege any wrongdoing on the part of Apollo or its affiliates. Apollo is continuing to cooperate with all such investigations and other reviews. In addition, on May 6, 2010, the California Attorney General filed a civil complaint against Alfred Villalobos and his company, Arvco Capital Research, LLC (a placement agent that Apollo has used) and Federico Buenrostro Jr., the former CEO of CalPERS, alleging conduct in violation of certain California laws in connection with CalPERS s purchase of securities in various funds managed by Apollo and another asset manager. Apollo is not a party to the civil lawsuit and the lawsuit does not allege any misconduct on the part of Apollo. Apollo believes that it has handled its use of placement agents in an appropriate manner.

Although the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be ascertained at this time, Apollo is of the opinion, after consultation with counsel, that the resolution of any such matters to which it is a party at this time will not have a material adverse effect on its financial statements. Legal actions material to Apollo could, however, arise in the future.

*Commitments* Apollo leases office space and certain office equipment under various lease and sublease arrangements, which expire on various dates through 2022. As these leases expire, it can be expected that in the normal course of business, they will be renewed or replaced. Certain lease agreements contain renewal options, rent escalation provisions based on certain costs incurred by the landlord or other inducements provided by the landlord. Rent expense is accrued to recognize lease escalation provisions and inducements provided by the landlord, if any, on a straight-line basis over the lease term and renewal periods where applicable. Apollo has entered into various operating lease service agreements in respect of certain assets.

As of June 30, 2011, the approximate aggregate minimum future payments required for operating leases were as follows:

	Remaining 2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Thereafter	Total	
Aggregate minimum future payments	\$ 15,653	\$ 24,220	\$ 24,301	\$ 24,760	\$ 17,798	\$ 96,905	\$ 203,637	
Expenses related to non-cancellable contractual obligations for premises, equipment, auto and other assets were \$9.0 million and \$6.8 million for								
the three months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, resp	pectively, and \$	517.5 million	and \$14.0 m	nillion for the	e six months	ended June 30	), 2011 and	

2010, respectively.
Other Long-term Obligations These obligations relate to payments on management service agreements related to certain assets and payments

with respect to certain consulting agreements entered into by Apollo Investment Consulting, LLC. A significant portion of these costs are reimbursable by funds or portfolio companies. As of June 30, 2011, fixed and determinable payments due in connection with these obligations are as follows:

	Remaining						
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	Thereafter	Total
Other long-term obligations	\$ 11,173	\$ 8,664	\$ 3,920	\$ 3,420	\$ 3,420	\$ 3,420	\$ 34,017

-51-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

*Contingent Obligations* Carried interest income in both private equity funds and certain capital markets funds is subject to reversal in the event of future losses to the extent of the cumulative carried interest recognized in income to date. If all of the existing investments became worthless, the amount of cumulative revenues that has been recognized by Apollo through June 30, 2011 and that would be reversed approximates \$2.7 billion. Management views the possibility of all of the investments becoming worthless as remote. Carried interest income is affected by changes in the fair values of the underlying investments in the funds that Apollo manages. Valuations, on an unrealized basis, can be significantly affected by a variety of external factors including, but not limited to, such as bond yields and industry trading multiples. Movements in these items can affect valuations quarter to quarter even if the underlying business fundamentals remain stable. The table below indicates the potential future reversal of carried interest income:

	As of
	June 30, 2011
Fund VI	\$ 886,335
Fund VII	778,853
Fund IV	248,627
Fund V	300,917
COF I	178,078
COF II	88,588
SOMA	26,131
EPF	45,165
AIE II	33,062
ACLF	42,770
AAA	21,524
SVF	9,341
VIF	8,643
FCI	549
Total	\$ 2,668,583

Additionally, at the end of the life of certain funds that the Company manages, there could be a payment due to a fund by the Company if the Company as general partner has received more carried interest income than was ultimately earned. The general partner obligation amount, if any, will depend on final realized values of investments at the end of the life of each fund.

Certain private equity and capital markets funds may not generate carried interest income as a result of unrealized and realized losses that are recognized in the current and prior reporting period. In certain cases, carried interest income will not be generated until additional unrealized and realized gains occur. Any appreciation would first cover the deductions for invested capital, unreturned organizational expenses, operating expenses, management fees and priority returns based on the terms of the respective fund agreements.

### **13. MARKET AND CREDIT RISK**

In the normal course of business, Apollo encounters market and credit risk concentrations. Market risk reflects changes in the value of investments due to changes in interest rates, credit spreads or other market factors. Credit risk includes the risk of default on Apollo s investments, where the counterparty is unable or unwilling to make required or expected payments.

The Company is subject to a concentration risk related to the investors in its funds. As of June 30, 2011, there were more than approximately 1,000 limited partner investors in Apollo s active private equity, capital markets and real estate funds, and no individual investor accounted for more than 10% of the total committed capital to Apollo s active funds.

Apollo s derivative financial instruments contain credit risk to the extent that its counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of the agreements. Apollo seeks to minimize this risk by limiting its counterparties to highly rated major financial institutions with good credit ratings. Management does not expect any material losses as a result of default by other parties.

-52-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Substantially all amounts on deposit with major financial institutions that exceed insured limits are invested in interest-bearing accounts with U.S. money center banks.

Apollo is exposed to economic risk concentrations insofar as Apollo is dependent on the ability of the funds that it manages to compensate it for the services the management companies provide to these funds. Further, the incentive income component of this compensation is based on the ability of such funds to generate returns above certain specified thresholds.

Additionally, Apollo is exposed to interest rate risk. Apollo has debt obligations that have variable rates. Interest rate changes may therefore affect the amount of interest payments, future earnings and cash flows. At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, \$738.8 million and \$751.5 million of Apollo s debt balance (excluding debt of the consolidated VIEs) had a variable interest, respectively. However, as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, \$167.0 million of the debt had been effectively converted to a fixed rate using interest rate swaps as discussed in note 8.

#### **14. SEGMENT REPORTING**

Apollo conducts its management and incentive businesses primarily in the United States and substantially all of its revenues are generated domestically. These businesses are conducted through the following three reportable segments:

*Private equity* primarily invests in control equity and related debt instruments, convertible securities and distressed debt investments;

*Capital markets* primarily invests in non-control debt and non-control equity investments, including distressed debt instruments; and

*Real estate* primarily invests in legacy commercial mortgage-backed securities, commercial first mortgage loans, mezzanine investments and other commercial real estate-related debt investments. The Company may seek to sponsor additional real estate funds that focus on opportunistic investments in distressed debt and equity recapitalization transactions.

These business segments are differentiated based on the varying investment strategies. The performance is measured by management on an unconsolidated basis because management makes operating decisions and assesses the performance of each of Apollo s business segments based on financial and operating metrics and data that exclude the effects of consolidation of any of the affiliated funds.

The Company s financial results vary, since carried interest, which generally constitutes a large portion of the income from the funds that Apollo manages, as well as the transaction and advisory fees that the Company receives, can vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. As a result, the Company emphasizes long-term financial growth and profitability to manage its business.

The following tables present the financial data for Apollo s reportable segments further separated between the management and incentive business as of June 30, 2011 and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, which management believes is useful to the reader. The Company s management business has fairly stable revenues and expenses except for transaction fees, while its incentive business is more volatile and can have significant fluctuations as it is affected by changes in the fair value of investments due to market performance of the Company s business. The financial results of the management entities, as reflected in the management business section of the segment tables that follow, generally include management fee revenues,

-53-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

advisory and transaction fees and expenses exclusive of profit sharing expense. The financial results of the advisory entities, as reflected in the incentive business sections of the segment tables that follow, generally include carried interest income, investment income, profit sharing expense and incentive fee based compensation.

#### **Economic Net Income (Loss)**

Economic Net Income (ENI) is a key performance measure used by management in evaluating the performance of Apollo s private equity, capital markets and real estate segments, as management believes the amount of management fees, advisory and transaction fees and carried interest income are indicative of the Company s performance. Management also uses ENI in making key operating decisions such as the following:

Decisions related to the allocation of resources such as staffing decisions including hiring and locations for deployment of the new hires;

Decisions related to capital deployment such as providing capital to facilitate growth for the business and/or to facilitate expansion into new businesses; and

Decisions related to compensation expense, such as determining annual discretionary bonuses to its employees. As it relates to compensation, management seeks to align the interests of certain professionals and selected other individuals who have a profit sharing interest in the carried interest income earned in relation to the funds, with those of the investors in such funds and those of the Company s shareholders. To achieve that objective, a certain amount of compensation is based on the Company s performance and growth for the year.

ENI is a measure of profitability and has certain limitations in that it does not take into account certain items included under U.S. GAAP. ENI represents segment income (loss) attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC, which excludes the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the funds and VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements.

The following table presents the financial data for Apollo s reportable segments as of and for the three months ended June 30, 2011:

	As of and for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011							
	Private Equity Segment	Capital Markets Segment		Real Estate Segment		Total Reportable Segments		
Revenues:	Č.					, and the second s		
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 21,545	\$	2,011	\$	\$	23,556		
Management fees from affiliates	65,465		46,049	9,673		121,187		
Carried interest income from affiliates	138,986		25,147			164,133		

Total Revenues	225,996	73,207	9,673	308,876
Expenses	116,675	60,219	15,163	192,057
Other Income	8,233	4,721	9,782	22,736
Economic Net Income	\$ 117,554	\$ 17,709	\$ 4,292	\$ 139,555
Total Assets	\$ 2,865,679	\$ 1,376,213	\$ 80,570	\$ 4,322,462

-54-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table reconciles the Total Reportable Segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended June 30, 2011:

	As of and for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011			
	Total	Consolidation		
	Reportable Segments	Adjustments and Other	Condensed Consolidated	
Revenues	\$ 308,876	\$	\$ 308,876	
Expenses	192,057	287,949 <sup>(1)</sup>	480,006	
Other income	22,736	47,299 <sup>(2)</sup>	70,035	
Economic Net Income	\$ 139,555 <sup>(3)</sup>	N/A	N/A	
Total Assets	\$ 4,322,462	\$ 3,067,265 <sup>(4)</sup>	\$ 7,389,727	

(1) Represents the addition of expenses of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs and expenses related to equity-based compensation.

(2) Results from the following:

	For the Three
	Months
	Ended June 30, 2011
Net gains from investment activities	\$ 61,079
Net losses from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entities	(12,369)
Loss from equity method investments	(1,411)
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$ 47,299

(3) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income to Net Loss attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations consists of the following:

	For the Three Months	
		Ended 1e 30, 2011
Economic Net Income	\$	139,555
Income tax provision		(3,550)
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated		
entities <sup>(5)</sup>		(1,596)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating		
Group		101,960
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation <sup>(6)</sup>		(287,358)
Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$	(50,989)

- (4) Represents the addition of assets of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs.
- (5) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and the consolidated VIEs.
- (6) Includes impact of non-cash charges related to amortization of AOG Units of \$258.2 million, RSUs and share options of \$28.9 million (Plan Grants made in connection with the 2007 private placement of \$11.9 million, other Plan Grants made to new hires on a merit basis of \$6.1 million, Bonus Grants of \$9.1 million and share options of \$1.8 million), ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs of \$0.2 million and AAA RDUs of \$0.1 million as discussed in note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following tables present additional financial data for Apollo s reportable segments for the three months ended June 30, 2011:

		For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011				
		<b>Private Equity</b>		C	apital Marke	ts
	Management	Incentive	Total	Management	Incentive	Total
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 21,545	\$	\$ 21,545	\$ 2,011	\$	\$ 2,011
Management fees from affiliates	65,465		65,465	46,049		46,049
Carried interest income (loss) from affiliates:						
Unrealized (losses) gains		(32,397)	(32,397)		6,658	6,658
Realized gains		171,383	171,383	11,200	7,289	18,489
Total Revenues	87,010	138,986	225,996	59,260	13,947	73,207
Compensation and benefits	27,788	59,884	87,672	28,612	7,255	35,867
Other expenses	29,003		29,003	24,352		24,352
Total Expenses	56,791	59,884	116,675	52,964	7,255	60,219
	00,771	0,001	110,070		7,200	00,219
Other Income	3,681	4,552	8,233	530	4,191	4,721
	5,001	1,552	0,255	550	1,171	r,721
Economia Nat Incoma	\$ 22,000	¢ 02651	¢ 117 554	¢ 6076	¢ 10.002	¢ 17 700
Economic Net Income	\$ 33,900	\$ 83,654	\$117,554	\$ 6,826	\$ 10,883	\$ 17,709

	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2011 Real Estate		
	Management	Incentive	Total
Revenues:			
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$	\$	\$
Management fees from affiliates	9,673		9,673
Carried interest income from affiliates			
Total Revenues	9,673		9,673
Compensation and benefits	7,886		7,886
Other expenses	7,277		7,277
Total Expenses	15,163		15,163
Other Income	9,512	270	9,782

Economic Net Income	\$ 4,022	\$ 270	\$ 4,292

	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2010			
	Private	Capital	Real	Total
	Equity Segment	Markets Segment	Estate Segment	Reportable Segments
Revenues:	-			
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 24,324	\$ 2,520	\$	\$ 26,844
Management fees from affiliates	65,101	39,443	1,568	106,112
Carried interest loss from affiliates	(39,629)	(14,047)		(53,676)
Total Revenues	49,796	27,916	1,568	79,280
Expenses	37,203	35,900	7,919	81,022
Other Income (Loss)	29,560	(5,190)	265	24,635
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 42,153	\$ (13,174)	\$ (6,086)	\$ 22,893

-56-

### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table reconciles the Total Reportable Segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended June 30, 2010:

	F	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2010		
	Total	Consolidation		
	Reportable Segments	Adjustments and Other	Condensed Consolidated	
Revenues	\$ 79,280	\$	\$ 79,280	
Expenses	81,022	281,088 <sup>(1)</sup>	362,110	
Other income (loss)	24,635	(31,220) <sup>(2)</sup>	(6,585)	
Economic Net Income	\$ 22,893 <sup>(3)</sup>	N/A	N/A	

(1) Represents the addition of expenses of AAA and expenses related to equity-based compensation.

(2) Results from the following:

	For the Three Months	
		Ended 1e 30, 2010
Net losses from investment activities	\$	(11,005)
Net losses from investment activities of consolidated variable interest		
entities		(19,432)
Loss from equity method investments		(785)
Interest income		2
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$	(31,220)

(3) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income to Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations consists of the following:

	Ended June 30, 2010	
Economic Net Income	\$	22,893
Income tax provision		(12,727)
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated		
entities <sup>(4)</sup>		(7,261)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating		
Group		203,274
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation <sup>(5)</sup>		(279,960)
Net losses of Commodities Trading Fund		(1,343)
Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$	(75,124)

- (4) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and the consolidated VIEs.
- (5) Includes impact of non-cash charges related to amortization of AOG Units of \$258.4 million, RSUs of \$20.7 million (Plan Grants made in connection with the 2007 private placement of \$12.1 million, other Plan Grants made to new hires on a merit basis of \$4.6 million and Bonus Grants of \$4.0 million), ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs of \$0.2 million and AAA RDUs of \$0.7 million as discussed in note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following tables present additional financial data for Apollo s reportable segments for the three months ended June 30, 2010:

	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2010					
		Private Equity			Capital Market	
D	Management	Incentive	Total	Management	Incentive	Total
Revenues:		+			+	
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 24,324	\$	\$ 24,324	\$ 2,520	\$	\$ 2,520
Management fees from affiliates	65,101		65,101	39,443		39,443
Carried interest income (loss) from affiliates:						
Unrealized losses		(83,700)	(83,700)		(33,532)	(33,532)
Realized gains		44,071	44,071	10,240	9,245	19,485
c			,	,	,	,
Total Revenues	89,425	(39,629)	49,796	52,203	(24,287)	27,916
Compensation and benefits	30,303	(19,053)	11,250	23,860	(7,199)	16,661
Other expenses	25,953		25,953	19,239		19,239
1			, î			
Total Expenses	56,256	(19,053)	37,203	43,099	(7,199)	35,900
Total Expenses	50,250	(19,055)	57,205	43,099	(7,199)	55,900
Other Income (Loss)	28,039	1,521	29,560	(2,479)	(2,711)	(5,190)
	0,000	,	.,	(,,	(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	(-,-,-,)
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 61,208	\$ (19,055)	\$ 42,153	\$ 6,625	\$ (19,799)	\$ (13,174)
Economic net meome (Loss)	<i>ф</i> 01,208	\$ (19,033)	ф 42,133	<b>\$ 0,023</b>	\$ (19,799)	<i>ф</i> (13,174)

	For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2010 Real Estate		
	Management	Incentive	Total
Revenues:			
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$	\$	\$
Management fees from affiliates	1,568		1,568
Carried interest income from affiliates			
Total Revenues	1,568		1,568
Compensation and benefits	6,126		6,126
Other expenses	1,793		1,793
Total Expenses	7,919		7,919

Other Income	2	263	265
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (6,349)	\$ 263	\$ (6,086)

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following table presents the financial data for Apollo s reportable segments as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

	As of and for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2011					
	Private	Capital	Real	Total		
	1 2		1 5			
Revenues:	-	-	-	-		
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 36,642	\$ 6,330	\$	\$ 42,972		
Management fees from affiliates	130,981	89,427	18,929	239,337		
Carried interest income from affiliates	580,681	142,228		722,909		
Total Revenues	748,304	237,985	18,929	1,005,218		
Expenses	372,497	146,458	30,450	549,405		
Other Income	29,148	34,372	10,441	73,961		
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 404,955	\$ 125,899	\$ (1,080)	\$ 529,774		
Total Assets	\$ 2,865,679	\$ 1,376,213	\$ 80,570	\$ 4,322,462		

The following table reconciles the Total Reportable Segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

	As of and for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2011			
	Total	Consolidation		
	Reportable Segments	Adjustments and Other	Condensed Consolidated	
Revenues	\$ 1,005,218	\$	\$ 1,005,218	
Expenses	549,405	572,182 <sup>(1)</sup>	1,121,587	
Other income	73,961	201,238 <sup>(2)</sup>	275,199	
Economic Net Income	\$ 529,774 <sup>(3)</sup>	N/A	N/A	
Total Assets	\$ 4,322,462	\$ 3,067,265 <sup>(4)</sup>	\$ 7,389,727	

(1) Represents the addition of expenses of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs and expenses related to equity-based compensation.

## (2) Results from the following:

		For the Months
	-	Ended e 30, 2011
Net gains from investment activities	\$	201,179
Net gains from investment activities of consolidated variable interest		
entities		4,719
Loss from equity method investments		(4,660)
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$	201,238

(3) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income to Net Income attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations consists of the following:

-59-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

	For the x Months
	Ended 1e 30, 2011
Economic Net Income	\$ 529,774
Income tax provision	(12,370)
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated	
entities <sup>(5)</sup>	(5,234)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating	
Group	45,962
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation <sup>(6)</sup>	(570,965)
Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$ (12,833)

- (4) Represents the addition of assets of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs.
- (5) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and the consolidated VIEs.
- (6) Includes impact of non-cash charges related to amortization of AOG Units of \$516.4 million, RSUs and share options of \$54.0 million (Plan Grants made in connection with the 2007 private placement of \$23.8 million, other Plan Grants made to new hires on a merit basis of \$13.2 million, Bonus Grants of \$13.8 million and share options of \$3.2 million), ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs of \$0.4 million and AAA RDUs of \$0.2 million as discussed in note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

The following tables present additional financial data for Apollo s reportable segments for the six months ended June 30, 2011:

		Total		•	s Total
inunugement	meentive	Total	munugement	meenuve	Tour
\$ 36,642	\$	\$ 36,642	\$ 6,330	\$	\$ 6,330
130,981		130,981	89,427		89,427
	290,733	290,733		94,912	94,912
	289,948	289,948	23,740	23,576	47,316
167,623	580,681	748,304	119,497	118,488	237,985
65,596	252,031	317,627	53,124	42,352	95,476
54,870		54,870	50,982		50,982
120,466	252.031	372,497	104.106	42,352	146,458
,	- ,	, - , - , - , - , - , - , - , - , -	,	.,	,,
8,805	20,343	29,148	3,205	31,167	34,372
	Management \$ 36,642 130,981 167,623 65,596 54,870 120,466	\$ 36,642 130,981 290,733 289,948 167,623 580,681 65,596 252,031 120,466 252,031	June :           Management         Frivate Equity Incentive         Total           \$ 36,642         \$ 36,642         130,981           \$ 36,642         \$ 36,642         130,981           \$ 36,642         \$ 36,642         130,981           \$ 290,733         290,733           289,948         289,948           \$ 167,623         580,681           \$ 65,596         252,031           \$ 120,466         252,031	Management         Incentive         Total         Management           \$ 36,642         \$         \$ 36,642         \$ 6,330           130,981         130,981         89,427           290,733         290,733         89,427           290,733         290,733         290,733           289,948         289,948         23,740           167,623         580,681         748,304         119,497           65,596         252,031         317,627         53,124           54,870         54,870         50,982           120,466         252,031         372,497         104,106	June 30, 2011           Management         Private Equity Incentive         Total         Management         Capital Market Incentive           \$ 36,642         \$         6,330         \$           \$ 36,642         \$         36,642         \$         6,330         \$           130,981         130,981         89,427         94,912           289,948         289,948         23,740         23,576           167,623         580,681         748,304         119,497         118,488           65,596         252,031         317,627         53,124         42,352           54,870         54,870         50,982         42,352

Economic Net Income	\$ 55,962	\$ 348,993	\$ 404,955	\$ 18,596	\$ 107,303	\$ 125,899

-60-

#### APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

	For t Management	he Six Months Ei June 30, 2011 Real Estate Incentive	nded Total
Revenues:		111001101+0	1000
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$	\$	\$
Management fees from affiliates	18,929		18,929
Carried interest income from affiliates			
Total Revenues	18,929		18,929
Compensation and benefits	17,635		17,635
Other expenses	12,815		12,815
Total Expenses	30,450		30,450
Other Income	10,034	407	10,441
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (1,487)	\$ 407	\$ (1,080)

	For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2010				
	Private	Capital	Real	Total	
	Equity Segment	Markets Segment	Estate Segment	Reportable Segments	
Revenues:	-	-	-	-	
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 32,099	\$ 5,814	\$	\$ 37,913	
Management fees from affiliates	129,450	77,251	3,215	209,916	
Carried interest income from affiliates	30,316	24,729		55,045	
Total Revenues	191,865	107,794	3,215	302,874	
Expenses	139,402	82,416	13,289	235,107	
Other Income (Loss)	36,263	(4,215)	194	32,242	
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 88,726	\$ 21,163	\$ (9,880)	\$ 100,009	

The following table reconciles the Total Reportable Segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2010:

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2010

	Total	Consolidation	
	Reportable Segments	Adjustments and Other	Condensed Consolidated
Revenues	\$ 302,874	\$	\$ 302,874
Expenses	235,107	555,493 <sup>(1)</sup>	790,600
Other income	32,242	96,945 <sup>(2)</sup>	129,187
Economic Net Income	\$ 100,009 <sup>(3)</sup>	N/A	N/A

-61-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

- (1) Represents the addition of expenses of AAA and expenses related to equity-based compensation.
- (2) Results from the following:

	-	For the x Months
		Ended e 30, 2010
Net gains from investment activities	\$	100,716
Net losses from investment activities of consolidated variable interest entity		(265)
Loss from equity method investments		(3,508)
Interest income		2
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$	96,945

(3) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income to Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations consists of the following:

	For the	
	Si	ix Months
	Ended June 30, 2010	
Economic Net Income	\$	100,009
Income tax provision		(16,782)
Net income attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated		
entities <sup>(4)</sup>		(9,767)
Net loss attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Apollo Operating		
Group		346,913
Non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation <sup>(5)</sup>		(553,606)
Net losses of Commodities Trading Fund		(2,573)
Net Loss Attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC	\$	(135,806)

- (4) Excludes Non-Controlling Interests attributable to AAA and the consolidated VIEs.
- (5) Includes impact of non-cash charges related to amortization of AOG Units of \$516.7 million, RSUs of \$35.2 million (Plan Grants made in connection with the 2007 private placement of \$24.9 million, other Plan Grants made to new hires on a merit basis of \$5.7 million and Bonus Grants of \$4.6 million), ARI Restricted Stock Awards and ARI RSUs of \$0.4 million and AAA RDUs of \$1.3 million as discussed in note 10 to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

-62-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

#### NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

## (dollars in thousands, except share data)

The following tables present additional financial data for Apollo s reportable segments for the six months ended June 30, 2010:

		D.:		Months Ended 80, 2010	\ <b>:</b> 4-1 ]]/[]4	
	Management	Private Equity Incentive	Total	Management	Capital Market Incentive	s Total
Revenues:						
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$ 32,099	\$	\$ 32,099	\$ 5,814	\$	\$ 5,814
Management fees from affiliates	129,450		129,450	77,251		77,251
Carried interest income (loss) from affiliates:						
Unrealized losses		(26,187)	(26,187)		(45,811)	(45,811)
Realized gains		56,503	56,503	22,340	48,200	70,540
Total Revenues	161,549	30,316	191,865	105,405	2,389	107,794
Compensation and benefits	63,495	21,015	84,510	46,761	(5,806)	40,955
Other expenses	54,892		54,892	41,461		41,461
Total Expenses	118,387	21,015	139,402	88,222	(5,806)	82,416
Other Income (Loss)	27,176	9,087	36,263	(4,684)	469	(4,215)
Economic Net Income	\$ 70,338	\$ 18,388	\$ 88,726	\$ 12,499	\$ 8,664	\$ 21,163

	For th	For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2010 Real Estate			
	Management	Incentive	Total		
Revenues:					
Advisory and transaction fees from affiliates	\$	\$	\$		
Management fees from affiliates	3,215		3,215		
Carried interest income from affiliates					
Total Revenues	3,215		3,215		
Compensation and benefits	9,803		9,803		
1			· · · · · ·		
Other expenses	3,486		3,486		
Total Expenses	13,289		13,289		

Other Income	74	120	194
Economic Net (Loss) Income	\$ (10,000)	\$ 120	\$ (9,880)

The following table presents total assets for Apollo s reportable segments, and reconciles the segments to Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2010:

	As of December 31, 2010					
		Capital		Total		
	Private Equity	Markets	Real Estate	Reportable	Consolidation	
	Segment	Segment	Segment	Segments	Adjustments	Consolidated
Total Assets	\$ 2,271,564	\$ 1,152,389	\$ 46,415	\$ 3,470,368	\$ 3,082,004 <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 6,552,372

(1) Represents the addition of assets of consolidated funds and the consolidated VIEs.

-63-

## APOLLO GLOBAL MANAGEMENT, LLC

## NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

#### FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

#### **15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS**

On July 8, 2011 the Company agreed, subject to certain terms and conditions, to acquire Gulf Stream Asset Management (Gulf Stream), which currently manages 10 Collateralized Loan Obligations (CLOs) with more than \$3 billion in assets under management. The transaction is expected to close during the third quarter of 2011.

On July 11, 2011, the Company issued 0.08 million Class A shares in exchange for vested RSUs. This issuance did not cause a material change to the Company s ownership interest in the Apollo Operating Group.

On August 9, 2011, the Company declared a cash distribution of \$0.24 per Class A share, which will be paid on August 29, 2011 to holders of record on August 22, 2011.

-64-

#### MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

#### OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with Apollo Global Management, LLC s condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of events may differ significantly from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including those included in the section entitled Risk Factors in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011. The highlights listed below have had significant effects on many items within our condensed consolidated financial statements and affect the comparison of the current period s activity with those of prior periods.

#### General

#### **Our Businesses**

Founded in 1990, Apollo is a leading global alternative asset manager. We are contrarian, value-oriented investors in private equity, credit-oriented capital markets and real estate with significant distressed expertise and a flexible mandate in the majority of our funds that enables our funds to invest opportunistically across a company s capital structure. We raise, invest and manage funds on behalf of some of the world s most prominent pension and endowment funds as well as other institutional and individual investors. Apollo is led by our managing partners, Leon Black, Joshua Harris and Marc Rowan, who have worked together for more than 20 years and lead a team of 522 employees, including 158 investment professionals, as of June 30, 2011. This team possesses a broad range of transaction, financial, managerial and investment skills. We have offices in New York, Los Angeles, London, Frankfurt, Luxembourg, Singapore, Hong Kong and Mumbai.

Apollo conducts its management and incentive businesses primarily in the United States and substantially all of its revenues are generated domestically. These businesses are conducted through the following three reportable segments:

- (i) *Private equity* primarily invests in control equity and related debt instruments, convertible securities and distressed debt instruments;
- (ii) *Capital markets* primarily invests in non-control debt and non-control equity instruments, including distressed debt instruments; and
- (iii) *Real estate* primarily invests in legacy commercial mortgage-backed securities, commercial first mortgage loans, mezzanine investments and other commercial real estate-related debt investments. We may seek to sponsor additional real estate funds that focus on opportunistic investments in distressed debt and equity recapitalization transactions.

These business segments are differentiated based on the varying investment strategies. The performance is measured by management on an unconsolidated basis because management makes operating decisions and assesses the performance of each of Apollo s business segments based on financial and operating metrics and data that exclude the effects of consolidation of any of the affiliated funds.

Our financial results vary since carried interest, which generally constitutes a large portion of the income we receive from the funds that we manage, as well as the transaction and advisory fees that we receive, can vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. As a result, we emphasize long-term financial growth and profitability to manage our business.

As of June 30, 2011, we had AUM of \$71.7 billion in our private equity, capital markets and real estate businesses. Our latest private equity fund, Fund VII, held a final closing in December 2008, raising a total of \$14.7 billion. Fund VII began investing in January 2008 and has deployed \$8.9 billion of capital through June 30, 2011, generating gross and net internal rate of returns (IRR) of 41% and 29%, respectively, during this period. We have consistently produced attractive long-term investment returns in our private equity funds, generating a 39% gross IRR and a 26% net IRR on a compound annual basis from inception through June 30, 2011. A number of our capital markets funds have also performed well since their inception through June 30, 2011.

## Table of Contents

-65-

As of June 30, 2011, approximately 91% of our AUM was in funds with a contractual life at inception of seven years or more, and 11% of our AUM was in permanent capital vehicles with unlimited duration, as highlighted in the chart below:

#### **Business Environment**

During the most recent global economic crisis, which we believe began in the third quarter of 2007, we have been relying on our deep industry, credit and financial structuring experience, coupled with our strengths as value-oriented, distressed investors, to deploy a significant amount of new capital. As examples of this, from the beginning of the third quarter of 2007 and through June 30, 2011, we have deployed approximately \$27 billion of gross invested capital across our private equity and capital markets funds, excluding managed accounts, SOMA and AIC, focused on control distressed and buyout investments, leveraged loan portfolios and mezzanine, non-control distressed and non-performing loans. In addition, from the beginning of the fourth quarter of 2007 through June 30, 2011, the funds managed by Apollo have acquired approximately \$14.1 billion in face value of distressed debt at discounts to par value and purchased approximately \$35.4 billion in face value of leveraged senior loans at discounts to par value from financial institutions. Since we purchased these leveraged loan portfolios from highly motivated sellers, we were able to secure attractive long-term, low cost financing and select credits of companies well known to Apollo. The benchmark Credit Suisse Leveraged Loan Index, which includes a group of securities we believe is similar to those owned by our funds, had a net return of approximately 6% during the life to date performance of our leveraged loan investments (COF I and COF II), which have exceeded this benchmark.

In addition to deploying capital in new investments, we have been depending on our over 20 years of experience to enhance value in the current investment portfolio of the funds we manage. We have been relying on our restructuring and capital markets experience to work proactively with our funds portfolio company management teams to generate cost and working capital savings, reduce capital expenditures, and optimize capital structures through several means such as debt exchange offers and the purchase of portfolio company debt at discounts to par value. For example, as of June 30, 2011, Fund VI and its underlying portfolio companies purchased or retired approximately \$19.2 billion in face value of debt and captured approximately \$9.6 billion of discount to par value of debt in portfolio companies such as CEVA Logistics, Caesars Entertainment, Realogy and Momentive Performance Materials. In certain situations, such as CEVA Logistics, funds managed by Apollo are the largest owner of the total outstanding debt of the portfolio company. In addition to the attractive return profile associated with these portfolio company debt purchases, we believe that building positions as senior creditors within the existing portfolio companies is strategic to the existing equity ownership positions. Additionally, the portfolio companies of Fund VI have implemented approximately \$3.0 billion of cost savings programs on an aggregate basis from the date we acquired them through June 30, 2011, which we believe will positively impact their operating profitability.

Regardless of the market or economic environment at any given time, we rely on our contrarian, value-oriented approach to consistently invest capital on behalf of our investors throughout economic cycles by focusing on opportunities that we believe are often overlooked by other investors. We believe that our expertise in capital markets, focus on nine core industry sectors and investment experience allow us to respond quickly to changing environments. For example, in our private equity business, our private equity funds have had success investing in buyouts and credit opportunities during both expansionary and recessionary economic periods. During the recovery and expansionary periods of 1994 through 2000 and late 2003 through the first half of 2007, our private equity funds invested or committed to invest approximately \$13.7 billion primarily in traditional and corporate partner buyouts. During the recessionary periods of 1990 through 1993, 2001 through late 2003 and the current recessionary period, our private equity funds have invested \$22.3 billion, of which \$15.2 billion was in distressed buyouts and debt investments when the debt securities of quality companies traded at deep discounts to par value.

-66-

#### **Managing Business Performance**

We believe that the presentation of Economic Net Income (Loss) supplements a reader s understanding of the economic operating performance of each segment.

#### Economic Net Income (Loss)

ENI represents segment income (loss), excluding the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, income taxes and Non-Controlling Interests. In addition, segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Apollo consolidated funds and consolidated VIEs that are included in the condensed consolidated financial statements. Adjustments relating to income tax expense and Non-Controlling Interests are common in the calculation of supplemental measures of performance in our industry. We believe the exclusion of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation provides investors with a meaningful indication of our performance because these charges relate to the equity portion of our capital structure and not our core operating performance.

ENI is a key performance measure used for understanding the performance of our operations from period to period and although not every company in our industry defines these metrics in precisely the same way that we do, we believe that this metric, as we use it, facilitates comparisons with other companies in our industry. We use ENI to evaluate the performance of our private equity, capital markets and real estate segments as management believes the amount of management fees, advisory and transaction fees and carried interest income are indicative of the company s performance. Management also uses ENI in making key operating decisions such as the following:

Decisions related to the allocation of resources such as staffing decisions including hiring and locations for deployment of the new hires. As the amount of fees, investment income, and ENI is indicative of the performance of the management companies and advisors within each segment, management can assess the need for additional resources and the location for deployment of the new hires based on the results of this measure. For example, a positive ENI could indicate the need for additional staff to manage the respective segment whereas a negative ENI could indicate the need to reduce staff assigned to manage the respective segment.

Decisions related to capital deployment such as providing capital to facilitate growth for our business and/or to facilitate expansion into new businesses. As the amount of fees, investment income, and ENI is indicative of the performance of the management companies and advisors within each segment, management can assess the availability and need to provide capital to facilitate growth or expansion into new businesses based on the results of this measure. For example, a negative ENI may indicate the lack of performance of a segment and thus indicate a need for additional capital to be deployed into the respective segment.

Decisions related to compensation expense, such as determining annual discretionary bonuses to our employees. As the amount of fees, investment income, and ENI is indicative of the performance of the management companies and advisors within each segment, management can better identify higher performing businesses and employees to allocate discretionary bonuses based on the results of this measure. As it relates to compensation, our philosophy has been and remains to better align the interests of certain professionals and selected other individuals who have a profit sharing interest in the carried interest income earned in relation to our funds with our own and with those of the investors in the funds. To achieve that objective, a significant amount of compensation paid is based on our performance and growth for the year. For example, a positive ENI could indicate a higher discretionary bonus for a team whereas a negative ENI could indicate the need to reduce bonuses based on poor performance.

ENI is a measure of profitability and has certain limitations in that it does not take into account certain items included under U.S. GAAP. The following items, which are significant to our business, are excluded when calculating ENI: (i) non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation, which are expected to be recurring components of our costs although we may be able to incur lower cash compensation costs as a result of the financial benefits provided to certain partners and employees and the equity grants that may be made under our equity incentive plan; furthermore, any measure that eliminates compensation costs has material limitations as a performance measure; (ii) income tax expense, which represents a necessary element of our costs and our ability to generate revenue because ongoing revenue generation is expected to result in future income tax expense; and (iii) Non-Controlling Interests, which is expected to be a recurring item and represents the aggregate of the income or loss that is not owned by the company. In light of the foregoing limitations, we do not rely solely on ENI as a performance measure and also consider our U.S. GAAP results.

We believe that ENI is helpful to an understanding of our business and that investors should review the same supplemental financial measure that management uses to analyze our segment performance. This measure supplements and should be considered in addition to and not in lieu of the results of operations discussed below in the Overview of Results of Operations that have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The following summarizes the adjustments to ENI that reconcile ENI to the net income (loss) attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP:

Inclusion of the impact of non-cash charges such as equity-based compensation to our managing partners, contributing partners and employees related to Apollo Operating Group units, RSUs, Share Options, AAA RDUs, ARI RSUs and ARI Restricted Stock Awards that vested during the period. Management assesses our performance based on management fees, advisory and transaction fees, and carried interest income generated by the business and excludes the impact of non-cash charges related to equity-based compensation because this non-cash charge is not viewed as part of our core operations.

Inclusion of the impact of income taxes as we do not take income taxes into consideration when evaluating the performance of our segments or when determining compensation for our employees. Additionally, income taxes at the segment level (which exclude APO Corp. s corporate taxes) are not meaningful, as the majority of the entities included in our segments operate as partnerships and therefore are only subject to New York City unincorporated business taxes and foreign taxes when applicable.

Carried interest income, management fees and other revenues from Apollo funds are reflected on an unconsolidated basis. As such, ENI excludes the Non-Controlling Interests in consolidated funds, which remain consolidated in our condensed consolidated financial statements. Management views the business as an alternative asset management firm and therefore assesses performance using the combined total of carried interest income and management fees from each of our funds.

ENI may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies and is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We use ENI as a measure of operating performance, not as a measure of liquidity. ENI should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for operating income, net income, operating cash flows, investing and financing activities, or other income or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The use of ENI without consideration of related U.S. GAAP measures is not adequate due to the adjustments described above. Management compensates for these limitations by using ENI as a supplemental measure to U.S. GAAP results to provide a more complete understanding of our performance as management measures it. To ensure a complete understanding, a reconciliation of ENI to our U.S. GAAP net income (loss) attributable to Apollo Global Management, LLC can be found in the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **Operating Metrics**

We monitor certain operating metrics that are common to the alternative asset management industry. These operating metrics include assets under management, private equity dollars invested and uncalled private equity commitments.

#### Assets Under Management

Assets Under Management, or AUM, refers to the assets we manage or with respect to which we have control. Our AUM equals the sum of:

- (i) the fair value of our private equity investments plus the capital that we are entitled to call from our investors pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments plus non-recallable capital to the extent a fund is within the commitment period in which management fees are calculated based on total commitments to the fund;
- (ii) the net asset value, or NAV, of our capital markets funds, other than certain senior credit funds, which are structured as collateralized loan obligations (such as Artus, which we measure by using the mark-to-market value of the aggregate principal amount of the underlying collateralized loan obligations), plus used or available leverage and/or capital commitments;

- (iii) the gross asset values or net asset value of our real estate entities and the structured portfolio vehicle investments included within the funds we manage, which includes the leverage used by such structured portfolio companies;
- (iv) the incremental value associated with the reinsurance investments of the funds we manage; and
- (v) the fair value of any other assets that we manage plus unused credit facilities, including capital commitments for investments that may require pre-qualification before investment plus any other capital commitments available for investment that are not otherwise included in the clauses above.

-68-

Our AUM measure includes assets under management for which we charge either no or nominal fees. Our definition of AUM is not based on any definition of assets under management contained in our operating agreement or in any of our Apollo fund management agreements. We consider multiple factors for determining what should be included in our definition of AUM. Such factors include but are not limited to (1) our ability to influence the investment decisions for existing and available assets; (2) our ability to generate income from the underlying assets in our funds; and (3) the AUM measures that we believe are used by other asset managers. Given the differences in the investment strategies and structures among other alternative asset managers, our calculation of AUM may differ from the calculations employed by other asset managers and, as a result, this measure may not be directly comparable to similar measures presented by other asset managers.

AUM as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 and December 31, 2010 was as follows:

	June 30, 2011	<b>June 30,</b> <b>2010</b> (in millions)	D	ecember 31, 2010
AUM:				
Private equity	\$ 40,430	\$ 33,466	\$	38,799
Capital markets	23,684	18,964		22,283
Real estate	7,600	2,103		6,469
Total	\$ 71,714	\$ 54,533	\$	67,551

The following table presents total assets under management amounts for our private equity segment by strategy:

	Total A	<b>Total Assets Under Management</b>			
	As June		Dec	As of ember 31,	
	2011	<b>2010</b> (in millions)		2010	
Traditional Private Equity Funds	\$ 38,854	\$ 32,193	\$	37,341	
AAA	1,576	1,273		1,458	
Total	\$ 40,430	\$ 33,466	\$	38,799	

The following table presents total assets under management amounts for our capital markets segment by strategy:

	<b>Total Assets Under Management</b>				
	As	of	As of		
	\$ 2,601 \$ 2,653 4,449 4,231 12,159 9,091 2,078 1,631		Dec	ember 31,	
	2011	<b>2010</b> (in millions)		2010	
Distressed and Event-Driven Hedge Funds	\$ 2,601	\$ 2,653	\$	2,759	
Mezzanine Funds	4,449	4,231		4,503	
Senior Credit Funds	12,159	9,091		11,210	
Non-Performing Loan Fund	2,078	1,631		1,908	
Other <sup>(1)</sup>	2,397	1,358		1,903	
Total	\$ 23,684	\$ 18,964	\$	22,283	

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes strategic investment accounts

The following table presents total assets under management amounts for our real estate segment by strategy:

	Total A	Total Assets Under Management				
	As June		As of December 31,			
	2011	<b>2010</b> (in millions)	:	2010		
Fixed Income	\$ 3,214	\$ 2,103	\$	2,827		
Equity	4,386			3,642		
Total	\$ 7,600	\$ 2,103	\$	6,469		

-69-

The following tables summarize changes in total AUM and AUM for each of our segments for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010:

		Three Months Ended June 30,		hs Ended e 30,
	2011	2010	2011	2010
		(in mi	llions)	
Change in Total AUM:				
Beginning of Period	\$ 69,959	\$ 56,206	\$67,551	\$ 53,609
Income (loss)	1,601	(840)	4,433	622
Subscriptions	1,116	150	1,818	753
Distributions/redemptions	(1,612)	(694)	(3,342)	(2,122
Change in leverage	650	(289)	1,254	1,671
End of Period	\$ 71,714	\$ 54,533	\$ 71,714	\$ 54,533
Change in Private Equity AUM:				
Beginning of Period	\$ 39,578	34,416	\$ 38,799	\$ 34,002
Income (loss)	868	(383)	2,834	928
Subscriptions			,	
Distributions	(998)	(417)	(2,209)	(1,329
Change in leverage	982	(150)	1,006	(135
End of Period	\$ 40,430	\$ 33,466	\$ 40,430	\$ 33,466
Change in Capital Markets AUM:				
Beginning of Period	\$ 23,834	\$ 19,256	\$ 22,283	\$ 19,112
Income (loss)	340	(496)	1,216	(365
Subscriptions	539	150	1,144	395
Distributions/redemptions	(307)	(183)	(826)	(610
Change in leverage	(722)	237	(133)	432
End of Period	\$ 23,684	\$ 18,964	\$ 23,684	\$ 18,964
Change in Real Estate AUM:				
Beginning of Period	\$ 6,547	\$ 2,534	\$ 6,469	\$ 495
Income	393	39	383	59
Subscriptions	577		674	358
Distributions/redemptions	(307)	(94)	(307)	(183
Change in leverage	390	(376)	381	1,374
End of Period	\$ 7,600	\$ 2,103	\$ 7,600	\$ 2,103

#### Private Equity

During the three months ended June 30, 2011, the AUM in our private equity segment increased by \$0.9 billion, or 2.2%. This increase was a result of \$0.9 billion of income that was primarily attributable to improved unrealized gains in our private equity funds, including \$0.3 billion each in Fund VI and Fund VII. Also contributing to the increase was an additional \$1.0 billion in leverage, primarily from Fund VII. Offsetting these increases were \$1.0 billion in distributions primarily from Fund IV and Fund VI with \$0.7 billion and \$0.2 billion in distributions, respectively. See Segment Analysis, which includes a detailed discussion of the impact that significant changes in our AUM within our private equity, capital markets and real estate segments had on our revenues by segment.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011, the AUM in our private equity segment increased by \$1.6 billion, or 4.2%. This increase was a result of \$2.8 billion of income that was primarily attributable to improved unrealized gains in our private equity funds, including \$1.2 billion in

## Table of Contents

Fund VI and \$1.0 billion in Fund VII. Also contributing to the increase was an additional \$1.0 billion in leverage from Fund VII. Offsetting these increases were \$2.2 billion in distributions, primarily from Fund IV, Fund VI and Fund VII with \$0.7 billion, \$0.6 billion and \$0.7 billion in distributions, respectively.

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, the AUM in our private equity segment decreased by \$1.0 billion, or 2.8%. This decrease was impacted by \$0.4 billion of losses that were primarily attributable to lower investment valuations in our private equity funds. Additionally there were \$0.2 billion of distributions from Fund V, and \$0.2 billion of distributions from Fund VII. Also noted was a \$0.2 billion decrease in leverage during the period.

-70-

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, the AUM in our private equity segment decreased by \$0.5 billion, or 1.6%. This decrease was primarily due to \$1.0 billion of distributions from Fund V, and \$0.2 billion of distributions from Fund VII. This decrease was offset by \$0.9 billion of income that was primarily attributable to improved investment valuations in our private equity funds, including \$0.6 billion in Fund VI.

#### Capital Markets

During the three months ended June 30, 2011, AUM in our capital markets segment decreased by \$0.2 billion, or 0.6%. This decrease was primarily attributable to a \$0.7 billion decrease in leverage primarily used by Athene and \$0.3 billion in distributions. These decreases were partially offset by \$0.3 billion of income that was primarily attributable to improved unrealized gains in our capital markets funds, including \$0.3 billion in Athene, and \$0.5 billion in subscriptions, primarily Palmetto.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011, AUM in our capital markets segment increased by \$1.4 billion, or 6.3%. This increase was primarily attributable to \$1.2 billion of income that was primarily attributable to improved unrealized gains in our capital markets funds, including \$0.3 billion, \$0.3 billion and \$0.2 billion in EPF, Athene and COF I, respectively and \$1.1 billion in subscriptions, including \$0.5 billion in Palmetto and \$0.3 billion each in AFT and Life Settlements. These increases were offset by \$0.8 billion of distributions.

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, AUM in our capital markets segment decreased by \$0.3 billion, or 1.5%. This decrease was impacted by \$0.5 billion of losses that were primarily attributable to lower investment valuations in our capital market funds and distributions of \$0.2 billion. These decreases were offset by \$0.2 billion of leverage and \$0.2 billion in subscriptions.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, AUM in our capital markets segment decreased by \$0.1 billion, or 0.8%. This decrease was impacted by \$0.4 billion of losses that were primarily attributable to lower investment valuations in our capital market funds and distributions of \$0.6 billion. These decreases were offset by \$0.4 billion of leverage and \$0.4 billion in subscriptions primarily related to AIC and our strategic investment accounts.

#### Real Estate

During the three months ended June 30, 2011, AUM in our real estate segment increased by \$1.1 billion, or 16.1%. This increase was primarily attributable to an additional \$0.6 billion in subscriptions, including \$0.3 billion in the AGRE U.S Real Estate Fund L.P and \$0.3 billion managed accounts. Also impacting this change was an increase in leverage of \$0.4 billion, primarily for the CMBS funds. In addition there was \$0.4 billion of income that was primarily attributable to improved unrealized gains in our real estate funds. These increases were offset by \$0.3 billion of distributions.

During the six months ended June 30, 2011, AUM in our real estate segment increased by \$1.1 billion, or 17.5%. This increase was primarily attributable to an additional \$0.7 billion in subscriptions, including \$0.4 billion in the AGRE U.S Real Estate Fund L.P and \$0.3 billion in managed accounts. Also impacting this change was an increase in leverage of \$0.4 billion, primarily for the CMBS funds. In addition there was \$0.4 billion of income that was primarily attributable to improved unrealized gains in our real estate funds. These increases were offset by \$0.3 billion of distributions.

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, AUM in our real estate segment decreased by \$0.4 billion, or 17.0%. This result was primarily attributable to \$0.4 billion decrease in leverage in the AGRE CMBS Account.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, AUM in our real estate segment increased by \$1.6 billion, or 324.8%. This increase was comprised of \$0.4 million of subscriptions that resulted from the initial public offering and concurrent private placement by ARI as well as the formation of the AGRE CMBS Account, and \$1.4 billion in additional leverage, primarily due to the investment from Athene.

#### Assets Under Management Fee-Generating/Non-Fee Generating

Fee-generating AUM consists of assets that we manage and on which we earn management fees or monitoring fees pursuant to management agreements on a basis that varies among the Apollo funds. Management fees are normally based on net asset value, gross assets, adjusted cost of all unrealized portfolio investments, capital commitments, adjusted assets, stockholders equity, invested capital or capital contributions, e defined in the applicable management agreement. Monitoring fees for AUM purposes are based on the total value of certain structured portfolio vehicle investments, which normally include leverage, less any portion of such total value that is already considered in fee-generating AUM.

-71-

Non-fee generating AUM consists of assets that do not produce management fees or monitoring fees. These assets generally consist of the following: (a) fair value above invested capital for those funds that earn management fees based on invested capital, (b) net asset values related to general partner interests and co-investments, (c) unused credit facilities, (d) available commitments on those funds that generate management fees on invested capital, (e) structured portfolio vehicle investments that do not generate monitoring fees and (f) the difference between gross assets and net asset value for those funds that earn management fees based on net asset value. We use non-fee generating AUM combined with fee-generating AUM as a performance measurement of our investment activities, as well as to monitor fund size in relation to professional resource and infrastructure needs. Non-fee generating AUM includes assets on which we could earn carried interest income.

The table below displays fee-generating and non-fee-generating AUM by segment as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 and December 31, 2010. The changes in market conditions and additional funds raised have had significant impacts to our AUM:

	June 30, 2011	<b>June 30,</b> <b>2010</b> (in millions)	Dec	ember 31, 2010
AUM-Fee-Generating/Non-Fee-Generating:				
Private equity	\$ 40,430	\$ 33,466	\$	38,799
Fee-generating	27,729	27,455		27,874
Non-fee-generating	12,701	6,011		10,925
Capital markets	23,684	18,964		22,283
Fee-generating	18,064	15,335		16,484
Non-fee-generating	5,620	3,629		5,799
Real estate	7,600	2,103		6,469
Fee-generating	3,058	448		2,679
Non-fee-generating	4,542	1,655		3,790
Total assets under management	71,714	54,533		67,551
Fee-generating	48,851	43,238		47,037
Non-fee-generating	22,863	11,295		20,514

In the first six months of 2011 our total fee-generating AUM increased as a result of increased capital commitments in both our capital markets and real estate segments, as well as increases in fair market value of capital market funds. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the fee-generating AUM of our private equity funds decreased due to the dispositions of investments during the period, which resulted in lower invested capital. The fee-generating AUM of our capital markets funds increased due to increases in fair value of investments due to improved market conditions during 2010, which resulted in higher NAV, gross assets and adjusted assets. The fee-generating AUM of our real estate funds increased due to new subscriptions, the acquisition of CPI and an increase in the fair value of investments.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, our fee-generating AUM changed primarily as a result of a decrease in return of capital and sales in our private equity funds, offset by an increase in new capital raised in our capital market funds. During the six months ended June 30, 2010, our non-fee generating AUM changed primarily as a result of the increases in fair values of investments above invested capital in our private equity and certain capital markets funds. During the six months ended June 30, 2010, there was also a \$1.4 billion increase in the real estate segment s non-fee generating AUM, which was primarily the result of additional leverage used by the AGRE CMBS Account.

When the fair value of an investment exceeds invested capital, we are normally entitled to carried interest income on the difference between the fair value and invested capital after also considering certain expenses and preferred return amounts, as specified in the respective partnership agreements. However, we do not earn management fees on such excess. As a result of the growth in both the size and number of funds that we manage, we have experienced an increase in our management fees and advisory and transaction fees. To support this growth, we have also experienced an increase in operating expenses, resulting from hiring additional personnel, opening new offices to expand our geographical reach and incurring additional professional fees.

With respect to our private equity funds and certain of our capital markets and real estate funds, we charge management fees on the amount of committed or invested capital and we generally are entitled to carried interest on the realized gains on the investments that are disposed of. Certain funds may have current fair values below invested capital. However, the management fee would still be computed on the invested capital for such funds. With respect to ARI, we receive management fees on stockholders equity as defined in its management agreement. In addition, our fee-generating AUM reflects leverage vehicles that generate monitoring fees on value in excess of fund commitments. As of June 30, 2011, our total fee-generating AUM is comprised of approximately 85% of assets that earn management fees and the remaining balance of assets earn

## Table of Contents

monitoring fees.

-72-

See The Historical Investment Performance of Our Funds Investment Record for additional discussion of our funds investment performance.

The company s entire fee-generating AUM is subject to management or monitoring fees. The components of fee-generating AUM by segment as of June 30, 2011 and 2010 are presented below:

	As of June 30, 2011						
	Private Capital Real						
	Equity	Markets	Estate	Total			
		(in milli	ions)				
Fee-generating AUM based on capital commitments	\$ 14,289	\$ 2,120	\$ 281	\$ 16,690			
Fee-generating AUM based on invested capital	8,536	2,918	1,765	13,219			
Fee-generating AUM based on gross/adjusted assets	1,187	6,958	779	8,924			
Fee-generating AUM based on leverage <sup>(1)</sup>	3,717	3,560		7,277			
Fee-generating AUM based on NAV		2,508	233(4)	2,741			
Total Fee-Generating AUM	\$ 27,729 <sup>(2)</sup>	\$ 18,064 <sup>(3)</sup>	\$ 3,058	\$ 48,851			

(1) Monitoring fees are normally based on the total value of certain special purpose vehicle investments, which includes leverage, less any portion of such total value that is already considered for fee-generating AUM. Monitoring fees are typically calculated using a 0.5% annual rate.

(2) The weighted average remaining life of the private equity funds excluding permanent capital vehicles at June 30, 2011 is 72 months.

(3) The fee-generating AUM for the capital markets funds has no concentration across the investment strategies.

(4) The fee-generating AUM for ARI and the AGRE CMBS Account is based on an adjusted equity amount as specified by the respective management agreements.

	As of June 30, 2010						
	Private Equity	Capital Markets (in millio	Real Estate	Total			
Fee-generating AUM based on capital commitments	\$ 14,289	\$ 1,544	\$	\$ 15,833			
Fee-generating AUM based on invested capital	8,815	3,186		12,001			
Fee-generating AUM based on gross/adjusted assets	879	4,801	448(4)	6,128			
Fee-generating AUM based on leverage <sup>(1)</sup>	3,472	3,385		6,857			
Fee-generating AUM based on NAV		2,419		2,419			
Total Fee-Generating AUM	\$ 27,455 <sup>(2)</sup>	\$ 15,335 <sup>(3)</sup>	\$ 448	\$ 43,238			

- (1) Monitoring fees are normally based on the total value of certain special purpose vehicle investments, which includes leverage, less any portion of such total value that is already considered for fee-generating AUM. Monitoring fees are typically calculated using a 0.5% annual rate.
- (2) The weighted average remaining life of the private equity funds excluding permanent capital vehicles at June 30, 2010 is 80 months.
- (3) The fee-generating AUM for the capital markets funds has no concentration across the investment strategies.
- (4) The fee-generating AUM for our real estate entities is based on an adjusted equity amount as specified by the respective management agreements.

Private Equity Dollars Invested and Uncalled Private Equity Commitments

Private equity dollars invested represents the aggregate amount of capital invested by our private equity funds during a reporting period. Uncalled private equity commitments, by contrast, represent unfunded commitments by investors in our private equity funds to contribute capital to fund future investments or expenses incurred by the funds, fees and applicable expenses as of the reporting date. Private equity dollars invested and uncalled private equity commitments are indicative of the pace and magnitude of fund capital that is deployed or will be deployed, and which therefore could result in future revenues that include transaction fees and incentive income. Private equity dollars invested and uncalled private equity commitments can also give rise to future costs that are related to the hiring of additional resources to manage and account for the additional capital that is deployed or will be deployed. Management uses private equity dollars invested and uncalled private equity commitments since we believe the results measure our investment activities.

-73-

The following table summarizes the private equity dollars invested during the specified reporting periods:

	For the Three	Months Ende	d For the Six M	lonths Ended	
	Jur	ie 30,	June 30,		
	2011	2010	2011	2010	
		(in i	millions)		
Private equity dollars invested	\$ 565	\$ 1,967	\$ 1,367	\$ 2,263	
The following table summarizes the uncalled private equity commitments as of Jun	ne 30, 2011 and	l December 3	1, 2010:		

		As of
	As of June 30, 2011	December 31, 2010
	(in m	illions)
Uncalled private equity commitments	\$ 9,911	\$ 10,345

#### The Historical Investment Performance of Our Funds

Below we present information relating to the historical performance of our funds, including certain legacy Apollo funds that do not have a meaningful amount of unrealized investments, and in respect of which the general partner interest has not been contributed to us.

When considering the data presented below, you should note that the historical results of our funds are not indicative of the future results that you should expect from such funds, from any future funds we may raise or from your investment in our Class A shares. An investment in our Class A shares is not an investment in any of the Apollo funds, and the assets and revenues of our funds are not directly available to us. As a result of the deconsolidation of most of our funds, we will not be consolidating those funds in our financial statements for periods after either August 1, 2007 or November 30, 2007. The historical and potential future returns of the funds we manage are not directly linked to returns on our Class A shares. Therefore, you should not conclude that continued positive performance of the funds we manage will necessarily result in positive returns on an investment in our Class A shares. However, poor performance of the funds that we manage would cause a decline in our revenue from such funds, and would therefore have a negative effect on our performance and in all likelihood the value in our Class A shares. There can be no assurance that any Apollo fund will continue to achieve the same results in the future.

Moreover, the historical returns of our funds should not be considered indicative of the future results you should expect from such funds or from any future funds we may raise, in part because:

market conditions during previous periods were significantly more favorable for generating positive performance, particularly in our private equity business, than the market conditions we have experienced for the last few years and may experience in the future;

our funds returns have benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that currently do not exist and may not repeat themselves, and there can be no assurance that our current or future funds will be able to avail themselves of profitable investment opportunities;

our private equity funds rates of return, which are calculated on the basis of net asset value of the funds investments, reflect unrealized gains, which may never be realized;

our funds returns have benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may not repeat themselves, including the availability of debt capital on attractive terms and the availability of distressed debt

opportunities, and we may not be able to achieve the same returns or profitable investment opportunities or deploy capital as quickly;

the historical returns that we present are derived largely from the performance of our earlier private equity funds, whereas future fund returns will depend increasingly on the performance of our newer funds, which may have little or no realized investment track record;

Fund VI and Fund VII are several times larger than our previous private equity funds, and this additional capital may not be deployed as profitably as our prior funds;

the attractive returns of certain of our funds have been driven by the rapid return of invested capital, which has not occurred with respect to all of our funds and we believe is less likely to occur in the future;

our track record with respect to our capital markets and real estate funds is relatively short as compared to our private equity funds;

-74-

in recent years, there has been increased competition for private equity investment opportunities resulting from the increased amount of capital invested in private equity funds and periods of high liquidity in debt markets, which may result in lower returns for the funds; and

our newly established funds may generate lower returns during the period that they take to deploy their capital; consequently, we do not provide return information for any funds which have not been actively investing capital for at least 36 months prior to the valuation date as we believe this information is not meaningful.

Finally, our private equity IRRs have historically varied greatly from fund to fund. For example, Fund IV has generated an 12% gross IRR and a 9% net IRR since its inception through June 30, 2011, while Fund V has generated a 62% gross IRR and a 45% net IRR since its inception through June 30, 2011. Accordingly, the IRR going forward for any current or future fund may vary considerably from the historical IRR generated by any particular fund, or for our private equity funds as a whole. Future returns will also be affected by the applicable risks, including risks of the industries and businesses in which a particular fund invests. See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Businesses The historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our Class A shares in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011.

#### **Investment Record**

#### Private Equity

The following table summarizes the investment record for our private equity fund portfolios except for AAA. All amounts are as of June 30, 2011, unless otherwise noted:

			Total					As June 30		As o December	
	Vintage Year	Committed Capital	Invested Capital	<b>Realized</b> (in millions)	Uni	realized <sup>(1)</sup>	Total Value	Gross IRR	Net IRR	Gross IRR	Net IRR
Fund VII	2008	\$ 14,676	\$ 8,863	\$ 4,234	\$	9,600	\$13,834	41%	29%	46%	32%
Fund VI	2006	10,136	11,627	4,327		12,209	16,536	14	11	13	10
Fund V	2001	3,742	5,192	11,151		1,720	12,871	62	45	62	45
Fund IV	1998	3,600	3,481	6,458		495	6,953	12	9	11	9
Fund III	1995	1,500	1,499	2,615		101	2,716	18	12	18	12
Fund I, II & MIA <sup>(2)</sup>	1990/1992	2,220	3,773	7,924			7,924	47	37	47	37
Total		\$ 35,874	\$ 34,435	\$ 36,709	\$	24,125	\$ 60,834	39%	26%	39%	26%

(1) Figures include the market values, estimated fair value of certain unrealized investments and capital committed to investments. See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Businesses Many of our funds invest in relatively high-risk, illiquid assets and we may fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time or lose some or all of the principal amount we invest in these activities and Our funds may be forced to dispose of investments at a disadvantageous time, in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011 for a discussion of why our unrealized investments may ultimately be realized at valuations different than those provided here.

(2) Fund I and Fund II were structured such that investments were made from either fund depending on which fund had available capital. We do not differentiate between Fund I and Fund II investments for purposes of performance figures because they are not meaningful on a separate basis and do not demonstrate the progression of returns over time.

Capital Markets

The following table summarizes the investment record for certain funds with a defined maturity date, and internal rate of return since inception, or IRR, which is computed based on the actual dates of capital contributions, distributions and ending limited partners capital as of the specified date above. All amounts are as of June 30, 2011, unless otherwise noted:

-75-

							As o	of	As	of
			Total				June 201	,	Decemb 201	,
	Year of Inception	Committed Capital	Invested Capital	<b>Realized</b> (in millions)	Unrealized <sup>(1)</sup>	Total Value	Gross IRR	Net IRR	Gross IRR	Net IRR
FCI <sup>(2)</sup>	2011	\$ 290.3	\$ 202.7	\$	\$ 213.0	\$ 213.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
AIE II <sup>(3)</sup>	2008	299.4	621.5	536.1	313.9	850.0	25.6%	20.5%	27.5%	21.8%
COF I	2008	1,484.9	1,613.2	788.4	2,260.0	3,048.4	30.8	27.6	32.5	29.0
COF II	2008	1,583.0	2,188.7	957.9	1,816.1	2,774.0	15.5	13.1	17.4	14.9
ACLF	2007	984.0	1,448.5	658.7	858.6	1,517.3	12.4	11.5	12.1	11.2
Artus	2007	106.6	190.1	24.1	178.4	202.5	4.0	3.8	3.0	2.8
EPF <sup>(3)</sup>	2007	1,878.0	1,402.4	797.1	977.7	1,774.8	16.4	8.5	14.8	7.9
Totals		\$ 6,626.2	\$ 7,667.1	\$ 3,762.3	\$ 6,617.7	\$ 10,380.0				

- (1) Figures include the market values, estimated fair value of certain unrealized investments and capital committed to investments. See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Businesses Many of our funds invest in relatively high-risk, illiquid assets and we may fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time or lose some or all of the principal amount we invest in these activities and Our funds may be forced to dispose of investments at a disadvantageous time, in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011 for a discussion of why our unrealized investments may ultimately be realized at valuations different than those provided here.
- (2) FCI was formed during the first quarter of 2011. Apollo does not intend to disclose returns for funds that have not been investing for at least 24 months as we do not believe such return information is meaningful.

(3) Funds denominated in Euros and translated into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of 1.00 to \$1.45 as of June 30, 2011.

The following table summarizes the investment record for certain funds with no maturity date, except AIE I which is winding down. All amounts are as of June 30, 2011, unless otherwise noted:

					Net Return		
		Net Asset Value as of	Since Inception to	For the Six Months Ended June	For the Six Months Ended June	Since Inception to	For the Year Ended
	Year of Inception	<b>June 30,</b> <b>2011</b> (in millions)	June 30, 2011	30, 2011	30, 2010	December 31, 2010	December 31, 2010
AFT <sup>(1)</sup>	2011	\$ 296.0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
AAOF	2007	288.1	13.6%	(1.9)%	2.9%	15.8%	12.5%
SOMA <sup>(2)</sup>	2007	1,108.8	45.3	3.2	7.5	40.7	16.9
AIE I <sup>(3)</sup>	2006	96.4	(41.7)	11.4	23.9	(47.7)	32.4
AINV <sup>(4)</sup>	2004	1,961.0	49.8	6.0	(3.3)	41.3	4.8
Value Funds	2003/2006	933.1	71.2	3.2	4.3	65.9	12.2

(1) The Apollo Senior Floating Rate Fund Inc. ( AFT ) was formed during the first quarter of 2011. Apollo does not intend to disclose returns for funds that have not been investing for at least 24 months as we do not believe such return information is meaningful.

(2) SOMA returns for primary mandate, which follows similar strategies as the Value Funds and excludes SOMA s investments in other Apollo funds.

(3) Fund denominated in Euros and translated into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of 1.00 to \$1.45 as of June 30, 2011.

(4) Return amounts for Apollo Investment Corporation, a closed-end, non-diversified management investment company that trades under the symbol AINV, represent net asset value returns. Net asset value for AINV and related return information is shown as of March 31, 2011.

The company also manages Palmetto, which has committed capital and current invested capital of \$1,518.0 million and \$467.7 million, respectively, as of June 30, 2011.

#### Real Estate

The following table summarizes the investment record for our real estate funds. Each fund included in the table below did not begin investing the majority of its capital, or was not the manager for, at least 24 months prior to the valuation date of June 30, 2011. Due to the limited investment period for these funds, return information is not provided since we do not believe such information is meaningful. All amounts are as of June 30, 2011, unless otherwise noted:

-76-
------

				Current	
	Year of			Net	
	Inception	Raised Capital <sup>(6)</sup>	Gross Assets (in millions)	Asset Value	Net IRR
ARI <sup>(1)</sup>	2009	\$ 304.7	\$ 902.5	\$ 294.4 <sup>(7)</sup>	N/A <sup>(8)</sup>
CMBS Funds	Various	535.5	1,577.7	305.7	N/A <sup>(8)</sup>
AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund, L.P <sup>(2)</sup>	2011	384.9	10.8	9.7	N/A <sup>(8)</sup>
CPI Capital Partners North America	2006	600.0	179.2	178.2	N/A <sup>(9)</sup>
CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific <sup>(3)</sup>	2006	1,291.6	581.8	574.6	N/A <sup>(9)</sup>
CPI Capital Partners Europe <sup>(4)</sup>	2006	1,685.1	502.5	501.4	N/A <sup>(9)</sup>
CPI Other <sup>(5)</sup>	Various	5,049.4	N/A <sup>(10)</sup>	1,424.9	N/A <sup>(10)</sup>

- (1) Amounts as of March 31, 2011.
- (2) AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund, L.P., a newly formed closed-end private investment fund that intends to make real estate-related investments principally located in the United States, held closings in January 2011 and June 2011 for a total of \$134.9 million in base capital commitments and \$250 million in additional commitments.
- (3) U.S. dollar denominated.
- (4) Funds denominated in Euros and translated into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of 1.00 to \$1.45 as of June 30, 2011.
- (5) CPI Other consists of funds or individual investments of which we are not the general partner or manager and only receive fees pursuant to either a sub-advisory agreement or an asset management and administrative agreement.
- (6) Reflects initial gross raised capital and does not include distributions subsequent to capital raise.
- (7) Represents U.S. GAAP equity.
- (8) Returns are not presented because dates are prior to 24 months from inception of the fund.
- (9) As part of the CPI acquisition, the company acquired general partner interests in fully invested funds. The net IRRs from the inception of the respective fund to June 30, 2011 were (11.9%), (0.2%) and (18.7%) for CPI Capital Partners North America, Asia Pacific and Europe, respectively. These net IRRs were primarily achieved during a period in which Apollo did not make the initial investment decisions and Apollo has only become the general partner or manager of these funds since completing the acquisition on November 12, 2010.
- (10) CPI Other fund performance is a result of invested capital prior to Apollo s management of these funds. Gross assets and return data is therefore not considered meaningful as we perform primarily an administrative role.

For a description of each fund s investments and overall investment strategy, please refer to Our Business Segments in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011.

Performance information for our funds is included throughout this discussion and analysis to facilitate an understanding of our results of operations for the periods presented. An investment in our Class A shares is not an investment in any of our funds. The performance information reflected in this discussion and analysis is not indicative of the possible performance of our Class A shares and is also not necessarily indicative of the future results of any particular fund. There can be no assurance that our funds will continue to achieve, or that our future funds will achieve, comparable results.

The following table provides a summary of the cost and fair value of our funds investments by segment. The cost and fair values of our private equity investments represent the current invested capital and unrealized values, respectively, in Fund VI, Fund VI, Fund V and Fund IV:

	As of	As of
	June 30,	December 31,
	2011	2010
	(in mi	llions)
Private Equity:		
Cost	\$ 14,459	\$ 14,322
Fair Value	24,024	22,485
Capital Markets:		
Cost	10,216 <sup>(4)</sup>	10,226
Fair Value	12,193 <sup>(4)</sup>	11,476

Real Estate <sup>(1)</sup> :		
Cost	4,110 <sup>(2)</sup>	4,028 <sup>(3)</sup>
Fair Value	3,528 <sup>(2)</sup>	3,368 <sup>(3)</sup>

(1) The cost and fair value of the real estate investments represent the cost and fair value, respectively, of the current unrealized invested capital for the ARI, CMBS Funds, AGRE U.S. Real Estate Fund L.P., CPI Capital Partners NA, CPI Capital Partners Asia Pacific, and CPI Capital Partners Europe funds.

-77-

- (2) Includes CPI Funds with investment cost and fair value of \$1,717 million and \$1,130 million, respectively, as of June 30, 2011. Also includes ARI amounts that are reported as of March 31, 2011. Additionally, ARI includes loans at amortized cost.
- (3) All amounts as of September 30, 2010 and include CPI Funds investment cost of \$1,763 million and fair value of \$1,080 million.
- Additionally, ARI includes loans at amortized cost.(4) Includes AINV amounts that are reported as of March 31, 2011.

## Redemption

Our distressed and event-driven hedge funds and our Palmetto fund generally permit investors to withdraw capital through redemptions, although our Palmetto fund is not permitted to withdraw capital from our private equity funds, capital markets funds or other co-investments that do not permit investors to redeem capital. Under the terms of their respective partnership agreements, investors in such funds are required to provide advance written notice prior to redemption. The timing of the required notice ranges from 5 days to 90 days prior to the redemption date or in the case of certain offshore feeder funds, such number of days as directors of the fund may from time to time determine. To date, none of the Apollo funds have suspended redemption requests. However, in December 2008 and March 2009, respectively, SVF and AAOF notified their investors of their intention to satisfy redemption requests partially in cash and partially in-kind. In respect of the in-kind portion of redemption payments, investors may choose between an actual in-kind distribution of securities having a net asset value equal to the remaining redemption proceeds due and the conversion of a portion of their interests in SVF or AAOF, as applicable, into a new liquidating class of interests. As investments are sold or monetized, the net proceeds attributable to liquidating interests are not reinvested but instead are held in cash or cash equivalents for distribution to the holders of liquidating interests. In the case of SVF, an investor holding a liquidating interest has a limited ability to direct SVF to sell assets for its benefit. In the case of AAOF, holders of liquidating interests may choose between two classes, one of which provides the holder with the additional limited ability to direct AAOF to sell assets for its benefit. SVF is no longer distributing liquidating interests.

Our private equity funds and certain of our capital markets funds and real estate funds do not permit investors to withdraw capital through redemptions.

Significant redemption activity, if any, is discussed under the tables that summarize changes in total AUM and AUM for each of our segments. See Operating Metrics Assets Under Management for these tables.

#### **Overview of Results of Operations**

#### Revenues

*Advisory and Transaction Fees from Affiliates.* As a result of providing advisory services with respect to actual and potential private equity and capital markets investments, we are entitled to receive fees for transactions related to the acquisition and, in certain instances, disposition of portfolio companies as well as fees for ongoing monitoring of portfolio company operations and directors fees. We also receive an advisory fee for advisory services provided to a capital markets fund. In addition, monitoring fees are generated on certain special purpose vehicle investments. Under the terms of the limited partnership agreements for certain of our private equity and capital markets funds, the advisory and transaction fees earned are subject to a reduction of a percentage of such advisory and transaction fees (the Management Fee Offsets ).

The Management Fee Offsets are calculated for each fund as follows:

65%-68% for private equity funds gross advisory, transaction and other special fees;

65%-80% for certain capital markets funds gross advisory, transaction and other special fees; and

100% for certain other capital markets funds gross advisory, transaction and other special fees. These offsets are reflected as a decrease in advisory and transaction fees from affiliates on our condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Additionally, in the normal course of business, the management companies incur certain costs related to private equity funds (and certain capital markets funds) transactions that are not consummated, or broken deal costs. A portion of broken deal costs related to certain of our private equity funds, up to the total amount of advisory and transaction fees, are reimbursed by the unconsolidated funds (through reductions of the

Management Fee Offsets described above), except for Fund VII and certain of our capital markets funds which initially bear all broken deal costs and these costs are factored into the Management Fee Offsets.

*Management Fees from Affiliates.* The significant growth of the assets we manage has had a positive effect on our revenues. Management fees are calculated based upon any of net asset value, gross assets, adjusted costs of all unrealized portfolio investments, capital commitments, invested capital, adjusted assets, capital contributions, or stockholders equity, each as defined in the applicable management agreement of the unconsolidated funds.

*Carried Interest Income from Affiliates.* The general partners of our funds, in general, are entitled to an incentive return that can amount to as much as 20% of the total returns on fund capital, depending upon performance of the underlying funds and subject to preferred returns and high water marks, as applicable. The carried interest income from affiliates is recognized in accordance with U.S. GAAP guidance applicable to accounting for arrangement fees based on a formula. In applying the U.S. GAAP guidance, the carried interest from affiliates for any period is based upon an assumed liquidation of the funds assets at the reporting date, and distribution of the net proceeds in accordance with the funds allocation provisions.

At June 30, 2011, approximately 47% of the fair value of our fund investments was determined using market based valuation methods (i.e., reliance on broker or listed exchange quotes) and the remaining 53% was determined primarily by comparable company and industry multiples or discounted cash flow models. For our private equity, capital markets and real estate segments, the percentage determined using market based valuation methods was 42%, 55% and 42%, respectively. See Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Business Our private equity funds performance, and our performance, may be adversely affected by the financial performance of our portfolio companies in our Prospectus dated March 29, 2011, filed with the SEC on March 30, 2011, for discussion regarding certain industry-specific risks that could affect the fair value of our private equity funds portfolio company investments.

The table below presents an analysis of our (i) carried interest receivable and (ii) realized and unrealized carried interest income from affiliates as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011:

	As of June 30, 2011 Carried Interest Receivable		Three Month June 30, 201 Realized Carried Interest Income		Unrealized Carried Interest Income (Loss)	e Six Months June 30, 2011 Realized Carried Interest Income	
Private Equity Funds:							
Fund VII	\$ 701.6	\$ 23.2	\$ 15.0	\$ 38.2	\$ 96.8	\$ 89.6	\$ 186.4
Fund VI	834.2	10.4	44.0	54.4	185.9	63.1	249.0
Fund V	179.1	14.4		14.4	2.6	24.9	27.5
Fund IV	132.5	(86.3)	112.4	26.1	(3.5)	112.4	108.9
AAA	21.5	5.9		5.9	8.9		8.9
Total Private Equity Funds	1,868.9	(32.4)	171.4	139.0	290.7	290.0	580.7
Capital Markets Funds: Distressed and Event-Driven Hedge Funds (Value Funds, SOMA, AAOF)	28.1	(11.8)	0.1	(11.7)			
	20.1	(11.5)	0.1	(11.7)			